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STATEMENT BY
MR. ALLEN W, DULLES
DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE
to the
SENATE FOREIGN RELATIONS COMMITILE
ON 31 MAY 1960

The duty of the Central Intelligence Agency under
statute and under National Security Council directives pursuant
to statute, is to provide the President and the National
Security Council with evaluated intelllgence relating to our
national security. :

The Agency has no policy or police functions.

- In additlon, however, the Agency has the duty, within
policy limitations prescribed by the President and State
Department, to do whatever is within its power to collect and
produce the intelligence required by the policy makers in
povernment, to deal with the dangers we face in the world
today, a nuclear world. :

Increasingly over the past ten years, the main target
for our intelligence collection has been the U.S.S.R., its
military, 1lts economic, and its subversive potential. .

The carrying out of this task has been rendered extremely
difficult because the Soviet Union is a closed soclety.

" @Great areas of the U.S.S.R. are curtalned off to the
outside world. Their military preparations are made 1in secret.
Their military hardware, ballistic mlissiles, bombers, nuclear
weapons, and submarine forces, as far as physically possible,
are concealed from us. They have reslsted all efforts to
realize mutual inspection or "open skies.”

The ordinary tools of information gathering, under the.e
circumstances are not wholly adequate. These ordinary tcols
include both the normal overt means of obtaining information,
and the classical covert means generally referred to as esplonage.

It is true that from these sources and from the many Soviet
defectors who have come over to the Free World and from
disaffected and disillusioned Soviet nationals, we obtain very
valuable information.
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However, these gources and other sources developed
through the application of various scientific techniques,
while very helpful, did not glve us the full intelligence
protection this country required against the danger of
preparation for surprise attack agalnst us, from bases whilch
might remain unknown -and by weapons, the strength and power
of which we might not be able adeguately o5 evaluate.

Almost equally serious had been our lack of knowledge
of Soviet defense measures against our retaliatory striking
power.

Shackled by traditlions, we were seeing the power of
.attack grow while the abillity to secure the intelligence
necessary for defense agalnst attack was slipping, bound down
in part by tradition.

For example, while Soviet spy trawlers can lurk a few
miles off our shores and observe us wlth impunity, the Soviets
cry "aggression" when a plane, invisible to the naked eye,
flies over 1t some flfteen miles above the ground.

Either, theoretically, could carry a nuclear weapon.
The trawler could deal a much more serious nuclear blow than
a light reconnalssance plane.

But, of course, das we well know, no one would think of
starting a nuclear war with either an isolated plane or ship.

In this age of nuclear peril we, the Central Intelligence
Agency, felt that a new approach was called for in the whole
fleld of intelligence collection.

¥ oKk .K ¥ X X ¥

This was the situation, when in 1954, almost six years
ago, consultation was initiated on new intelligence collection
techniques. We consulted with a group of highly competent
techniclans in and out of government. From our discussions
there emerged the concept of a hilgh-flying, high performance
reconnalssance plane. In the then state of the art of aeronautics,
it was confidently belleved that a plane could be desligned to
fly unintercepted over the vitally important closed areas of
the Soviet Union, where ballistic, nuclear, and other mllitary
preparations against us were being made.

SECRET
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We also believed, as a result of these consultationg,
that the airt of photography could be so advanced as to make
the resolution of the plctures taken, even at extreme altitudes,
of very great significance. On both counts the accomplishments
exceeded expectations. ‘

While the developmental work for this project, pursuant
to high policy directive was in process, there came the Summit
Conference of July 1955,

Here, in order to relax the growing tengions resulting
from the danger of surprise attack, the President advanced the
"open skiles" proposal. Moscow summarily rejected anything of.
this nature, and Soviet security measures continued to be
reinforced.

Accordingly, the U-2 project was pushed forward rapildly,
and about a year after the 1955 summlt meeting the first
operational U-2 flight over the Soviet Union took place. For
almost four years the flight program has been carried forward
successfully.

Speed in getting the program underway had been a top
priority. We were then faced, that is 1in 1655-1956, with a
situation where the Soviets were continuing to develop theilr
missiles, thelr heavy bomber and bomber bases, and thelr nuclear
weapons productlon without adegquate knowlodze on our part.

This was considered to e an intolerable situatlon;
intolerable both from the viewpoint of adequate military
preparation on our part to meet the menace; intolerable from
the point of view of being able effectively to take counter-
measures in the event of attack.

It was recognized at the outset that this U-2 project
had its risks and had a limited span of 1life due to Improvement
of counter measures; that a relatively fragile single-engine
plane of the nature of the U-2 might one day nave a flame-out
or other malfunction in the rarifled atmosphere 1in whicn it
had to travel. If that resulted 1n a serious and prolonged
loss of altitude, there was danger of fallure and discovery.

To stop any enterprise of this nature because there are
risks, would be, of course, in this field to accomplish very
little.

While air reconnaissance 1s an old and tried method of

paining intelligence, a peacetime operation of this particular
type. and on this scale was unique.

Approved For Releasel 2%0%0%1 3 @/A{RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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But I submilt that we live in an age when old concent:s
of the limits of "permitted" techniques for acaouiring informa-
tion are totally outdated. They come f{rom the horse and buszy
days.

I see no reason whatever to draw an uniavorable distinctlon
between the collection of informatlon by reconnaissance at a
high altitude in the alr and esplonage carried on by indilvidualsz
who 1llegally operate directly within the territory of another
state.

: In fact, the distinction, 1f one 1ls to be drawn, would
favor the former. The 1llegal espionage apgents generally
-attempt to suborn and subvert the citlzens of the countriles
in which they operate. High level air reconnalssance in no
~way disturbs the life of the people. It does not harm thelr
property. They do not even notice 1it.

be
I believe these technliques should/universally sanctioned
on a mutual basis and become an accepted and agreed part of our
international arrangements.

The USSR has known a good deal about these flights for
the last four years. It has studiously refrained from glving
the people of the Soviet Union the knowledge they now admit
they had. '

¥ ¥k K ¥ X ¥ ¥

With respect to the U-2 project, I am prepared to support
and document these conclusions:--

First, that this operation was one of the most valuable
intelligence collection operations that any country has ever
mounted at any time, and that it was vital to our national
security.

Second, that the chain of command and authority for the
project was clear. :

. Third, that every overflight was carefully planned, fully
authorized, and, until May 1, 1960, effectively carried out.

Fourth, that the technilcal and loglstic support was prompt
and efficient. '

Fifth, that the security which was maintained for this
project over a perlod of more than five years has been unigue.

SECRET .
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I shall deal wlth these points in the inverse order in
which I have presented them.

First -~ security. The project was run by a small,
closely knlt organizatlon at headquarters and in the field.
Knowledge of the operation was restricted to a minimum. Over
more than five years, since the inception of the project,
there has never been any damaging disclosure to interfere
with the program.

The exlstence of the U-2 alrcraft was, of course, well
known, though 1ts full capabilities, particularly the altitude
and range were not disclosed. It had important weather and
air sampling capabilities which were effectively used and which
afforded natural cover for the project. These weather capabilities
were open and publicilzed.

For example, as far as I know the U-2 1s the first alrecraft
that has ever flown over the eye of a typhoon. It was used very
effectively out In the Far East to learn about typhoons which
cause so much damage, and we have a very extraordinary series
of plctures of the U-2 looking right down at the eye of a typhoon
from several mlles above the top of it. Of course, the U-2 also
had very valuable characteristics as a reconnalssance plane for
peripheral flights.

With regard to technical and logilstic support:--from the
inception of the project, CIA has called on the Unlted States
Alr Force for support in the form of technical advice and
assistance in those fields where the Air Force has the mosgt
expert knowledge. These Included advice on alrcraft degign and
procurement, operational training of air crews, weather,
aero-medicine and communications. I may say the Alr Force
liberally gave all this support to us.

The CIA also drew on the technical knowledge and advice
of those members of the Unlted States Intelligence Board with’ .
particular competence in the fleld of intelllgence priorities, --
targeting and the like. Each mission was carefully planned
with respect to the highest priority requirements of the
Intellilgence Community.

The project has been directed by a senlor cilvilian in
CIA with high competence in thils area of work. He was
responsible dlrectly to me and, of course, to General Cabell.

Since the inception of CIA - going back for ten years -

personnel from the mlllitary services, including the Alr Force,
have been detalled to CIA for tours of duty. We have had as

Approved For Release 2002/65/13 fciA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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8 or 9 hundred of them at one time. Thesc personnel take Cthelr
orders from CIA, not from their parent service, durlng their
period of detail. The U-2 project, under its clvillian director,
drew upon both the military and civilian personnel of the Agency.
They were assigned to dutiles in headquarters and in the fleld
staffs which were responsible for carrying out the technlcal
functions of the program. They were chosen in view of their
particular qualifications for this particular project.

Third, every overflight, from the inception of the project,
and every phase of it, was carefully planned and staffed.

From time to time intelligence requirements were reviewed,
and programs of one or more mlssions were authorized by higher
authority.

Within the authority thus granted, specific flights
could then be carried out on the order of the Director of
Central Intelligence, as availabllity and readiness of aircraft
and of pllot and as weather conditlons permitted.

On the afternoon of 30 April last, after carefully
considering the field report on the weather and other determining
factors affecting the flight then contemplated, and after.
consultation with General Cabell and other quallfied advisors
in the Agency, and acting within exlsting authority to.-make a
flight at that time, I personally gave the order to proceed with
the flight of May first. _

_ There was no laxity or uncertainty in the chaln of command
_in-obtalning the authority to act or in giving the order to
proceed. With respect to the flight authorized on April 30,
the same careful procedures were followed as had been followed
in the many preceding successful flights. '

Now I wish to discuss the value to the country of these
flights from the intellipence viewpoint and from the viewpoint
of national security considerations. I shall do this within
the limitations of what I. think both you and I feel are the
necessary security restrictlons.

Under the law setting up the Central Intelligence Agency,
as Director, I am enjoined to protect "intelligence: sources and
methods from unauthorized disclosure." Naturally I recognize
this Committee as an authorized body to whom dizsclosures can
properly be made that should not be made publicly. In so doing
I wish to keep within the bounds of what I believe you would
agree to be in the natilonal interest to disclose, even here.

Approved For Release 20021/@5/13 RCIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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I feel that you should share the facts which I confidently
believe justified the obvious risks of this project. Sucn riske
were recognized and evaluated at all stages ol the project.

For many years, the Unlted States Intelligence Comaunity
has been directing 1ts efforts to provide the information which
would help to meet the threat of surprise attack. Every
available means in the classical intellipence field have been
utilized, and over recent years these have been valuably
supplemented by the hilghly technical electronic and other
scientific means to which I have referred. )

Our main emphasis in the U-2 program has been directed
against five criltical problems affecting our national securlty.
These are: +the Sovliet bomber force, the Soviet missile program,
the Soviet atomic energy program, the Soviet submarine program.
These are the major elements constituting the Soviet Unlon's
capability to launch a surprise attack. In addition, a major
target during this program has been the Soviet alr defense
system with which our retallatory force would have to contend,
in case of an attack on us and a counterattack by us.

Today, the Soviet bomber force 1is still the main offenslve
long range striking force of the Soviet Union. However, the
U-2 program has helped to conflrm that only a greatly reduced
long-range bomber productlon program 18 continuing in the Soviet
Union. It has established, however, that the Soviet Union has
recently developed a new medium bomber with supersonic capabilities.

The U-2 program has covered many Soviet long-range bomber
airfields, confirming estimates of the location of bases and the
disposition of Soviet long-range bombers. It has also acquilred
data on the nuclear weapons storage facilities associated wlth
them.

Our overflights have enabled us to look periodically at
the actual ground facilities involved.

With respect to the Soviet mlssile test program -- this
T shall illustrate graphically by showing you the photograph
of these facilities, including both their ICBM and thelr IRBM
test launching sites which could, of course, also become and
may well be, operational sltes. _

Our photography has also provided us valuable 1nsight
into the problem of Sovilet doctrine regarding ICBM deployment.
It hag taught us much about the use which the Soviets are making
of these sites for the training of troops 1in the operational
use of the short and intermediate range ballistic migsiles.

Approved For Release 2004/05/18 : EIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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The program has provided valuable information on tno
Soviet atomic energy program. This Informatlon has been includca
in the estimate which we glve periodically to the Joint Committec
on Atomic Energy, but without referring to the actual source of
our data. This has covered the production of fissionable
materials, weapons development and test activities, and the
. location, type, and size of many stockpile- slites.

The project has shown that, despite Mr. ..hrushchev's
boasts that the Soviets will soon be able to curtail the
production of fissionable materials for weapons purposes, the
Soviets are continuing to expand flssionable material capacilty.

. The Soviet nuclear testing grounds have been photographed
more than once with extremely interesting results. The
photography has also given us our first firm information on

the magnitude and location of the USSR's domestic uranium

ore and uranium processing activities, vital in estimating
Soviet fissionable materilal production. We have located
national and regional nuclear storage sites and forward storage
facilitiles.

In general, the program has continued to give useful data
on the size and rate of growth of Soviet industry.

The material obtained has been used for the correction
of military maps and aeronautical charts.

Among the most important intelligence obtained 1s that
affecting the factics of the United States deterrent alr strilke
force. We now have hard informatlon about the nature; extent,
and in many cases, the locatlon of the Soviet ground-to-air
missile development. We have learned much about the basic
concept, magnitude, operational efficlency, deployment, and
rate of development of the Soviet alir defense system, lncluding
theilr early warning radar development.

We have obtained photographs of many scores of fighter
alr fields previously inadequately identified, and have
photographer various fighter-types vainly attempting to
intercept the U-2. All of this has proved Invaluable to SAC
in adjusting its plans to known elements of the opposition 1t
would have to face. ’

As a result of the concrete evidence acqulred by the U-2
program on a large number of targets in the Soviet Union, it

has now been possible for U.S. commanders to make a more
efficient and confident allocation of aircraft, crews and weapons.

Approved For Release 2004/0513;: €IAzRPP90T00782R000100020001-1
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U-2 photography has also made it possible to provide
new and accurate information to strike crews which will make
it easler for them to identify their targets and plan their
navigation more precisely.

We have obtalned new and valuable information with regard
to submarine deployment and the precise location of their
submarine pens.

In the opinion of our mllitary, of our scientists, and
of the senior officials responsible for our national security,
the results of the program have been invaluable.

. . The program has had other elements of value. It has
made the Soviets less cocky about their ability to deal with
what we might bring against them. -

They have gone through four years of frustration in
having the knowledge since 1956 that they could be overflown
with impunity, that their vaunted fighters were useless
against such flights, and that their ground~to-air missile
capabllity was inadequate.

Khrushchev has never dared expose this to his own
" people. It is only after he had boasted, and we believe
falsely, that he had been able to bring down the U-2 on May 1
by a ground-to-air missile while flylng at altitude, that he
has allowed his own people to have even an inkling of the
capability which we possessed.

His frustrated military, many of whom know the facts,
are far less confident today than they otherwise would have
been.

At the same time, in competent military circles among
our allies, the evidence of American capabllity demonstrated
by the present disclosure of the U-2 flights has given a new
and better perspective of oudr own relative strength as compared
with that of the Soviet-Union.

FOoK ¥ K ¥ ¥ ¥

At this point I propose to show you some photbgraphs
to support my presentation regarding the intelligence value
of the project.

Now I shall present the facts with regard to the dispatch
of the May 1 flight and the ensuing developments insofar as the
intelligence aspects are concerned and insofar as they are known
to us.

Approved For Release 2084/5/4 38 Gia-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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“As to the timing of the flight, there is, of course, no
good time for a faillure.

I have already presented the clycumsitancos undei wvalien T
assumed direct responsibility fo. d¢izspuiching this flight.

If this flight had been a success, we would have covered
cercaln targets of particular slpgnificance and we would, in the

‘normal course, have wished to analyze its results before
scheduling a further mission. When it failed, 1t was obvious
even before we received instructions that we would not try
again before studying the cause and effects of fallure. In
elther event, success or failure, after this flight we were
.hot preparing to fly again for several weeks and until further
pollcy guidance was received.

With respect to the timing of the flights, the President,
in hils speech of May 25, had this to =ay: "As to the timing,
the questlon was really whether to halt the progpram and thus
forego the gathering of important information that was essential
and that was lilkely to be ‘unavallable at a later date. The
decislon was that the program should not be halted.

"The plain truth 1s this: when a nation needs intelligence
activity, there 1s no time when vigilance can be relaxed.
Incldentally, from Pearl Harbor we learned that even nepgotiation
1tself can be used to conceal preparations for a surprise attack."
I would point out, also, that if you turn off all flights
" for months before internatlonal meetings and then for some time
~after such meetlings and before trips to the Soviet Unilon of high
Amerlcan officlals or trips here of Soviet officials; 1f you
also estimate that In times of tension flights should be stopped
because they might increase the tension, and 1n times of
sweetness and light they should not be run because it would
disturb any "honeymoon" in our relations with the Soviet Union;
if, on top of this, you take into account that in much of the
Soviet Unlon most days of the year are automatically eliminated
because of weather and cloud cover and low Arctic sun, - then
you can understand the problem of timing of flights.

If you asked me whether or not a flight would have been
made after this particular flight, I cannot give you the answer
because I do not know. At the time, we had no authority for
any mission other than the one that was then undertaken.

With‘respect to the flight 1tself, when the aircraft did
not reach its destilnatlion within the flight time and fuel

capaclty glven 1t, 1t was presumed to be down. But at first
we did not know where. It could have been within friendly

Approved For Rele-‘gse 200§IO§I18 :RCIﬁ-BlDP90T00782R0001000200_01-1
10



Approved For Release 2008/08/18 :®CIR-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

territory, 1in hostile desert, or in uninhabited territory,
or within hostile territory where if alive the pilot would
have been quickly apprehended as was the case. We did not
know whether the plane was intact or destroyed, the pllot
allve or dead.

I shall deal in a moment with the statements which were
issued during thls period of uncertainty.

The question of cburse arlses as to what actually
happened to cause thls alrcraft to come down deep in the
heart of Russla.

Let me remind you flrst that the returns are not yet
all in, and so our pilcture ls not complete. However, we do
‘have a conslderable body of evidence that permits a reasonable
Judgment with a hlgh degree of confidence.

Our best judgment 1s that it did not happen as claimed
by the Soviets. That is, we believe that it was not shot
down at l1ts operating altitude of around 70,000 feet by the
Russians. We believe that 1t was Initially forced down to a
much lower altitude by some as yet undetermined mechanical
malfunction. At that lower altiltude, it was a slitting duck
for Sovliet defenses, whether fighter alrcraft or ground-to-
air fire or missiles.

As to what happened at the lower altltude, we are not
sure. The pllot may have bailed out at any time or he may
have crash landed. The aircraft was equlpped with a destruction
devlice to be activated by the pllot as he leaves the aircraft.
Again we do not know whether or not he attempted to do so. It
should be noted, however, that no massive destructlon device
capable of ensuring complete destructlon could be carried in
this alrcraft as weight limltations were critical, and every
pound counted.

Thus, whether or not the destruction device was used, :
one might expect sizable and identifiable parts of the aircraft
and its equipment to remain.

As to the nature and cause of the suspected malfunction,
we are not prepared to pass Jjudgment. But let me remind you
that thils aircraft and this pllot had proven their high degree
of reliability in many technically similar flights, inside and
outside friendly terrltory. When operating as in thls case,
about 1200 mliles wilthin unfrlendly, heavily- defended ‘territory,
- there can be no cushion against malfunction.

*.******

SECRET |
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There has been much comment and questioning with rvemard
to the pilot and his behavior after apprehenasion. OF course,
we only have the Soviets' report on all of thiz, and we should
accept 1t with caution.

All of the pllots engaged in this cree Pt woue Most
carefully selected. They were highly trained, highly notivated,
and, as seemed right, well compensated financially. But no one
in his right mind would have accepted theze 1isks Lo money alone.

. Since the operational phase of the program scaited, the
rellability record of the plane, for a craft of this character,
was llttle short of phenomenal. It wac 2 %ribuie to Lhe niglh

- skill of the designer, the maintenance crews, and the pilots.
.Until the May flrst flight, over about a four-year period of
operations, no plane had been lost over unfriendly territory
in the course of many, many missions. Several were lost during
the training period at home and in friendly territory abroad.

Francis Gary Powers, the pilot on the May 1 flight, is
a fourth generation American citizen, born in Jenkins, Kentucky,
about 31 years ago. He received a BA uegree from Milligan
College, Tennessee, in September 1956. Scholastically he was
high average. He jolned the Air Force in the fall of 1950, as
a private and served in an enlisted status until November 1051,
when he was dlscharged as a Corporal in orde: to enter the
Aviation Cadet School to train as a pilot. He attended the
Alr Force Basic and Advance Pilot Training School at Greenville,
Mississippi. Upon completion of this Ttrainiug in December 1952,
he was commissloned as a Second Lieutenant.

His first duty assignment was as an F-84 Commando Jet
Pilot with the 468th Strategic Fighter Saquadron at Turner Alr
Force Base, Georgla. He resigned his Air Force Reserve Commission
under honorable conditions in May 1956. The reason for such
reslgnation was to Jjoin the project we are discussing.

] His record with the Air Force had been uniformly good. -
He was ¢lven a specilal sccurity screening by the Alr Force
and also a supplemental check by the security office zi the
CIA. )

During his Alr Force career, he received tiaining with
respect to his behavior and conduct in cvent of capture, and
after enterlng the employ of the Agency, he took the Agency's
escape and evasion course at our training station here in the
United States in June of 1956. He had subsequent training in
escape and evaslon aflfter his assignment to hls overseas post

. 1n August 1956, '

An Alr Force Major Flight Surgeon assigned to CIA who
worked wilth the U~2 pilots during their training in the United
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N and continuously during their stay overseas, hadé this to say
in regard to Francis Powers, "....During the period of my
assignment as Flight Surgeon at Adana, I not infrequently
shared a room with Mr. Powers and particlpated in soclal,
flying, and mission dutles with him. In my opinion Mr. Powers
was outstanding among the pllots for his calmness under pressure,
his precision, and his methodical approach to problems. T have
flown considerably in jets with Mr. Powers. I would conslder
him temperate, devoted, perhaps more than unusually patriotic,

- and a man given to thinking before speaking or acting."

. It should he remembered that Powers was a pilot, navigator,
a well-rounded aviator trained to handle himself under all
conditions, in the air or if grounded in hostile territory.
*He was not trained as an "agent" as there were no foreseeable
circumstances, even the present ones, where he would act as such.
Furthermore, such training would have been incompatible both
temperamentally and with the strenuous technical demands of his
flight missions. '

The pilots of these aircrafts on operational missions,
and this was true in the case of Powers, received the following
“instructions for use 1f downed in a hostlle area:

First, 1t was their duty to ensure the destruction of
- the alrcraft and its equipment to the greatest extent possible.

Second, on reaching the ground it was the pilot's first duty
to attempt escape and evasion so as to avoild capture, or delay
it as long as possible. To aid him in these. purposes and for
survival he was given the various items of equipment which the
Soviets have publicized and which are normal and standard
- procedure, selected on the basls of wide experience gained 1n
World War II and in Korea.

Third, pilots were equipped with a device for self
destruction but were not given positive instructions to make
use of it. In the last analysis, this ultimate decision has
to be left to the indlvidual himself.

Fourth, in the contingency of capture, pilots were instructed
to delay as long as posslble the revelation of damaging
information.

Fifth, pllots were instructed to tell the truth if faced
with a situation, as apparently faced Powers, with respect.
to those matters whilch were obviously withln the knowledge
of his captors as a result of what fell into their hands.
In addition, if in a positilon where some attribution had to
be given his mission, he would acknowledge that he was workilng
for the Central Intelligence Agency. This was to make 1t clear

- that he was not working for any branch of the armed services, -
- and that his mission was solely an intelligence mission
Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA- RDP90T0078 R000100020001- 1
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These Instructions were based on a careful study of our
experience In the Korean war of the consequences of brain-
washing and of the extent of information which could be
obtalined by these and other means avallable to the Sovlets.

Whether or not in this instance the pllot complied with
all of these instructions, 1t is hard to state today with
the knowledge we have. However, a careful review of what he
has sald does not indicate that he has given to the Soviets
any valuable information which they could not have discovered
from the equipment they found upon the pilot's person or
retrieved from the downed alrcraft.

I would warn, of course, agalnst putting too much belief
"in what Powers may say, particularly if he 1ls later put on
trial. By that time they will have had a more thorough oppor-
tunity for a complete brain-washing operation which might well
produce a mixture of truth and fiction.

I will now deal with the "cover story" statements which
were lssued followling May 1.

When a plane 1s overdue and the fact of its takeoff and
failure to return is known, some statement must be made, and
quickly. Fallure to do so, and, under normal conditions, to
"start a search for the lost plane, would in itself be a suspicious
event.

Thus, when the U-2 disappeared on May first and did not
return to lts base wilthin the requisite time perlod after its
takeoff, actlion was required.

For many years, in fact since the inception of the
operation, consideration has been gilven to the cover story
‘which would be used in the case of the disappearance of a plane
which might possibly be over unfriendly territory.

. Because of its speclal characteristics, the U-2 plane

was of great interest to the U.S. weather services and to the
National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics, the predecesgsor

of' NASA. NASA was very much concerned with the sclentific
advances which operations of these U-2s could make towards
greater knowledge of the upper atmosphere and for other
scientiflc purposes. As already indicated, U-2s have now
undertaken many weather and related missions and theilr functlons
in this respect have been publlcized by NASA, and this publlcity
has been dlstributed freely to the world.

It was therefore natural that NASA's operations be used
to explain the presence of U-2s at varlous bases throughout
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the world,'although NASA did not participate in the development

of intelligence devices, nor did they partlcipate in the planning

and conduct of any intelligence mlssions.

Accordingly, when the May first flisght was lost, an initial
statement was 1lssued on May 2nd by the Base Commandant at Adana
that a U-2 alrcraft, engaged in upper air studles and operating
from the base was down, and oxygen difficulties had been reported.
This was 1ldentified in the press as a NASA plane. A search for
the plane was initiated in the remote areas of eastern Turkey.

: On May 5, early in the day by our time, Khrushchev made
his claim that "an American aircraft crossed our frontiler and
continued its flight into the interior of our country... and...
was shot down." At that time, Khrushchev gave no further detalls
of significance. .

Apparently as an attempt at deception, Khrushchev followed
up his speech the next day by distributing photographs of a :
pile of Jjunk -- according. to experts, pleces of an old Soviet
fighter plane -- possibly for the purpose of making us think
that the U-2 plane had been effectively destroyed. Since the
fake wreckage was quickly identified for what 1t was, this

particular ruse had no effect.

_ The NASA statement which followed the Khrushchev speech

of May 5 developed somewhat further the original cover story.
Also on May 5, the Department of State issued a further release
which generally followed the cover story. Mr. Dillon has covered
this in hils testimony before this Committee on May 27.

: At this time - on 5-6 May - we stlll did not know whether
the plane or any recognlzable parts of it or the pllot were 1in
Soviet hands,; or whether the pillot was dead or allve.
Furthermore, then we did not know whether Khrushchev desired
to blow up the incldent as he later dld, or put 1t under the
rug, and spare his people the knowledge that we had been
overflyinz them.

Hence, in this situation, there seemed no reason at that

‘time to depart from the original cover story.

These two press releases attributed to NASA were worked

‘out in consultation between CIA and NASA and after conferring

with the Department of State.
These statements dld not come out of any lack of fore-

thought or attention to their preparation or lack of coordination.
The baslc cover story had been developed some years ago for the
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exlgency of a failure, and this original cover story was on
May 5 modified to meet our then estimate of what was best to
say in the light of what little we knew about the details of
the May 1 flight fallure.

Subsequently, on May 7, Khrushchev adduced evidence that
“he had the pilot alive, and quoted his purported statements. -
He also produced certaln of the contents of the plane and

later various parts of the plane itself. This clearly disclosed
the true nature of the mission on which the plane was engaged.

The cover story was outflanked.

The issue then was whether to admit the incident but
deny high level responsibility, or to take the course which
was decided upon and clearly expressed in Secretary Herter's
statement of May 9 and in the President's statement of May 11,
and hls address of May 25,

In Mr. Herter's appearance before this Committee, he has
dealt wlth the statements which were issued during the period
after May 6, except for the two statements involving NASA which
I have covered.

I would only add thHat in my opinlon, in the light of
all the factors involved, the decision taken to assume
responsibllity in this particular case was the correct one.
Denial, in my opinion, over the long run would have been
tortuous and self defeating.

Those who took this decision knew that I was ready to
assume the full measure of responsibility and to cover the
project . as a technilcal intelligence operation carried out
on my own responsibility as Director of CIA. This alternatlve,
too, was rejected because of the many elements making it hardly
credible over the longer run.

% O¥ ¥ ¥ % * W

» This concludes my statement respecting the intelligence
agspects of the U-2 projJect.
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Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : %?-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1



Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1



Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

Copy No. 3

CHRONCOLOGICAL ACCOUNT CUF HANDLING OF U-2 INCIDENT

1 Maz

Un bunday, 1 hiay, at spproximately 0010 hours Vashington

time, personnel in the CIA aperations control ceanter where the

All key Project personnel assembled in the Agency control
center the morning of 1 May to analyze the latest information and
to implement appropriate actions to cover the possible loss of the
aircraft. Alsoc present were Mr, Walter Bomney, Press Relations
Gificer, NASA, and Colonel Leo P. Geary, USAF, Project Officer,

ir. Richard Helms, Acting Deputy Directer, Plans, and Mz, Hugh

Cumming, Director of Intelligence and Research, Department of State.

+ full scale discassion of proposed texts of a suitable cover story
release was held. Mr. Cumariag, Mr. Helms, and Colonel Burke

went to0 Mr. Dulles' home about 1300, He proposed revisions in

the cover story. This group returned to Colonel Burke's office where

they were joined by kr. Richard M. Bissell, Jr., Deputy Director,

Flans,
Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

25X1

25X1

25X1



Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

The story as released differed fror: the one prepared in
advance of the mission and distributed to the ¥Field Cormmander
at Adana, to Headquarters, USAFE, Headquarters, UBAF, and
to the ClA representatives in friendly countries iavoived in the
actual flight plan.

In its final form, the actual release reflected political
satimates and inputs of the Department of State and ClA at the
time, based on the latest iaformation and the assumption that the
aircraft was down deep within the Soviet Union where any atory
connected with navigational error, pilet hypoxis, or aircraft
realfunction would be difficult to sustain. However, inthe absence
of any verified inforination oa the actusl fste of the mission,
condition of the aireraft or pilot, and not being certain that the
Hoviets would adizit to & deep penetration, it was agreed that such
a covering reiease did offer the bast prospects of being sustained
{1} in the svent the aircraft was totally destroyed and the pilot killed,
or {2) should the Soviets take credit {or shooting it down, while at
the sarme time electing to move the reported scese of the incident
~loser to their borders in order to concesl {rom their own psopie

and the world in general the depth of the penetration,

nza
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2=3 kiay
The revised covar story, backed up by aa actual misslon

flight plan consistent with the purportad fiight, was sent through

CIA comraunications channels to the Commander of Detachment

Field Commander was directed to release this story, after

25X1

4 May
Un Wedneaday, 4 May, bofore the Soviets had made any

diaclasure whatsoever, there were mestings at the Department of
“tate aitended by Colonel Burke, Mr. Richard H. Davis, Mr. James
1. Berry, and Ambassador Bohlen, who weat over a question and
answer brief prepared by the Agency, principally for use by NASA
in the event of Soviet disclosure but designed to be circulated to all

affectsd purties, inclading USAY Headquarters, Headouarters USAFE,

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1



Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

the Departmeat of State, as well as Detachment 10-10 at Adana.
It was assumed that it might have to be amended, depending upon

the nature of any disclosure the Soviets might make. The meeting ;

approvad the guestion and answer bdrief, and it was dispatched to

all interested parties in Washington and overaseas, the latter through
dgency comununications channels.

5 say

Khrushchev mads his {irst disclosure, After the MSC meoting
at High Point, the Prasident, Secretary Gates, Mr, Gordoa Gray,
My, Dillon, bir. Dulles and General Geodpaster met to consider the
handling of the U-2 incident. It was agreed that the Department of
“tate ahould handle all publicity and the general outlines of what the
Department should say were discussed.

In Washington, there was a mesting in the Department of Siate
in Mr. Raymond Hare's office, atiended by Mir. Davis and Mz, Berry
of Jtate, and General Cabell and Mr, Bissell of CIA. This meeting
was subsequently transferred to Mr. Dillen's office, following the
latter's return from High Foint.

“t 1200 hours, Mr. Hagerty at the ¥ hite House then made a
reiease stating that the President had ordered an inquiry and that
the facts as developed would be forthcoming from NASA and the

Department of State,
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The NASA Press Gfficer, Mr. Bonney, received a suggesticn
from Mr. Hagerty that he hold a press conference a8 $00n as
possible aa a rmeans of handling the heavy volame of press inquiries.
nch a conference waa‘ convened at 15330 hours in NASA Headguarters,
The NAEA press conference was based on the gquestion and answer
brisf referred to above. In reaponse to direct questioning, lor.
Bonney Agpottatl indicated that the U-Z aircraft had been grounded
for souipment checks. On learning of this from kir. Bonney, Cla
seat A message to the U«2 unit in Turkey and later on ¥ May to the
one ia Japan ndvising them to stand down and to indicate if questioned
the stand down was for the purpose of checking equiprment, a statement
still consistent with the original cover story release. The Edwards

Ay Forece Base NASA Detachment was likewizse atood dowsn for a

“guick check’ of eguipment. The afternoon of 5 May, a message was '

senat to Headquarters, USAFE on Agency channels, coordinated with oy

Headquarters USAF, calling off the dummy air search. A 1430 hours e

&ixy Bohisa held a background rmseting with scme 35 press correspondents,
! During the mesting in Mr. Dillon's office on 5 May, the Department
| of Histe press release was prepared. During its preparation, kr.
. Dillon talked on the telephone a number of timea with General

Goodpaster and at lesst once with AMr, Dulles regarding the wordiag i

B
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of the release. The Departruent text, while making reference to
the original statement of the missing plane and the oxygen failure,
did not whelly comuit the Departrent to this veraion. This
release also referred to the fact that the Soviet Governwent had
been gueried as to details and any particulars concerning the fate
of the pilot. In this same rmeeting, the text of the actusl note
asking the Soviets far detalls was agreed upen. Mr. Lincoln White,
Department of State Press Cfficer, jawe out thie release and made
certain background remarks at 2 press conference at 1245 hours,
6 hiay

There were two radie and press briefings held at the Departrment
of State. One, by Mr., Tally st 1110 hours, sod the other by Mr. Vhite
at 1235 hours. In reply tc & question, Mr. VWhite stated that there
was absolutely no “deliberate attempt to viclate Soviet air space, and
there never hae beon.” The statement accurately reflected Mr,
Vhite's knowledge of the incident,

Khrushchev made his second and more detailed statement,
There was a mesting frox. 1100 to 1430 houre in the Director's office,
attended by hr. Dulles, General Cabell, Mr. Bissell from CIA,

dire Guroming and Mr. Bohlea from: State, and General Goodpaster
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frow: the White House, In this session, a draft statement was
prepared for consideration by the Secretary of State which did
not go as iar as the text nctually released.

The final text wae drafted by the Secretary of State and

ar, Dllon and cleared with the President, and was released at

approximately 1800 hours, scknowledging that “a flight over Soviet W

territory was probably undertaken'”, The DCIwas informed by
phone of the final decislon to, in effect, "come clean”. This
release, corning six days after the iocident, was the first U, 3.
official staternent casting doabts on the initial and only cover story
release rmade Adana, and repested in more detail in the NASA
release of 3 May. Un the same day, & public display of a NASA~
marked U-2Z siveraft was held at the HASA hangar, Edwards Alr
Force Base, California, as the result of arrangements made by
CIA with Lockheed Alrcraft Company, to meet insistent press demands
for detailed information on the plane and to document further the
innocent uses of the rircraft,

3 s

There wexe nc statements by any official source.

3 May
About 1000 hours, a mesting was called in the office of the

Secretary of Htate. In additicos tothe Secretary and the Under Secretary,
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several members of his staff were present, including Mesars.
Schlen, Kohler, Jerry Smith and Macomber., Defense Secretary
Gates and Deputy Secretary Douglas aluo attended, as well as
Mr. Dulles and KMr. Bissell of CIA.

It was decided that ¥y, Dulles should brief the Congressicnal
lezders in executive sessicn and tell them the basic facts. »ir. Herter
would issue, subject to Presidential approval, a press staternent
which would clarify the position of the United States Goverament.
Later, after consaltation with the White House, it was decided that
Mr. Herter would aleo give his staternent to the Congressional
leaders prior to public releasa.

At about 1130 hours, Mr. Bissell and Mr. Dulles retarned to
their offices and Mr. Oulles spent the intsrveaing time, prior to the
140@ bours session with the Congressional leaders, in preparicg his
stater:eat, Mr. Bissell shortly returned to the Departineat of “tate
and attended the session which prepared a first draft of the statement
to be made by the Secretary of State. Mr. Dulles did not participate
in this draiting session.

shortly before 1400 hours, Mr. Dulles and Mr. Bissell joined
the Secretary of Hate and drove with hin to the Congressional hearing
room. ‘Yhile driving to the Capitel, Mr. Dulles showed Mr. Herter

the text of his proposed remarks. General Cabell, »:z. Luandahbl,
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and Mr. Warner joined the group at the Capitol. Mr. Dulles
covered the following points: the first overflight was in 1956
and that a considerable number had been made; we tended to
disbelieve the Soviet version of the shoot down; valuable information
had been obtained, Mr, Bissell gave more details, and Mr. Lundahl
showed geveral salected photographs, |
1 vay

The President held his preas conference.
12 May

General Goodpaster telephoned Mr. Dulles to say that further
flights should be suspended,
16 May

The President announced from Paris that high altitude
reconnaissance flights over the Soviet Union bad been suspended
since the U.2 incident, in accordance with a decision rmade on 12 May,

and that ‘'these flights would not he resumed”. The President

Prepared 15 June 1960

Distribution:

Orig - President's Board (Mr, Pat Coyne via IG)

Cy # 2- O/DCI
v'Cy # 3- DDCI

Cy #4 - DD/P

Cy # 5 - DD/P/DPD{Mr. Cunningham) g
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complete because unless there is such candor it is most difficult for the
Senate to discharge its responsibilities in the field of foreign policy.

As you know, the committee has agreed that these sessions are to
be executive. However, in order to make the maximum amount of
information available to the public, which must in the final analysis
understand our policies if they are to be supported by the people, we
have arranged for a high rankmg official of the executive branch to de-
lete from the executive transcript any statements or information
which might in any way jeopardize the national security. Should
any question arise as to whether such deletions go beyond those neces-
sary to protect the national security, I will appoint a bipartisan sub-
committee to consider such questions.

I have urged members to limit their questions to those directly
relevant to the recent summit conference and incidents related thereto.
Although the committee has not considered fully all witnesses it may
wish to hear, I have expressed the personal opinion that there is no
occasion for private witnesses to be heard on the matter before the
committee.

Finally, as you know, the committee has decided that members
should for the first time around, at least, limit their period of ques-
tioning to not to exceed 10 minutes each.

FOCUS OF STUDY

Tt is my hope, Mr. Secretary, that our study can be focused on four
principal areas: first, the events and decisions resulting from the U-2
meident; second, the effect of these events and decisions upon the
summit; third, the policy of our Government regarding the summit

- meeting; and fourth, the policy of the United States in the future and
possible improvement in the execution thereof.

INTEREST IN IIEARING

Mr. Secretary, wo have some guests from the Senate who have
requested to come as observers. I wish to admonish them that this
is an executive session, and that they are not to disclose on their own
responsibility anything that takes place in these hearings. I might
also call to the attention of the committee that it was noted in the
press that Tass, the official governmental news agency of Soviet Rus-
sia, was the first applicant to purchase a copy of the transcript which
will bo later released, so we might keep this in mind. The staff of
the committee has compiled a set of background documents on events
incident to the summit conference. Those documents will be printed
as an appendix to the hearings when they are published.

I suggest, Mr. Secretary, that you proceed with your statement, for
the information of the committee. The Secretary has a statement
prepared which will be the presentation of his point of view.

STATEMENT.. OF. HON. CHRISTIAN A. HERTER, SECRETARY.OF
STATE, ACCOMPANIED BY HON. DOUGLAS DILLON, UNDER SEC-
RETARY, AND HON. CHARLES E. BOHLEN, SPECIAL ASSISTANT

Secretary IIerTER. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee,
I appreciate very much your willingness to allow me to make this
statement.
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4 EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE
This statement is guided very much as indicated by the chairman in
the remarks that he has just made in the next to the last paragraph
with regard to divisions ; namely, the genesis of the summit; the U-2
incident; the events in Paris and the future.

THE TIIREAT TO BERLIN

1. The genesis of the summit

In order to understand what happened in Paris, we need to look
back over the preceding 18 months. )

In November 1958, the U.S.S.R. began a new strategy directed
toward altering the situation in Berlin and East Germany in its favor.
If the Western Powers refused to give up their present position in
Berlin and make West Berlin a so-called %ree city, the Soviet Union
stated its intention to proceed unilaterally at the end of 6 months,
turning over full sovereignty to the so-called GDR and thereby con-
fronting the Allies with the alternative of capitulation or resort to
force which would be met by Communist force.

Though the strategy as it unfolded proved to be more flexible than
its original statement, it is still the official policy of the U.S.S.R. Its
force lies in the Soviet ability to threaten Berlin, where we are morally
comrmitted, but physically exposed.

The Western Powers, of course, promptly rejected the Soviet pro-
posal and reaffirmed their determination to stand by Berlin.

In the months that followed, while the U.S.S.R. elaborated and
pressed its strategy, the Western Powers concerted their plans to meet
it. They sought to engage the U.S.S.R. in negotiations, thereby
clarifying its intentions and either attaining solutions acceptable to
the West, or as a minimum, convineing it that unilateral action against
Berlin would not be sound.

ENGAGING TIIE SOVIET UNION IN NEGOITATION

It was by no means a foregone conclusion that the U.S.S.R. would
negotiate on an acceptable basis. In January 1959 the U.S.S.R. pro-
posed a conference to adopt a peace treaty with the two parts of an
indefinitely divided Germany.

The Western Powers continued to maintain that a peace treaty

could be negotiated and signed only with a united Germany, hence
that the reunification of Germany must be settled first.
. They also maintained that the only proper solution for Berlin lay
in its becoming the capital of a unified Germany, and therefore, they
were unwilling to discuss Berlin as an isolated issue. But the U.S.S.E.
had held for some time that reunification was solely the business of
the Germans and therefore refused to discuss it.

The West persisted during February and March in its efforts to
get the Russians talking somehow. It proposed a meeting of Foreign
Ministers, with the prospect of a possible summit meeting when due
preparations had been made. The U.S.S.R. had repeatedly indicated
a desire for that summit meeting since 1956. TFinally, a compromise
agenda, which did not prejudice the substantive views of either side,
was adopted for a Foreign Ministers’ meeting and a date was set in
May shortly before the expiration of the original Soviet deadline for
meeting their arbitrary demands on Berlin. : _
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TOREIGN MINISTERS’ DEADLOCK

During the intensive preparations for the meeting the Western
Powers developed a new version of their basic position regarding
Germany, which was submitted at Geneva as the Western peace plan.
It consisted in approaching the unification of Germany through a
series of stages, thereby offering the U.S.S.R. a chance to adjust
its position gradually to the eventual loss of its hold on East (er-
many which free elections would presumably bring.

The plan showed flexibility and imagination; it appealed to world
opinion; but its rejection by the U.S.S.R. was none the less flat.

The U.S.S.R. stuck adamantly to its previously announced pro-
posals for a peace treaty with a divided Germany. Thus, the basic
positions remained totally unreconciled. '

Finding no progress possible on Germany, the Western Powers and
the U.S.S.R. explored the possibility of an interim agreement on
Berlin which, without contemplating a basic solution of Berlin as a
separate issue, would do something to mitigate difficulties which the
U.S.S.R. professed to find there. Though some progress was made
in this direction, the U.S.S.R. insisted on language which would have
implied the eventual erosion of the Western position in Berlin.

Accordingly, despite the labor of 3 months with only one short ad-
journment, the Foreign Ministers’ meeting ended in deadlock.

HIGH LEVIEL TRIPS

The failure of the Foreign Ministers’ meeting did not
_ result in a war crisis, however, because a parallel train of events had
- meanwhile brought hope in a different direction. We took the op-
portunity of Mikoyan’s visit to the Soviet Embassy here in January:
to arrange informal exchanges of views between the Soviet leader

and top U.S. officials.

This was followed in June and July by further visits and ex-
changes of Kozlov to this country and the Vice President to the
U.S.SR. The fact that these visits took place without public inci-
dent and made possible somewhat more realistic communication than
usual with the Soviet leadership seemed to offer a possibility—only
a possibility, of course—that means of avoiding war and eventually
getting Soviet-Western relations into somewhat less dangerous shape
might be found by developing these informal contacts.

Accordingly the Presié)ent decided to go ahead with a move which
he and his advisers had long had in mind when the time seemed right.
He invited Chairman Khrushchev to visit this country, and the visit
was announced before the Foreign Ministers ended their Geneva
meeting.

During that visit no progress was made, or indeed expected, on
resolving outstanding problems, but a somewhat greater degree of
mutual understanding was seemingly attained, particularly on the
need to settle international questions by peaceful means rather than
by force. There was also a suspension, later publicly acknowledged,
of whatever was left of the Soviet ultimatum on Berlin.
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PREPARATION FOR THE SUMMIT

After the Khrushchev visit it was judged feasible and desirable by
the Western Powers to move toward renewed discussion, this time at
the summit. Some flicker of hope for progress on Berlin had ap-
-peared at Camp David, whereas Geneva had ended in deadlock. Dur-
ing his American visit Khrushchev had also evinced an interest in the
equally vital field of disarmament, and even though disarmament talks
were to start in the Committee of Ten at Geneva it was felt that
Khrushchev might reserve his constructive moves, if any, for the
summit.

Accordingly, after due consultations among the Western heads of
government, an invitation to a summit was sent to Khrushchev and
accepted by him and after some difliculty over earlier dates the time
was finally set for May 16. This move found broad support in West-
ern. public opinion.

Tllloere ensued an intensive and protracted series of preparations
on the Western side, involving repeated meetings not only of the
TForeign Ministers and of NATO but even of the heads of govern-
ment. Within our own Government we also studied most carefully
the possibilities of making progress not only on Berlin and Germany
but most particularly in disarmament, as well as other aspects of
general Soviet-Western relations. '

At the December meeting of Western heads of government a con-
sensus emerged that the May summit might well be only one of a series
of such meetings, and that it would be largely exploratory. Some
modest progress was hoped for, but no major solutions on any front.
But if a beginning could be made, the series of talks, possible in a
gradually improving atmosphere over the years, might do substan-
tially more.

SUMMIT PROSPECTS DIMMED

In the first weeks after the Khrushchev American visit there was
a general improvement of atmosphere and people began talking, partly
in hope, partly in some confusion, about “detente.” There were com-
paratively conciliatory speeches on each side; there was progress in
the test ban talks at Geneva; a new Soviet-United States cultural
agreement was signed November 21, and on December 1 the United
States, the U.S.S.R., and other powers signed the Antarctic Treaty.

But clouds began to gather even then. Omne of the earliest signs
was the strong Soviet protest on November 11 against West German
plans to build a broadcasting station in West Berlin. Another was
the Khrushchev speech on November 14 which was harder in tone,
boasted again of Soviet missile prowess, and began a concentrated
attack on Adenauer and the German Federal Republic which later
increased and seemed to be a central feature of Soviet presummit, tac-
tics. The reason for this attack is still a matter for speculation.
Perhaps they thought it would undermine the Western position on
Berlin by helping to divide the Western Allies. It had no such effect
of coulrl'se, but naturally rallied us to speak out in defense of our Ger-
man ally.

Khrushchev as early as December 1 also began repeating his
threats to sign a separate peace treaty with East Germany. Ilerepeat-
ed these threats in his speech to the Supreme Soviet on January 14
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and in his remarks during his visit to Indonesia and other countries
in Jannary. On February 4, the Warsaw Pact powers issued the first
formal blocwide commitment to sign a separate GDR peace treaty.
Thus Khrushchev’s threatening Baku specch of April 25, though it
was the most sweeping since February 1959, was only a harsher
version of what he had been saying for months before. I shall make
full documentation on his speeches available to the committee.

Not until April did we reply at length to this mounting crescendo of
Soviet statements. We did so in order to keep the record straight—
notably in the speeches of April 4 and 20, which KXhrushchev attacked
for starting arguments that he in fact had begun. )

The unity of the four Western Powers on Berlin meanwhile pre-
sumably signaled to the U.S.S.R. that prospects for eroding the West-
ern position or obtaining Soviet terms on Berlin remained slight.
President de Gaulle and other leaders were quite firm in discouraging
expectations on this front. The NATO Council in Istanbul May 24
also reaffirmed the Western position on German reunification and re-
gretted Soviet refusal to discuss specific practical measures of dis-
armament. Thus as the summit drew near the prospects for important
agreement seemed slender, so long as the U.S.S.R. remained com-
mitted to driving the Western Powers out of Berlin and to dis-
cussing disarmament in terms of general principles rather than con-
crete steps.

The Western outlook consistently remained, however, that the sum-
mit would be worthwhile. It would afford an opportunity for an ex-
change of views which would clarify each side’s position ; it might con-
tribute to some reduction of tensions over Berlin and narrow some of

«’  our differences on disarmament. It could be at least a small first step
in a long process of improving Soviet-Westetn relations,

U—2 INCIDENT

11. The U-8incident

On May 1 occurred the unfortunate failure of an intelligence mis-
sion. The U.S.S.R. at once seized on it to complicate the approach
to the summit. With regard to the role of the U.S. Government in
this matter, I cannot hope to improve on the lucid and straight-
forward account which the President gave to the Nation Wednesday
night. I will, therefore, not attempt to go into detail, although I am
of course ready to answer questions concerning my responsibilities.

CENTRAL POINTS IN PRESIDENT’S ACCOUNT OF U—2 INCIDENT

Here I would only like to reemphasize four central points which
stood out in the President’s account :

1. The U-2 program was an important and efficient intelligence
effort. 'We knew that failure of any mission under this program would
have serious consequences, but we considered that the great benefit
derived justified the risks involved.

2. The decision not to suspend this program of flights, as the sum-
mit meeting approached, was a sound decision. Conditions at a later
season would have prevented obtaining very important information.
There is never a “good time” for a failure of an intelligence mis-
sion. We believe it unwise to lower our vigilance because of these
political negotiations, :
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3. Tnitial statements by the U.S. Government properly sought first
of all to protect the pilot, his intelligence mission, and everything
connected with it that might still be kept secret. But when it be-
came clear that plane and pilot were in Soviet hands we believed
the Congress ang the American people should be given the facts.
Thus up to May 7 U.S. statements followed the general line of the
cover story, and thereafter were adjusted to the sitnation as it de-
veloped.

4.pSince the U-2 system had been compromised, it was discontinued
as any other intelligence mission would be in such a case. An-
nouncement of its discontinuance was withheld until the President
could convey the fact personally in Paris.

Based on these four points, I believe most Americans will agree
that the main course of our actions, given what we knew at any
particular time, was sound. In particular, I have doubts that any
alteration in the language of U.S. statements would have made any
difference in the arbitrary Soviet demands which followed.

KHRUSIICHEY’S ARRIVAL IN PARIS

III. The events in Paris

T should like to give you an account of the major developments at
Paris. I shall be as brief as possible, since the details have been
widely publicized. But I would like to tell you of those events which
in my opinion had a determinant effect there, and particularly those
which influenced the decisions of the President.

On my arrival in Paris on Friday, May 13, there was already con-
siderable speculation at the news that Mr. Khrushchev was arriving
in Paris on Saturday rather than on Sunday, the day on which the
President and Mr. Macmillan were due to arrive.

Mr. Khrushchev’s statement on arrival at Orly Airport gave no
indication of his subsequent position. It was mild in character and
conveyed the distinet impression that he would proceed with the
summit, conference despite the U-2 incident. Subsequent events
showed that this was deliberately designed to conceal his real purpose.

PREMIFER KIRUSHCHEV'S CALLS. ON PRESIDENT DE GAULLE AND PRIME
MINISTER MACMILLAN

On Sunday at 11 a.m., at his request, Mr. Khrushchev, accompanied
by Foreign Minister Gromyko and Marshal Malinovsky—which is in
itself an unusual procedure which I shall revert to later—called on
President de Gaulle at the Elysee Palace.

During this meeting he left with President de Gaulle a memoran-
dum setting forth the conditions which would have to be met by the
United States before Khrushchev would be prepared to attend a
summit conference. The French delegation provided a copy of this
memorandum to the American delegation early that afternoon. The
memorandum was subsequently presented by Mr. Khrushchev, with-
out change, as the opening part of his statement to the Four Power
‘meeting on Monday morning, May 16.

After visiting President de Gaulle Sunday morning, Khrushchev
called on Prime Minister Macmillan at 4:30 p.m. on the same day
and read the same statement of position to him.
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The copy of the statement received from the French delegation was,
of course, the subject of immediate consultation with the President
and with members of the American delegation as to its significance
and meaning.

BINDING NATURE OF DECISIONS MADE PRIOR TO KIIRUSIICHEY’S DEPARTURE
FROM MOSCOW

It was our general conclusion, subsequently borne out by the facts,
that the position and totally unacceptable demands set forth in this
document had been drawn up in Moscow prior to Mr. Khrushchev’s
departure. In this sense it represented a fixed Soviet governmental
position from which even Mr. Khrushchev would not have the au-
thority to depart while in Paris. . )

I might digress here to observe that it had been our experience at
previous conferences with the Soviets, at least since the death of
Stalin, that the Soviet representative, no matter how highly placed
he might be, was bound by the collective decisions on basic policy
matters made prior to his departure from Moscow. Any substantive
changes in these positions apparently required reference back to Mos-
cow before they could be undertaken.

PRESIDENT’S POSITION AT FIRST CONFERENCE MEETING

I should like to emphasize the opinion which was thus unanimously
arrived at in the American delegation, since it bore directly upon the
position which the President took at the meeting on Monday morning.

. It was out of the question, of course, that there should be any ac-
W ceptance by the President of the humiliating and arrogant conditions
of Mr. Khrushchev. We had very much in mind, however, the im-
portance of showing the world that it was Mr. Kilrushchev, and no

one else, who was pfacing this summit conference in peril.

The President, therefore, decided before the Monday meeting that
the proper course of action, consonant with the greaf responsibility
which he bore and the seriousness of the issues which were to have
been discussed at the conference, was for him not to engage in vituper-
ation with Mr. Khrushchev but to demonstrate the restraint and
dignity which was incumbent upon the office he holds and which be-
fitted the leader of a great country.

FIRST MEETING OF SUMMIT CONFERENCE—ANNOUNCEMENT OF
SUSPENSION OF U—2 FLIGIITS

In connection with this decision, the President resolved to announce
to the conference his previously taken decision to suspend further
flights of U-2 aircraft over the Soviet Union.

Although the original intention had been to restrict the first meeting
of the conference at the summit to the chiefs of state and heads of
government and to their interpreters, the President, on learning
that Mr. Khrushchev wished to bring Foreign Minister Gromyko
and Marshal Malinovsky, asked Secretary Gates and myself to ac-
company him to this meeting.

I do not need to describe this meeting in detail beyond saying that
Mr. Khrushchev read a statement which, with interpretation, took
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fully an hour. He read this entire statement from a prepared text
before him. The first part of this statement was the memorandum
which he had left with President de Gaulle, plus certain additions
which were in the same vein as regards the United States and which
referred to Soviet willingness to hold a summit conference within
6 to 8 months. The major addition was the cancellation of the in-
vitation to the President to visit the Soviet Union. '

Apart from his statement, which was made public, the President
only once joined in the ensuing discussion—in order to make clear to
Mr. Khrushchev and his colleagues that the suspension of the U-2
flights was not merely for the duration of the conference, but for as
long as he was in office. )

The balance of the discussion at this meeting, which I should point
out was the only one during the entire period in Paris at which the
Soviets were present, was largely devoted to attempts by President de
Gaulle and Prime Minister Macmillan to dissuade Mr. Khrushchev
from the irrevocable step of publishing his abusive statement, whose
unacceptable conditions would render impossible any conference at
the summit, and to Khrushchev’s adamant insistence that he would
publish this statement and do so at a time of his own choosing. The
meeting broke up on the basis of a suggestion by President de Gaulle
that the conferees should reflect on this matter for 24 hours and then
examine the situation.

BINDING NATURE OF DECISIONS MADE PRIOR TO KHRUSIICHEV’S DEPARTURE:
FROM MOSCOW

This meeting completely confirmed our conclusion of the night <

before that Mr. Khrushchev was operating within the fixed limits of
a policy set before his departure from Moscow. It is significant in
this connection that the statement he issued later that day, Monday,
May 16, which was identical with the one he had made at the confer-
ence, took no cognizance whatsoever of the discussion at the conference,.
and in particular of the President’s statement concerning the suspen-
sion of U-2 overflights.

FINAL PROCEEDINGS IN PARIS

Secretary Hrrrer. The rest of the proceedings in Paris were anti-
climactic. It was apparent to all the Western representatives that
there was no possibility of a summit conference short of a changed
position on Mr. Khrushchev’s part. On Monday, Mr. Macmillan
visited Mr. Khrushchev in a fruitless effort to persuade him to with-
draw his impossible demands.

On that same day, President de Gaulle decided, with the agreement
of the President and Prime Minister Macmillan, to call a session of
the summit conference for 3 p.m. on Tuesday, May 17, which was after-
the 24-hour recess which he had proposed on Monday. He sent invi-
tations in writing to the three other participants.

The President, in accepting, made clear his view that acceptance by
the Soviet representative would mean that the Soviets had abandoned

the demands which the President had previously found completely
unacceptable.
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Mr. Khrushchev did not show up at the appointed time for the
Tuesday meeting. After a great deal of telephoning between the
Soviet Embassy and the French Foreign Office it became clear that
he was refusing to attend a summit conference and would only join
in what he termed a preliminary meeting to ascertain if conditions
could be created for a summit conference. By this reference to “con-
ditions” he obviously meant the acceptance by the United States of all
of the conditions he had set forth previously, and indeed he so stated
in a written communication to President de Gaulle later that same
day.

Y THE TRIPARTITE COMMUNIQUE

In the light of Mr. Khrushchev’s refusal to attend the summit
conference, except on terms which all three Western representatives
deemed unacceptable, the three Western heads of government met
briefly at 9:30 p.m., on May 17 to approve the final tripartite com-
munique, a copy of which I should like to insert in the record, at
this point.

The Craarrman. Yes;it.may be done.

(The tripartite communique referred to appears on p. 235 of ap-
pendix 1.)

TRIPARTITE MEELTINGS TO ASSESS SITUATION

Secretary HzrrrEr. Thus the summit conference was ended by
Soviet intransigence before it began, without addressing the great
international issues with which it was supposed to deal.
The following day, Wednesday, May 18, was marked by tripartite
- meetings of the Western heads of government and their foreign min-
isters to consider the situation. In these meetings we sought to
analyze the reasons for the Soviet attitude, prospects for the Zt?uture,
and the measures that the three Western Powers might adopt.

PREMIER KHRUSHCIIEV'S PARIS PRESS CONFERENCE

This day was also marked by Mr. Khrushchev’s press conference,
which was fully reported by press, television, and radio. It was
apparently an unparalleled performance of vituperation, abuse, and
loss of temper. It should be noted, however, that despite the appar-
ently uncontrolled nature of his remarks and actions at this press
conference, Mr. Khrushchev was very careful not to commit himself to
any specific course of action in the international field.

ANALYSIS OF SOVIET ACTION

We have naturally given a great deal of thought to the reasons for
this extraordinary action by the Soviets in coming all the way from
Moscow to Paris for the sole purpose of sabotaging the conference.

I should like to say right off that there are many obscure aspects
of this Soviet behavior and that we do not know all considerations and
factors which went into its determination. We probably never shall.
I hardly need to emphasize here to the members of this committee
the complete secrecy in which decisions are arrived at in the Soviet
Government and in the hierarchy of the Communist Party, which is
the effective ruler of that country. It is only possible to try to deduce

56412602
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from Soviet actions, afler they are taken, the considerations which
brought them about. What I give you now, therefore, is at best a
tentative estimate of why the Soviet Union behaved as it did, an
estimate which may have to be revised in the light of further informa-
tion and future events.

DECISION TO WRECK CONFERENCE MADE PRIOR TO KHRUSHCHEY'S DEPARTURE
FROM MOSCOW

There is one thing, however, that can be regarded as certain: This
is that the decision to wreck the conference was made prior to Khru-
shchev’s departure from Moscow. At no point during his stay in
Paris—mneither when he disclosed his true intentions to General de
Gaulle at 11 a.m. on Sunday the 15th nor subsequently—did Khru-
shchev deviate one inch from his demands that the United States (1)
denounce the overflights, (2) apologize to the Soviet Union, (3)
punish these flights. Neither the statement made by the President at
the one meeting held on Monday nor the serious and responsible efforts
of General de Gaulle and Mr. Macmillan in bilateral talks with Mr.
Khrushchev before and after the President’s announcement of sus-
pension of flights conld persuade him to withdraw these unacceptable
demands. Indeed, it is a logical deduction from his behavior in Paris
that he had no authority to modify his position to any significant
degree.

SIGNIFICANCE OF GROMYKO AND MALINOVSKY ACCOMPANYING
KXHRUSHCHLYV

The fact that he was accompanied everywhere, and literally every-
where, by Foreign Minister Gromyko and Marshal Malinovsky is an
interesting sidelight on this point. There is much speculation as to
this change from his previous attitude during his visits both to the
United States and France, when he insisted upon having meetings
alone with the President and with President de Gaulle, with only
interpreters present. 'I'he best guess as to the significance of this new
factor is that (1) in view of the brutal and threatening attitude he
adopted at Paris it was considered desirable to have some tangible evi-
dence of Soviet armed strength in the person of Marshal Malinovsky.
Secondly, Gromyko and Malinovsky would be akle to testify upon
return to Moscow that he had stuck strictly to the agreed position.

DECISION TO CANCEL INVITATION TO PRESIDENT EISENHOWER, SOVIETS’
EXTREME POSITION

It also seems certain that the decision to cancel the invitation to the
President was made before Khrushchev left Moscow.

As to what led the Soviets to this extreme position, in regard to the
summit meeting which had previously appeared so much desired by
Mr. Khrushchev, we enter into the realm of pure speculation, as I
indicated earlier. The most we can hope to do in the absence of
reliable information is to evaluate the elements and factors which
iu)p_p%ar to have entered into this decision. I shall try to list them

riefly.

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
-~



“pproved For,Release 2004/05/13 ;1A RRRSNTRAZA2RIA0100020091-1

SIGNIFICANCE OF KHRUSHCHEV’S DOUBTS OF SUMMIT SUCCESS ON
SOVIET TERMS

1. There was considerable indication, particularly during April
that Mr. Khrushchev had concluded that there was little likelihood
of his having his way, particularly in regard to Berlin, at the summit.
Evidence of Western determination and unity on this point in speeches
and statements by Western leaders appears to have brought him to
this conclusion. Thus in his Baku speech on April 25, he not only
reiterated with the utmost finality his position on Berlin, including his
intention to conclude a separate peace treaty with the East German
regime, but he also began for the first time seriously to cast doubts
upon the success of the summit. By this of course he meant success on
Soviet terms.

SOVIET HIIERARCHY'S VIEWS OF KIIRUSIICHEV’S FOREIGN POLICY AND U-2
INCIDENT

2. Although the evidence is highly inconclusive, there are a number
of indications that Mr. Khrushchev’s conduct of Soviet foreign policy,
particularly his overpersonalization and in Communist eyes over-
commitment through personal visits to the United States and France,
was arousing at least serious questioning if not opposition to the So-
viet hierarchy. It would seem a logical deduction that some of the
opposition to his conduct of foreign relations which was openly
voiced by the Chinese Communists found a sympathetic response
among some of his associates, and very probably among the Soviet
military.

8. It was against this background that the U-2 incident occurred.

WEIGHING THE FACTORS RESULTING IN CONFERENCE DISRUPTION

A combination of these three factors in our judgment is what re-
sulted in the definite and brutal decision to disrupt the Paris con-
forence. To determine how each of these factors should be weighed
is, for the moment, beyond our reach.

The U-2 incident was most certainly seized upon and magnified
begond its true proportions as a justification for this decision. It is
debatable whether it would have been possible for Mr. Khrushchev
to devise another pretext for so radical and violent a position.

It might well be that a lack of success at the summit would have
confronted Khrushchev with a much more difficult choice, from his
point of view, than no conference at all. He and his associates may
have therefore much preferred to avoid facing the consequences of
failure of negotiation by the simple expedient of torpedoing the
conference.

BASIC MISCALCULATION IN SOVIET THINKING

It may seem incredible to you that responsible leaders of a great
power should have come all the way to Paris merely for the purpose
of wrecking the conference, thereby incurring worldwide condem-
nation of the Soviet Union and enhancing the sense of unity and pur-
pose among not onl% the Western Powers represented there but also
the North Atlantic Treaty Organization snd free nations everywhere.
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I believe the answer lies in a basic misecaleulation in Mr. XKheu-
shehev’s and the Soviet’s thinking.

Mr. Khrushchev undoubtedly hoped—and this explains his early
arrival in Paris—to divide the allies and isolate the United States.
e anticipated that the United States would refuse the demands he
had set forth and that the conference would then coliapse, with the
United States bearing responsibility for the rupture before world
opinion,

His plans miscarrie«d because our two allies stood solidly and loyally
with the United States and refused to be parties to Mr. Khrushchev’s
scheme. The result, as the whole world knows, was that the position
which Mr. Khrushchev brought to Paris resulted in the complete
1solation of the Soviet Union rather than the United States and in
placing the responsibility for the disruption of the conference squarely
where it belongs—on his own shoulders.

This estimate of the reasons for Mr. Khrushchev’s behavior is
strongly supported by the attack which he made at his press confer-
ence on General de (zaulle and Prime Minister Maemillan for what he
termed their lack of objectivity, lack of will and subservience to the al-
lied relationships—in other words, in plain English, for their solidarity
with the United States, their loyalty to our common purpose, and their
refusal to play the Soviet game.

SIGNS OF NO RADICAKL ALTERATION IN SOVIET POLICY

1V. The future

What conelusions should we draw for the future ? ~,

I believe the signs are that there has been as yvet no radical altera-
tion in Soviet policy, though we can expect the continuance of a propa-
ganda effort designed to split off the United States from its allies.
This conclusion is supported by Mr. Khrushchev'’s Paris statements,
ireluding those at his press conference. It is supported, somewhat
more specifically and definitely, by the statements which he made in
Berlin on his way home.

We must remember, however, that, given the nature of the Soviet
state, the men who run 1t can meet in secret at any time and change
existing policy without public debate or even foreshadowing any such
change. It is for this reason that any statement about a phase of So-
viet policy must be regarded as qualified, with no certainty that it will
remain valid in the future.

Thus, though the world’s hopes have been keenly disappointed by
the fact that the summit conference was not held as planned, the signs
so far are that the basic realities of the world situation have not been
greatly changed. Whether this continues to be so depends, as I have
indicated, on actions of theleading Communist countries.

IMPLICATIONS FOR U.S. POLICY

Provisionally, however, I conclude that the implication for U.S.
policy is that the main lines of our policy remain sound and should be
continued. The lesson of Paris is that we should prosecute those lines
with renewed effort, Proponents within the Communist bloc of an
aggressive course must not be encouraged by signs of weakness on our
part. Proponents of a peaceful course should be encouraged by our
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readiness to get on with outstanding international business in a sober
and rational manner.

We must remain prepared to withstand aggressive pressures, not
only in Berlin but also elsewhere. I trust that our evident readiness
will deter such pressures.

TRESH REALIZATION OF TIIE DANGERS WE FACE

Among the lessons of Paris, the most important for the free world,
including ourselves, it seems to me, is fresh realization of the dangers
we face and consequent need for closing of ranks and moving ahead
with our own and our allies’ programs for strengthening the free world.
‘We came back from Paris with a keener sense of what it means to have
allies, and I am sure that our alliances will take new life from this ex-
perience.

At the same time I would stress equally the need to expand imagi-
natively and generously our collaboration with the newly developing
countries.

On both accounts, I hope the Congress will give wholehearted sup-
port to our mutual security programs as authorized by this committee,
which are now more important than ever.

SEEKING TO MAKE PROGRESS ON OUTSTANDING PROBLEMS WITH THE SOVIET
UNION

‘We must continue, as the President has said, to seek in a businesslike

way to make progress on outstanding problems with the Soviet Union.

. We intend to go ahead with existing negotiations, to stand by our com-
W  mitments, and to foster open communication and peaceful exchanges.
Above all, we shall not cease from the most determined, patient, re-
sourceful endeavor to find ways to bring the arms race under con-

trol and thus to meet the nuclear menace that hangs over mankind.

MAINTAINING A VIGILANT, CALM, AND RESOLUTE POSTURE

I believe in this period it is incumbent upon us, all of us, to keep
a calm and steady gaze on the world scene and to avoid actions, state-
ments, and attitudes which might tend unnecessarily to increase inter-
national tension. If such an Increase is to occur, it should be clearly
the fault of the Soviets and we should not do them the favor of
providing rl)retext for action by them which would have this effect.

We should not define as “hard” or “soft” our attitude or policy
toward the Soviet Union. To do so is not only to deflect our gaze
from the grim reality that confronts us, but even more to plunge us
inevitably into fruitless and damaging domestic recrimination. We
must now, as in the future, maintain a vigilant, calm, and resolute
posture and, insofar as it lies in our power to do so, be accurate in
our estimates and effective in our actions.

I would close in expressing the hope that we will not become so
fixed in preoccupation with the Soviet challenge as to lose sight of
our own constructive purposes—which are larger and more im-
portant than merely resisting or reacting to external threats. We
have our own vision of the future toward which we want to see the
world evolve. We have our own programs for helping to bring that
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future about—for holding high the light of freedom, for sharing its
message and rewards with emerging nations, for trying to create an
international commuuity in which the rule of law will replace the
rule of force. It is to these programs that our talents and energies
should be rededicated in the uncertain times that lie ahead.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

The Criarkman. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

Mr. Reporter, I have the documentation mentioned by the Secretary
on page 4, which will be inserted in the record at this point. They are
the various documents and speeches.

(The documentation referred to is as follows:)

STATEMENTS kY KIiTRUSHCHEV SINCE VISIT TO UNITED STATES
“Compiled by the Department of Statel]

The following is a collection of publie statements made by Khrushehev from
the time of his departure from the United States until May 3, 1960, which are
offensive or threatening in nature vis-a-vis the West, particularly the United
States. The statements are arranged under the following headings: (1) Berlin-
Germany: (2) United States and Western policy; (3) the summit; (4) com-
ments on West during Asian tour. They have been extracted from the following
statements and speeches:

Speech in Moscow, npon return from United States, September 28, 1959.
Speech in Vladivestok, October 8, 1959.

Speech to Supreme Soviet, October 31, 1959.

Specch to Soviet journalists, November 14, 1959.

Specch at Hungarian Party Congress, December 1, 1959.

Speech to Supreine Scviet, January 14, 1960.

Letter to Chancellor Adenauer, January 28, 1960.

Speech to Indiar Parliament, February 11, 1960. F
Speech at Delhi civice reception, February 12, 1960.

Speech at Bhilai, February 15, 1960.

Speech at Calcutia dinner, February 15, 1960.

Speech at Jogjakarea, February 21, 1960.

Speech to Indonesinzn Parliament, February 26, 1960.

Press conference at Jakarta, February 29, 1960.

Press conference nt Jukarta, March 1, 1960.

Speech at press luncheon, March 25, 1960.

Speech in Rheims, March 29, 1960.

Press conference af Rumbouillet, April 2, 1960.

Specch in Moseow, upon return from Krance, April 4, 1960.

Speech in Baku, April 25, 1960.

It should be noted that this collection does not include private statements and
criticisus of West Germauy. On occasion, Khrushchev has been especially
offensive and threatening in private talks. The Federal Republic and Chancel-
jor Adenauer personally were the chief targets of offensive public statements on
‘Khrushchev’s part during this period. Beginning with his November 14 speech
to Soviet journalists, Khrushchev launched a vigorous campaign of slander
agzainst the FRG and Adenauer designed to discredit them and isolate the FRG
from the West. At times rhese public statements were truly scurrilous, liken-
ing the Chancellor to Nazis, to Hitler, calling him senile, etc.

Tt is also important to nofe that in his December 1 speech in Budapest, after
a lapse of 3% montbs. Khurushehev renewed his threat of a separate peace
treaty without any provoeation on the part of the West. Apparently Khru-
shehev then concluded that the West would 2o ahead with a summit conference
and that it was theretore timely to begin exerting pressure on the West on the
key issue of Berlin, Moreover, Khrushchev's threat of a separate treaty, in
terms of the consequences for the allied position in Berlin, became more explieit
and menacing with each succeeding major speech after the December 1 apeech,
enlminating in his April 26 Baku speech threat that the allies wounld thereby
not only be deprived of a legal basis for maintaining access, but would have
no right to maintain troops in Berlin.
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BERLIN-GERMANY

“The only way [to settle the Berlin problem] is to sign a peace treaty with
Germany, and we have submitted a proposal to that effect. There is no evading
a peace treaty for anyone, if the other countries on whom the signing of a peace
treaty depends stand for peace and coexistence. The vestiges of World War II
must at long last be removed, since they constitute a source that nourishes the
instigators of a third world war. We are not forcing a solution of the West
Berlin problem in point of time; we are setting no deadlines, issuing no ultima-
tums; but at the same time we shall not slacken our efforts to come to terms
with our allies.

“If we try all means and they do not lead to the desired results, we shall have
no other way out except signing a peace treaty with whichever of the two Ger-
man states wants it. And in such a case we shall bear no responsibility for the
refusal to sign the peace treaty. It will be borne by those who had an unrea-
gsonable approach to the solution of this problem, who did not take the road of
easing tension in relations between states but, on the contrary, wanted to
preserve the dangerous source threatening the outbreak of a third world
war % ¥ %

“We are doing our utmost to make the Soviet proposals acceptable. We do
not impose them, but wish to reach agreement through negotiations, though we
have every right to sign a peace treaty with the GDR if the Government of
the Federal Republic of Germany does not wish to sign a peace treaty.

“We have before our eyes the example of the United States of America, which
has signed a peace treaty with Japan without us. However, it cannot be held
that one side can unilaterally sign treaties while the other cannot, though a
peace treaty with Japan wasg signed earlier to its detriment. * * *

“The liquidation of the occupation regime in West Berlin will undoubtedly be
conducive to this [improving relations]. We wish to reach agreement with all
our former allies. This is why we do not fix any time limits. We want the
solution of this question to improve, not worsen, our relations. The Soviet
Government is ready to try out any conceivable peaceful means to secure a
reasonable solution of the German problem, to promote the improvement of the
international atmosphere, and to create conditions for disarmament and the

-/ establishment of eternal peace on earth for the sake of mankind’s happiness.

“But if we do not meet with understanding, if the forces backing Chancellor
Adenauer obstinately insist on the ‘positions of strength’ policy, we shall have
no other choice left but to sign a peace treaty with the GDR. The Soviet Union
does not intend to connive with those who are for the continuation of the
‘positions of strength’ policy. We and our allies would readily sign a treaty
with West Germany, but if we do not succeed in this, we shall be compelled to
sign a unilateral treaty with the GDR.” (Speech at Hungarian Party Con-
gress, December 1, 1959. Khrushchev’s first public threat to sign a separate
peace treaty with the GDR after his U.8. visit.) '

“The Soviet Government considers that a peaceful settlement with Germany
Is an urgent international question, a guestion of the very foremost importance.
We shall make every effort to have this question solved at last. We sincerely
strive to find a solution for the German question together with our allies in
the struggle against Hitler Germany. We consider that along with this the
question of West Berlin too will be settled on an agreed basis. If, however,
all our efforts to conclude a peace treaty with the two German states fail
to be crowned with success after all, the Soviet Union, and other willing states,
will sign a peace treaty with the GDR with all the consequences proceeding
from this.” (Khrushchev Supreme Soviet speech, January 14, 1960.)

“But what if we do not meet understanding? Could it be that we should live
forever without a peace treaty, and forever resign ourselves to an abnormal
situation in West Berlin?

“Of course, we cannot reconcile ourselves to such a situation. If the Soviet
Union does not meet understanding it will have no other recourse but to sign
2 peace treaty with the GDR with all the ensuing consequences, including those
for West Berlin. That treaty would settle the frontier questions of Germany
with the Polish People’s Republic and the Czechoslovak Republic. With the
signing of a peace treaty it would be clear to all that to strive to alter the exist-
ing frontiers means nothing else but to bring matters to 1 war. We shall not
abet aggressive forces which cherish the dream of pushing German frontiers
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io the east. If some siates refuse to sign a peace treaty it will also be clear
to all what they stand for: peace or war, for relaxation of tension and friendly
relations or for cold war.'  {Letter to Adenauer, January 2x, 1960.)

HAP CogRESPONDERT. Did you actually say that you will insist on 01 Western
withdrawal from West Berlin regardless of the concessions they may make
to Russia’s position on dissrmament? Did you make this statement to Presi-
dent Gronehi of Italy?

“KHRUSHCIIEV. The quesiion is put in a not too correct way. The Western
powers are allegedly to miake concessions to the Soviet Union on questions
of safeguarding peace, while we are to make concessions to the West with
regard to Berlin. This is incorrect. These are two independent questions,
each of which requires a sepurate solution.

“Is it only the Soviet Union and the socialist countries that are interested in
disarmament, in safeguarding peace? All the peoples are interested in safe-
guarding peace. 'This is why it is necessary to consider the disarmament gues-
tion and solve it in a way beneficial for all countries, for all the peoples, for
the cnuse of peace.

“The question of West Berlin is entirely different. This is a question whose
~olution has been dragged out for 15 years since the end of the war. How
much longer can we wait? A summit conference will meet shortly to strengthen
peace, bui the leftovers of the last war have not been done away with yet.
This situntion contradicts commonsense. ‘I'his iz why we shall strive to wipe
aut the hangovers of war, shall try to convince our allies of the last war to
wign a peace treaty with the two existing German states. If they fail to under-
stand this need or if they realize it but refuse to agree, then we shall sign a
peace trealy with the GDR.

“When i peace treaty with the GDR is signed, all the ennsequences of the
war against Germany will rease to exist on the territory of the GDR and with
regard to West Berlin 2s well. West Berlin is on the territory of the GDR.”
i Djakarta press conference, February 29, 1960.)

“Question of Francr-Sorr correspondent MICHEL GORDET. ‘You are regarded
us an advoeate of pesceful coexistence and territorial status quo between Kast My,
and West. If this really is so, why do you question the status quo in Berlin
where the military positions of the Western powers are weak?

“ * % Jf g1 our possibilities are exhausted and our aspirations not under-
~tood, we shall unilaterally sign a peace treaty with the GDR. This will settle
the problems eonnected wiih the liquidation of the remnants of the war in the
territory of the GDR which will sign the peace treaty with us: the problem
of liquidating the occupation regime in West Berlin will also be settled.”
«Diplomatic Press Association luncheon in Paris, March 25, 1960.)

“We are doing and shali continue to do our utmost to achieve understanding
for our policy and to seeure the conclusion of a peace trealy with Germany.
i repeat, we shall do cur wutmost to this end. If the Westcrn powers do not
understand our peace-loving position, we shall have to conclude a peace treaty
with the GDR.” (Rheims Inncheon, Mareh 29, 1960.)

“Fontaine of e Monpi. Mr. Chairman, you more than once intimated that the
Joviet Union would sign a separate treaty with the GDIt if the summit meeting
d not lead to the conclusion of a German peace treaty. Could you say more
precisely to what extent suveh a treaty would aftect the communications between
ihe Western garrisons in Berlin and West Germany ?

“Kirrusirenpy. If we de not meet with understanding on the part of the lead-
org of those couniries with which the Soviet Union fought ngainst Hitler Ger-
many, we shall have Lo conclude a peace treaty with the GDIt alone. However,
‘his is very undesirable for ns; we should not like to do so. But if there is no
other way out, we—iud noi only we but a number of other couptries that fought
against Nazi Germary-—-will be impelled to sign a peace treaty with the GDR
alone, and all rights arising from the surrender of Nazi Germany would then
hecome invalid on the entire territory under the sovereignty of the GDR. Hence,
a1l conntries now having garrisons in West Berlin on the busis of the surrender
and defent of Nazi Germany, would lose all rights connected with the occupation
of the cily. We have declared this more than once and we also reaffirm this
soday.” (Itambouillet press conference, April 2, 1960.)
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“We shall do everything to solve this question [German peace treaty] on a
basis acceptable to the Western powers. But if our efforts are fruitless, then
the Soviet Union will conclude a peace treaty with the GDR. And we are sure
that all those who understand the necessity of removing the abnormal situation
in the center of Burope will sign it along with the Soviet Union.

“We are also convinced that, despite the efforts of Chancellor Adenauer, the
Western powers, sooner or later, will arrive at the same conclusion we have.
Life itself will compel them to understand that the conclusion of a peace treaty
with the two German states is the only correct solution insuring normal condi-
tions of peace and tranguility in Turope.” (Lenin Stadium specch on return
from France, April 4, 1960.)

“Qo that nobody should have any illusions, T would like to state sincerely
and directly: those who think this, and those who are going to follow such a
policy, are going to be disappointed. The Soviet Government, for its part, will
do everything to make our position clear, and will spare no effort to convince
our partners of the need to conclude a peace treaty and set up a free city in
West Berlin. But if, in spite of all our efforts, the Western powers show them-
selves unwilling to seek together with the Soviet Union an agreed solution of the
question of a peace treaty, and, contrary to common sense, ignore this question,
then we shall of course go our own way and will conclude a peace treaty with
the German Democratic Republic.

«T think that the Soviet Union will not be alone in concluding this peace treaty.
Along with us, it will be signed by many other states which are also convinced
of the need for a peaceful settlement with Germany.

“The supporters of an aggressive course where the socialist countries are
concerned often reason that allegedly even after the signing of a peace treaty with
the GDR, the three Western powers would retain the right as before to the main-
tenance of their troops in West Berlin. I must say that this is an incorrect
interpretation, and a policy which is based on such calculations is doomed
to failure.

“Tt ig generally known that the signing of a peace treaty will put an end to
those conditions which were brought about by the capitulation of the country.
Therefore, when a peace treaty is signed with the GDR, on the whole territory

-’ which is controlled by the government of this state, the conditions brought
about by the surrender will no longer obtain. Thus in relation to this territory,
the rights which the Western powers obtained as a result of the surrender of
Hitlerite Germany will also lose effect, including the right to the further main-
tenance of the occupation regime in West Berlin.

“Qome politicians say that they, allegedly, do not recognize the GDR, and
therefore they do not want to have anything to do with it. It even gets to the
point where they call for insuring the stay of the troops of the three powers
in West Berlin, and their rights in relation to that city, as based on the sur-
render and with the aid of force.

“T must warn such hotheads, that when appeal is not made to right and
law, when force is invoked, it is natural that force should be opposed by the
force of the other side, a force which will rest on law, on right, and will conse-
quently win the moral support of all countries. It cannot be ctherwise.

“Our policy is based on concrete conditions. The Soviet Government is
guided by the good intentions of liquidating the remnants of World War II,
of removing the occupation regime in West Berlin, and of giving West Berlin
the status of a free city. Contrary to the assertions of unscrupulous propaganda
in the West, nobody intends to encroach upon the freedom, property, and rights
of the inhabitants of West Berlin. They will be given every opportunity and
every condition for a free choice of the political and social system they desire.

“But West Berlin lies within the territory of the GDR, and obviously when
8 peace treaty is signed, the GDR will exercise sovereign rights over its entire
state territory. If, therefore, the Western powers should not wish to sign a
peace treaty with the GDR, that would not preserve for them the rights on
whose preservation they insist, They would then obviously lose the right of
access to West Berlin by land, water, or air.,” (Khrushchev speech at meeting
in Bakuy, April 25, 1960.)

U.8. AND WESTERN POLICY

“There are forces in the U.S. which are acting against us, against the easing
of tension, and for the continuation of the cold war. To shut one’s eyes to this
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would mean showing weakness in the struggle against these evil forces, against
these evil spirits.

“* * * T have gained the impression that there are forces in the United States
which act not in the same direction as the President. These forces want a
continuation of the cold war and the armaments race. Whether these forees
are big or small, influential or not influential, whether the forces which support
the President can win--—-and he is supported by the absolute majority of the
11.3. people-—-are questions to which I would not hasten to give a final answer.”
(Speech in Moscow, upon return from U.S. visit, September 28, 1959.)

“Some militant American generals are trying to frighten us. They are
m:King many speeches with threats against us * * *. 1 have already said many
times that to make militant speeches in our day, when terrible means of de-
struction have been created, is an extremely dangerous business.” (Speech in
Viadivoestok, October 8, 1959.)

"However, the most bellicose leaders in the West cannot in any way give
up the old methods. E«hoes of the past are still heard here and there. Take
for example the lamentable decision of the U.S. Congress to hold a so-called
‘captive nations week’ and to offer prayers for their liberation.”

% x * Herter and Assistant Secretary of State Dillon in speeches begun
something in the nature of psychological attack against the Soviet Union, trying
deliberately to distort the character of relations between our counntry and China

* * * 1 do not know how it sounds in English, but in Russian attempts of this
kind may be called ‘bovine logic.!” (Speech to Supreme Soviet, October 31,
1959.)

“Qur policy is not a vesition of strength policy * * *. By the way, I shall
reveal-and let people abroad know it, I am making no secret of it—that in one
year 250 rockets with hydrogen warheads came off the assembly line in a factory
we visited. This represents millions of tons in terms of conventional explosives.
You can well imagine that if this lethal weapon is exploded over some country
there will be nothing lefr there at all.” (Speech to Soviet journalists, November
14, 1959.) -

“During our talks in Washington I told Mr. Eisenhower that his position
differed from mine, of course. I was authorized by the Soviet Government, in
conformity with the desire of our people, to immediately sign an agreement on
disanrmament * * *. I believe that the President also wants this, but apparently
he cannot do it because there are still strong quarters in the 11.8. that oppose
disarmament. We must not be deceived in this respect. Yesterday I read Mr.
Netson Rockefeller’s statement * * *. But Messrs. Imperialists, if you try to
return to the positions of the cold war, Rockefeller will not save you, just as
Dulles could not save you.” {Speech to Soviet journalists, November 14, 1959.)

“iiven now the enemies of socialism' are not abandoning their plans for
smashing the socialist caep and are, of course, looking for the weak links in it.
They want to rout the socialist countries one by one. We must bear this in mind,
bechuse it is real, and we must do everything to deprive our enemies of these
impe;s, t;) thwart these hopes.” (Speech to Hungarian Party Congress, December

, 1959,

“Thirst for profit is pushing some imperialistic circles toward continuing the
arms race and maintaining the cold war. These circles are sufficiently influential
to harm the cause of eaxing international tension in certain conditions. Those
political leaders who have joined their interests with the policy of the arms race
are afraid of the easing of international tension and regard it as unthinkable
that this easing could become a fact * * *. Tt is clear that the imperialists will
try again to rally the forces of the advoecates of cold war.” {Speech to Supreme
Soviet, January 14, 1960.)

“As to the questions to be discussed at the conference of the heads of govern-
merits, I should like to express some reservations. The nearer May 16, the day
of ihe meeting of the heads of government, approaches, the more one-sided be-
comes the approach of some statesmen of the Western powers io the problems
the participants of the conference will have to face. They talk about and fan
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those aspects of this or that problem which, if attention is focused on _them,
cannot further the search for mutually accepted solutions. It goes without
saying that such an attitude does not help the search for ways of solving im-
portant international issues. On the contrary, it leads to a maintenance of
tension and consequently hinders the normalization of relations between states.

“here is no need to look far to find an example. Let us take a speech,
recently made by the U.S, under secretary of state, Dillon, and offered as a
summary of U.S. policy before the summit conference. This speech positively
smelled of the spirit of the cold war. Dillon’s speech reminds us, if anything,
of a collection of prefabricated arguments, against the USSR and socialist
countries, rather than of a respousible political statement, Ile kicked up a
hullabaloo about the constant communist threat to peace, proposed that the
conception of peaceful coexistence be thrown overboard, and crassly distorted
the Soviet proposals on disarmament, the conclusion of n German peace treaty,
and on West Berlin’s transformation into a free city. :

“Dillon tried to introduce a stream of unfriendliness and mistrust on the
very eve of the summit conference, when it is so important to be consistent,
to create and support an atmosphere of trust between states. Dillon described
the summit conference as a check on the sincerity of the intentions of the
USSR. He tried to make out that the outcome of the conference depends entirely
on the USSR and not on all the participants. But nobody will succeed in
undermining the trust in the good will of the USSR, the policy of which is
clear, is permeated by love of peace and has gained the firm sympathy of the
peoples.

“In the eyes of the peoples, the summit conference ig truly a serious testing
of the policies of the states represented at that conference, perhaps, most of
all, of the policy of the United States itself. The peoples will judge sincerity
of intention on what each of the four powers brings with it to the conference,
and what contribution each power is ready to make to the cause of the lessening
of international tension.

“But if one goes by the statement of Mr. Dillon, who understandably is not
an outsider to government circles in the United States, it turns out that the
U.S. Government is ready to come to an agreement on the disarmament ques-

. ; tion and on the improvement of relations between the states of Hast and West
-’ only if its own viewpoint is accepted on the Berlin question.

“Why did Dillon have to make a statement which is obviously out of harmony
with the atmosphere cstablished between the Soviet Union and the United
States after my talks with President Eisenhower at Camyp David? Maybe this
is simply a manifestation of pugnacity by a diplomat who has got it stuck in
his head that if one attacks the other side before talks begin, the other side
will become more yielding? One would like to say to Mr. Dillon, and to those
who may share his opinion, that such methods are most unsuitable in dealing
with the Soviet Union.” (Speech in Baku, April 25, 1960.)

THE SUMMIT

“Qome in the West claim that the Soviet Union has changed its policy and,
therefore, it has become easier to talk with us. This is wrong, of course., We
were born Communists, we live as Communists, and will not die, but will con-
tinue to march onward as Communists.” (Khrushchev speech at Soviet journal-
ists’ meeting, November 14, 1959 (referring to a de Gaulle statement made at a
November 10 press conference).)

“We have recently reached an agreement * * * on convening a conference
of heads of government on May 16 in Paris. Itis envisaged that this conference
will be followed by a number of summit meetings. It would be improvident to
try to guess beforehand the possible results of the forthcoming conference L
(Kbhrushchev speech to Supreme Soviet, January 14, 1960.)

“Ag for the imminent summit meeting * * * naturally we must not think that
all controversial issues can be regulated in one or two meetings between the
leaders of Western and BEastern powers.” (Khrushchev speech at Paris press
luncheon, March 25, 1960.)

Nork.—TFor Khrushchev’s last public statement on the summit before May 1, see his
comments of April 25 in Baku guoted under “U.8, and Western Policy.”
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COMMENTS ON WEST DURING ASTAN TOUR

“Hveryone sees how the plans of the reactionary circles of certain Western
powers which pursued a foreign policy ‘from positions of strength’ are coming
to grief. Common sense and the understanding that the policy of ‘brinkmanship’
is a fatal policy under present conditions are beginning to gain ground.

“It is known that there arve cireles in the West who are unwilling to reconcile
themselves to the beginning of the relaxation of international tension and seek
te reverse the march of time and revert the world to cold war times. Especially
dangerous in this respect are the activities of the military blocs of NATO,
SHATO, and CENTO, the holding of military maneuvers in various parts of the
world and the establishment of new bases, including those for nuclear-tipped
rockets. In this connection it is impossible to overlook the actions of the
Japanese ruling cireles, which are a danger to the cause of peace,

“The question of peace is the main question of our time. Closely connected
with it is the question of the abolition of the colonial system., The sooner the
colonial powers are deprived of their eolonies—and the eoloninlists will then be
unable to plunder and oppress other nations—the quicker peace on earth will be
established * # *,

“In our time, the colonialists eannot act as they did in the past when the
destinies of people thronghout the world were decided in European capitals.
They are casting about for new ways and means of enslaving countries which
recently achieved independence * * *

“Kspecially dangerous to the people of Asia, Afriea and Laiin Ameriea are
rarious forms of collective colonialism. It is impossible not to mention such
ounifestations of coloniaiism as military-political blocs.

“Provocations against Indonesia, Cambodia and T.aos are but a few of
the shametful deeds of the SEATO bloc operating in your aren.” (Speech to
Indonesian Parliament, Febriary 26, 1960.)

“The struggle Tor strengthening peace is not an easy job, for still active in
some countries are influential forces interested in the continued arms race,
ard in wrecking the prospect now in evidence of a decrease in international
tension and in rekindling rthe enld war. “%‘
“Some of the Western countries are advanced just because those of Asia,
Africa and Latin America are underdeveloped. It would be only fair for the
Western nations to repay at least a portion of the looted wealth to the peoples
whom they held in bondage”” (Khrushchev speech to Indian Parlinment,
February 11, 1960.)

“Whereas all the petee-loving peoples want a further relnxation of inter-
nalional tension, the coid and het war advoecates continue zalvanizing such
aguressive bloes as NATO, SKEATO and CENTO.” (Khrushchev speech at Civie
Reception in Delhi, February 12, 1960.)

“The Soviet Union and the West have two different approaches to ajid. The
Soviet Union strives to achieve economic aid which promotes economic inde-
pendence. But some penple in the West ntilize assistance as & weapon of new
colonial policy.” (Khrushehev speech at Bhilai, February 15, 1960.)

“I do not think all of you understand when we show bitterness toward colonial-
ist~. For some ages you have heen oppressed by colonialists, hut still you do
not feel as strongly as we do, though we have never in the striciest sense heen
a colony,”  (Khrushehev speech at a dinner in Calcutta, February 15, 1960.)

“Peace is also sought by the greater part of the peoples of the capitalist
states in Europe and North America, even in the United States of America
whose people for long have been influenced by the propaganda of those on the
side of the cold war, where expressions of agreement with peace are considered
almost akin to traitorons actg towards the interest of the state. * * *”  (Khru-
shehev speech at Jogjankarta (State University of Gadjah Mada) February
21, 1960.)

“The European colonialists implanted their so-called civilizantion in Asia by

the sword and the gun and for centuries they held up the development of the
countries they enslaved.” (Statement at Press Conference, Djskarta, March 1,

19640.)
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“Tlowever, to be frank, one must say that the Western countries, having
pumped out incalculable wealth from the colonies as a result of centuries of
plunder and are continuing to pump out wealth in one way or another * ¥ *
might be fair enough to allocate at least a portion of this wealth for aid to
underdeveloped countries.” (Khrushchev speech to Indonesian parliament,
February 26, 1960.)

“[Afro-Asian countries] are important suppliers of raw materials for the
‘Western powers. The supporters of aggression understand that when the
majority of Afro-Asian countries follow a peace-loving policy, they are unable
to count on the use of the rich resources of Afro-Asian countries in their ag-
gressive plans.” (Khrushchev speech to Jogjakarta University, February 22,
1960.) :

“The capitalist states are guided by the law of their society—no cheating, no
sales—in other words help the weak today so that tomorrow the weak will again
come to you for assistance. * * * Thig is not assistance, but striving to hook
by the ear and drag into slavery, to make one or another country the object
of exploitation by a state or group of persons.” (Khrushchev press conference,
Djakarta, February 29, 1960.)

ADDITIONAL KHRUSHCHLEV STATEMENTS

The following Khrushchev statements all made after his return from the US,
do not fit easily into the four categories listed above. They serve, however, to
illustrate his interpretation of “peaceful coexistence,” “detente,” “capitalism,”
“exchange of ideas,” ete.

“There were very good things [in the US8I, but we must not forget the bad
things. Thig little worm, or, rather, giant worm is still alive, and can display
its vitality in the future as well.” (Moscow Speech on return from US, September
28, 1959.)

“We must realize clearly that the struggle for the consolidation of peace will

-’ be a long one. Peaceful coexistence must be understood correctly. Coexistence

means the continuation of the struggle between two social systems, but of a

struggle by peaceful means, without war, without the interference of one state

into the domestic affairs of another state. One should not be afraid. We must

struggle resolutely and consistently for our ideas, for our way of life, for our

socialist system. The partisans of capitalism too will not, of course, abandon

their way of life, their ideology, they will fight. We hold that this struggle must

be economie, political, and ideological, but not military.” (Novosibirsk speech,
October 10, 1959.)

“He who does not recognize peaceful coexistence wittingly or unwittingly slips
down into the positions of the-cold war and the armaments race, of deciding
international problems by force of arms and not by way of peaceful negotiations.
Hence it is clear that it is essential to tear off the masks from all those who
wish to embellish the policy of the imperialist state who continue the arms race.
Things must be called by their names. The aggressive circles of these countries
are striving to decide disputed international questions by means of war. All the
pacts and alliances set up by the imperialist states are camouflaged by false
statements to the effect that they are allegedly defensive, against the threat of
communism. Byt such statements are not new and have been repeatedly exposed
by life itself.” (Novosibirsk speech, October 10, 1959.)

“The supporters of capitalism are trying to put a new coat on the decrepit
capitalist system, but nothing will come of it; just like a horse, you know, that
is getting old and is unable to kcep its tail up like a young spirited horse. So,
the moribund capitalist system will not see a new surge of energy.” (Vladivostok
speech, October 8, 1959.)

“In the course of these talks [during the Khrushchev US visit] certain Ameri-
can representatives repeatedly spoke about the so-called free dissemination of
ideas. They tried to convince me of the need for wider dissemination in our
country of books and films especially selected by them, and of the need for free
broadecasting. They want to foist upon us all kinds of trash that would poison
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the minds of Soviet people. Can we agree to this? Of course not. Our people
do not want to consume bad food poisoned with the venomr of bourgeois ideas.”
(Kransoyarsk speech, October 9, 1959.)

In his Qctober 31, 1659 speech to the Supreme Soviet, Khrushchev assessed
the relative relaxation of international tension and gave his interpretation of
the causes for it. These remarks were not directly linked to his US trip, but
it was clear that this was his intention.

“Only recently, the foreign policy of some Western powers was built on openly
aggressive calculations, on the ‘positions of strength’ policy. The inspirers of
this policy wanted to impose their will on the peace-loving peoples”—-i.e., the
communist bloe countries. “Sometimes this approach to international affairs
was styled a ‘policy of pushing back’ or ‘rolling back,” but the essence remained
the same * * ¥7 The advocates of this policy “meant direct military interven-
tion in the affairs of the sccialist and other peaceable states. ¥From this stemmed
the policy of a continuous arms race, illusory hopes of building up ‘nuclear
supremacy,’ etec * * * Now times have chuanged. Hven some of the active
exponents of the ‘position of strength’ policy see its futility * * * At the present
timne a more sober evaluation of the situation, a more reasonable understanding
of the balance of forces on the international scene is gaining ascendancy in the
West.” This “inevitably leads to the conclusion that plans involving the use of
armed forces against the socialist world sbould be relegated to oblivion. TLife
itself demands that the states with different social systems should know how
to * * * coexist peacefully * * * the main reason [for these recent changes]
lies in the growing might and international influence of the Soviet Union, of all
countries of the world system of socialism.”

Khrushchev’s remarks made clear that Moscow regarded the detente (and
prospective high-level Enst-West talks) as a consequence, and not, a repudiation
of its position of strength policy. Furthermore, by claiming that the improved
international atmosphere was due mainly to the West's accommodation to Zrow-
ing Soviet power, Khrushchev implied that there would be further improvement
only if the West made furtber concessions.

WHEN WAS DECISION MADE TO SUSPEND OVERFLIGHTS ?

The CrarMAN. Procecding, Mr. Secretary, under our agreed regu-
lations, can you tell the committee when the decision to suspend any
further flights over Russian territory was taken ?

Secretary HerTrr. My impression is that it was taken on the Thurs-
day before the President went to Paris.

Che Craamruman. That would be Thursday, is that it, the 12th ?

Secretary Herrer. Yes.

The Cramman. What were the considerations which led to the
decision taken on Thursday, the 12th of May, that there should be no
further flights over the——

Secretary Herrer. Mr. Chairman, I think I answered that in my
own statement, in which I said that since the TU-2 system had been
compromised, it was discontinued as any other intelligence mission
would be in such a case.

The CaatrMan. It had been compromised sometime before the 12th,
hadn’t it?

Secretary Herrer. No, sir.

(Subsequently the Department of State informed the Committee
that the reporter had misunderstood the Secretary’s answer to this
question, which had been “Yes, sir.”)

QUESTION OF A MORATORIUM ON FLIGHTS

The Caamman. Was a moratorium on flights agreed upon prior to
May 1 to be effective at any time after May 1%
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Secretary HHerrer. Not that I kmowof.
The Crramrman. You would know of it if it had been taken, wouldn’t
ou? )

Y Secretary Hurtor. I am sorry? I couldn’t hear the question, Mr.
Chairman. i )

The Cuamrman. Was any moratorium on the flights agreed upon
prior to May 1, to be effective at any time after May 1%

Secretary ITerTEr. 1 have heard reports to that effect, but of my
own knowledge I do not know. .

The Cramrman. Was such a moratorium ever discussed or consid-
ered by anyone in the State Department ¢

Secretary Herrer. Not by Mr. Dillon nor myself.

The Caatrman. Or anyone?

Secretary Herter. I don’t know of anyone. _

The Cramrman. Do you know whether the CIA considered such a
moratorium ?

Secretary Herrer. I do not, sir. )

The Crarrman. Did Mr. Dulles or anyone else order a suspension
of flights after the loss of the plane on May 1%

Secretary Herrer. That, sir, he will be able to testify to. I can’t
tell you as of what date he did that.

PREVIOUS U—2 FLIGHTS

The Criateman. Were any other planes lost on these same ventures
priortoMay 1%

Secretary Herrer, [Deleted.] Not over Soviet territory.

The Crmareman. None had been shot down or lost over Soviet
territory
 Secretary Herrer. No.

The Cuairman. The flight referred to, that Chairman Khrushchev
referred to on April 9, you were aware of that, were you? :
- Secretary Herrer. Yes.

The CuamrmanN. It was a successful overflight ?

Secretary HErTeR. It was.

DELAY IN ANNOUNCING SUSPENSION OF OVERFLIGHTS

The Cramrman. If the President decided to suspend the flights
prior to Monday, May 16, which you stated he did on the 12th, why
was this announcement delayed until the meeting with Chairman
Khrushehev on the 16th ?

" Secretary HerTer. Because the President reserved that decision to
make the announcement in Paris.

The CrrairMan. What was the reasoning for doing that?
~ Secretary Herrer. I cannot give you the answer, sir.

EFFECT OF U—2 INCIDENT ON SOVIET WRECKING OF CONFERENCE

The Crairman. I believe you stated very convincingly that Chair-
man Khrushchev came to the conference determined to wreck it. Do
you believe that the U-2 incident contributed to this determination
on the part of Chairman Khrushchev?
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Secretary IHerrer, Might I say because I have got a little cold and
ean’t hear too well, can that question be repeated ?

The Criarkman. You have said that Chairman Khrushchev came
to the conference determined to wreck it. Do you believe the U--2
incident contributed to this determination ?

Secretary Herrer, Yes; I believe it did. It was one of the factors
as [ tried to explain in my statement.

The CaarMaN. Do you think——

DELAY IN ANNOUNCING SUSPENSION OF OVERFLIGH'I'S

Secretary Herrer. Mr. Chairman, might 1 for a moment go back
to the previous question vou had asked as to the President’s delay in
announcing the suspension of the flights?

You may recall that he at the summit or at the so-called meeting
in Paris coupled that with the offer of bringing into the United Na-
tions a proposal for general overflight program superintended by the
United Nations and wanted to couple those two things together,

WITY DIDN'T PRESIDENT DISCLATM RESPONSIBILITY FOR U-2 FLIGHT?

The CrairMaN. Mr. Secretary, why do you think Chairman Khru-
shchev left a way out for the President by suggesting in one of his
earlier statements that he believed the President did not know about
these flights?

Secretary Herrer. 1 can there, of course, only specnlate that he
bhad committed himself very strongly in Russia with vegard to his
friendship for the President, and wished to in that way continue the
E{)s}slibility of the President disclaiming any responsibility for the

1¢zht.

The Crrammaran. What was the reason for not accepting this way
ouf, on our part? Why didn’t we accept that suggestion?

Secretary Herrer. Mr. Chairman, that was a question, as you know,
of judgment.

The Crarrman. That was what?

Secretary HerTer. It was a question of judgment. As to when the
essential facts had been revealed by the capture of the pilot and the
plane with all its instrumentation intact, the U.S. Government should
admit the fact that this overflight had taken place, that it was an intel-
lizence overflight, and that decision was made, of course, by the
President himself.

QUESTION OF WISDOM OF THE HEAD OF A STATE ASSUMING RESFONSIBILITY
FOR ESPIONAGE

The CramrmMan. Mr. Secretary, you are a longtime devotee of in-
ternational relations and thoroughly familiar with precedents in this
field. Is the public assumption of responsibility for espionage by the
head of a state the usual and customary practice among nations#

Secretary Herrer. No; the general practice has been, I think, for a
long period of time to deny any responsibility whatever.

The CirairmMan. Do you know of any precedent in onr history or in
the history of any great nation in which the head of state has assumed
personal responsibility for espionage activities?
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Secretary Herrer. No; I do not know of any firsthand. It may be
that there have been some. On the other hand, I would point out,
Mr. Chairman, that this particular incident was of a very unusual
nature.

The Ciurarman. As a general policy, do you believe it is wise for
the head of state to assume responsibility for espionage activities?

Secretary Herrer. Well, very frankly, I don’t think it makes a
great deal of difference from the public point of view.

On the other hand I believe in a case of this kind the telling of the
truth was the better course than getting deeper into fabricating
excuses or disavowing responsibility.

CIRCUMSTANCES LEADING TO PRESIDENT’S ASSUMPTION OF RESPONSIBILITY
FOR ESPIONAGE

The Criammman. What precisely were the reasons that persuaded
you to depart from precedent in this case? What were the unusual
circumstances you referred to?

Secretary Herter. The unusual circumstances were the facts that
the materiel and the statement of the pilot, not every bit of which was
accurate, but a great part of which was accurate, ﬁ’ad been revealed,
and could have been presented to impartial tribunals for examination.

Under those circumstances, which was very different from the
crdinary espionage case I think it would have become extremely
evident and was extremely evident that this incident had taken place.

The Citarrman. Well, in our spy cases, isn’t it a fact that the
evidence of the particular person being a spy, of some of those we had,

w  Was not in question. The difference is in whether or not the head of
state takes responsibility for it, not that it was convincingly evident
he wasaspy. Isn’t that the difference?

Secretary Herrer. That is a difference.

The Criateman. We often catch a spy. We have ourselves, it has
been related, and there is no doubt he 1s a spy with all the parapher-
nalia which usually accompanies a spy, but the point I thought that
would be very interesting to the committee to know is why in this
particular case, in spite of the convincing nature of the evidence that
he was a spy, that the President and the head of state should assume
responsibility for it.

ecretary ITerter. The first was that it was obvious from the facts
as to-what had occurred. Second was that the situation which had
led to this entire activity was the one which is probably disturbing
the peaco of the world the most, and leads to tﬁe greatest. tensions
in the world; namely the danger of surprise attack, and the-secrecy
behind the Soviet Union.

SOVIET DELETION IN MAGAZINE OF REFERENCES TO PRESIDENT'S EXPECTED
VISIT TO RUSSIA

The CmamrmMan. Was it not after the President said that he did
know and took full responsibility for these flights that Chx rman
Khrushchev became completely intransigent and wrecked the confer-
ence?

56412—60—3
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Secretary Herrer. That. is very difficult to determine. If I may, 1
would like to cite at this point just one piece of evidence that I
mentioned vesterday before the House Foreign A ffairs Committee.

On May 6 the Soviet Enbassy in Washington, before any statement
had been made uccepting any degree of responsibility, before the
President had made any statement, this was on May 6, canceled from
the magazine which is published in the United States similar to the
mugazine which is published by the United States in Russia, called
the U.S.S.IX., stopped a press run of that magazine and took out of
it all references to the coming visit of the President to Soviet Russia.
The magazine had in 1t a welcome to the President in his visit to
Russia, pictures of the places that he wus going to, and » good many

hotographs indicating what a great success his visit was going to
. That was canceled and taken out of the magazine eutireTy.

The Cuamrvan. My time is up. Senator Green. I recognize you

for 10 minutes.

EXECUTIVE BRANCH COORDINATION ON U~2 INCIDENT

Senator Greex. May 1 ask a few more questions about the same
matter because I do not understand, and perhaps it is my fault, how
far the President acted alone and how far the State Department
acted alone before they came together and agreed on the situation?

Secretary Herrer. Well, I would say that there was consultation
right through this period.

Senator Green. I didn’t understand.

Secretary Herrer. I would say there was consultation right through -
in this period. May I make this observation, Mr. Chairman? From '
the point of view of firsthand knowledge on these matters, I asked
My, Dillon to come up with me because until May 6, I was out of the
United States. He was acting Secretary of State and some of the
questions that may be dirccted to that period when I was out of the
conntry he can answer from firsthand information, whereas I would
have to do it only from secondhand information.

The Cramman. We would be very glad to have Mr. Dillon sup-
plement the statement. whenever you would like.

Senator Green. Mr. Dillon, then will you take up the answer to
my question

Mr. Dwron. All I can say is that in the period that I had responsi-
bility we were in contact regularly with the President with full
coordination.

Senator Green., Well, the division of authority seems to have re-
sulted in a great many understandings which have been spread well
in the press, and the people are anxious to be informed on how it
happened ; what was the lack in organization or otherwise that was
responsible. If you -an explain it, I would be glad to have you do so.

ISSUANCE OF COVER STORY ON OVERFLIGHT

~ Mr. Dnaon. If it would be helpful, T will be glad to explain
briefly the course of events in the few days after the plane was
missing.
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We first received news that this plane was missing, was overdue
at its home base on Sunday, which was the day that the Soviet Union
later said the plane was shot down.

At that time, it was determined that a cover story would be used
as was stated by the President the other night, which had been pre-
viously prepared for such instance.

There was full coordination on this. I knew that the cover story
was to be issued and it was discussed that it would be issued as usnal
when a plane was lost at the base from which the plane was lost.
There would be no statement from Washington, and this information
was given to the people who would be in charge of the flight at the
base where it flew from in Turkey. [Deleted.] In due course, the
statement was put out there that a plane was missing. The general
content of that statement by the base commander at Adana at Tur-
key was that a U-2 aircrait on the weather mission originating at
Adana, Turkey, was missing; that the purpose of the plane’s {light
had been a study of clear air turbulence; that during the flight in
southeast Turkey the pilot reported he had oxygen difficulties; that
the last word heard from MDB at 7 o’clock Greenwich time; that
the aircraft did not land at Adana, as planned ; and that it could only
be assumed that it was now down.

A search effort, he said, was underway in the Lake Van area and
that the pilot’s name was being withheld pending notification of the
next of kin.

After that statement was made no further action was taken here
because we did not know the circumstances of how the plane had been

~ lost, where it had been lost, whether it had been actually lost over
W’ Soviet territory or not, although the presumption was that it had
been lost over Soviet, territory, because that was apparently where it

was going to be the greater part of the time in the flight.

EVENTS LEADING TO STATE DEPARTMENT MAY § STATEMENT ON MISSING
: PLANE

The next incident occurred on the morning of Thursday, the 5th
of May when we heard of the first speech T)-y Mr. Khrushchev in
which it was stated that they had shot down a plane. They didn’t
say where the plane had been shot down, but they said that an Ameri-
can plane was shot down. This required action and statements on
our part. The news of that was received by me during the course of
a meeting, a regular meeting of the National Security Council which
was being held that day as you will remember, somewhere out of
Washington, as a part of a civil defense exercise.

A series of civil defense exercises were underway at that time which
had been long scheduled. When we heard that news, it was decided
that the State Department would handle all questions regarding it
and taking part in the discussion at that time, present at that time
were myself, Secretary Gates, and Mr. Allen Dulles. So we were all
three aware of this decision.

Meanwhile, back in Washington, members of the State Department
were meeting with members of the Central Intelligence Agency to
try and work out a proper statement. '
_ As soon as we returned to Washington, that statement was finalized
in agrecment with the Central Intelligence Agency and the White
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House was obviously kept informed of the contents of the statement,
and the statement was then put out at [2:45 in the State Department.
The text of that statement was this:

The Department has heen informed by NASA that as announced May 3 an
unarmed plane, a U-2 weather research plane based at Adana, Turkey, piloted
by a civilian has been missing since May 1. During the flight of this plane, the
pilot reported difficulty with his oXygen eqguipinent. M1, Khrushehev has an-
nounced that a U.8. plane has been shot down over the U.8.8.R. on that date.
It may be that this wus the missing plane. It is entirely possible that having
a failure in the oxygen equipment which could result in the pilot losing con-
seiousness, the plane continued on automatic pilot for a considerable distance and
accidentally violated Soviet airspace. 'The nited States is tuaking this matter
up with the Soviet Government, with particular reference to the fate of the
pilot.

PREPARATION OF GUIDELINES ON MISSIN«G PLANE

Meanwhile, prior to that, in the days immediately before that, there
had also been conversations between the State Department and the
Central Intelligence Agency regarding information that might be
given to NASA in case there were further questions of them in Wash-
ington, for confirmation of statemenis regarding where the plane
was down, something of that nature,

General guidelines on this were prepared. This was prior to the
5th, in the period of the 2d and 4th, and these, [ understand, were
transmitted to NASA by the Central Intelligence Agency.

The State Department. at no time worked directly with NASA on
any of this publicity or anything regarding these flights.

Senaror Gore. Did you say did, or did not?

Mr. Ditrox. Did not. This is part of the cover operation. s

[ Deleted.]

NASA STATEMENT OF MAY 5

So then the next item on this was that shortly after {his statement,
NASA was asked a lot. of guestions about the plane and they, follow-
ing the cover story that had been prepared earlier, put out the state-
ment which appeared in the press that same day. T think that caine
out. about three-quarters of an hour after our statement. They ap-
parently utilized the general guidelines which they had been given,
to answer questions and put them together into o statement which was
then put out.

Senator Huaeirrey. What was the date of that?

Mr. Durox. This was done on May 5. This was right after Mr.
Khrushchev's first speech in which he said a plane was down some-
where and this was--you will recall also at that time {he Soviets
printed a photograph of a plane that was supposedly a wreck and we
very rapidly learned, T would say within 24 hours, that this photo-
graph was a fraudulent photograph and was not a photograph of the
-2 wreckage, but was a photograph of some Soviet type plane.

Senator Humeurey., Mr. Chairman, may 1 get a correction?

The Cirarryax. The fime of the Senator from Rhode Island has
expired.

Senator Huarenirey. Just a technieal point. T couldn’t follow the
sequence. I was wondering about the background docniments we have
before us and the sequence of relays.

The Cramman. You will have an opportunity.
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" Senator Greex. I would like to have the witness proceed and finish
his statement. . .
Mr. Diron. Yes; could I finish this statement?

EVENTS LEADING UP TO STATE DEPARTMENT STATEMENT OF MAY 7

Almost immediately, I would say on Friday the 6th, we were aware
that this was a fraueﬁlﬂent picture, and so that gave us some concern
that the Soviets might have a greater knowledge regarding the air-
craft than we had previously suspected, and that maybe they had in
their possession more of the aircraft and possibly had the pilot in
their possession. So this was then followed on Saturday morning, the
7th by Khrushchev’s speech in which he stated that they did have
the pilot, and gave for the first time actual information as to where it
was shot down and so forth.

The Secretary returned to Washington on the afternoon of Friday,
May 6, from Istanbul and Greece, and I reported to him on the situa-
tion as of that time, and at that time he natura]}j[y took over, There-
fore, on Saturday morning, we met with him to determine what to do
next, and at that moment as we met, we were faced with this new
Soviet statement saying that they had the pilot, and a new situation
had arisen, and his action at that time the Secretary has explained.
But that was when the decision was made to reveal the fact that this
was an American plane.

Senator Green. If I understand you correctly.

The CrratrMaN. The Senator has run considerably over his time.

; Senator Green. May I ask one more question ?

- The Crrammman. We are under a time limitation.

Senator Greexn. I thank you for what you have said. As I under-
stand it, your explanation 1s that too many cooks spoil the broth.

The Crairman, The Senator from Wisconsin,

TIMING OF SOVIET DECISION TO WRECK CONFERENCE

Senator Winry. I want to congratulate you, gentlemen.

It seems to me that the facts as developed this morning, plus the
President’s address, give us what we have practically all known from
the newspapers as descriptive of this situation. I want to ask just a
few questions, Mr. Secretary.

In your opinion, do you think that when Khrushchev went to Paris
he had already made up his mind to blow up the conference?

Secretary Ilmrrrr. I do, sir, and I think that the bulk of the evi-
dence indicates that he was under instructions to do so.

Senator Wirky. In your opinion, is the matter of using what we
have used in the past, the U-2’, for a mere period of years, all in
the interest of preserving the integrity of the United States and the
integrity of the West.?

Secretary Herter., I do indeed.

Senator WiLey. And, in your opinion, if the U-2 incident hadn’t
happened—this is sort of a duplication of the question but I want to
get to the main question—would Khrushchev have had an adequate
excuse or would he have drummed up one?

Secretary ITertrr. That can only be a matter of speculation. I
think that Mr. XKhrushchev, as indicated by his Baku speech, felt
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that from his point of view the summit would not turn out satis-
factorily, and that the U-2 incident was a convenient handle for him
to use to torpedo the conference.

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE 0¥ U—2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator WiLey. Isi’t it a fact that from his remarks that he made
in his talk in Berlin he knew that we were using what has been
called spy planes, and had been using the same for some time?

Secretary Herrur. It certainly does, and that was repeated voster-
day by Mr. Gromyko in the statement that he made at the United
Nations in which he said they had known of this for some time, that
they had known of it at the time that Mr. Khrushchev was at Camp

David. [Deleted. |
TRIOR EXPECTATIONS OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS AT SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator WiLey. 'I'hen because of previous conferences, as you have
outlined in your remarks, it is very clear that there was no real
reason to think that a conference could have accomplished anything,
because isn’t it a fact. that both parties were adamant ?

Secretary Herrir. That is true, sir, insofar as Berlin and the
German situation was concerned. It might have been possible to
work out some interim agreement. for Berlin. 1 am rather doubtful
whether it would have been, There was some hope that in the field
of disarmament, ihe Fast and the West could have agreed on direc-
tives to those who were negotiating in Geneva to get. down to specific  sm
disarmament, measures to make a start, and to break away {rom the
deadlock that ha«l oecurred over pure generalities. That is a hope
that we had, that somothing of that kind might come out of the 1Paris
conference. But, as you may recall, in our public siatements we had
made it very clear that people should not expect, not have too greas
hopes of what might. come out of it. But as the President has himself
said, he had hoped perhaps from this and perhaps from succeeding
summit. conferences there might be some easing of the overall at-
mosphere, which in time would lead to a solution of some of these
problems.

KIIRUSHCHEY STATEMENT ON A FUTURE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator WiLry. What do you think is the reason that if Khrushchev
was as heated up as he claims he was, that he said in 6 or 8 months
there would be another opportunity for a conference?

Secretary Hewrrer, | think with the admonition that we have been
given earlier in the day with regard to not bringing political matters
into this discussion, the inference would have to be drawn by each
individual for himself on that.

PRESIDENT'S SPEECH OF MAY 25

Senator Wmiey. Mr. Chairman, I don’t want to take more time
except I do believe that into the minutes of this meeting should go
the address of the President of May 25, which is already attached to
this summation of these background documents. But in view of the
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fact that we are asking ourselves certain questions about, let us say,
where do we go from here, and that is my last question, I ask tha
this be incorporated in the minutes of this meeting. :
The CmatrmaN. Without objection, it isso ordered.
(The speech referred to appears on p. 249 of appendix 1.)

FUTURE U.S. RELATIONS WITH TIIE SOVIET UNION

Senator WiLsy. Now where do we go from here?

Secretary Hlerrer, Sir, I tried to indicate that in the last part of
my statement. As the President has said, we hope to continue to do
business on a businesslike basis with the Soviet Government. We
intend to continue with the negotiations that are now underway. We
intend to continue with our exchange agreements. One thing [ might
put in the record at this point. From such information as we have
received from our embassies in Moscow, and from our missions in
other Soviet bloc countries, the attitude toward our people has re-
mained unchanged. There has been no indication of hostility on a
people to people basis that has been evidenced in any way from what
happened in Paris.

The Camamman. The Senator from Minnesota.

SOVIET FEAR OF SPREAD OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS TO WEST GERMANY

Senator Hompurty. Mr. Secretary, on page 4 of your statement,
you indicate under the subtitle “Summit Prospects Dimmed,” a series
of developments that you believe indicated a change in the position or

‘& & possibility of a change in the position of the Soviet representatives,
particularly Mr. Khrushchev, about the summit.

In the third paragraph you say “But clouds began to gather even
then,” referring to some developments in the Soviet Union.

If you will recall that period, isn’t this about the same time that
the United ‘States was considering offering nuclear weapons again to
West Germany ?

Secretary Hrrrer. I can’t recall that we have ever done that.

Senator ITumrmrey. Well, there has been considerable talk about
the offering of nuclear weapons to our allies,

Secretary HerTER. We have not been offering them to our allies -

Senator Humpurey. I know you have not been offering them.

Secretary Herrer. Under the law we cannot do that. .

Senator Humprrrey. I understand that. There has been consider-
able discussion here in the United States of changing the law and
offering weapons to our NATO allies.

Secretary Herrer, There may have been discussions on that subject,
Senator, but we never made any specific proposal on that point.

Senator IHumpHrEY. Are you denying there has been any discussion
of it, Mr. Secretary ?

_Secretary Herter. Oh, no; I said there was some discussion.

Senator Humeurey. In official circles.

Se]?"ega,ry HzerTer. Wo have never made any specific proposals of
any kind.

genator Humrnarey. There was enough talk about it so that resolu-
tions have been introduced into the Congress, and the House of Repre-
sentatives, as you know, to make sure that this didn’t happen.
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My question relates to this: Is there not a great fear in the Soviet
Union of the possibility of the spread of nuclear weapons to Western
Germany ?

Secretary Hexrrer. I think that istrue. T am not sure that it is con-
fined to Western Germany. I think that it applies to the spread of
nuclear weapons in other nations and it might well inelnde Communist
China.

Senator Humrrrey., Yes; indeed.

PROPAGANDA NATURE OF KHRUSIICIIEV'S STATEMENTS PRECEDING
SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Is 1t not possible that during this period of the dimming of the
sununit prospects that you referred to that you are saying here was a
little counteroffensive on the propaganda level by the Soviet.?

Secretary Herrrr. Yes; that is possible.  On the other hand, may
I say this: The summit conference itself was not, agreed upon until
December after the President, Messrs. Macmillan, de Gaulle, and
Adenauer had met in Paris and a note was sent to the Soviet Govern-
ment. suggesting that a summit conference be held and the date was
not agreed upon until later than that, the date of May 16.

Senator Humrngrey. Mr. Secretary, I want it quite clear 1 happen
to believe, as you indicated, that the Soviets made up their minds to
scuttle this conference in light of certain developments, such as the
visit. of Mr. Khrushchev to President de Gaulle; and when he found
out that the Americans, the French, and the British were not going
to back out on Berlin, and were not going to agree to a separate
settlement in Germany, I think that Mr. Khrushchey did come to
the conclusion, as you have indicated, that the summit conference
could not be a success and therefore, he wanted to get out of it.

But the point that I am raising in light of your statement, is, would
we not expect Mr. Khrushchev to blast off, so to speak. on such subjects
as Berlin and a separate treaty with (fermany? Isn’t this and hasn’t
this been a part of his general line for a considerable period of time?

Secretary Herrer. Yes; it is not confined to Mr. Khrushehev. Tt
has been almost a standard technique, before any conference, to fake
a very adamant position before the conference.

Senator Humrrmey. Yes.

Well, I only bring this up because while I recognize there was evi-
dence of what you say, possibly a shift of opinion in the Kremlin,
there was always a reason for this and there may very well have been
the reason that the Soviet leaders constantly want to wage the
propaganda war on this nuclear-weapons distribution problem.,

STATE DEPARTMENT PRESS AND NEWS BRIEFING OF MAY 5

I want just to correct the record here. I am sorry to have inter-
rupted Senator Green, but Secretary Dillon, when you were discuss-
ing for us the sequence of events relating to the U-2 incident, vou
talked about a press release of the Department of State on May 5;
whereisit?

Mr. Ditrox. I noticed I received this document after T made my
statement, and I noticed that it was not included in this document.
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I have here a full text of the on-the-record press and radio news
briefing by the State Department spokesman on May 5 at 12:45 pm.
T will be glad to submit this record which includes not only the state-
ment but also on-the-record questions and answers which he made, and
that should be inserted before the National Aeronautics and Space
‘Administration news release which was given out before that.

(The excerpt, from the press and radio news briefing appears on
p. 178 of appendix 1.)

DEFENSE DEPART]\IEN"I"S NEWS RELEASE OF MAY 5

Senator Huwmrnrny. Did the Department of Defense give out a
release before you did ; that is, the State Department ?

Mer. Dintox. The Department of Defense’s news release was really
only confirmation and repetition of the release that had been given
out by the airbase commander at Adana, Turkey, and added nothing
to that. It merely repeated that that was accurate and that was the
onethat is in this document.

WIHO HAS RESPONSIBILITY FOR U—2 FLIGETS?

Senator HomrarEY. Mr. Secretary, what agency or who is the per-
son in, the official in, this Government, who is in charge of these flights,
such as the U-2 flights?

Secretary Hurrer. The Central Intelligence Agency.

Senator ITumrurey. Do you have constant information, do you have
continuing information, in the State Department, as to the number
of these flights, the course of these flights, the purpose of these flights?

Secretary Herrer. The general programs had been gone over with
the Depariment, Obviously it is impossible to tell when these flights
are going to take place because they are so dependent on the season
of the year and on weather conditions.

The Agency has to plan numbers ot alternatives so we never know
at any particular time or any particular flight. But the general ap-
proval of the program had been received from the State Department,
of course, as one of the advisers to the President in this matter.

Serglator Tlunmemrey. Did you know of this specific flight ahead of
time?

Secretary Herrer. I did not; no. I didn’t know it was in the air
gven when T was overseas nor do I think any of us did until it came

OWIL.

Senator ITusrirey. Is that your understanding, Mr, Dillon ?

Mr. Ditrox. I was not aware that it was in the air until I was
informed that it was—it was overdue as I stated previously.

WHO IAS RESPONSIBILTTY FOR COVER STORY ?

Qenator ITumerirey. When something goes wrong on one of these
flights, who is responsible for giving the cover story, the coverup
stol{’/ly, so to speak?

r. Drurox. Central Intelligence Agency, but we are also responsi-
ble for agreeing with them that this is a reasonable story, and it is
proper in_the circumstances, but they have the responsibility for
executing it.

[Deleted].
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POSSIBILITY OF UNIDENTIFIED AIRCRAFT FLYING OVER 'T'IE UNITED STATES

Senator Humeirey., Mr., Secretary, what do you think would hap-
pen in the United States if on our radar screen we should discover
a plane flying at high altitude over our territory in this age of the
fear of surprise attack?

Secretary Hertir. I think we would do everything we could do to
dentify it right away.

Senator Humprrey. Just identify it?

Secretary Herrig. Yes, identify it. We have the wherewithal, T
think to do that.

Senator Humrurey. In other words, would we dispateh inter-
ceptors? ’

Secretary Herrrr. I think so.

Senator Humprrey. What would be our view of such a flight?

Secretary HrrTre. Certainly there is very little that such a flight
could ascertain that would worry us much. Ivery bit of information
that we have got in this country seems to be available throngh public
means to anyone who wishes to collect documents. In faot in the
whole Russian espionage system they have collected maps, documents,
and photographs of every part of the [ 'nited States.

Senator Humenrey. I realize this. but in light of the danger of
surprise attack this is what [ am getting at. This is a little dit erent,
may I say, from a spy working in the railroad yard or taking photo-
graphs or even a S‘uE)marine off our coast even though this gets to be
a little serious, too. But in the light of danger of surprise attack
by air power, there is some difference, is there not ¢ o~

Secretary Herrer. There is some difference. On the other hand I
think we could identify it very quickly. This is the type of plane
that no one could possibly mistake for a bomber when you get close
enough to look at it. This is entirely an unarmed glider type of

lane.

: Senator Humpmrey. Have we ever shot down any Soviet planes
over American territory or over any friendly territory in which we
have bases or alliances?

Secretary Herrter. Not that T am aware of.

Senator Humphrey. Have we ever Intercepted any Soviet planes,
in Korea, for example ?

Secretary Herrer. I think we have heen able to iden tify them from
time to time. Whether we conld say that they were deliberate espio-
nage planes or whether they wandered over the line from the border
or not I can’t tell you.

Senator Humrrrry. Have we ever shot any down ¢

The Cramrumax. The Senator’s time is up.

Senator Humenurry. Thank you.

The Crammax. The Senator from Towa.

WIIAT HAPPENED TO THE U—2 AIRPLANE?

Senator HickeNroorer. Mr. Secretary, we hear a great many state-
ments about this plane being shot down. What is the best evidence
on that? Was it shot down from its maximum height or did thay
consider that it had a flameout at that height and then came down
to a lower altitude or what?
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Secrstary HerTeR., Senator, there has been a good deal of specu-
lation on that point. I think that we are very skeptical as to whether
it was shot down from a very high altitude. [Deleted.]

Senator Hickenroorrr. Well, T think there is considerable differ-
ence in a situation where this plane might have been shot down at
60,000 or 70,000 feet, or whether it was shot down or shot at at 5,000
or 7,000 feet.

Secretary Herter. We are very skeptical and there are certain
evidences that it was not shot down from that altitude. [Deleted.]

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE OF U—2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Hickunroorer. Now, I think it has been quite well-estab-
lished from Mr. Khrushchev’s statements, that the Russians were
aware for some time in the past that flights of this kind had gone
over their territory.

I say I think it is quite evident that Mr. Khrushchev was aware or
the Russians were aware that flights of this kind had gone on over
their territory. At least they claim they were. Did they ever file a
protest with the U.S. Government?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, but not with respect to this type of flight.

WILL THE UNITED STATES BE PERMITTED TO INTERVIEW THE PILOT?

Senator ITickentoorEr. I understand that we have requested in
Moscow that representatives of this Government be permitted to inter-
view the pilot. Have we had any replies from those requests?
-’ Secretary HerTer. As yet they have not given us that permission.
They have said that “When we have finished interrogating him we
will give consideration to it.”

HEALTII AND PLACE OF IMPRISONMENT OF PILOT

Senator HickenLoorer. Do we have a reasonable idea as to where
he is being held ?

Secretary Hrrrer. That I can’t tell you. We have been assured
that he is in good health, and beyond that I can’t tell you whether we
know where he is held or not. Perhaps one of my colleagues knows
that. I don’t think we have any information on that.

DEFENSIVE VALUE TO UNITED STATES OF U—2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Hricxexroorer. Would you care to give an opinion on the
value to this country, in our defensive posture, of these flights, this
series of flights which have gone on over Russian territory for the last
several years?

Secretary HerTEr. Yes, sir, I will give you this opinion. It is a
layman’s opinion rather than an expert’s opinion, but I think they
were of very great value to us.

Senator I1ckENLOOPER. Isn’t it a fact that these flights have en-
abled us, through the knowledge that we have acquired, to reorient our
defensive posture and our equipment and attitudes from time to time
because we have been able to find out exactly, in many instances, what
the Russians were apparently doing or g)roposing to do by way of
armaments and weapons and installations?
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Secretary Herrer. 1 think that they have been of verv great value
to us.
EFFECT OF SUVIET INABILITY TO STOP U—2 FLIGHTS

Senator HickeNvoorer. Mr. Secretary, have you had any opportu-
nity to get a reliable cross section reading on what other nations of the
world think about the vulnerability of Russian defenses; in other
‘words, on the theory that perhaps a part of Mr, Khrushchev’s and the
Kremlin’s infuriation about this matter is an exposition to the world
that they knew about these flights and that they could not stop them
from going over the Russian territory with any consistency ¢

Secretary Herrer. 1 think that undoubtedly that played a con-
siderable part in his own state of mind with regard to the whole
incident, the feeling of frustration that they had not been able to stop
these during a period of 4 years.

Senator Hickesroorer. And that that exposure to the Russian
people and to many other nations of the world that had been
propagandized perhaps into thinking that the Russians were in-
vulnerable may very well have had some effect on the attitudes within
the Kremlin?

Secretary Herrer. It may well have had very rea] effects.

Senator Hickexrvoorer, I think that is ally Mr. Chairman.

Thank you.

The C'namaan, The Senator from Oregon.

DOES RUSSIA TLAVE A LAND-AIR MISSILE?

Senator Morsg. Mr. Secretary, do our experts believe that Russia
hasa land-air missile ?

Secretary Herrer. 1 think you are having both the Secretary of
Defense and the Central Intelligence Agency that can testify to that
betier than I could.

Senator Morse. Have they ever informed you as to what their
opinion is as to whether or not IRussia has a land-air missile?

Secretary Hurrter. We, 1 think, assume that they do.

Senator Morse. We assume that they do. Is it on the basis of that
assumption that they have been asking Congress for some time for
a speedup in our land-uir missile program, because of the assumption
that Russia may have one?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, sir. 1 am being purposely cautious for
security reasons as you understand.

Senator Moese. I understand.

Secretary HerTrr. And possibly in executive session when you have
tallked to Mr. Dulles you could get further information on that point.

Senator Morse. And yvet, I think from the standpoint of our own
secirity, it is rather important that we have some information as to
the possibility, on the line of Senator llickenlooper’s question, the
possibility of whether or not this was shot down by a land-air missile.

Senator Lavscae. A little louder, if the Senator please.

| Deleted}.

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE OF U—2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Morse. [Deleted.] ‘ )
What evidence do we have, Mr. Secretary, that Russia knew of
previous American spy plane {lights over Russian territory ¢
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Secretary Herrer. Only the statements of Mr. Khrushehev and Mr.
Gromyko.

Senator Morse. When ? . '

Secretary Iprrer. Mr. Ilhrushchev made it a number of times.
He did so 1n his statements in Paris. He did so, I think, in his state-
ments that he made to the Central Committce of the Presidium in
Moscow before he left.

Mr. Gromyko made that statement again yesterday.

RIGIITS OVER CAPTURE OF SPIES

Senator Morse. What international law rights do we have, Mr.
Secretary, over capture of American spies by foreign governments?

Secretary IHerrer. Excuse me, sir?

Senator Morse. I repeat it. What international law rights do we
have over American spies that have been captured by a foreign
government ? )

Secretary Herter. We have no rights over them that are in con-
travention of domestic law. We have no international right.

Senator Morse. Therefore, Russia is under no international law
requirement to make this American spy accessible to American Gov-
ernment officials in Moscow.

Secretary ITerrer. I donot think so.

COMMUNIST PROPAGANDA ON TIIE U—-2 OVERTFLIGILTS

Senator Morse. Mr. Secretary, do you think the public knowledge
- now of these American spy plane flights over Russia has played into
the hands of Communist propaganda with the Russian people them-
selves by increasing the fear, no matter how unfounded we know it
is, the fear of the Russian people that our real objective is to make
war against Russia ¢

Secretary ITerTer. I think that the Russian Government will do
its very best to work along that line in its propaganda.

As 1 said earlier, the evidence we have so far is that the attitude
of the Russian people toward our officials, whether in Moscow or in

our missions in the Soviet bloc countries, has shown no change.
[Deleted. ]

TPOSSIBLE GENERAL ASSEMBLY CONSIDERATION OF U—2 INCIDENT

Senator Morsz. Mr. Secretary, what plans, if any, does the adninis-
tration have of carrying on a peace offensive against Khrushchev
now in a meeting of the General Assembly of the United Nations’

Secretary Herrer. What the situation may be at the time of the
General Assembly meeting is a matter of speculation. The fact tha,
as I indicated in my prepared statement, he had gone through this
extraordinary press conference in Paris nsing very extreme language,
but that he did not make any threats of any specific action ; that he
then went to East Berlin and called off a mass meeting there, and
only invited people to a meeting on the following day and then made
a statement with regard to the Berlin situation indicating that there
would be no action taken for some time, may well indicate that his
position on specific things has not. changed. However, only time will
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tell. 'What his attitude will be and what the whole attitnde will be
at t,hei time of the meeting of the Assembly, of course, we can only
speculate. .

1t is very possible that he may want at that time to make a more
conciliatory gesture. | Deleted.]

RED CHINA'S INFLUENCE ON SOVIET ACTION

Senator Morss, To what extent, if any, do you think Red China
has put pressure on the Russian leaders to follow this adamant
course of action?

Secretary Herrer. That again, sir, is a matter of speculation.

Senator Morse. You have no evidence?

secretary Herrer. But the articles which have appeared in the Red
Star magazine, which is their official publication, have been of such
a highly critical nature of the whole policy of so-called peaceful co-
existence, the whole detente policy that Mr. Khrushchev seemed to
have been following, that they may well have had a considerable
influence.

RED CIUNA’S MILITARY ACTIVITIES

Senator Morse. Do von have any reason to believe that we may be
confronted with a diversionary movement now in Asia by Red China
stepping up military aciivities in Asia seeking to embarrass us?

Secretary Herrer. 1 think we should be very alert to that.

Senator Morse. Do we have any late information as to any progress
Red China is making in the development of nuclear weapous, either
on their own or assisted by Russia?

Secretary Herrrr. No, we do not.

The CHARMAN. Senator, your time is up.

The Senator from Vermont.

LFFORTS TO INTERVIEW PILOT

Senator ATKEN. Mr. Secretary, one of the missing links in that
chain of information seeins to be the circumstances surrounding the
capture of the U-2 or parts of it and the pilot.

Has every effort been made on our part to see the pilot of the U-2
to interview him?

Secretary HErTER. Yos.

Senator A1xex. Ilas the United Nations taken steps to interview
him in view of the Russian resolution or demand now being made
in the Security Council?

Secretary Herter. No, not that I know of.

Senator ATgEN. Have they any right to?

Secretary Herrer. Not that I would know of.

HEALTH OF THE PILOT

Senator Atxex. Flave you any information at all regarding the
condition of the pilot? o
Secretary HerTer. Only what we have been told; he i in good

health.
Senator Atge~. That was Mr. Khrushchev’s statement ¢

Secretary Herter. Thut was—-
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SOVIET PHOTOGRAPHIC EVIDENCE

Senator Arken. But Mr. Khrushchev very evidently, very obvi-
ously, undertook to substantiate his first statement with a false photo-
graph, and then, as I understand it, he later showed another fake
photograph to the Russians, claiming that was taken from films de-
veloped from the camera in the U-2 plane.

Secretary Herrer. I am not quite so sure that second one was a fake.

Senator ArkrN. You are not so sure—well, I am not referring to
the supposed remains of the U-2, but to the photograph of the planes
lined up on the ground and claimed to be photographs of Russlan

lanes.
P Secretary Hurrir. Even so, that could have been a genuine develop-
ment of film from the plane. -

Senator Arrn. All right.

PREVIOUS RUSSIAN ATTEMPTS TO DOWN A U2 PLANE

Isn’t it a fact that the Russians had previously undertaken to se-
cure a U2, both by interceptors and rockets ?

Secretary Herrer. I can’t tell you about that.

Senator AtkeNn. Don’t you know anything about that, or don’t you
want to talk?

Secretary Herrer. I can’t tell you about rockets. I think there
probably have been occasions when they might have tried by inter-
ceptor planes, but they couldn’t reach that altitude.

w UNLIKELTHOOD TIIAT U—2 WAS BROUGIIT DOWN BY A ROCKET

Senator Atkex. Than you have no comment to make about an un-
dertaking to get one by rockets?

Secretary Herrer. No, I think T can point out one bit of evidence
that perhaps will be supplemented when Mr. Dulles testifies here,
and that is that the picture of what seemed to be the genuine U-2
Elane had bullet holes in the wings and they are not likely to have

ullet holes from any rocket. )

Senator AtkEN. No,

Does it seem unlikely to you that the U-2 was brought down with
a one-shot rocket. ?

Secretary InrTeR. It seems to us very unlikely.

Senator ATkeN. Leaving the pilot and much of the equipment intact
as hasbeen claimed ?

Secretary HErTer. It seems to us very unlikely.

Senator AtgEN. Wasn’t the list of equipment which was given out
by Mr. Khrushchev such equipment as would have been naturally
carried on any plane that was undertaking to secure information of
this type?

Secretary Herrer. That is right.

Senator Arken. Of any country ?

Secretary Herter. That is correct.

KHRUSHCIIEV'S POSITION ON BERLIN AND EAST GERMANY

Senator Argen. Didn’t Mr. Khrushchev get himself into a rather
untenable position relative to Berlin and East Germany, in fact a
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spot so untenable that he found it virtually necessary to scuttle the
summit, conference one way or the other?

Secretary Hurrex. That, of course, again is a matter of specula-
tion. He had eommitted himself so strongly on these subjects that
certainly under circumstances in most free countries, if the chief
executive had committed himself to that extent it would have been
very hard for him to retrveat from that position. Whether or not he
has a free enough hand in Soviet Russia to be able to say one thing
and act differently the next day or not, I couldn’t tell you.

Senator Aiken. In view of his previous speeches, wasn’t. he in a
position where he was in trouble regardless of what happened at the
summit conference?

Secretary Herrer. e had committed himself very firmly.

Senator Atkrx. Yes,

VIEWS 01" RANCE AND GREAT RRITATN

Are the Uniled States, France, and Great Britain now in aceord
with, Jet’s say, the future policy as set forth by the President the night
before Iast ? )

Secretary Hurrer. They have expressed great satisfaction with
thint.

L beg your pardon. 1 haven’t seen any comment of theirs with
regard to his statement rhe night before last. 1 am speaking of his
statement in Paris.

Senator Aikex. Yes.

Secretary Herrer. The position that he took in Puaris, they ex- ”~,
pressed complete accord with that.

Senator Aiken. Have we received any reprimand or any statement
in the natnre of a reprimand from Brifain or France?

Secretary Herrer, None whatever.

IS0 AND TLS.8.R. 8PY SYSTEMS

Senator Armkex (continuing). Since the incidents of recent weeks.

Yesterday, I got a letter from a lady who I thought was somewhat
nusinformed, probably not indoctrinated, just misinformed, stating
that it was the U.S. spyv system that forced Russia to maintain a spy
system. Do you go along with that theory? 1t seems to be shared
by a good many people. and seems to be a theory which is quite
generally distributed though not believed in certain quarters.

Secretary Herrer. I would think, sir, that going back into history
that Russia has had a much longer history than the United States and
a spy system has been an integral part of Russia’s history. [Deleted.]

Senator AtkeN. It is my impression that Russia had an effective
system before we did.

Secretary Herier., Long before,

Senator ATKEN. And that we were very apologetic about our lack
of u system up until now.

‘Well, that 1s about all.
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EFFECT OF UNILATERAL DISARMAMENT

One other thing that seems to bother some people is this:

Would you agree with anyone who stated that if the United States
would disarm unilaterally Russia would promptly follow suit?

Secreary Ierrer. If we disarmed unilaterally ?

Senator Atken. If the United States would disarm unilaterally as
an example to the world, Russia would promptly follow suit?

Secretary Herrer. I donot.

Senator ArkeN. That is all.

The Crratrman. Senator Long ?

PLANS IN EVENT OF SOVIET DOWNING OTF U—2

Senator LoNe. Mr. Secretary, I believe that U-2 flights should have
been made. T have said that publicly and I have stayed by that
statement.

I wondered if the Department and those responsible had not
planned well in advance just what we were going to do when the
Soviets ultimately got one of these U-2’s. Had there been such plans
made ?

Secretary Herrer. I believe they had. [Deleted. ]

Senator Loxe. Yes. DBut that also involves your responsibility be-
cause you would be the one who would give the explanation.

Secretary IIerter. That is correct.

ESPIONAGE AND INTERNATIONAL LAW

Senator Lonxe., While I don’t see how the great powers can avoid
conducting espionage and military intelligence, as a practical matter
as long as it is conducted on the other person’s soil, isn’t that a viola-
tion of international law?

Secretary ITerrur. All espionage is a violation of sovereignty, all
forms of espionage.

' [Deletedﬁ’

However, the Chicago Convention, which is the principal conven-
tion dealing with this, has never been accepted by the Russians nor
have they accepted any bilateral agreement with regard to airspace
over their country.

[Deleted.]

DEVICES CARRIED BY PILOT

Senator LoxNe. Are these statements about this poison needle and
the self-destruction devices correct?

Secretary ITmkrmr. I think so, but there, again, I think that the
testimony of Mr. Dulles would be more accurate than anything 1
could give.

[Deleted. ]

EFFECTIVENESS OF U.S. INTELLIGEN CE-GATIIERING

Senator Lowa. Might I ask this question, also: What is your im-
pression of the present condition of our intelligence behind the Iron
56412—60-——4
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Curtain? Do you believe that we have adequate information, or do
you believe it is far from adequate as to what we feel we need to know
about a potential opponent ?

Secretary ITerter. Well, I think I can answer that in only one way.
T think that we are doing the best we can to secure such information
as we consider vital. No intelligence service is ever consicdered per-
fect. No intelligence service is ever considered completely adequate.

1 think we are doing, as I said in connection with this particular
operation T felt we were doing, a prudent and eflicient job.

ADMISSION OF ESPIONAGE TFLIGHT

Senator Lone. Well, I believe I had some information about these
U-2 flights prior to this time, not as a member of this committee,
but this is information 1 have run across from time to time as =
Senator of the United States. I did not seek to be informed officially
and did not want to know directly any more than the hearsay infor-
mation T had on the subject.

Tut the thought that occurs to me is this: Would it not be the
original plan that this Nation would not under any circumstances
admit that it was sending those planes behind the Iron Curtain in the
event that one of those planes was captured

Secretary Herrer. I think that, as Mr. Dillon has explained, a cover
story was prepared for that contingency. I think the actual eircum-
stances turned out to be rather different from anything that had been
anticipated in the preparatory work that had been done.

Senator Long. Well, the previous planning had been that we would
not. admit it ; is that correct?

Secretary Herter. Yes.

Senator Loxa. Now, of course, the Russians are in no position to
put us on trial. They won’t go before the World Court on anything
with us, will they?

Secretary Herter. They have not.

Senator Loxe. As a matter of fact, have we not, previously tried
to get them before the World Court on the shooting down of our
planes?

Secretary HerTer. We have tried to get Bulgaria before the World
Court and have offered to take one of the cases, the border cases, to
court, and they have refused.

Senator LoNg. And they have declined ?

Secretary Herter. They have declined.

Senator Lone. In the absence of any wdmission on the part of this
Government, how could they have possibly placed us in a position to
forcee us to admit that that plane was deliberately sent there?

Secretary Herrer. Well, the other cases were all borderline cases
of incursions over the edge of the border. This particular case, the
plane was shot down in the very center of Russia, some 2,000
kilometers inside of Russia.

Senator Loxe. But the point T have in mind, Mr. Secretary, 1s that
T don’t see how they can force you to take the fifth amendment be-
cause they wouldn’t get you before n tribunal to do it because they
wouldn’t ‘go before ii themselves. And I don’t, see how they could
have forced you to concede that that was an authorized mission un-
less somebody, the President or you, elected to make thut admission.
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BRINGING INSTANCES OF ESPTONAGE BEFORE TIIE UNITED NATIONS

But do you see any way that the Soviets could have compelled you
to admit that that espionage mission was a calculated plan and de-
liberately undertaken ? ) )

Secretary Herter., No, sir, the alternative for us was to continue
denying any responsibility whatsoever for it. They would undoubt-
edly as they said they would do, take it before the United N ations,
submit all the evidence to the United N. ations, and we would have dug
ourselves in deeper and deeper in a denial of something which was
perfectly self-evident. That was the choice that we were faced with.

Senator Loxg. Well, a denial of espionage; but you also would have
considerable indication that they would be denying espionage on their
part that you are in position to fairly well prove, could you not?
Could you not try your espionage cases before the United N ations as
well as they could ?

Secretary Herter. We can. But espionage cases we try before our
own courts.

Senator Lone. Yes, but if they wanted to try this case before the
United Nations, couldn’t you just as well have insisted on trying the
cases of their espionage in the United Nations simultaneously ?

Secretary HERTER. Yes, we could, but in that particular case the
issue was a rather different one.

EFFECT OF PLEADING GUILTY OF ESPIONAGE

Senator Lone. Hero is the thought that occurs to me. Under the

s Russian system if the leader admits he made a mistake he has to

resign more or less as Malenkov did or more or less throw himself

on the mercy of the party. But when we plead guilty to espionage

in this case, how can we plead guilty on the one hand and contend

that there is no punishment in order when we plead guilty to violating
international law?

Secretary Herrer. We have said we admitted it entirely on the
ground that for ourselves and for the free world it was essential for
us to get information with regard to dangers of surprise attack or
ag‘gresswn.

enator Loxa. The thought that occurs to me is that; and T am not
sure that we are in a position to be completely self-righteous about
passing judgment on ourselves in our own case; that is what your
own people have said, that we judge our own case and do not let the
World Court decide these matters, I, for one, have been holding
back because I am not sure we have a fair court. But how do you
throw yourselves on the mercy of the Court and deny the Court the
right more or less to judge what the penalty should be ?

ecretary HErTER. Senator, the cases to which you are referring,
of which there have beecn quite a number, have all been border cases
where there was no espionage involved, where it was a question of a
border patrol or weather patrol or something of that kind where the
issue was as to whether or not there was an intentional overflight or
not which is entirely different from this particular case.

Senator Loxe. Yes, but the thought that occurs to me is that we
didn’t have to plead guilty to anything. I know lawyers repre-
sent guilty clienfs. Now, as with the lawyer, when you plead guilty,
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aren’t you more or less in a position that you do have etther to apolo-
gize or take corrective action, or even under onr system of law more
or Joss offer to take your punishment if you are going to plead guilty ?

Secretary 1Terrer. s you may recall, the President had stated thai
he had taken corrective nction.” He has characterized this as a ve-
orei table incident.  When a demand was made on hin. these other
dermands on him. T don’t think you, sir, or anyone else could have
accepled those demands.

Senator Loxa. 1 don’t require my part of your examination be made
a part of the public record, Mr. Secretary. I don't insist on it all,
but T don’t very well see how we can take the attitude that we are
going to plead guilty in the matter and then take the nttitude that
po apology is forthcoming.

Seeretary Herrer. [ think this, sir, the circumstances which re-
quired onr admission are the most important. thing of all.

Senator Gore. Would you restate that, please, sir?

Secretary Herrer. That the circumstances which required our tak-
ing this action of espionage, namely the {remendonus lnportance to
the whole free world and to ourselves of having some knowledge as
to whether a sudden surprise attack is going to hit us or what form
of aggression was likely to be perpetrated, justified the action,

Senator Loxa., [Deleted.] My time is up.

The Ciiaieaian. The Senator from Kansas.

INFLUENCE OF KHRUSHCHEY ACTIONS ON FUTURE U.S. INTELLIGENCE-
GATHERING ACTIVITIES .

Genator Carnson. Mr, Secretary, I want to ask questions on two
items that T have selected from the mail I have received on the summit
conference.

The first is that people that write me are concerned because of the
fact {hat Mr. Khrushchev hurled such epithets at us, our President
ane] the Nation, as they have——a coward, a bandit, and aggressor.

Will that influence onr course of action in getting inf ormation that
is necessary for our security?

Secretary Herter. [ think we will do whatever we feel is essential
for our security. I am not saying in that respect that we are going
to deliberately utilize the U-2 again. 1 have never sadd that.

Qenator Carrson. That is one of the questions that concerns our
people at, the present time.

1" was wondering—ecan we assure the American people that despite
all this tirade, there will be no slackening in our efforts to secure, by
any measures or means, the information that is necessary for the:
security of this Nation ? )

Secretary Herrer. I think both the President—I think the Presi-
dent in particular, has made that very clear.

QUESTION OF MAINTAIN ING THE STATUS QUO IN BERLIN

Senator CarLson. [ have selected from the mail this questior::
Can Mr. Khrushchey be counted on to keep his word on maintaining:
the status quo in Berlin until another summit meeting ?
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Secretary Ierter. That is one, sir, that I cannot answer. .

Senator Carrson. That is one of the questions that we are getting.

Now, we are treaty-bound to protect Berlin. Furthermore, we have
in recent months assured West Berlin that we will never forsake
them. Mr. Khrushchev has said plainly that he would meet force
with force in Berlin.

Can the American people be assured that the United States has
the full cooperation of our allies in maintaining our position on the
Berlin status?

Secretary HzurTer. Senator, one of the most impressive things that
I have ever seen was the meeting of NATO that took place after the
aborted, so-called summit conference. I have never seen such una-
nimity, such firmness, such determination as exhibited at that meeting.

Senator Carrson, That statement should be at least encouraging
to those of us who are concerned about the situation.

CONTINUED EFFORTS TOWARD DISARMAMENT AND SUSPENSION OT
NUCLEAR TESTS

Another thing that I have picked from my mail is this matter that
the people are concerned about.

Will the United States continue to press for controlled disarma-
ment and nuclear test suspension ? .

Secretary HErrer. Yes, sir. I have indicated in my prepared
statement that we will continue to do this.

As you know, however, the conditions that we have always adhered

. to is that the controls have got to be controls that one can rely upon.
s In other words, reliable controls on both sides.

T think that with the very real danger that exists in the world
today of accidental events that may lead to a nuclear war, that we
should pursue the course of doing whatever we can to minimize that
danger, within the bounds that we have stated ; namely, that of re-
ciprocal and effective control.

Senator CarnsoN. Mr, Secretary, do you feel that we are making
any progress on these nuclear test suspensions at the Geneva Confer-
ence and other places?

Secretary Hrerrer. During the last few weeks, really the last few
days, they have been meeting in Geneva examining a coordinated
program of research for improving instrumentation so that small
shots can be detected underground.

Those conferences have moved, I think, pretty satisfactorily. They
are halted at this moment, awaiting some instructions from Moscow.

In the next few days we should know better whether or not there
has been any radical change of position on the part of the Russians
or not. There is some chance of reaching agreement. It will be a
limited agreement at best, but that again depends on full agreement
with regard to the control mechanisms.

As you know, those talks have been going for a long time. Until
they are shown to be hopeless, I think we will continue with them,

Senator CarusonN. That is all, Mr. Chairman.

The CrarrmMaN. The Senator from Tennessee.
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THREL CRUCIAL QUESTIONS

Senator Gore. Mr. Secretary, it seems to me that three crucial
questions here are these:

One. Was there a failure in policy ?

Two. Who, if anyone, was in charge?

Three. Was there a lack of coordination and a breakdown in ad-
ministrative procedure?

Senator WiLey. A little louder, please.

Senator Gore. Would you like me to repeat all of them ?

I said that there were three questions, it seemed to me, three crucial
questions.

One, was there a failure of policy ?

Two, who, if anyone, was in charge?

Three, was there # lack of coordination and breakdown in adminis-
trative procedure?

I should like to explore these three questions in inverse order.

RECEIPT OF FIRST INNORMATION THAT U—2 PLANE WAS DOWN IN RUSSIA

When did the Department first receive information that the U-2
flight was down in Russia ?

Mr. DrLron. Senstor, since I was Acting Secretary at that time, I
think it is proper for me to answer that.

That information was received in the Department during the day,
on Sunday, the 1st of May, at about the middle of the day, our time.

Senator Gore. What was the nature of that information? _

Mr. Dirron. The nature of the information as conveved to me,
which had been received in the Department through the Central Intel-
ligence Agency, was that this plane was overdue at its destination,
and that the time beyond which its fuel supply would carry it had run
out; and so, therefore, it was presumed down somewhere.

Senator Gore. The question I ask is, When did you first have some
notice, some informstion, some hint that the plane was actnally down
in Russian territory? I was not referring to your presumption that
because of its flight pattern and the amount of fuel that it must
be down,

When did you actually receive some intelligence, some hint, that the
Soviets had the plane?

Mr. Dinrow. That the Soviets had the plane—I think the first in-
formation we received on that was at the time Mr. Khrushchev made
his statement on Thursday morning before the—I think it was the
Snpreme Soviet—on the 5th day of May.

Senator Gore. Are you sure you reccived no hint, no information,
no report from either your Embassy in Russia or the Central Intelli-
gence Agency that the plane might actually be down in Russia?

Mr. Dmon. Since most of the flight pattern of the plane, its mis-
sion, was to spend most, of its time over the Soviet Union, it was our
assumption, right from the first word, that when the plane did not
return that it was most likely that it was down in the Soviet Union.
But we did not receive any specific information that it was down
in the Soviet Union, that the Russians had either the plane, the pilot,
or any parts of it, until Mr. Khrushchev made the statement on
Thursday morning.
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RECEIPT OF TFIRST INFORMATION THAT PILOT HAD BEEN CAPTURED

Senator Gore. When did you first receive some hint, some informa-
tion, some indication that the Soviets might have the pilot alive?

Mr. Dmron. The first information we received on that was received
in the Department in the afternoon of the 5th day of May, after we
had put out our first statements.

This was in the form of a report from our Embassy in Moscow
saying that various other foreign diplomats had heard at cocktail
parties or receptions from various Soviet officials that this plane was
down and at one time, to one of these foreign diplomats, a Soviet
official said that they had the pilot and that report reached us.

We didn’t know whether it was accurate or not, but it gave us
pause. That reached us the afternoon of Thursday, and I think it was
on Friday that we identified the fact that a photograph of the wreck-
age as put out by the Soviets was a fraud and so then at that time
we assumed, we acted on the assumption from then on, that they
probably had the pilot and that they possibly had a good deal of the

lane.
P Senator Gore. A member of your Department informed me in the
offices of the committee on Friday morning of the 6th that the De-
partment did, in fact, have information indicating that the Soviets
might have this pilot alive.

Mr. Dimron. That was probably reporting the information which
I said was received the afternoon of the 5th regarding that.

BASIS FOR STATEMENT OF STATE DEPARTMENT’S NEWS DIRECTOR
-’ LINCOLN WHITE

Senator Gore. Yes. Now you say that you knew of the flight, you
knew of the flight pattern, and you assumed that the plane was down
in Russia.

You say now that on the 5th you received this information that
the %ill()t was probably alive and yet, on the afternoon of the 6th,
t}}iis r. Lincoln White, official spokesman for the Department, said
this:

There was absolutely no—N-O, no deliberate attempt to violate Soviet air-
space. There has never been.

- Did you authorize that statement?

Mr. Dizron. No, not specifically. Mr. White was not one of those
in the Department of State that had any knowledge of these
operations.

The statement which we authorized the day before, which is in the
record, was not that categoric. But I don’t think that there was
any reason why he shouldn’t have made such a statement. He drew
that conclusion from the NASA statement of the day before and
when he was asked questions—he didn’t volunteer this statement.
He was being questioned apparently in a press conference and he
made that statement,

We did not authorize a statement, specifically. He did not ask
us for it, but he thought he was carrying out the NASA story.
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QUESTION OF COORDINATION REGARDING MR, WILITE'S STATEMENT

Senator Gore. Is Mr. White authorized to speak to the U.S. press
on behalf of the Department of State?

Mr, Dinrox. Yes, he s,

Senator Gore. Are vou now saying that he was making statements
about this, but that he was not informed on the subject ?

Mr. Dinron. I am stating that he was not informed as to the facts
of this intelligence operation any more than the people who made
the press statements for NASA were informed of the facts of it.

Senator (fore. Do you ecall that responsible and coordinated per-
formance ?

Vir. Dinrov. We are getting at this stage, Senafor, into another
question, the key question of intelligence. When you have something
as important and seeret as this, it is important to limit the knowledge
to the minimum number of people and this was strictly limited
throughout the Government and we did limit it in the State Depart-
went.

We did not think it was proper to inform our press people. “L'here
was n special procedure for people who were informed of this, and
the press people were not =0 informed.

Senator Gork. Mr. Secretary, 1 am not questioning you about the
initial cover statement issue you had in Turkey. 1 am asking you
about an official falsehood on May 6, after you say the Departroent
knew of the flight pattern, assumed the plane was down, a whole day
afier vou received information that the pilot was probubly alive and
in the afternoon of the day after even I had been informed. 1 ask P
you again if you think this is an example of the coordination which
youearlier told us the Department had.

Mr. Dimaox. Senator. t will answer that. 1 think it took a major
effort. which was reached the following day that we were going to
abandon our cover story and {ell the truth. That decision could not
be reached rapidly and quickly. It was reached after long sessions
with the Secretary on Saiurday and until that was reached, we saw
no reason to inform our press officer of anything but the cover story
which is what we were standing by up until that time.

BASIS FOR ME. WH ITE'S STATEMENT

The Cratkman. Senator, may I interrupt? I dido’t understand
why Mr. White wasu't required to clear his statement. at this time
with vou

Mr. Dmron. T am glad to answer that. Mr. White sees the press
every day. and he does not know in advance necessarily the detailed
guestions that he may be asked.

[f a question comes that he thinks he does not know the answer to,
he does elear it with us.

Now. the day before, when we put out our statement, it was given to
him and he followed exactly what he had been told. He did not make
any statement that was quite as categoric as this statement he made
the following day.

The CrramMan. Why didn’t he stand on the one that had been
cleared?
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Mz, Dicron. This was just an answer to a question. Why he did it,
he thought he was telling the truth. I think he acted perfectly all
right. e did not think that this was a new question. Ile thought
he was following the cover story, which he was. So he made this
statement. It wasn’t a statement; it was in answer to a question. I
want to emphasize that.

The Crramrman. It was a very categorical statement that went far
beyond the other statement. That is what begins to complicate your
situation, doesn’t it?

Mer. Drinron. Possibly to some extent, yes.

The Cuamrman. The Senator from Ohio.

IMPORTANCE OF INTELLIGENCE-GATIIERING ACTIVITIES

Senator Lauscik. First of all, T want to pursue this question.
Shall we abandon or modify our efforts of gathering intelligence,
covering the military activities of potential aggressors?

First, I ask Mr. Herter this question. At any time during the ap-
pearance of Mr. Dulles, the Central Intelligence Agency Director,
before this committee, do you know of him at any time being chal-
lenged or asked about how he acquired intelligence ?

Secretary ITerrer. That I cannot answer at firsthand. My impres-
sion is that there was a very small group in the Senate with whom he
conferred. Ile has got this responsibility under the law, which was
written by the Congress.

Senator Lavsciie. You have answered my question. Have you ever
heard of any member of this committee or any member of the Con-

- gress agking the Central Intelligence Agency to discontinue acquiring
intelligence or to modify its methods?

Secretary Hurrer. No, I do not.

May I qualify that to this extent? I think that Senator Mansfield
had introguced a measure which would provide for a different method
of coordinating with the Congress. That is the only thing I do
know of.

Senator Lavscoe. Would it be right to assume that at this very
moment there is great probability that there are Soviet intelligence
agents operating in our country ? '

Secretary Herrer. I would assume so.

Senator Lausciie. Do you know of any member of our Defense De-
partment in a responsible position, or any person in any government
who is responsible for security, taking the position that intelligence
of a potential enemy’s conduct is not essential for the proper develop-
ment of a nation’s own defense?

Secretary Herrer. I do not.

Senator Lauscur. Do I understand that you subseribe to the state-
ment made by the President that for the protection of the security
of our country it is essential that intelligence of potential enemies”
conduct be acquired ?

Secretary Hrurrrr. I do.

Senator Lauscue. Now then, this question: Do you feel that it
would be wise for our Government in the face of the discussions about
peace and disarmament and banning of nuclear tests to discontinue
our intelligence activities?
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Seeretary Herrer. 1 donot.

Senator Lavscar. Would it be a danger to our country if at this
moiment while we are discussing disarmament and banning of nuclear
tesis we scuttle the Central Intelligence Agency ?

Secretary Herrer. [ certainly would not advocate anvthing of the
kind,

Senator Lauscrs, What is it historically concerning men in a re-
spomsible position for the protection of a country, beginning from the
earliest days of recorded battles about the use of scouts and intelli-
genice agents, so as to properly guide a country in what it ought to do?

Secretary Huwrerr. 1t is a custom, sir, that has grown up, I imagine,
ever since warfare began.

KHRUSIHCHEV'S DECISION NOT 'TO PARTICIFATE IN SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator Lavscre. Now then, the second question: Is it your con-
sidered opinion that when IChrushchev came to Paris he had already
de«ided not to participate in the summit conference?

Secretary Herrer. ‘That is our best judgment.

Senator Lavscue. And that judgment is formulated not upon
what, he hias said but what he has done; is that correct ?

Secretary Herier. It is a combination of both. But it is mostly
in what he has said, and the assumption is that he had received his
orders before he went to Paris.

Senator Lauscue. [s it a fact that beginning in December 1959
and going down into April, he has made statements indicating that
the probability was that there would never be a conference?

Secretary Herrer. Not the probability that there would never be
a conference but that if a conference were held it would not. turn out
to his satisfaction.

B

KHRUSHCITEY'S MEETINGS WITH DE GAULLE AND MACMILLAN

Senafor Tauscir. 1le was scheduled to arrive in Paris on Sunday,
May 157 is that correct.?

Secretary Herrer. 'That is correct.

Senator Lauscue. DBut instead of coming there on Sunday, May
15, he came there on Saturday, May 14.

Secretary Herrer. That is right.

Senator T.ausorme. And on Sunday morning he, with Malinovsky,
at the early hour of 11 o’clock already had made an appointment to
see de Gaulle.

Secretary Herrer. 'That is correct.

Senator Lauscue. And at that meeting this vigorous statement
about what they expected of Iisenhower if Khrushchev were to at-
tend the conference wis read.

Recretary Herrer. Yes: that was not only read but a copy of it was
given to General de Gaulle.

Senator Lavscar. Why do you think that he came there before his
scheduled visit of Sunday and made it Saturday ¢

Secretary Herrer. Why he came to Paris at all is the real question.
That is a question that General de Gaulle asked him at the time of
the one meeting when the four were present and to which the answer
was completely unsatisfactory.
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Senator Lauscae. So that at 11 o’clock in the morning he met with
de Gaulle and laid down these four demands upon Eisenhower.

Secretary Herrer. That is right.

Senator Lauscue. Then at the hour of 4:30 in the afternoon he went
to Macmillan and to Macmillan repeated those demands, that unless
they were met he would not attend the conference.

ecretary Herrer. That is right. _ )

Senator Lauscur. Did anything happen between his arrival on
Saturday, his action at 11 o’clock in the morning on Sunday, and 4:30
on Sunday, that would have caused him to change his mind from
what he was thinking when he left Moscow ?

Secretary IIerter. Not a thing.

PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV'S DEMANDS

Senator Lauscue. Now then, Mr. Secretary, getting down to these
demands that he made; that 1s, he demanded that Kisenhower de-
nounce the overflights; is that correct; and two, that he apologize to
the Soviet Union.

Secretary HerTer. Yes.

Senator Lauscas. And three, that he punish those directly respon-
sible.

" Secretary HerTER. Yes. : = '

Senator Lavsciie. And four, that Eisenhower promise not to repeat
these flights.

Secretary HerTER. Yes, may I add there, sir, that the demand for
s the apology was added; it was not in the original document. It was
- one that was added by him while he was in Paris as a fourth condition.

* Senator Lavscue. Can we assume that Khrushchev honestly ex-
pected that these demands that he made upon Eisenhower would be
complied with?

Secretary Herrer. He could not have possibly.

Senator Lauscur. That is additional proof confirming the assump-
tion that when he left Moscow he never intended to participate in the
conference.

Secretary Herrer. You are quite right, sir.

WHY DID XITRUSHCHEV GO TO PARIS?

Senator Lavsciie. Why couldn’t he have issued this statement while
he was in Moscow, and why did he go to Paris instead of making the
statement in Moscow

Secretary Herrer. There it is a matter of speculation but I think
that the desire to dramatize himself, the fact that there would be 3,000
correspondents in Paris, that he would have a larger audience in that
place, led him to take this particular route.

SOVIET MISDEEDS

Senator Lauscur. Was anything said anywhere about his train of
misdeeds, of the Communist Reds’, beginning from the very day that
they were established as a country, in breaking treaties, in mass mur-
dering of people, including our American boys
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Seeretary Herren. That was not in the brief meeting of the four.
The only statements that were made by the President were the state-
1ents which were publicized, plus another statement with regard to
the 17-2 not heing again nsed for this purpose. That commitment
of the President could last, of course, only so long as he was President.

Senator Lavscrnr. You have seen certain questions about which
} said T would like o get information. To the extent that it can be
fone, T would like answers to those questions prepared and put into the
record.  One, broken treaties. Two, participation—not. of Red Russia
hat Red ecommunism—in the Red Chinese-Soviet provocation of
trouble throughout the world, their activities in the Katyn Forest, in
Quemoy and Matsu. in South Korea where thousands of our Ameri-
run boys were killed, in Red Hungary, East Germany, and in Poland
when the liberty fighters rose to procure liberty for themselves.

Secretary Hurrek. Senator, I saw those questions as they are in-
corporated in the Congressional Record and we will be prepared to
answer them.

{ The questions and answers referred to above appear in appendix 2.)

Senator Lavscme. I want to say I am not prepared to put a hale
of honesty and holiness on Khrushchev and one of scorn and disgrace
upon my country, not in this hearing or any other place. That is all
T have to say.

The Crniamraran. Mr. Secretary, the time is a quarter to 1. I think
it wonld be a proper {ime to adjourn until 2 :30.

SHLF-PRESKRVATION

)

Senator Wrniry. Mav T ask one question, Mr. Chairman?

The Cramaman. All vight, the Senator from Wisconsin is recog-
vized for a question.

Senafor Wirry. We say that the first law of human nature is the
Inw of self-preservation.  You have heard that said. have you not?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, sir.

Senator Wirey. That applies to nations as well as individuals:
does it not.?

Secretary Hewrer. It does.

Senator WiLky. And in wartime we speak of what we have called
spyving here; it is called spying, but in peacetime it is espionage:
iwitnot?

Secretary Hurrre, Yes uir,

Senator WiLey. But there are diflerent rules that apply, too, are
there not? In wartime then it generally means the penalty is death.
In peaceful times like we have now, the penalty depends entirely
more or less upon the court administering it : is that right?

Secretary Hurrer. Yes,

Senator WiLEy. s it cenerally conceded that the Kremlin has been
eugaging in esplonage not only in our own countrv but in virtuaily
all the countries on earih and is still doing it? That is correct, is
tnott

Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

Senaror Wirky. As demonstrated by Ambassador Lodge in the
1'nited Nations the other day, they even tried to pull a stunt on our
Fmbassy in Russia: did vou see that ?

Secretary Hprrek. Yes, siv. [Deleted].
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Senator Wrirey, Just this one thing. Now, then, if the first law of
human nature is the law of self-preservation, then the best means
that we can use to preserve the freedom of America, the CIA has
been using when it has been using the overflight, the U-2 means; is
that right ¢

Secretary Herrrr. Yes, sir.

Senator Wirry. Thank you. )

The Cmarrman. Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary. We will
return here at 2:30.

Secretary Herrer. 2 :30. )

The CHamrMAN. Yes, sir. I may say to the committee that the
Secretary has very kindly agreed to go on today and, if the ques-
tioning 1s not completed, to come back in the morning. We will
determine that at the end of today’s session.

I hope we can malke progress.

(Whereupon, at 12:45 p.m. the hearing was recessed, to reconvene
at 2:30 p.m. of the same day.)

ATTERNOON SESSION

Present: Senators Fulbright, Humphrey, Mansfield, Gore, Lausche,
Wiley, Hickenlooper, Aiken, Carlson and Williams.

The Crairman. The committee will come to order.

Mr. Secretary, there are one or two statements in your own state-
ment I would like to have developed a bit for clarification.

COURSE FOLLOWED BY PREMIER KIIRUSIICIIEV

On page 12, at the bottom of the page of the mimeographed state-
ment you say as follows:
Proponents within the Communist bloc of an aggressive course must not be
encouraged by signs of weakness on our part. Proponents of a peaceful course

should be encouraged by our readiness to get on with outstanding international
business in a sober and rational manner.

In which of these groups do you include Mr. Khrushchev ?

STATEMENT OF HON. CHRISTIAN A. HERTER, SECRETARY OF
STATE—Resumed

Secretary Herrer. That I think would be very difficult to answer
categorically,

There have been a good many estimates made as to whether or not
he really means some of the things that he has said with regard to
peaceful coexistence, with regard to disarmanent and other matters.
There is another group that feels that this is a front for the same
power line that Stalin used to take.

I don’t think it is possible yet to answer that categorically.

I think that events are likely to show which of those groups he
belongs to.

The Cramraan. Who did you have in mind when you wrote that ?
Maybe you can’t categorically for all time designate him, but what
has been your view and the view of the Department as to which group
he belongs in? I think that is rather important as to how we treat
him. Is it in our interest to discourage him? If he were a member
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of the ageressive conrse group, I suppose it would be. If he 18 a
member of the group who are proponents of the peaceful course, then
it would be to our advantage to encourage or be cooperative within
limits. I wondered why you put that in there if you didn’t have
some idea of who does belong to these groups or how they are
constituted.

Seeretary Henrer. What T was trying to describe here was in effect
a middle course. Insofar as Mr. Khrushchev is concerned, I think
those who have dealt with him directly were convinced that he was
genninely in favor of a disarmament program, that he genuinely
wanted, for the sake of developing the economy of Russia, a reduction
both in expense from a monetary point of view and from a human
point, of view, of the great burden of armaments.

Certainly there I would put him in the second category. His more
recont behnvior, however. has shaken my belief that this is entirely
genuine, and, as I say. I think that only the events of the next few
months and possibly even of the next few years can give a final
answer to what you have asked.

IDENTIFICATION WITH TRENDS IN THE SOVIET UNION

The Criateman. Can you identify any other members or any people
you had in mind in citing these groups?

Secretary Hyrrer, No. 1 would rather have those who are real
Russian experts do that kind of identification, those who are familiar
with the individuals, more familiar than I am.

"There is no question but what there are still

The CratrMax. Would you care to have Mr. Bohlen comment on
this question?

Secretary Hurrer. 1| would be very glad to have him, if you wish
to.

"The Crratraan. It would be very good to have him comment. He
is recognized, is he not, as one of our best Russian experts?

Would you care to comment on this, Mr. Bohlen ¢

Mr. Borren. Mr. Chairman, my experience has been that it is not
always possible to identify a trend in the Soviet Union with individ-
uals.” As the Secretary said earlier we literally know nothing of what
gocs on in the hierarchy. My impression of the statement the Secre-
tary made is that it is possible to detect trends. You cannot identify
people with them. My experience with the Soviet officials is that they
follow whatever the ngreed line is, whether it is hard or whether it 1s
soft, with great consistency, and they just do not reveal sufficiently to
any foreigner what their inner thoughts are to identify one individual
with one trend or another. But I think the indications are that both
trends exist.

COURSE FOLLOWED BY PREMIER KHRUSHCHEYV

The Ciratrman. Well. don’t you think we know more about Mr.
Khrushchey than any other Soviet leader? More of us have seen him.
He has been around more than any other. Don’t you have any view
as to which of these groups Mr. Khrushchev would be identified with?

Mr, Bomen. Well, my acquaintanceship with Mr. Khrushchev was
when T was in there as Ambassador when he was not quite as promi-

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

£



oproved For,Belaass, 20040513 GIARRRANTONTARRANG100020001-1

nent as he is now. I would merely say that he, along with all of them
are excellent actors [deleted] and are able to maintain whatever the
common line is in their dealings with foreigners. I think also there
is a question of time. I think, as the events of Paris showed, that
there have been certain shifts of emphasis inside the Soviet Union
which were manifested in part by what they did in Paris.

Therefore, it is conceivable that Mr. Khrushchev could have been
entirely serious in the line he was pursuing prior to Paris, and be
equally serious in pursuing one diametrically opposite to it.

The Cuamman. If T may interpolate, do you mean that prior to
the U-2 incident Mr. Khrushchev may have been identified with the
second group ; that is, proponents of a peaceful course?

Mr. Bomren. I would not segregate out the U-2 incident alone,
Mr. Chairman. I think, as outlined in the Secretary’s statement,
there seemed to us to be three elements involved in this matter, and
I think it is difficult to assess the value of each. DBut, certainly, I
would say his doubt as to the success from his point of view of the
summit conference, that some of the views voiced by the Chinese
Communists had probably supporters within the Soviet hierarchy,
and the U-2 incicﬁant together brought about this change.

I have no difficulty

IDENTIFICATION WITH TRENDS IN TIIE SOVIET UNION

The Cmarrmaw. I didn’t wish to make you review all that was
said there. I was merely trying to find the inner meaning of this
particular statement. I thought that I could elicit some clarifica-
tion since many of us don’t know about these proponents of these
courses or about any of these groups of people.

Mr. Borrrn. The answer, Mr. Chairman, 1s that I think we don’
know. That you cannot tell whether X, Y, or Z in the Soviet hierar-
chy, what particular line he advocates, because he never reveals any
difference, even a shade of difference publicly, with what is the
agreed line. It is quite impossible, I believe, for anybody to tell who
within the leading group stands for one trend or the other. You
can only detect from external evidence that there appear to be cer-
tain divergent trends and the individuals may not remain the same.

WAS THERE A DECISION NOT TO SUSPEND FLIGHTS AS SUMMIT MEETING
APPROACIIED?

The Cramman. Thank you very much. One other statement, Mr.
Secretary, on page 5, point 2:

The decision not to suspend this program of flights, as the summit meeting
approached, was a gound decision.

Can you tell us who made that decision, and when, and of the
circumstances ?

Secretary HerTer. That is a decision that I think has been carried
over the whole 4-year period. Here, sir, we get into certain technical
aspects of when these flights would properly be conducted and could
not be conducted, but I think the technical Teasons had better be kept
1n executive session.

The finding of a good time for a flight of this kind in relation to
current events is almost impossible if you had known in advance that
it is going to fail. '
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The real issue wis how urgent was the information and is there
any one time that is more favorable than another? From a teehnical
point of view the time was more favorable at that time than another.
From a diplomatic point. of view, il seemed to me that with the
P'resident. scheduled 1o zo to Russia later, there would have been the
sume diffienlty; when Khrushchev was here there was the same diffi-
calty, in effect one would run into one time after another where
(iplomatically it wouid have been a bad time.

The Cirareman. 1 don’t think I make myself clear. I understood
from your previons statement and others that the program was agreed
npon, and it was running along without being suspended.  But this
«tatement seems to leave the implication that a specific decision was
tuken not to suspend thein in view of the conference approaching.

Was such a decision taken ¢

Secretary Herrrr. That I ean’t tell you. I was not a party to that.

The Criamrman. Well, thissays:

The decision not to suspend this progran: of flights, as the summit meeting
approached. was a sound decision.

Was there any decision taken not to suspend it.?

Secrotary Herrer. 1 know that when the matter came before me,
which was some time previous from the point of view of the continua-
tion of the program, when conditions were appropriate, I did not inter-
pose any objection to it becanse of any diplomatic event that was com-
g up.

The ChrateMan. s it fair to say then that no specific decision not
1o suspend them was taken? It was allowed to go along without any
drcision being taken to suspend them.

Secretary Herrer. I think that is correct.

The Cnarmax. Therefore, the other way around is that no positive
decision was taken not to suspend them: is that correct ?

Secretary Hrrree. That is right.

The Citammaxn. That statement, I think, needs clarification. T
ihink, to me, it means that at some point prior to May 1 a specific
docision was taken nof, to suspend them in view of the summit, lIsn’t
that. a legitimate interpretation of that sentence?

Secretary Herrer. [ think that is correct. May I read what the
I'resident said on thai subject? He said:

As to the liming, the guestion was really whether to halt the program and thus
furego the gathering of important information that wus essential and that was
likely to be unaviilable at a later date.

The program went forward.

The Criamrsman. ''hen that decision was made by the President.

Secretary Herrex. Oh, he was certainly consulted with regard to
the continuation of the program.

The Ciratkmax. Do you know when that decision was made?

Secretary Herrer. No.

The CitaTRMAN. Was it prior to May 17

Seeretary Herrrr. I couldn’t tell you.

QUESTION OF MORATORLUM ON FLIGHTS DURING CAMP DAVID TALRS

The ChiramrMan. Mr. Secretary, do vou know whether there was a
noratorium on these flights during the meeting at Camp David?
Secretary Herrur. No.  As far as I know, that question never arose.

A,
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The CraRMAN. So that there was not, as far as you know ¢
Secretary IerTER. As far as I know, there was not.

PRESS SECRETARY ITAGERTY’S KNOWLEDGE

The Cramrman. I refer to this matter that Mr. Lincoln White did
not know that Powers might be alive, the last question before we
recessed. Did Mr. ITagerty know whether or not he was at that

oint?

P Secretary Herrer. That I will have to ask Mr. Dillon to answer,
I have no direct information.

Mr. Dwrow. I haveno way of knowing whether Mr. Hagerty knew
or not. In the ordinary course of business, a telegram such as the one
which informed us of this rumor—it’s only a rumor that we had
received through other diplomats in Moscow—such a telegram would
have been transmitted for information to the White House staff.
~ Whether Mr. ITagerty knew about it or not, I don’t know.

QUESTION OFF SOUNDING OUT PREMIER KHRUSIICIIEV'S TEELINGS

The Crramman. Mr. Secretary, was any effort made on the part of
our Ambassadors or anyone from the Department, after the incident,
to pursue Mr. IChrushchev’s feelings ?

Was anyone instructed to approach him and express any regret or
in any way to reconcile him to forgive or overlook this incident?

Secretary ITertir. No, I don’t know of any such thing.

The CraRMAN. No approach was made?

wr  Oecretary Herroe, No.

IMPLICATION TIIAT FLIGIITS WOULD CONTINUE

The Criarrman. Mr. Secretary, what were the considerations which
led to the decision, not only to assume responsibility for the flight, but
to imply that the flights would continue in the future?

Secretary Hrrrrr. I have to take responsibility for the statement
that was interpreted and if I may, I would like to read you exactly
what was said on that score,

This is a statement that was interpreted that we were going to con-
tinue the flights:

The Government of the United States would be derelict to its respongibility
not only to the American people but to free peoples everywhere if it did not, in
the absence of Soviet cooperation, take such measures as are possible unilaterally
to lessen and to overcome this danger of surprise attack. In fact the United
States has not and does not shirk this responsibility.

That is the statement that was interpreted that we were going to
continue the flights, and it seems to me it was a pretty far-fetched
Interpretation.

The Criatrman. Then do you mean in that statement you did not
intend to convey the view or the possibility that the flights would be
continued ; is that correct ?

Secretary Hurrer. No; what T was saying there was just what I
have testified to today; that from the point of view of our own in-
terests and that of the whole free world, it is essential for us to do
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whatever we properly cun in order to acquire information to avoid
surprise attack or to be prepared for it.

The Cuarrman. But in view of that statement, do you think that
M. Khrushechev could accept it and continue the conference?

Secretary Herrer. Yes; I certainly do, if he had wanted to.

The CriairmMan. Do you think our President would accept such a
statement from any othier power?

Secretary Herrer. 1f he wanted to go to a conference? Certainly.

The Crrairman. My time is up.

Senator Wiley ?

KHEUSHCHEV'S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGHTS

Senator WiLey. Now in relation to that last question, the President
has suggested time and time again an open skies arrangement, hasn’t
he?

Secretary HerteEr. Yes.

Senator Wirey, That means that planes would be flying over our
country and over every other country where it is necessary. Again,
I go to the subject that I think is most important, because some quoted
and I quo’ed on the floor of the Senate the other day the Biblical verse
that a little child shall lead them. I had a group of children from
Oshkosh, Wis., that I was talking to. After I talked to them, I opened
myself to questions. One of these girls said, “Senator, if we stop
taking these flights, how are we going to get the information that is
going on back of the Tron Curtain?”

Well, 1 think all America is asking that question, and I am satisfied
that if we are realists, as I think we are becoming more and more, that -~
we are not going to go up a lot of blind alleys about this and that, and
about what was or what. wasn’t said. We are going to face the situ-
ation head on and simply say we want defensively to be adequately
prepared and alert and we want the Kremlin to know the facts as they
have been now for, I think, about 3145 years, that we have been sending
these planes over. IChrushchev knew it at the time that he was up
al, Camp David, and certainly having the knowledge then could have
interfered with his interest in holding the meeting if he had wanted
it to. Do you think my conclusions are correct in that respect?

Secretary Hrerrer. 1 do.

SOVIET REFUSAL TO PERMIT PRESIDENT EISENHOWER'S TRIP

Senator Wiey. T didn’t get the import of the questions when I
came in that apparenily referred to some different groups. What is
the name of the young man who defected the other day? I guess
that is what you call it. Ietestified on——ro

Senator Liavscur. Meet the Press.

Senator Wirey. Meet the Press. It is a long, Russian name. I put
what he said into the record today. I3ut one of the important things
he brought out, and I would like to get the former Ambassador’s at-
{ention on this, was that there is a group of young people growing up
in Russia who have different ideas, and he was about to go into detail
on it when time ran out. But among other things, he is the one who
said-—and this is important—he said some months ago that Khru-
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shchev and the powers in being would not permit the President to
come to Russia, that they would find some excuse. '

Now, that is all in what he said over the radio here a couple of
weeks ago. That confirms, I presume, your own idea that when
Khrushchev came to Paris, he had already decided that he was
going to throw the bombshell, and he would refuse to invite the
President, and so forth; is that right?

Secretary Herrer., That is right.

Senator WiLey. So this is something that didn’t result from the
downing of the plane.

WHAT HAPPENED TO TIIE U—2 PLANE?

I want to ask you a question. Iave you any definite information
as to whether or not this young Powers is alive ?

Secretary Hrrrer. No, sir. We have no information other than
that which the Russians have furnished to us.

Senator WiLey. If that plane had been shot down, do you think the
instruments that he had with him would have remained intact ¢

Secretary IIzrrEr. There, sir, I am not skilled enough in the tech-
nique of shooting down planes. But I should think it is very doubtful
if he was hit by a rocket whether either he or the plane would have-
come down intact.

Senator Wiy, Is there any thought that perhaps they have the
plane? They claim they have the instruments and they have shown
something which wasn’t the plane. Do you think they have that
intact ?

. Secretary ITerrer. They have shown a Jater photograph of a plane
A which those who built the plane feel is the plane itself. They have
also shown pieces of the plane in Gorky Park in Moscow when they
invited all the diplomats to come and look at it, and I think our people-

feel that that is a genuine part of the plane.

INTERNAL CONDITIONS IN RUSSIA

Senator Wirzy. I want to ask the former Ambassador if it is true
that the youth in Russia, the new class of youth, is growing up like
this fellow said. Someone said if he had been privileged to carry on
his answer he would have said they are not satisfied with their standard
of living, that they are not satisfied with the little opportunity they
have to express themselves in the political life of Russia. Do you-
know whether that would be true or not ? '

Mr. Boxrewn. I think it is a fair assumption, Senator. Of course,
as you know, the possibilities for contacts in there during the period
I was there were considerably less than they are now. The country
is still totally controlled by the mechanism of the Communist Party
of the Soviet Union. They control all modes of expression by press,
meetings, or anything else, so it is very difficult to get any overt signs
of the feelings of the youth or any other section of the population.

But there are certain indications that the youth are looking forward’
at some time in the future to considerably different circumstances.’
They hope for better material conditions and also undoubtedly hope:
for a period when they will have more freedom of expression and:
more ability to participate in the political life of their country.
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But this is very hard to document because people do not, talk openly
and freely in the Soviet Union.

Senator Wirry. Well, vou know that ferment. generall v is all over
this world.  You know that the President of Turkey has been kicked
out. You saw that today, and you know what is happening elsewhere.
Is there any reason why that yeast or ferment should not be operating
in Russia among the voungsters? ' '

Mr. Borrrsn. There is no reason why it sheuld niot b and it is a
logical assumption it is.© But I should also say that the controls in a
soclety Tike the Soviet Tnion are very tight indeed and [ have seen
no sign that those conirals are breaking down or weakening to the
point where the party is not in complete conirol of the situation.
They are uble to stifle, if vou will, or hold in check this ferment. due
to the nature of their systen.

Senator Wy, Out. of the 200 million Russians, how many of them
do vou think belong to rhe Communist Party ? )

Mr. Bonees. T think the Jatest figure is somewhere in the neighbor-
hood of 314 million. '

Senator Winey. Thank you. That is all.

The Crarrman. The Senator from Montana ¢

QUESTION CF INDICATIONS THAY KHRUSHCHEV WOULD SCUTTLE SUMMIT
CONFERENCY

Senator Mansrmrn. Mr. Seeretary, it has heen reporicd that at the
House henrings, you said there were indieations that even before
Muy 6 the Russians planned to seattle the conference.

Now, it seems fo me if we are going to estimate the importance of
the U2 incident. in the ecllapse of the summit, we rieed to fix the date
when these indicatiors in any significant. fashion began to appear. [
would appreciate, then, in the interest of «aving time, ves or no answers
to ceriain questions which T am about to ask unless there is a need of
an elaboration,

The first question: Are you aware whether anv member of the
Cabinet or the President had any reason to believe before May 13
when Khrushchev made his demands for an apology and so forth,
that he would come to Paris and leave as he did ¢

Secretary Herter. No.

Senator MaxsrErp. Were there any indications that Khrushchev
planned to scuttle the conference before the 17-2 plane was shot down
on May 1%

Secretary Herter, No.

UNDER SECRETARY DILLON’S SPRECH

Senator Manserenp. Did Khrushehev's Baku speech precede or fol-
low Mr. Dillon’s speech i o the AFTL-CIO convention ?

Secretary Herrer. 16 followed it.

Senator MansreLp. Would you classify Mr. Dillon’s speech as very
much in the spirit of Camp David or would you say it was an excel-
lent, forthright and anti-Communist statement somewhat oblivious
to the spirit of Camp David, the kind of speech which any official of
the State Department might have made before that historic meeting?
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Secretary ITerrer. That I can’t qualify with a yes or no answer,
Senator. ]

Senator MaxsrizLp. You can go into detail there.

Secretary ITmrTer. I would say this, that Mr. Dillon’s speech was
almost a requirement as an answer to the allegations that had been
made by Mr. Khrushchev against Adenauer and the Germans and
his continued repetition which I have given the chronology of, of the
fact that they were going to take this unilateral position sooner or
later without its being an absolute ultimatum on the subject of Berlin,
Germany. _ .

Senator Maxsrierp. In other words, Mr. Secretary, speeches which
you and Mr. Dillon made were a counteraction to the gradual harden-
ing of Mr. Khrushchev’s speeches in the period preceding that?

Secretary Herrrr. Entirely.

. QUESTION OF STATE DEPARTMENT ENOWLEDGE OF U—2 FLIGIIT

Senator Mawnsrmrrp., Did Secretary Dillon propose that a U-2
flight be undertaken prior to the summit conference? _

Mr. Druron. No.

Senator MansrieLp. Mr. Dillon, as acting Secretary, were you
aware beforehand of the scheduling of the U-2 flight over the Soviet
Union on May 1%

Mr. Diron. No, I wasnot awareof it.

I was aware that there was a program of flights that might take

Jace at some time when the weather was right but I think I was

informed of that maybe a month or two before this actual time, and

- I had nothing to do with it afterward because I didn’t in the ordinary
course of my duties.

Senator Mawsrierp. Your knowledge was, in effect, general
knowledge ?

Mr. Dirroxn. Yes.

Senator Maxsrigip, Mr. ITerter happening to be out of the country
at the time was, I assume, unaware of any specific flight but per-
haps had general knowledge that these flights were being undertaken
and had been over a period of years.

Secretary IHerrer. I didn’t know there was a flight underway. The
first knowledge I received was when I was in Ankara. All I heard
‘was this same report that a plane was down.

PRESIDENT’S ASSUMPTION OF RESPONSIBITITY FOR FLIGIIT

Senator Maxsrierp. Now, both of you have had general knowledge
of this: Would it be a fair assumption to say, despite the fact that
the President undertook, in a certain sense, personal responsibility for
this particular flight, that he, too, likewise, had only general knowl-
edge but that because of his position as the Chief of State, he would
be held responsible under any circumstances because of his position
of responsibility?

Secretary Herrur. That is correct.

Might I just qualify one thing? When you say he was familiar
with this 5)arti<mlar flight and his timing, so far as I know all of us
were familiar with alternate possibilities of flights but not this par-
ticutar flight as such.
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Senator MawnsrreLp. That would apply to the Department of State
and the President.
Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR FLIGHTS

Senator MansrieLn. From what legislation or Executive orders, or
both, was the authority for these flights of deep penetration derived 2

Secretary Herrer. Well, presumnﬁl v from the fact that I have here
before me—I am told that this applied to two specific acts. The one
that I am particularly familiar with, that I had a moment ago, is the
one creating the Central Intelligence Agency. The other is the Na-
tional Security Act.

Senator Mawnsrirrn. Would it be possible to have copies for the
record at this point?

Secretary Herrer. Yes.

Senator Mansriern. Mr. Chairman, I ask that they be included in
the record at this point.

The Cuarmrman. Without objection it is so ordered.

(The provisions in the National Security Act relating to the Cen-
tral Intelligence Agency follow:)

UxCERPT FROM NATIONAL SECURITY AcT oF 1047
(Public Law 253, 80th Cong., July 26, 1947 ; 61 Stat. 495)
CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENQY !

Skc. 102. (a) There is hereby established under the National Security Council .
a Central Intelligence Agency with a Director of Central Intelligence who shall o,
be the head thereof, and with a Deputy Director of Central Intelligence who
shall act for, and exercixe the powers of, the Director during his ahsence or
disability. The Director and the Deputy Director shall be appointed by the
President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate, from among the
commissioned officers of the armed services, whether in an active or retired
status, or from among individuals in ecivilian life: Provided, however, That at
10 time shall the two positions of the Director and Deputy Director be occupied
simultaneously by commissioned officers of the armed services, whether in an
active or retired status.

(b) (1) If a commissinned officer of the armed services 1s appointed as Di-
rector, or Deputy Direcror, then—

(A} in the performance of his duties as Director, or Depnuty Director, he
shall be subject to no supervision, control, restrietion, or prohibition (mili-
tary or otherwise) orher than would be operative with respect to him if he
were g civilian in no way connected with the Department of the Army. the
Department of the Navy, the Department of the Air Fovee, or the armed
services or any component thereof ; and

(13) he shall not possess or exercise any supervision, control, powers, or
functions (other than such as he possesses, or is authorized or directed to
exercise, as Director, or Deputy Director) with respect to the armed services
or any component thereof, the Iepartment of the Army, the Department of
the Navy, or the Department of the Air Force, or any branch, bureau, unit,
or division thereof, or with respect to any of the personnel (military or
civilian) of any of the foregoing.

(2) Except as provided in paragraph (1), the appointment to the office of
Director, or Deputy Director, of a commissioned officer of the armed services,
and his acceptance of and service in such office, shall in no way affect any status,
office, rank, or grade he may occupy or hold in the armed servires, or any emolu-
ment, perquisite, right, privilege, or benefit inecident to or arising out of any such
status, office, rank, or grade. Any such commissioned officer shall, while serving

1 Bection 102 (a) and (b) amended by Public Law 15, 83d@ Congress {67 Stat, 19, 20).
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in the office of Director, or Deputy Director, continue to hold rank and grade not
lower than that in which serving at the time of his appointment and to receive
the military pay and allowances (active or retired, as the case may be, including
personal money allowance) payable to a commissioned officer of his grade and
length of service for which the appropriate department shall be reimbursed from
any funds available to defray the expenses of the Central Intelligence Agency.
He also shall be paid by the Central Intelligence Agency from such funds an
annual compensation at a rate equal to the amount by which the compensation
established for such position exceeds the amount of his annual military pay and
allowances.?

(3) The rank or grade of any such commissioned officer shall, during the
period in which such commissioned officer occupies the office of Director of
Central Intelligence, or Deputy Director of Central Intelligence, be in addition
+o0 the numbers and percentages otherwise authorized and appropriated for the
armed service of which he is a member.?

(¢) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 6 of the Act of August 24, 1612
(87 Stat. 555), or the provisions of any other law, the Director of Central Intelli-
gence may, in his discretion, terminate the employment of any officer or employee
of the Agency whenever he shall deem such termination necessary or advisable in
the interests of the United States, but such termination shall not affect the
right of such officer or employce to seck or accept employment of any other
department or agency of the Government if declared eligible for such employment
by the United States Civil Service Commission.

(d) For the purpose of coordinating the intelligence activities of the several
Government departments and agencies in the interest of national security, it
shall be the duty of the Agency, under the direction of the National Security
Council—

(1) to advise the National Security Council in matters concerning such
intelligence activities of the Government departments and agencies as relate
to national security ;

(2) to make recommendations to the National Security Council for the
coordination of such intelligence activities of the departments and agencies
of the Government as relate to the national security ;

(3) to correlate and evaluate intelligence relating to the national security,

w and provide for the appropriate dissemination of such intelligence within
the Government using where appropriate, existing agencies and facilities:
Provided, That the Agency shall have no police, subpena, law-enforcement
powers, or internal-security functions: Provided further, That the depart-
ments and other agencies of the Government shall continue to collect,
evaluate, correlate, and disseminate departmental intelligence: And provided
further, That the Director of Central Intelligence shall be responsible for
protecting intelligence sources and methods from unauthorized disclosure;

(4) to perform, for the benefit of the existing intelligence agencies, such
additional services of common concern as the National Security Council
determines can be more efficiently accomplished centrally ;

(5) to perform such other functions and duties related to intelligence
affecting the national security as the National Security Council may from
time to time direct.

(e) To the extent recommended by the National Security Council and approved
by the President, such intelligence of the departments and agencies of the Gov-
ernment, except as hereinafter provided, relating to the national security shall
be open to the inspection of the Director of Central Intelligence, and such intel-
ligence as relates to the national security and is possessed by such departments
and other agencies of the Government, except as hercinafter provided, shall be
made available to the Director of Central Intelligence for correlation, evaluation,
and dissemination: Provided, however, That upon the written request of the
Director of Central Intelligence, the Director of the IPederal Bureau of Investi-
gation shall make available to the Director of Central Intelligence such infor-
mation for correlation, evaluation, and dissemination as may be essential to the
national security.

2 Civilian Compensation—Subsections (a) and (b) supplemented by section 4, Public
Law 359, 81st Confress, Qctober 15, 1949 (83 Stat. 880), Increased annual compensation
to $16,0(50 and $14,000, for the Director and De ut{; Director, respectively, per annum;
gubsections (e), (d), (e), and (f) from section 102, Public Law 253, 80th Congress, July
26, 1947 (61 Stat. 495). Sectlons 104(a)(2) and 105(26), Public Law 854, 84th Con-
gress, July 31, 1958, inereased the annual compensation to $21,000 and $20,500, respec-
tively, for the Director and Deputy Director.

8 As amended by Public Law 105, 83d Congress (67 Stat. 20).
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fﬁ(f ) Effective when the Director first appointed under subsection (a) has taken
office—
(1) the National Infelligence Authority (11 Fed. Reg. 1337, 1339, February
5, 1948) shall cense to exist; and
(2) The personnel, property, and records of the Central Intelligence Group
are transferred to the Central Intelligence Agency, and such group shall
cease to exist. Any unexpended balances of appropriations, allocations, or
other tunds available or authorized to be made available for such Giroup
shall be available and shall be authorized to be made available in like manner
for expenditure by the Agency.

* * * * # * *
ORAYL, DIRECTIVE SUSPENDING FLIGTITS

Senator Mawsrrern. Mr. Secretary, by what authority have these
flights now been suspended *

Secretary Herrer, Senator, T have now got before me the National
Security Act of 1947, and if you wish we to read the pertinent para-
graph I will be glad to do so.

Senator Mawnsriern. Noi I would just like to have the pertinent
parts incorporated in the executive record.

Secretary Hermir, Right.

Senator Mawnserern. Now the question, to repeat, is by whai au-
thority have these flichts now been suspended ?

Secretary Herrur. By divection of the President.

Senator Mansrrern. By a Presidential directive. Could we have a
copy of that for the record ?

Secretary Hermur., Yes: I assume so. T don’t know whether it was
given in writing or whether it was done by word of mouth.

Senator Mansmern. Well, will you look into it and see what you -~
can do to comply with the request?

Secretary Herrer. Yes.

(It was fater reported by the Department of State that the directive
was oral.)

DURATION OF ORDER SUSPENDING FLIGHTS

Senator Mansmrern, Will this order suspending the flights auto-
matically remain in force after President Fisenhower leaves office
and until it is superseded by another nrder of some future President ?

Secretary Hermir. Ti. could be. The President’s responsibility as
Commander in Chief which gives him the right to give an order of
this kind would, of course, expire with him. Tt wonld only be
through some treaty obligation that there would be a binding commit-
ment on the part of the United States to carry beyond his term.

Senator Mansrrern. Do T understand you correctly, then, to state
that. this order would antomatically die with the leaving of office by
President Eisenhower, and to become effective again would have to be
onee again initiated by the next President.?

Secretary Hrrrer. I believe another President. would be free to do
as he sees fit.

EFFECT OF T—2 INCIDENT ON KHRUSHCHEV'S POSITION TN RUSSIA
Senator Mansrrerp. Have Russian experts in the executive branch

suggested the possibility that Khrushchev’s position at home may have
become seriously undermined?
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Secretary HerTer. Yes. ' : _ L

Senator MansrizLp. Do you believe that the U-2 may have been a
contributing factor to this undermining?

Secretary Hurrer. Tt may have been. May I elaborate on that?

It may have been in the sense that it must have been a great shock
to. both the military and to the civilian leaders in Russia to find that
they had been as open as they were for such a long period of time.
| S}.:anator Mansrmep. And to him as well.

" Secretary Herrer. To him as well.

POSSIBILITIES OF CIIANGE IN SOVIET LEADERSIIIP

Senator Mansrmrp. If Khrushchev should be forced out of power,
is it the thinking of the Russian experts in the Department that his
successor is likely to be a man more amenable to friendly and peaceful
dealings with the West ?

. Secretary Hurrer. That, sir, I cannot answer categorically. I
think that that is a pure matter of guesswork.

Senator Mansrrerp. All right.

What, in the view of our Russian experts, is the most probable
coalition of influential forces in the Soviet Union and in world com-
munism that could bring about Khrushchev’s downfall?

Secretary ITerteR. There, sir, I am afraid of my own knowledge I
could not answer that. If you would like Mr. Bohlen to answer that,
he is as good an authority as we have on the subject.

Senator Mawnsrierp., If you will, Mr. Bohlen. But before you do,
T would, like to throw out indications that perhaps the military, the
Chinese Communists and forces of that kind, might be considered.

Mr. Borren. Senator, I honestly in- all sincerity think it is not

ossible to answer that question. 1 think in dealing with the Soviet

nion in view of the general secrecy prevailing in the Communist
bloc it is only after the event that you can hope to trace them back
and see what particular influences have seemed to have brought about
given decisions. There is literally no way in which a foreigner can
ascertain what the varying degrees of influence of all factors which
go into the making of any particular event. If I might I will give
you one illustration of secrecy. I was not there but in June 1957 for
10 days the Presidium of the Central Committee and the Central
Committee itself met in a violent inner row which resulted in the
expulsion from both of those bodies of Molotov, Kaganovich, Malen-
kov, and several others.

. This went on for 10 days in Moscow and no foreigner in the capital
and mighty few Russians knew anything about it.

We had trained observers there. There was an extremely alert
U.S. press corps and not one of them got any inkling of this major
development. This I merely cite to show the degree of secrecy and
if you are trying to get these things you are in truth looking into a
crystal ball and a very cloudy one at that.

Senator Mansrierp. What you have said, Mr. Bohlen, is a reinforce-
ment of thoughts you have previously stated in response to questions
propounded to you by the Senator from Wisconsin.

r. BormLen. That’s right, sir.
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Senator MansrieLp. And, once again, that secrecy is so great there
that it is impossible for a westerner to find out what goes on in many
instances until after the fact is accomplished.

POSSIBILITY OF SOVIET RETURN TO DEPTHS OF THE COLD WAR

Senator MaNsFieLn. TIs it the view of the experts in the Department,
the Russian experts, that Khrushchev, even 1f he remains in power,
will now take a harder line, a reversion to cold war type tactics in
dealing with the Western nations?

Mr. Bouren. The indications at present are, and I am speaking at
present, that this will not necessarily be so.

I think we can expect a propaganda campaign. The indication
from his own statements and from such information as we have re-
ceived from Moscow, is that there seems to be no determined policy to
return to the depths of the cold war at this time.

Senator MansrieL». Would you say that if that reversion does take
place, taking the oppasite tack from what you have just said, and is
pushed by the Kremlin or Khrushchev or his successor, that it will
make more difficult the maintenance of peace?

Mr. Bonrex. It would if it returns to a line that we would call
the lowest phase of the cold war, it most certainly would, Senator.
However, there are degrees in this thing of return to the cold war sit-
uation which are impossible to assess and which might not materially
increase the danger of war. But if it went all out, sealed off the
Soviet Union and the Communist bloc from contact with the outside
world, attempted to exert pressures wherever they thought they could
do so, 1 think undoubtedly a much more dangerous world situation -
would be created.

Senator Maxsrrerp. Mr. Chairman, T have other questions but I
don’t want to take too much time.

The CaarMaN. Senator Hickenlooper?

Senator HickexLoorer. I don’t have any questions at. this time.

The CaaikmaN. Senator Humphrey, did I overlook you?

Senator HumraREY. I came in late, Senator. If any other Senator
wants to go ahead, it is all right.

The CramrMAaN. Senator Morse, are you ready ?

Senator Morsk. I will yield to Senator Humphrey.

SECRETARY HERTER'S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGHTS

Senator Humpnrey. If the question I ask, Mr. Secretary, has al-
ready been asked, just brush it aside. I don’t want to take any of
your time on that.

Did anyone ask as to whether or not you had any personal knowledge
of the U-2 flight ?

Secretary Hurrer. Of the program?

Senator HumpurEy. No, of the particular flight,

Secretary Hrrrer. 1t was included, T said it was included—I am
sure it was included in a group of flights that T had been asked
whether I had any objections to them.

Senator Humprrey. If you wanted to, could you have effectively
vel oed such a policy ?

Secretary Herter. No; I could only have given my advice to the
President.
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VICE PRESIDENT’S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGHTS

Senator Humpurey. Would the Vice President be aware of these
decisions?

Secretary Hzrrer. I think that as a member of the National Secu-
rity Council, he was aware of the program in the larger sense. I doubt
if he was familiar with any of the individual flights as such, but he
may have been.

enator Humeurey. The reason I asked that question was that the
Vice President intimated on a television program, I believe the day
before the President’s announcement in Paris, that the flights should
continue. The next day the President announced that he had already
canceled them.

The Vice President said they would continue, and the next day the
President announced that they had been suspended.

- What I am asking is, would the Vice President, as a member of the
Security Council, have any opportunity of knowing the decision that
had been made by the President?

Secretary Herrer. There, the days followed so quickly one on an-
other that % just couldn’t answer that, whether that opportunity would
have been offered or not.

Senator Humeurey. What I am trying to get at is the policy-
making machinery.

We have a subcommittee, as you know, that is studying the policy-
making machinery of the Government, the Jackson subcommittee.

I am a member of that subcommittee. We had recently before the
subcommittee Mr. Kennan. We have had many of the prominent
officials of Government and former officials of Government,

-’ " The program of the reconnaisance flights was an established pro-
gram, and apparently was agreed upon by the Security Council; is
that correct?

Secretary Herter. The Security Council was aware of it, yes.

Senator HumpareY. The Vice President is a member of the Secur-
ity Council?

Secretary HERTER. Yes.

Senator Humpurey. If the Vice President states on a television
%rog.ram that he understood that the flights would continue, yet the

resident announced the next day in Paris that as of the previous
Thursday they had already been suspended, do you think there was
any lack of communication between the responsibile officials of this
Government ¢

Secretary Herter. There, sir, I am trying to think of the dates.

The Thursday on which the President gave that order was the day
that I went to Paris. I wentto Paris that night.

The President followed 2 nights later and whether or not in that
2-day interval anything had been distributed with regard to that
order, I just don’t know.

IMPACT ON SUMMIT DIPLOMACY OF RECENT EVENTS

Senator Humrrrey. Do you have any changed views, Mr. Sec-
retary, as to the value of the so-called summitry diplomacy as a
result of this recent meeting ¢
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Secretary Herrer. 1 think as a method of carrying oui negotiations
it has taken a hard knock.

Senator IHuararry. 1Iave you any idea as to how we are going to
proceed in the months ahead? I heard the President’s address. It
was a good address. He gave a good accounting. He talked about the
necessity of maintaining—1 believe the word was businesslike relation-
ships—or at. least normal relationships insofar as we can with the
Soviet Union.

I« there any projected plan as to how we will proceed with our
contacts with the Soviet Union?

For example, we have the Geneva Conference still in session on
the nuclear testing. I suppose the Disarmament Conference is still
areality.

Ts there to be any adjustment in these conferences, any changes?
Are they to proceed according to the past ?

Secretary HErRTER. Yes, the President, [ think, made that very clear
in his statement.

Senator Humrrrry. Are there any plans for any type of a high
level Foreign Ministers’ conference or conference of sub-Cabinet
officors ?

Secretary Herrer. As of now, there is not. I may add this with
regard to the summit.; that. the four nations that were invalved in the
summit were the four nations who, as a result of the decisions and
agreements reached after the war, were the four nations that have
the responsibility for Berlin and for the final settlement of the whole
(German question, and that is the reason for those four, essentially,
getling together.

Tt is possible that again they will have to get together. Whether
nortnal diplomatic changes would make progress or Foreign Ministers’
meetings in advance wonld make a program so that i, would be worth-
while for them to come together, T just can’t tell you. That is alwavs a
possibility. But almost any other subject. there are many other nations
that are involved beside those four, and it is a great question in my
mind whether or not that method of coming together for the resolution
of vroblems wonld be fruitful in the future.

Senator Humenrey. Tn other words, what you are indicating is that
a summit conference merelv ought to be the ratification, essentially the
ratification, of decisions that have been tentatively arrived at, at the
normal diplomaticlevels.

Secretary HerTer. In my opinion, that is the most desirable thing.

CONTRADIOTORY SOVIET ACTIONS

Senator Flowrerrey. 1 aoree. How do you explain, or is there any
exprlanation for what appears to be a contradictory bit of evidence of
Gromyko’s blustering up at the United Nations on the Soviet resolu-
tion and. vet, of the apparent conciliatory behavior of the Soviets
in recent davs with respect. to the quick release of our plane and flvers
who straved into East Germany and the recent broadening of Soviet-
Anierican exchange projects?

Secretary HerTrr. There again, you have got one of those contradie-
tions. As T was saying earlier, the fact that the attitude of the people
in Moscow and even the oflicials with whom our Embassy officials have
to deal, have been entirely normal since this incident.
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It is very hard to reconcile with the very harsh words that both
Khrushchev and Gromyko have uttered.

SOVIET OBJECTIVES

Senator ITumrnrey. Do you lay any credence to the doctrine, or
at least an observation that has been made, that while the Soviet
tactics may change for awhile, that insofar as their general overall
strategy is concerned, it will remain pretty much the same as it has?

Secretary Hzrrur. Certainly as far as their objectives are con-
cerned, I think it was quite clear from some of this documentation
that will be put into the record, that is the speeches that were made
by Mr. Khrushchev, that he had laid greater and greater emphasis
on. the eventual triumph of communism over the world, and that he
put particular emphasis on that in recent months before the summit..

PREDICTIONS OF SOVIET ACTIONS

Senator Humrimey. I have a letter from a gentleman who is a pro-
fessor emeritus of a university, up at Bennington College, who has
had an uncanny record in my years of acquaintanceship with him in.
understanding what goes on in the Soviet Union. Iis name is Dr.
Bernard Tauer. He is a former Social Democrat of some 35 years
ago from Austria, a professor of political economy, now retired.” He
monitors Soviet broadcasts, studies Soviet literature, particularly
photographs and what-have-you. Just to give you a little back-
ground, he predicted to me some 3 weeks, 1 guess it was, before it
happened, the removal of Beria. I have a letter here from him right
beﬁ)re me, and it is a letter telling how Mr. Khrushchey was going
to scuttle the summit conference, written on April 25, this letter is.
And I also have a letter from him here in which he says:

The Soviet leader will now do everything possible to prove that Wisenhower
is a warmonger and an imperalist aggressor and not a man of peace, in action
not merely in words. We must, therefore, prepare ourselves for all kinds of
brovocations all around the world.,

His thesis is that Khrushechev had been selling the Soviet people
upon the idea that President Eisenhower was a man of peace and
a man with whom he could deal. T don’t mean deal, in the sense of
the crudeness of that, word, but one with whom he could conduct
reasonably good negotiations, and that when the President accepted
the responsibility for the flights and didn’t accept the opportunity,
at least what some people say was an opportunity of removing himself
from that responstbility, that Mr. Khrushchev took this as a very
personal matter, since he had staked his reputation in the Kremlin
and in the councils of the Communist Party upon the fact that he
could work with Eisenhower. Then Mr. Khrushchey felt that Eisen-
hower had not only upset the diplomatic applecart, but, more impor-
tantly, from a subjective point of View——Khrushehev’s_put Khru-
shehev in a very difficult position with the Communist Chinese, with
the rightwing Stalinists in the Soviet Union, so that Khrushchey is
now making a personal crusade out of attacking the President.

- 'What is your view of this? I am going to give you this letter, I
f}mve a whole series of these, and this is a very remarkable man, may
say.
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For example, T have u Jetter from him 2 weeks before the recent
shakeup in the Soviet Union which was not too fundamental, but indi-
cating some of the changes that were going to be made, by a very care-
ful analysis of broadeasts and meetings and literature. I had this
man down to see the late Senator Walter George, some of you may
recall, and he was very helpful at one time. 'What is your view of Mr.
Khrushehev’s reactions lately to the President, the personal venom
that he seems to exhibit?

Secretary ITerrrr. 1 am particularly interested in two ihings, Sen-
ator, in the letter that vou have just read; one, the fact that 1t was
written before the T'-2 incident.

Senator Huwmrimkey, Yes.

Secrvetary Hrerrrr. In which this anthority cites the fact that Mr.
Khrushehev was going to scuttle the conference.

Senator Humrnurey. 1 think that substantiates essentially what you
were saying this morning, your own observations on this.

Secretary Herrie. Yes. The second has to do with the fact that
the ’resident didn’t accept the way out which Mr, Khrushchev ap-
peared to offer him. My own feeling with regard to that second mat-
{or is that it was very much of a trap. That what Mr. Khrushchev
thought might happen is that the President would disclaim personal
vesponsibility and that then Mr. Khrushchev would say, “The sitna-
tion is even more dangerous than 1 thought, because this means that
that same little frantic group in the Pentagon”—and that is the phrase
that he nsed in his press conference—*is running the Giovernment of
{he United States without the President knowing about it, and that
ynakes our situation even worse” and he would have inveighed in 4™
exactly the same terms and asked the President for exactly the same
apologies and punishments which he asked for later. )

T think that the element of personal pique certainly played a part in
fhe whole show.

The Cirairman. The Senator’s time is up.

The Senator from Kansas.

Senator CarrsoN. Senator Aiken—-—

OTHER COUNTRIES' REACTIONS TO SUMMIT CONFERENCE COLLAPSE

The Criatrman. I am sorry, the Senator from Vermont.

Senator Atken. I won’t take long.

Speaking of the reaction of the rest of the world, have you made
any analysis of the reaction of {he other countries of the world rela-
tive to the collapse of the summit meeting? )

Secretary Herter. Yes, 1 think we have. It isn’t, of course, com-
plete. This will mean a study from a great many natious and bring
{his altogether in one place. o .

I think that, perhaps, the best indication has been the attitude
among the representatives at the United Nations where you have got
 cross section from the rest of the world. Irom the very outset of
the Russian complaint there it was very obvious they weren't going
io be able to get any votes from their calling this an aggression,
except Soviet bloc votes. . ) ) .

Some of the smaller countries, two of them, abstained in the final
vote for reasons that were of a rather different nature.
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But, by and large, we have heard no sympathy from the point of
view of what you might call the uncommitted nations or the free
nations of the world for the attitude that Mr. Khrushchev took.

Senator Arkmn. Are you satisfied we have not lost prestige
throughout the world as a result, or lost more than Russia has?

Secretary Hrrrer. May I say, sir, that in my opinion our alli-
ances are firmer than they have ever been.

SOVIET HIERARCHY

Senator Atxen. What was the significance of the shakeup in the
Russian Government prior to the U-2 incident, I believe last April,
was it not, when Mr. Kozlov was promoted ; and coupled with that
guestion, why don’t we hear anything about Mr. Mikoyan any more?
Ias he been jsolated or just gotten out of the news, or what has hap-
pened with him?

Secretary Hzurrer. Mr. Bohlen, who is our expert, is also the cen-
sor of the document, so I am afraid he has gone out of the room at
the moment.

With regard to the disappearance of Mr. Mikoyan, we have been
told this is just a normal vacation he has taken down to the Black
Sea. It is true in years gone by he had taken rather extended vaca-
tions there, and whether this is true or not we can’t say.

- With respect to the shakeup, I think the only significance that it

had were that two of the strongest members of the central committee

were sent to other responsibilities and this may have been a personal

strengthening of Mr. Khrushchev’s power within the committee
wr  itself. DBut it was not considered very highly significant.

Senator AtgeN. That is, Mr. Kozlov’s promotion is not significant ?

Secretary Herrer. I don’t think so. I didn’t know that he as such
had been promoted.

[Deleted. ]

A long time ago, T think when Mr. Averill Harriman was visiting
in Russia he reported that Mr. Kozlov had been pointed out to him by
Mr, Khrushchev as his successor, saying that he and Mikoyan were
too old to carry on and that Kozlov was the No. 2 man. Dut there
was no telling whether he was saying that seriously or whether he was
being flattering about it because Mr. Kozlov was there at the time.

Senator AmxmN. I thought he made the best impression of any of
our Russian visitors last summer. At least when he came before this
committee, I thought he did.

T have no further questions.

The Criameman. The Senator from Oregon.

FUNCTION OF NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

Senator Morse, Mr. Secretary, I think it would be helpful for this
record if you made a statement in regard to the functions of NASA,
and the part that NASA played in connection with the U-2 flioht.

I don’t think the record is very clear as to what are the functions of
NASA, and what jurisdiction, if any, the State Department has over
NASA and what the relationship between NASA and the National
Security Council is, and the State %epartment.
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Secretary Hurrer. NASA, as you know, is an agency devoted en-
tirely to the peaceful development of satellites and outer space ve-
hicles of one kind or another.

Its operations have now been separated out from what were called
purely military operations, although it is always inevitable in the
development. of hoosters that. there should be an interrelationship
between {he two, beeause the military vehicle and the peaceful vehicle
have got the same problems of propulsion to get. up into the alr. The
witnesses of NASA, of course, will be before the committee.

[Deleted.] Most of the U-2’s are used by NASA in connection
with purely scientific work, meteorological work. Actually, the
Japanese Governmeni found them tremendously valuable in tracing
the course of tornadoes Iast year, and 1 think that NASA put out at
least three publications on their findings from the U-2 weather
ohservations.

[Deleted.]

WASA™ ROLE IN THE U—2 INCIDENT

With respect to the actual development of events in relation to
NASA, T am sorry to say that 1 can’t give you firsthand information.

Perhaps Mr. Dillon can supplement that as it. occurred while I
was overseas and when Mr. Dillon was 1n charge.

Mr. Drron. All T ean say is as far as I know the State Depart-
ment didn’t have anv direct relationships with NASA on this matter,
and the relationships that there were, were handled by the Central
Intelligence Agency |deleted], so either Mr. Dulles or the NASA
witnesses themselves will be able to inform you on that. -~

Senator Morse. Why would NASA make a statement, in regard to o
this plane if it was under the jurisdiction of CTA

Mr. Dinron. On the cover story it was in the open, the plane was
under the jurisdiction of NASA. Actnally for this operation it was
under the jurisdiction of CIA. [Deleted.]

Senator Monse. Therefore, NASA, in your opinion, was acting
within the proprieties when it issued the statement that it issued.

Mr. Dinron. T think so; yes. :

Senator Morse. You think it had cleared that statement with CIA
or had authority from CIA to issueit.

Secretary Herrer. I think so.

Mr. Diton. They chould have; as T understood the matter, these
guidelines to answer questions were prepared by CIA. They were
gone over with State Department people a day or two before. We
had thought that NASA was going to handle this in the way of an-
cwering questions, whichi we knew they would get, becanse this was a
NASA plane, and they apparently chose instend to forestall the
uestions just by pniting it all out in the form ol a statement.
[ Deleted. |

QUESTION OF EXECT'I1VE BRANCIH COORDINATION ON U—2 STATEMENTS
Senator Moxse. [ raise the question because I want to do what 1

ean in order to clarify the record in regard to the allegation made
that {here is not the best of coordination between the State Depart-
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ment, CTA, Pentagon Building, and now NASA, and that there may
be a need for a centralization in the State Department of the authority
to authorize any statement by any of these agencies in regard to a
situation such as this, because of some possible reason to believe that
if this had been centralized more we would not have been having
different statements coming from different agencies.

Mzr. DLon. We were not aware, actually, of the fact that NASA
was going to make as formal a statement as this, and it was somewhat
of a surprise.

The Criairman. T could not hear that answer.

Mr. Drow. I say we were not aware of the fact that NASA was
going to make such a formal statement as this, and 1 am not sure
that the Central Intelligence Agency was either.

All the relationships—as I said in my original statement, there was
coordination, there was a decision that the statements were going to
be made by the State Department.

That decision was taken and made known to the other agencies
concerned, which were the Department of Defense, and the Central
Intelligence A gency then on the morning of May 5.

The Central Intelligence Agency had the relationships with NASA
and undertook to pass that on. We had no relationships with NASA.
They didn’t know we were in this thing, and somehow this statement
was put out by NASA somewhat more complete than we expected
but it was along the lines of the material that they had been furnished.

VICE PRESIDENT’S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGHTS

- Senator Morse, Turning to a question that Senator Humphrey
asked—and may I assure you that I am quite nonpolitical in raising
that—I am only seeking to find out who had knowledge of what in
regard to the matter. I refer to the May 27 issue of the Washington
II;OSt” C%n an article by Mr. Chalmers Roberts in the course of which

esald:

Nowhere in the 31%-hour television program did Nixon refer to any Presidential
direction in the U-2 crisis, other than his approval of the flights some years
earlier. Nor was there any reference to his own part in the affair. Nixon, of
course, sits in the National Security Council. Nixon did say that he was
“privy” to the U-2 reconnaissance policy “and I do endorse it.” Ile also said
that “I knew about this flight.”

Now, my interpretation, Mr. Secretary, of your testimony is that

neither you nor the President knew this specific flight was going to be
taken at the time that it was taken, but that you did know that there
was a general program for such flights and that this flight could be
considered as a part of that program.
.. Now T ask you, do you have any reason to believe that Nixon knew
anything that you and the President did not know and that maybe it
15 just an unfortunate use of langnage when he says “I knew about this
flight,” and that he probably means that he knew about the general
program of reconnaissance? -

Secretary Herrer. I would assnme it was about the general pro-
gram rather than about the particular flight.

. 56412—60-—-6 ' :
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NATIONAL SECITRIEY COUNCIL'S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGHTS

Senaior Morske. But as far as you know, the National Security
Council did not brief its members I regard to any particular flights
without also notifying the President in regard fo speciiic flights.

Secretary Hrerrer. No, I think the National Security Council was
only aware of the general program.

Senator Morse. Are you a member of the National Security
Council ¢

Secretary Hrrrer. Yes, T am.

NUULEAR ARMAMENT RACE

Senator Morse. One final question at this round, Mr. Secretary : As
you know 1, along with everyone else, I think, who has the interest of
peace at heart, am very much concerned about long continuation of
this nuclear armameni race,

Do you think that the United States and the Western Powers on the
one hand and Russia on the other can continue this nuclear armament
race with its constant increase and acceleration for another 10 years
and not create the great probability of war?

Secretary Herrer, 1 don’t know about the great probability of war,
Senator, but I would say certainly increase the chances of war,

Senator Morse. 1 know we are of one mind but I want the record to
show this particular one mind : Do you agree with me that our genera-
tion simply has the responsibility in history to find some honorable
way to end this nuclear armament race? -

Secretary HrrTer. 1 agree with you completely on that. §

Senator Morse. Do vou think that we ought to do everything that
we can to try to get the United Nations to exercise greater jurisdie-
tional authority in connection with this whole matter of armament
race than we have been able to get it to do so far?

Secretary HerTER. Senator, some time ago I made a speech in con-
nection with disarmament in which I stated my views as to the great
necessity in the following vears to finding some answer to this, and
at. the same time finding an answer within the framework of the
United Nations of an anthority which could maintain the peace with
Iaw, and T still feel that just as strongly as I did at the time I made
that speech.

KECORD OF THE WORLD COURT

Senator Morse. Mr. Chairman, my time is up and I want to make
a request for data if T may.

The Cuarman. Certainly.

Senator Morse. This morning we talked about the cases that we had
offered to take to the World Court.

Senator WiLey. A little londer, Senator.

Senator Morse. This morning you talked about the cases that we
were willing to take to the World Court. I wonder if the State De-
partment can compile for the committee the record in regard to the
World Court’s operation, both on the cases it has handled and the

ases that we have offered to have it handle that have been rejected
by Russia or any other power.
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Secretary Hrrrer. Yes; we will be very glad to do that.
(The following information was subsequently furnished for the
record :)

STATEMENT BY THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE: INTERNATIONAL COURT OF JUSTICE—
CONTENTIOUS CASES PROPOSED BY THE UNITED STATES AGAINST SovieT-Broc
COUNTRIES

1. The United States has proposed to the Soviet Union the adjudication of four
separate cases concerning aerial incidents. In cach of these cases, the United
States has filed with the Registry of the International Court of Justice an
application instituting proceedings. These were the following cases: (a) Treat-
ment in Hungary of aircraft and crew of United States of America (United
States v. U.8.8..); (b) aerial incident of October 7, 1952 (Unitcd States v.
U.8.8.R.) ; (c¢) aerial incident of September 4, 1954 (United States v. U.S.S.R.) ;
and (d) aerial incident of November 7, 1954 (United States v. U.S.8.R.). Hach
of these four cases has been dismissed by the Court for lack of jurisdiction.
The Court lacked jurisdiction because the Soviet Union has never accepted the
compulsory jurisdiction of the Court under article 36(2) of its statute nor
agreed to jurisdiction specially in any case,

2. The United States also instituted proceedings before the International Court
of Justice in cases against Hungary and Czechoslovakia. These were: (e)
Treatment in Hungary of aircraft and crew of United States of America (United
States v. Hungarian People’s Republic) ; and (f) aerial incident of March 10,
1953 (United States v. Czechoslovakia). Each of these cases was also dis-
missed by the Court for lack of jurisdiction. Again, the reason was that neither
Hungary nor Czechoslovakia has ever accepted the jurisdiction of the Court in
any way.

3. The United States also instituted proceedings before the International Court
of Justice in a case against Bulgaria, the aerial incident of July 27, 1955 (United
States v. Bulgaria). This case differed from those above in that Bulgaria had
accepted the compulsory jurisdiction of the former Permanent Court of Inter-

) national Justice in 1921, and it was the contention of the United States that
L— Bu'garia was subject to the compulsory jurisdiction of the present International
Court of Justice by virtue of article 36(5) of this Court’s statute. Bulgaria
challenged the jurisdiction of the Court on several grounds, including a decision
of the Court in another case arising out of the same aerial incident that Bulgaria
is not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court, and a reciprocal invocation of the
United States domestic jurisdiction reservation. The United States has moved

to discontinue the case,

The CriairemaN. The Senator from Kansas.

DEVALUATION OF SOVIET CURRENCY

Senator CarLsoN. Mr. Secretary, recently one of our Nation’s finan-
cial writers, writing on the conditions in Russia, wrote that Mr.
Khrushchev was proposing a devaluation of the currency as of Janu-
ary 1, and he stated that no nation tampers with its currency unless
it 1s in financial difficulty.

What do we know about the financial and economic condition of
Russia that would lead us to believe or know that he is planning on
devaluating the currency?

Secretary Herrer. This I hadn’t heard at all. I hadn’t seen that
particular statement and I have seen nowhere in any report any indi-
cations that they were planning to devalue their currency.

There is no question but that their foreign exchange rate, their
official rate, doesn’t correspond with reality. They have two rates,
one an official rate and one a tourist rate. They are very far apart.
One is 4 rubles to the dollar and one is 10 rubles to the dollar. But
from the point of view of their internal financial situation, I have
heard no reports they were planning to devalue the ruble.
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INTERNAYL CONDITIONS IN SOVIET UNION

Senator Carrson. We have had evidence that there is social unrost
among the people, that they are thinking that they are entitled to
better living conditions, better homes and housing.

Do we have any evidence of that?

Secretary Herter, Yes; I think there is. But this is a matter that
Mr. Bohlen testificd to a few moments ago.

Senator Cartsox. That there is?

Secretary Herrer. There is evidence of that. As Mr. Bohlen said,
it is impossible to get documentary evidence, as such, because of the
secrecy and the discipline in their society, but I think that every
visitor to Russia who has had a chance to talk with the workmen or
the students at the university and so on, has come buack with that
feeling.

After all, Mr. Khrushcheyv has made a good many statements about;
the necessity of inereasing the standard of living of their people.

In their meentives that they offer from the point of view of their
workers, better living conditions in these housing projects is one of
the principal incentives that they have been offering in the past,.
giving people priority if their particular sections of a plant do par-
ticularly well from the point of view of production, they will be
advanced to better living quarters.

I'think that the urge for better living quarters and a better stand-
ard of living, more consumer goods, is a very real one,

SOVIEY REDUCTICN IN ARMED FORCES AND LABOR STIORTAGRE -

Senator CarrsoN. Does the State Department have any evidence of
a labor shortage in Russia based on a statement that was recently
made that Mr. Khruehchev reduced his military strength because it
was necessury to get some of the people back into the labor market ?

Secretary Herrer. Yes. Very recently there has been a study that
I think will be made available to you, made on the whole question of
the Libor problem in Russia.

(The study referred to appears on p. 283 in appendix 2.

It 1s an extremely interesting one from the point of view of the
present situation and the relationship of women at work compared
with men and the very large excess number of women over men that
exists in Russia today.

There is certainly every reason to believe that Mr. Khrushchev’s
announced reduction of the armed forces was an effort to increase the
male labor force by taking the extra men out of the armed services
when he said he was planning to reduce from some 3,600,000 down to-
2,400,000: that the principal purpose of that was to eet a larger
working force. '

EFFECT ON SUMMIT CONFERENCE OF KITRUSTICIIEV’S INTERN AL PROBLEMS

Senator CarrsoN. Js it not reasonable to assume, then, that Mr.
Khrushchev does have some problems, internal problems, and that
that may have some effect on his actions and his decision at Paris?

Seerefary Herrer. That undoubtedly is true. e has had some
other internal difficulty that you undonbtedly know about, Senator, in
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<onnection with the new land that was planted, an area that has not,

been too successful and this was something on which he had banked

very heavily to increase the food supply of Russia and I think he had

been rather heavily criticized because it hadn’t worked out as planned.
Senator Caruson. That is all, Mr. Chairman.

. The Ciamrmax. Senator Gore?

ISSUANCE OF PRESIDENT’S ORDER SUSPENDING U—2 FLIGHTS

Senator Gore. Returning, Mr. Secretary, to the examination of
‘whether there was a breakdown in coordination and administrative
procedure, I would like to inquire when you personally first learned of
the President’s order that the U-2 flights would be discontinued ?

Secretary ITurrer. At the time that he gave it.

Senator Gore. When did he give it?

Secretary ITerrer. My recollection is that it was immediately after
meeting at the White ITouse on Thursday morning at about noon.

Senator Gore. Did he give the order to you ?

Secretary Herrrr. No, he did not give the order to me. I think it
was through General Goodpaster, but I am not quite certain.

Senator Gore. How did you know that it was given ?

Secretary Herrter. I heard him.

Senator Gore. You heard him give the order?

Seccretary Herrer, Yes.

Senator Gore. And this was on Thursday ?

Secretary Herrer. This was on Thursday.

Senator Gore. Then you do not know whether this information

~ "was communicated to the Vice President ?
- Secretary Herter. I have no idea.

Senator Gore. Ie was not present ?

Secretary Herrer. He was not present.

Senator Gore. Was this at a meeting of the Security Council ¢

Secretary Herrer. No, I don’t think it was the Security Council.
I think it was at the meeting immediately after the Security Council
at which there were three of us present. Allen Dulles was not present
and I have forgotten—I think Gates was present—after a Cabinet
meeting it was.

Senator Gore. I don’t understand.

Secretary Herrer, After the Cabinet meeting.

Senator Gore. After the Cabinet meeting ?

Secretary Ierrer. Right,

- Senator Gore. That settles that. You heard the order issued, and
I will have no further question as to where it was issued and to whom.
If you heard it issued to Secretary Gates, that settles one question
definitely and finally.

But you do not know whether the Vice President was informed
about; it.?

Secretary Herrrr, Excuse me——

Senator Gore. Did you wish to add something ?

Secretary Herrer. No, no.

Senator Gore. You do not know then whether the Vice President
was informed about it ? :

Secretary Hrrrer, No, I do not.
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QUESTION OF PRESS SECRETARY HAGERTY’S KNOWLEDGE OF SUSPEiNSION OF
FLIGHTS

Senator Gore. On this question of coordination or lack thereof, in
addition to NASA and the State Departimnent, to which Senator Morse
referred, there is the State Department, CIA, NASA, My. Hagerty,
and officials within the Department and perhaps others.

Did Mr. Hagerty operate in this field strictly as press secretary or
did he undertake some Executive function ?

Secretary Hrrrer. I know of no Executive function that he
assumed.

ISSUANCE OF STATF DEPARTMENT AND NASA STATEMENTS OF MAY §

Senator Gore. Mr. Dillon, on May 5 Mr. Hagerty, I understand,
told a press conference that the State Department and NASA would
issue statements. Were you aware of this?

Mr. Durox. I have very recently learned that he indicated that
NASA would issue & statement as such.

It was decided that the State Department would issue a statement.
1 hadn’t been aware that he had said we were. 1dut it had been de-
cided and he knew it had been decided that we were going to do it.

Senator Gore. You say you very recently learned this. How
recently ?

Mr. Dirrown. 1 think a day ago or 2 days ago that someone from the
yress said that he had told the press when they were there that

ASA would issne a statement, so that they could get their infor-
mation from NASA. Y

Senator Gore. Did Mr. Hagerty suggest to you that the State De- '
partment issue a statement ?

Mr. Dirox. No, it was decided when we first heard of this, this
news, as I said earlier this morning, at this National Security Council
meeting or right after it that was held outside of Washington, that
the State Department would handle the publicity on this, and that
we would make any statement that would be made, and it was known
at that time that we would make a statement.

Now Mr. Hagerly was not at the Security Council meeting, but
he was at that area out, there where this exercise was taking place
and so he was aware of the fact that the State Department would
be making a statement at noon that day at our regular press con-
ference time.

Actually, the statement was delayed 45 minutes. It was made at
12:45 when our regular daily press conference took place.

Senator Gore. Was it decided there that NASA would make a
statement also?

Mr. Dirron. It was not to my knowledge, no. It was not decided
there that NASA would make a statement.

Senator Gore. Who made that decision?

Mr. Dizrox. I think that you have to ask NASA. T don’t know
who made any such decision.

The fact is, as I have said earlier, I thought that NASA would
answer questions. ] )

T didn’t know they were going to make a statement until I saw 1t.
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Senator Gore. You don’t know whether NASA or whether Mr.
Hagerty made that decision ¢ .

Mr. Dicrox. I have no idea, no. I would assume NASA made it
because we did know that NASA would have to answer questions
because this was a NASA plane that was lost and the reporters were
going to find out how high the plane flew, what kind of a plane it
was, anything they knew about it, and we had given them—the Intel-
ligence Agency had given them good answers on how to answer such
questions. ) )

Senator Gore. You say you assume this. You did not know it?

Mr. Diron. I knew they had given them that material. I knew
that as a fact, but we did not know that they were going to use that
and put in into the form of a statement as it actually came out.

Senator Gore. But Mr. Hagerty did know that a statement by
NASA would be made?

Mr. Dmrow. I don’t know that what he said meant that he knew
they were going to make a formal statement or whether he was just
using that as a phrase, indicating that they would answer questions.

He may have thought they were going to make a statement. I just
don’t know that. Ie may have called them up and asked them. I
don’t know.

Senator Gore. Did, in fact, both the State Department and NASA
make statements subject to Mr. Hagerty’s notice to the press that they
would doso? :

Mr. Diuron. The State Department made its statement and NASA
made one about three quarters of an hour later, yes.

gDeleted . )
enator Gore. My time is up, Mr. Chairman.
-’ The CrairmaN. Senator Williams ?

Senator Wirtiams. No questions.
The Caarryman. The Senator from Ohio.

PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV'S KNOWLEDGE OF OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Lauscae. When did the Camp David meeting take place
with Khrushchev ?

Secretary IerTeR. I am terribly sorry

Senator Lavuscnr. When did the Camp David meeting take place
with Khrushchev? ‘

Secretary IlerTer. That was in September as I recall it.

Senator Lavscar. Did Khrushchey, before May 1, make any state-
ments indicating that the Soviet had knowledge of American recon-
haissance planes over their territory ?

SecretariHERTER. None.

Senator Lauscme. Based upon his statements and upon the knowl-
edge which he claims the Soviet possess, what day was it that he
understood the first American plane flew over the Soviet ?

Secretary Herter. I can’t identify that. My recollection is that
when he was in Paris he made the statement that he knew about these
overflights at the time that he was at Camp David and that he thought
there was something fishy about President Eisenhower at that time.

Senator Lauscue. Well, then at Camp David he did state that at
that time he knew that our planes were flying over the Soviet.
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Secretary Hurvir. That is what he said later when he got to Paris.

Senator Lauscnr. When he got to Paris ?

Secretary Herver. When he got to Paris.  Tle never mentioned it
at Camp David or at any time between Camp David and Paris.

Senator Lavscie. Well, if he knew at Camp David that our recon-
naissance planes were flying over the Soviet, and he said nothing about
it, can you give uny reason for his remaining silent on the suhject?

Secretary Herver. Ile was asked that question in a press confer-
ence i Paris,

I haven't got here the exact words of response but T think we could
dig them out for yon, and tell you just what he said in answer to that
himself, but as I recollect, he said he felt that this was an mappro-
priate moment to bring it up but that he did think there was some-
thing fishy about the President at that time.

Senator Lavscre. Then at Camp David, when he knew that our
planes were flying over his land, he was discussing what was to be
the summit conference is that correct ¢

Secretary Hertrr. What he hoped would be the summit con ference.

Senator Lauvscoe. And if we take him at his word, at that time he
hoped to have a summit conference although he knew then that we
were supposedly committing a flagrant transgression against his
rights,

Secrefary ITerter. That is correct, from his own later testimony,

Senator Lauscne. Can you reconcile those two positions as both
being true, one that he honestly intended to attend a summit confer-
ence and, two, that he knew our planes were flying over his land ?

Secretary HErm:r. No, it would be very difficult to reconcile the two.

It is very difficult particularly to reconcile the tremendous issue that A
he made of it Iater when he knew about it all the time, according to
his own statement,

Senator Aixex. Will the Senator yield? You will find on page 16
of the Background Documents Khrushchev’s statement that Twi ning,
the then Chief of Staff, sent a plane over Russia which went. over
Kiev the day after he left Russia. It is the third pa ragraph on page
16. (See appendix 1, p. 191.)

Senator Lavscnie. Yes. Your recollection is that the meeting took
place last September.

Secretary Hertrr. Yes, sir.

Senator Lavscnn. Now then, from September to May 14, was that
the day he came to Paris, he said nothing about this knowledge that
he had, was supposed to have had while he was at Camp David.

Secretary Herrir. That is my recollection. I would want to check
on that. It is possible that he may have said sorething at the Presi-
dium meeting before he left Moscow. My expert. here tells me he did
not, and that was my recollection that he had never mentioned it until
he got to Paris,

Senator Lauvscrre. Can one rationalize the furor of his resentment
in May of 1960 compared to his admitted silence at Camp David about
similar flights?

Secretary Herren. No: one cannot,
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INFORMATION GATHERING OIPPORTUNITIES IN THE UNITED STATES AND IN
TIIE U.8.8.R.

Senator Lauscur. Now then, last January 18, Allen Dulles ap-
peared before our committee, and at that time he merely scratched on
the surface what I thought was a very vital question: the compara-
tive ease with which the Soviet gets information in the United States
and the impregnable wall that bars us from getting news in the Soviet.

I ask you the question, Mr. Herter, to give your understanding of
the facility with which we get information out of the Soviet, and that
which they get out of the United States.

Secretary HerrEr. Senator, as you know, we have what we call an
open society. We are very proud of it in which we have complete
freedom of the press, in which, except for matters of highest security,
very freely talked about, and a great deal is published.

Our technical magazines publish a great deal from the point of view
of vital military information. Our installations in this country, while
no direct overflights are permitted, can be photographed with com-
parative ease from an angle of one side,

Generally speaking we have had no restrictions at all on travel
in the United States except for a few very small circumseribed areas,
like the Atomic Energy Agency plants, and we have had restrictions
on Soviet citizens traveling in this country which have been taken
entirely as a retaliatory measure because of the limitations put on the
travel of Americans in Russia.

Senator Lavscue. Right.

Secretary Hzrter. The Soviet society, as you know, is a closed

* society, where one moves and goes only where they tell you youn can
-’
go or when they tell you you can go.

Senator Lauscme. This morning in answer to a question, assuming
that a Soviet plane was over the United States and what we would
do about it, you said that there is no need of them sending planes for
reconnaissance purposes because they can get the information without.
going through that effort.

Secretary Ierrer. That is quite so.

Senator Lauscums. That is, they can go to Cape Canaveral and
pretty simply see what is going on there.

Secretary IIrrrer. Well, sir, there are newspaper men down at Cape
Canaveral all the time and a good many visitors.

Senator Lauscue. Now the fact isthat :

The Soviets still consider that secrecy and the security of everything relating
to their military operations is one of their great assets, and they have no
intention whatever of changing that. Moreover they have no intention of letting
us into areas of miltary importance.

Those are the words of Dulles.

That is, there is a difference between the Soviet getting information
here and our getting it in the Soviet.

Secretary IIrrrer. Oh, a very great difference. It is the whole
difference between an open and a closed society.
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PROPOSED PASSPORT LEGISLATION

Senator Lauscrr. You have been asking for this Congress to pass
a bill that would give the State Depurtment some limited control
over Communists going to the Soviet Union. Isthat correet?

Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

Senator Lauscue. And why have you asked that ?

Secretary Hrrter. Because we felt that we ought to have some
control—these are American citizens traveling abroad—that we ought
to have some control over those who may be going to various parts of
the world in interest inimical to those of the United States.

Senator Lavscus. And you asked that because you have in mind
the grave dangers that lie in the ability of a Communist to distribute
information in the Soviet Union when he makes the visit, if he so
desires,

Secretary Herrer. Yes, sir.

Senator Lauscrae. That bill has not been acted upon ; is that correct.?

Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

FOWERS OF THE CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Senator Lauscne. Is there any type of legislation that you feel that
we ought to pass with respect to the curtailment of the duties and the
owers of the Central Intelligence Agency or the expansion of them.
f you have given that subject no thought, you can state it.
Secretary Herrer. I have given it no thought. I hope there would
be no change so far as the activities are concerned. [Deleted.]
Senator Lavscue. That isall I have. -

ALLEGED FRENCH NEWSPAPER ACCOUNT OF OVERFLIGHTS

The Caateman. Mr. Secretary, there was one statement that T was
told when I was in Paris that an account of overflights of the Russian
territory had been carried in a French newspaper some 30 to 60 days
priorto that.

Have you ever heard of such account?

Secretary Herrer. 1 think I heard the same reports in Paris but 1
never saw any documentary proof of it.

The Cmamrman. Have any of your people tried to confirm it?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, but I have not heard it mentioned by any-
one except when T was over in Paris, too. I had not heard a word
before that.

KHRUSHCH V'S MAY 5 REFERENCE TO OVERFLIGHTS

The Caamman. [Deleted.]

In his speech of May 5, Mr. Khrushchev referred to the U.S. over-
flichts of July 2, 1956, April 9, 1960, and May 1, 1960. He said that
the April 9 flight caused concern within the Soviet Government and
resulted in admonishments to the Soviet military not to let it happen
again.

L=
[ Deleted.]
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KHRUSHCHEV’S INTERPRETATION REGARDING CONTINUANCE
OF OVERFLIGHTS

The Cramaw. This, again, raises this point that puzzles me very
much. The evidence is quite clear that Mr. Khrushchev, if he didn’t
know positively, certainly suspected that it was our planes that were
going across his territory, didn’t he ?

Secretary Herrer. That is what I assume.

The CHARMAN. And it comes back to this point that he hadn’t
raised such a terrible fuss about it until this one, that is, the May 1
flight, which was shot down. And, you said you couldn’t reconcile
the difference in his attitude toward the prior flights to the attitude
toward the May 1 flight. But doesn’t the reconciliation, if it is ex-
plainable at all—I am just asking you if there is one—does it not lie in
the fact that our Government did take the position regarding the May
1 flight and this program, that this is a deliberate program which we,
the President, takes responsibility for, and which we intend to
continue ?

Secretary Herrer. Not which we intend to continue. That has
never been said. '

The Criatrman. He interpreted it as such. Mr. Khrushchev in his
statement, which I have a copy of here—this is his language. Ie
says—this is a quote from part of our Background Documents (see
P. 204, appendix 1) which says:

At his press conference, Herter made an outrageous statement. Far from
feeling guilty and ashamed of aggressive actions, he justifies them and says
that this will continue in the future. Only countries which are in a state of
war can act in this way. * * * Herter’s statement has made us doubt the cor-

- rectness of our earlier conclusions that the Pregident, the American Government,
did not know about the flights. Herter's statement says that this intelligence
plan was endorsed by the Government,

At least that is the way he interpreted it, and, as we said before——

Senator Lavscrie. Who is “he”? Who interpreted it ?

The Cruamrman. This is a quote from Mr. Khrushchev’s statement.
He is interpreting what Mr. ITerter said as speaking for the Govern-
ment. DBut is this not at least a possible reconciliation of the differ-
ence in attitude between the prior flights and the May 1 flight?

Secretary HerTer. It might be if one wanted to interpret the words
that I spoke that way. There was no need of his interpreting those
words that way. Certainly from what I said, that is a very far-
fetched interpretation. I think he was interpreting it for his own

urposes that way. I think that the one reconcilable feature between
those two things 1s that in one case he had specific evidence and in the
other case he did not.

The Cuatrman. Then it is your position that neither your state-
ment nor the President’s press conference can legitimately be inter-
preted as an endorsement and justification of the flights and a policy
of pursuing them in the future?

ecretary Herrer. Certainly not the policies of pursuing them in
the future. The President’s statement that was made in Paris said
it was perfectly clear from what I had said and from what he had said
that there was nothing that allowed that inference.

The CmamMman. Did you in your background news conference in
Paris on Sunday, May 15, repeat the same statement that you had
made prior thereto in Washington ?
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Secretary Herrer. 1 was asked at that background press conference
whether or not T had made a statement that we would continue doing
this. T repeated the very words that T had used in my statement. I
said 1 stood on those. That did not. imply that we wonld continue.

The Craieman. Prior to that second statement, Mr. Khrushchev
had so interpreted it. Were you aware that he had <o interpreted it
in his statement to the Presidium ?

Secretary Herrer, T think T may have been, but if one took eog-
nizance of every interpretation of his of everything that happens in
this country one would be spending all one’s time trying to correct
hig statements,

The Criarrmax. You believe that it is an unreasonable and far-
fetched interpretai ion of your statement or the President’s in his press
conference that these would be continued; s that correet

Secretary Herrer. Yes, I do,

The Cizamrman. Is it or is it not a fact that the press in this country
interpreted it in that same fashion?

Seerefary Herrer. I am told that some did and some did not.

The CmarrMan. Tt might have been wise for us to clarify at that
time so that we interpreted it properly; don’t you think?

Secretary Herrer. That, as 1 think T have indicated earlier, re-
ferred to the cessation of the flichts and not: resuming the flights.
The President had reserved to state in Paris in conjunetion with the
fact that he was going to offer at the United Nations his plan for
nerial supervision of all nations that would be willing to submit to it.

The Cramrwax. Do you believe that any head of state, of any
important nation at least, could proceed with negotintions at a con- g
ference under the situation, at least as he interpreted it, that is, that
we intended to continue such flights?

Secretary Hexrer. A fter all, Mr. Khrushehev arrived in Paris and
made an arrival statement there the Saturday beforn the conference
saying that he expected to proceed and have fraitfn] results.

The Cnamrarax. For the record, in order that it is clear what is
involved here, T would like to read one sentence, the one that is
referred to by Mr. Khrishchev, which T think yon clarified. 1 quote
Trom the statement that was made by the Department of State on
May 7 (see p. 187, appendix 1) :

The necessity for such activities as measures for legitimate national defense:
ix enhanced by the excessive secrecy practiced by the Soviet Union in eontrast
to the free world.

I think that is the statement that led to the interpretation, don’t
you?

Secretary Ierrex. I am sorry, sir, T have got before me now the
statement of May 7. 'Which were those words?

The CuarmMax. It appears on page 12 of the background docu-
ments prepared by the staff, the first paragraph at the top of page 12.

Secretary Herrer. That does not in any way intimate that. they
would go on.

The Cuamrman. You do not believe that that could reasonably be
interpreted as meaning that they will continue ¢

Secretary Herrer. No.

The Cratryan. My time is up.

Senator Wiley ¢
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KHRUSHCIIEV'S SPEECIT AT BAKU

Senator Wiey. Mr. Secretary, I have listened to this examination,
and as you brought out, Mr. Chairman, I think that what we had
better do is get down to what I think is the basic issue, not what
was said or particularly done, but let’s see what Khrushchev did.

On April 28, in what has been called the speech at Baku, an exam-
ination of that speech shows clearly that the Soviet Government had
come to the conclusion that it would get nowhere at the summit
conference. Now, listen to this:

Overnight all the Government-controlled radio stations—
and get the date, May 25—

all the controlled radio stations and newspapers in the Soviet Union began
to prepare the people for a summit failure, and flatly blamned the West. The
same Dbitter tones which Khrushchev used in Paris is to be noted in what he
said at Baku,

And Baku was days before. ‘

In a violent attack in Baku on Secretary Ierter and Under Secretary Dillon,
on that same day, the Soviet Premier intimated that he planned to use military
power to enforce the prospective seizure in the West.

I quote IKXhrushchev:

If, therefore, the Western I'owers should not wish to sign a peace treaty
‘with the German Democratic Republic, that would not preserve for them the
rights on whose preservation they insist. They would then obviously lose the
right of access to West Berlin by land, water, or air.
In another portion of his speech, the Soviet Premier practically
~ admitted that he had no hope of reaching any agreement at the sum-
W mit conference.
- He said :
The nearer May 16, the day of the meeting of the heads of Government, ap-
proaches, the more one-sided becomes the approach of certain statesmen of

the Western Powers to the problems the participants of the conference will
have to face.

_Then he goes ahead and gives examples attacking Ierter and
Dillon.

KIIRUSIICHEV’S DECISION TO SCUTTLE CONFERENCE

Now.I want to quote this. This morning I ealled your attention to
this young Russian that stepped out from the intelligence department
of the Russian Government, who was heard on the radio. e said

cand I quote:

The Soviet Communist regime is in no way interested in allowing se popular
a4 man as the American President to come to the Soviet Union. They are
de_ﬁnitely afraid of the impact such.a visit can make on the people.

Now if the issue is what caused Khrushchev to shoot his wad, so
to speak, I think it is very clear that when he found out, one, that he
couldn’t make an impression upon his associates who were to be at
the conference; two, that Mao Tse-tung and the Chinese were un-
happy and Mao Tse-tung laced him up and down about this confer-
&nce, as the record shows, when he found out that they didn’t want it;
three, that he was having trouble with his own gang in Russia; and,
four, that the youth of Russia were simply getting all fed up—he

?
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decided before he went to Paris that he was going to let the balloon
2o up. ‘ ] i

It wasn’t the question of U-2. That may have given him the os-
tensible opportunity to blow his top, but, as a matter of fact, he was
all ready to go days before.

PROCEDURAL DISCUSSION

Now if that is the fact, and I think it is sustained by the people
who weigh the evidence, then there is no need of our inquiring into
what some folks feel. They may be a little remiss hither and yon in
our own public service. They were laboring under deep pressure.
When you put yourself in the President’s boots and go over there
and see what he took, you have to say, “God bless him. He held his
temper and he handled himself so that he made all America and all
the world proud,” and the result was as suggested, as the record now
shows. Look at the T.N.,, look at Britain, what they say about it.
And the answer, I think, is that we should just about stop our in-
vestigation and not try to ball up further the issue.

The C'HARMAN, For the record I will say that the President, yes-
terday morning, heartily endorsed this inquiry.

Senator Woey, That what?

‘he Crairvan, The President himself said in my presence that
he hLeariily endorsed this inquiry, and if the Senator wishes to take
issne with the President, why I suggest he talk to him about it.

Senator WiLey. Oh, no. T heard him say that. T am not disputing
his sglying it. I am just simply saying that where do we go from here
now ?

Are we going further, are we going to try to ball up the agency
that gets the information, that has done such a tremendous job, that
for 314 vears has given us information.

[ Deleted.]

The Crarman. I think the Senator misunderstands the purpose of
this meeting. It is not to ball up anything. It isto try to clarify a
situation for the benefit of the committee and the Senate and the
country.  And I know of no one who has the slightest. purpose of ball-
ing up anything,

Has the Senator completed his questions?

Senator WiLry. Yes, I am sorry that I used that expression. What
I meant was “confuse,” and if there is going to be further evidence,
would you mind telling me who the next witness is?

The Caamman. There will be no other witnesses this afternoon.

Senator WiLey. Well, do you expect to call some later on?

The Cramman. Yes, Mr. Dulles is coming on Tuesday.

Senator Mansfield—is the Senator through ?

Senator WiLry. No, that is the point I am making. T want to state
in all sincerity, gentlemen, it is your responsibility if you want to call
this man who has created this agency under the mandate of the Con-
aress, that we have appropriated money for, and have not tied his
hands and he is the one who brought about this; let us be frank.

{ Discussion off the record.)

The Caamman. The Senator is misinformed if he thinks that type
of testimony is going to go in the public record. There was no inten-
tion at any time of putting this in the public record.
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Senator WiLey. Did you hear yesterday when the distinguished
Senator from Ohio very plainly and bluntly talked about the leaks.
I belong to a committee where I have seen them go right from the
committee room right out in front of the fellows who have the mech-
anisms for giving the news. This is the first time I have blown my
top, but I am simply telling you in the interests of my country, I think
you should not call in this other agency. I think that these gentlemen
have told what the public knows now, but to bring in this other
agency, I think would be a mistake.

The CrairmaN. Does the Senator say that he knows Senators who
have gone out of executive sessions before the microphone and re-
peated what has been said here?

Senator Witey. I am not putting my finger on any Senators. If
you want to know what is going on what have they got the television
out there for and you are quoted every day as appearing before it.

Let’s be frank. This is not the only committee where they spill the
beans. But I am talking about the Central Intelligence Agency,
gentlemen. I happen to know something about it, and I know what
1t means, and people over in the House know what it means, and I
sincerely hope that you will not bring Dulles before you. Thatisall
Lhave to say.

The Crairman. Senator Mansfield.

JURISDICTION OVER THE AIRSPACE AND THE HIGH SEAS

Senator MansrieLp. Mr. Secretary, in an attempt to clarify some
of the confusion which exists in some of our minds I would like to ask
«’/  SOme questions:
What is your present official interpretation of international law as
re%ards the extension of national sovereignty skyward ¢
ecretary Herrer. I don’t think we have any.

Sgenator Maxsrrerp. We have no international law in that field as

yet ¢

Secretary Hurrnr. That I know of. There is no definition as to

what is eonsidered the atmosphere above the air. There is no ac-
cepted interpretation or verbiage when they are talking about the
atmosphere.

Senator Mansrizrp, Would you think it advisable to have an inter-
national conference or conferences to decide the question of sover-
eignty in the air over a country and also the possibility of regulating
the seas in a more orderly fashion #

" Secretary Herrer. Well, as you know, we have tried for over a
year to get the United Nations to get the outer space committee
organized and underway.

enator MansFieLp. At our suggestion?

Secretary HerTER. At our urging. We have been urging that this
be done.  We have been pressing it. We have not been able to make
any headway because the Russians refused to go along. There have
been further discussions of this proposal but we have been unable to
agree on who should carry it out. "I think we are making progress
but it is still one of those things where there is a constant dispute as
to what should be done.

Not only that but we had hoped to get it adjusted in time so that
this year there could be a great international scientific congress be-
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canse you're dealing with new matters that the scientists are expert
in thai the layman is not, and the Soviets were unable even to allow
the calling of that congress.

Senator Mansreno. No.  In other words, as yet there is no clari-
fication of this particular matter.

Jetting back to my statement concerning reguiation of the seas,
we, of course, operale under the doctrine of freedom of the seas.
But what T have in mind is the fact that it is my understanding that
the Soviet. Union can launch missiles anywhere it wants to up within,,
say, three miles of our coastline if it is in our vieinity, and we have
thi same right under international law to fire missiles up to 3 miles,
say of Vladivostok. lsthat correct?

Seeretary Terrer. Yes, and it depends again on whatl one takes as
the territorial waters. ‘Three miles have been the generally accepted
territorial limit. 'The Soviet (Government has claimed 12 miles and,
as. you know, the recent (feneva Conference failed in reaching agree-
ment among the nations as to what should constitute the territorial
water of different nations.

Some nations have gone rauch farther than that, particularly
with regard to fishing rights.

Senator Maxseiery, That’s right, but what T have in mind is that
times have changed considerably, even m our generation.

V. Chairman, mayv we have order in the committee ?

The Ciatryax. It isdiflicult to have order.

Qenator Maxswern. The fact is that we have these satellites going
skyward hundreds of miles and we have these missiles going thousands
of miles into the ocean. It was because of these new factors that I
offered the suggestion that it might be well to have international con- e
ferences to take heed of changed conditions in this modern day.

We have also advoented, as you are aware, peaceful uses of outer
space, and we have made no headway.

[Deleted.]

The CriarrMan. Senator Gore ?

Qenator Gore. Mr. Chairman, the first question I wish to pursue
leads to a question of Mr. Bohlen. Since others have asked him ques-
tions, I wonder if Tinight ask that he return.

STATE DEPARTM ENT'N KNOWLEDGE OF U—2 FLIGITS

Mr. Secretary, Secretary Dillon testified this morning that he
did not know of this particular flight, and to the hest of my memory
you said you were away at the time and did not know of this particular
flight.

Secretary ITerrer. 1 knew of the program. T made that clear in
which the flight was included but not that particular flight.

Qenator Gore. T was specifying this particular flight. Did T cor-
rectly understand both of you?

Mr. Dirrow. Yes, Senator. I had heard about 6 weeks earlier that.
a series of flights would be undertaken and I had not heard anything
since that time but it was not in my regular order of business.

Senator Gorr. Would vou repeat what you said? 1 did not under-
stand it,

Mr. Diron. T said T was informed about 6 weeks before the date
of this flieht, T say. that there was a program of particular flights
of which this one could have been a part, and I did———
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Senator Gore. It could have been but you did not know of this
particular one. ' _

Mr. Diwrow. No; I did not know any more than that of this par-
ticular flight.

QUESTION OF DECISION NOT 0 ILALT PROGRAM. OF U—2 FLIGHTS

Senator Gorr. The President, in his statement to the American
people, the other night, said this:

As to the timing, the question was really whether to halt the program and
thus forego the gathering of important information that was essential and
that was likely to be unavailable at a later date, The decision was that the
program should not be halted.

Now, as I understand your reply to the chairman of the committee,
you did not participate in the making of a decision to halt or not to
balt this particular flight.

Seeretary Herrer. 1 had approved of it.

Senator Gore. On this particular rogram.

Secretary Hrrrir. And approved of it as a part of the program.
The question of the halting of it was not in issue at that time although
I knew that the summit conference was coming.

Senator Gore. Well, my specific question is this: Did you partici-
pate in a conference or were you aware of a decision; did you make
a decision? What is the full extent of your knowledge of a decision
that the flight would not be discontinued ?

Secretary Herrer. I know of no conference at which that matter
was diseussed.

'  Senator Gore. Then would it have properly been

Secretary Hrrrur. The only matter that came before me was the
approval of this program.

enator Gore. Ilow long ago did youapprove the program ?

Secretary Hrrrur. I can’t tell you exactly, but 1t was some time
prior to the time I went abroad.

Senator Gore. Is it a matter of weeks?

Secretary ITerTur. A matter of weeks,

Senator Gore. Would such a decision have been properly within the
province of the State Department ?

Secretary Hrrrer, No. The State Department would not have a
final decision in the matter. The State Department would have an
agvisory position in the matter, and the CIA did consult with us
about it.

[Deleted.]

PROCEDURAL DISCUSSION

Senator Gore. I understood the purpose of this hearing was to de-
velop the facts insofar as we were capable of doing so, and to the extent
that security would permit, to make available the facts to the Ameri-
can people,

Do I correctly understand the purpose of the hearing ?

The Crarrmaw. The Senator from Tennessee understands it as T
understand it in spite of the opinion of the Senator from Wisconsin,

Senator Lavscme. May I ask, isit——

Senator Wiry. You might as well just now.

56412 60— 7
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Senator Lauvscie. Is it confined to what our Government, has done
or are we concerned about what the Soviet has done?

The CriamgmaN. | certainly am concerned about what the Soviet has
done.

Senator Lausciik. It hasn’t been manifested here today.

(Procedural discussion.)

The Cramraman. The Senator from Tennessee has the floor.

Senator Witey. May I just say one thing ?

The CirammaN. Does the Senator yleld to the Senator from Wis-
consin ?

Senator Wirey. I realize when T hit the ceiling before that I was
probably not as coherent as 1 should be. I want to say to you with the
conviction of a man who has lived long, that the business of a com-
mittee like ours is to develop facts for legislation, facts that are

necessary to bring out curative legislation, or if you please, if you
want to investigate an individual, that is another thing. We had the
McCarthy hearings. We know what that did, but here is another
angle.

Tt is not the business of this committee to expose to the pecple of
(his country a mechanism that is so important to prescrve the life and
integrity of this country, and I mean the CIA, I know what it means.
T happen to know something about what it has done | deleted] and to
me, at least, and as T say, as a young man of past 70 summers, please
remember that when you go into this thing, as you are going into it,
you are going to expose a mechanism that is as vital to the life of this
country as anything you can think of.

Tt is that mechanism that made possible this series of three and = -~
half years of exploratory missions over the Soviet Union [deleted].

T that is what vou are going into, just count your words.

Senator Gore. Mr. Chairman?

The Cratryax. The Senator from Tennessee.

Senator Gogre. Dealing with the CLA is not a new experience for me.
I happen to have handled in the House of Representatives the ap-
propriation bill for the Atomic Energy Commission for 5 years before
I was elected to the U.S. Senate.

T was party to the appropriation for the atoniic energy program
when the atomic bomb was being built in my State. No one ever heard
those secrets from my lips. Kvery year for the past 14+ I have listened
to the testimony of the CIA from one to two or three or more times.
I don’t think that it is necessary that we violate the security of this
country in order to hear Mr. Allen Dulles’ testimony.

The Crramyan. Will the Senator yield? Mr. Dulles said to this
committee when he was asked if he would appear, that he would be
very pleased to appear. He thought it would serve a useful purpose.
He had no objection.

Qenator Gore. I anm aware that I am pursuing very important
questions that reflect upon the effectiveness of our country and the
srestige of our conntry. That is all the more reason why they should
Le pnrsued.

1 thought this was the purpose of the hearing, to develop the facts,
and insofar as they could be revealed to the public, to do so.

The CrarkMaN. The Senator is quite right.
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QUESTION OF DECISION NOT TO HALT PROGRAM OF U—2 FLIGIITS

Senator Gore. To return to the question, insofar as either of you
know, or any official of the Department, no actual decision to proceed
with the flight or not to proceed with the flight was made.

If such a decision was made, it was beyond your knowledge. Is
that a correct statement?

Secretary Herrer. Yes; I think that I ought to say this. When the
matter came before me, I had an opportunity of disapproving it and
did not doso. Not it, but the program.

Senator Gore. But this particular flight did not come before you?

Secretary Herter. It came as one of a group.

[ Deleted. ] :

NOTICE TO SECRETARY HERTLR OF PLANE’'S MISFORTUNE

Senator Gore. When did you first learn of the plane’s misfortune?

Secretary HertEr. I received word in Ankara, Turkey, that a plane
was down. Thatisall.

Senator Gore. From whom did you receive it ?

Secretary Herrer. It was handed to me from a slip of paper that
Mzr. Livingston Merchant had. He was sitting behind me at a NATO
meeting and he handed me a slip of paper, “word has come that
[deleted] a plane is missing.” :

I don’t think he said in Russia. I didn’t know which one of the
flights it was.

Senator Gore. Tt is your presumption that this was a communica-

-’ tion within the Department?

Secretary HerrER. Oh, yes. I assume it was either in the Depart-
ment or from CIA sources with whom we are constantly in touch
overseas. '

Senator Gore. I believe my time is up. I will return to this.
[Deleted.]

PARIS PRESS BRIEFING BY AMBASSADOR BOIILEN

The Cuamman. You had one question of Mr. Bohlen. He was
called back at your request.

Senator Gore. Yes. If I may digress a moment, I have been told
several times, Mr. Bohlen, that in your press briefing at Paris, I
believe on this 16th, you expressed the view that except for the U-2
plane, there would have been a summit conference.

Will you relate to us what you said at this briefing in this regard ?

Mr. Bomren. I don’t recall, Senator, honestly that I made that
statement

Senator WiLey. A little louder, please.

Mr. Bouren. I don’t recall that I made that statement. The press
briefing that I held on the 16th was an open press conference on the
record, and I do not recall any statement of that kind because my
view then as now is that the U2 was one of the factors that moy have
led to the particular Soviet behavior at Paris.

I really do not recall any such statement of that kind. It’s all on
therecord. This was an open press conference.
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~ Senator Gore. You did not hold an off-the-record background
brieting?

Mr, Bonren. 1 held a background later in which I outlined at that
conference the three factors that I believed and still do entered into
the formulation of the Soviet, position.

Senator Gore. Was a transcript made of that background briefing?

Mr. Bouren. 1T would have to check on that, sir. I think there
probably was.

Senator Gore. Would you supply it to the commitice 1f there was?

Mr. Bouren. If there is one, I would have no views on it.

Secretary Herrer. I would have no objection.

('The transcript yeferred to was subsequently furnished for the con-
fidential use of the committee.)

Mr. Bouren. If there is a transeript of it, but I recall the circum-
stances very well in this, in that three factors that I mentioned earlier,
the Soviet pessimisin as regards the outcome of the sumumit from their
point of view; the possible opposition or questioning of its conduct
and the U—2 maftters were the three factors that appeared to me to
have entered into Soviet decision to torpedo the conference.

I might add, Senator, for clarification on this, we have used the
words “scuttle the conference” quite often.

There are various ways of scuttling a conference. You can scuitle
a conference before it begins or you can sabotage it from within
I deleted ].

[ Subsequently, Mr. Bohlen made available to the Committee the
following statement of views he held in Paris at the time the Sum- .
mit Conference came to un end : ] '

I would like to just briefly note——this i8 a personal opinion—that there
were three elements in this situation:

One, 1 think, was the situation in Moscow, whereby there were some people
who were a little bit coucerned about the manner in which Khrushchev was
conducting the foreign relations of the Soviet Union, for reasons already
touched on.

The second was that I believe that he came to think—or the Soviet Gov-
erpment came to think-—that the prospects for any agreement aft the sum-
mit, on Berlin particularly, which is one that he had committed himself so
deeply to, were very dim indeed. Before the plane incident. they were visibly
preparing the usual taectic of placing the onus in advance upon the Western
Powers for any expected railure. But had there been no plane incident, [
believe the conferene: would have run its full course. There would have
been discussions. There would have been the normal, iff youn want to call it
that, the normal type conference with the Russians, of which we have had
many in the last 15 years, but without results.

The plane incident. the whole development connecting with that, moved
things into a totally new dimension. And I think that the evidence is con-
clusive, that he came here to Paris with the idea of either torpedoing the
conference or conceivably—because you cannot read their full minds—the
hope that somehow or other that the pressure from our Allies would force the
United States to capitulate. I think he makes this very plain. And this is
where he made his major miscalculation. Our Allies stood with us sclidiy—
wonderfully well.

Of course, it is easier to say that now than it was hefore.

Mr. Drypen. I was told that these statements had been cleared by

Mr. Drypen. The CLA people with whom we were dealing, sir.

Senator Gore. Oil' the record.

( Discussion off the record.)

The Cramrmaxn. Does the Senator from Ohio have any further
(estions?
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DUTIES OF TIIE CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Senator Lavuscim. Mr. Ierter, I have in my hand the National
Security Act of 1947, and 1 have read from page 5 that part of the
material which deals with the duties of the Central Intelligence
Agency. _ .

Are the duties enumerated in this section complete ? )

Secretary Hurrmr. Yes; I think those are enumerated in that
section. ‘

Senator Tavsore. This section didn’t place any directions on how
intelligence is to be obtained.

Secretary ITerTer. No.

[Deleted. ]

PRESIDENT’S ASSUMPTION OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR U—2 FLIGHT

Senator Lauscue. Based upon the questions that have been asked
here today, one set implied that the President should not have told
the truth. The next set implied that one of the men lied. And the
third set implied that there was an inability to coordinate the views.

Now, my question is—off the record.

The Citateman. Talke it off the record.

We will make a special dispensation, whatever the Senator wishes.
Does he wish it on or off ? _

Senator Lavscue., Let it be on. Has anyone given any thought
about the peculiar position that the President of the United States
is placed in in connection with the paradoxical situation that he is

- supposed to be a man of truth, and moral character, and yet requested
to lie about these matters, if they are within his knowledge?

Secretary Herrer. I am not sure whether that is a rhetorical ques-
tion or whether you are asking me that question.

Senator Lauscur. Well, take it both ways. [Laughter.]

Senator Gore. Rhetorical or oratorical. [Laughter.]

Senator Lauscue. Well, let’s assume that you were the President,
Mr. Herter, and you were faced with the dilemma of telling a lie
about what happened or telling the truth. In either event you are
hooked. What course would you follow ?

Secretary Herrer. I can answer that one so far as I myself am
concerned.

The Crairman. He followed both.

Senator Lavuscuae. I don’t know. I am beginning to wonder if what
the Central Intelligence Agency is doing ought not to be a matter
left with them and without the Knowledge of the President.

I have no other questions.

The Cramrman., Mr. Secretary, I just want to make a comment.
The Senator from Ohio has put his finger on the very point that
perhaps I didn’t make clear to him earlier in my inquiry. This is, in
my opinion, a central important question about this whole matter,
the wisdom of the policy of involving the President in this kind of
business, that is, espionage, which traditionally involves lying and
cheating and murdering and violating the sovereignty of countries
with which a country is not at war and all of this. And what the Sen-
ator has said is—perhaps I didn’t make it clear—is exactly the point
that T was seeking to raise and to elucidate in the first line of questions
that I asked. And I agree with him this presents a very difficult
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dilemma, and the question is the wisdom of departing from the tra-
ditional historical practice of not involving the head of the state in
anly esplonage responsibilities that he is above and apart from. We
follow that in the Congress, as you have just stated. [Deleted.] We
treat it differently, and I was suggesting and raising the question of
whether it is wise to depart from the traditional practice that all
important states throughout history, without exception in accordance
with the Secretary’s testimony, have followed. That is the very point.
Idon’t think tlleléyenator understood what my point was.

Senator Lavscus. I knew if I were President—-

Senator WiLey. You would tell the truth.

Senator Lauscie. T would tell the truth.

Senator Wrmey. So did he.

The CralrMaN. He did and this is the answer.

Senator Lauscue. And could you expect him to do anything else?

Senator WiLey. That isright.

Senator Lauscan. And the only way you could enable him to per-
form his duty to his country was not by having him know what was
done and if he didn’t know the question would be pursued why
didn’t he know.

Senator WiLry. He taught the world a lesson in 1960, new diplo-
macy, by telling the truth, and I think that it will echo down through
the years.

Senator Lavscae. So I don’t know which group to follow.

The CaamrMan. It is echoing down the years already. This is the
principal echo that has arisen from this whole matter.

Senator Lauscun. The tragedy is that this is made the prinecipal
echo but all of the misdeeds of the Soviet are looked upon as incon-
sequential.

The Crarman, Well, the Senator is entirely incorrect in that
statement. He draws conclusions that are not justified by the record
or any statement that I have hoard before the committee.

Senator Lavscnr. Well, T can

Senator Mansrirrn. Can I ask a question ¢

[Deleted.]

P i

USIA’S DIRBCTOR’S RADIO PROGRAM APPEARANCE

The Criareman. Do [ understand Mr. Allen’s statement on the tele-
vision program was not approved by you or by the Acting Secretary ?

Secretary Herrer. No.  As I understand it, this was In answer to
a. question ona TV program.

Senator Mansmrnn, Yes, T think we have the progrum here. But
could somebody on the stafl find it right away so that I could read it
just agiris?  (See p. 212, app. 1.) ) )

The Cratrman. Well, Mr. Secretary, while they are looking for it,
15 it or is it not the policy of the Department of State that its
employees clear public statements with regard to delicate interna-
tional relations before they ranke them ¢

Secretary HerTer. Yes, sir.

The Cratrman. It is the policy ?

Secretary Herter. It is.  Any statement dealing with foreign af-
fairs should be cleared with the State Department.

The Criameman. Then when they are made in this fashion without

is that correct?

learance, it is not i aceord with licy :
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Secretary Herrar. Well, as T say, this had not been cleared with us.

The Cmarrman. He is an employee

Secretary Herrer. I think it is very possible that a prepared state-
ment had been cleared, but not an answer to a question, There is no
way of clearing that, until one knows what question is asked.

he CrrarrmaN. What I asked this for is because later on 1t seems
o me one of the important things that might come out of this commit-
tee hearing is a tigﬁtening of the policy which gives the Department
of State and the Secretary of State a much closer control over public
statements by other agencies. It strikes me that we would get 1n
much less trouble if all these people would clear with you or with
whoever is Secretary of State of the Department, we will say. Don’t
you think that would minimize the chances of inconsistent state-
ments being made by members of the Government ¢ _

Secretary ITerTER. Yes, that is so. But I think that anything that
he may have said in a prepared statement on that TV program at that
time had been cleareg. Insofar as answers to questions are con-
cerned, there is no way of clearing them without knowing the ques-
tions and in that way he was on his own.

The CHATRMAN. 1t is his responsibility, then, when he goes beyond
anything that had been cleareg?

Secretary HErTER. Yes.

Senator MansrreLp. Mr. Chairman, on page 85 of the Background
Documents on the summit conference, about 7 or 8 lines up from the
bottom of the page, Mr. Allen, in response to a question from Miss
Dodd, states the following:

There are a lot of different definitions of “spying” and I don’t want to try to
- quibble, but I do think I ought to point this out and that more people ought to
recall it: When he went down he told exactly what his mission was and exactly

what he was expected to do, and he was under instruction to do that.

Now, the answer to the question, I just thought ought to be in the
record, because there was some confusion about this statement in view
of information which had been given to a group previously in the
Capitol. Again, I want to say, Mr. Chairman, that I am through
with my questions of Mr. Herter, but I want to express my thanks
to Secretary Herter, to Secretary Dillon and to Ambassador Bohlen
for their candor and frankness today and to assure them that I, for
one, appreciate what they had to say, and I think they have made a
real contribution to clearing up a confused situation which confronted
the committee as a whole.

Secretary Ierrur. We are very grateful for that, Senator.
 Senator Wrtmy. Of course, on this side of the aisle, I have praised
your statement in the beginning and I will praise your conduct in
the conclusion. You all did very well.

Senator Gore. Mr. Chairman?

The CnamrMan. Senator Gore.

Senator Gore. I do not wish to unduly tire the Secretary, but T am
perfectly willing to come back after dinner or to come back tomorrow.
I do have many more questions.

The Cmamrman. Well, it is my understanding the Secretary—he
looks very well to me—would prefer to go on tonight. He does not
wish to run over to next week.

Secretary Herrer. I prefer to go on, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Gore. I don’t think it will take very long tonight.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR DECISION TO DISCONTINTYE FLIGHTS

The Cramyan. The Senator may proceed.

Senator Gore. Fine.

L wish to resume my inquiry with respect to this particular flight.
I am perturbed that you say it would not be within the provinee of
the Department of State to make the decision to discontinue these
flights: that this would be a decision for Mr. Dulles 10 make.

Secretary Herrer. No, T never said that at all.

Senator Gore. I beg your pardon?

Secretary Herrer. I never said that at all. T said he was the opera-
fional man who had fo plan things, and then submit them for approval.

Senator Gore. Well, what. would be the proper agency to consider
whether these flights should or should not be discontinned #

Secretary Herrer. If the question of discontinuance had come up,
1f that was a decision to be made, we would have been asked advice on
it.  We were not asked for advice on it. We gave approval to carry
on with the routine planning that had been done from the point of
view of flight.

Senator Gore. Some weeks prior?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, and had given that approval.

Senator Gore. Did that approval

Secretary Herter. That approval, us T say, is advice.

Senator Gore. Was advice?

Secretary Herrer. Is advice. The President himself took the re-
sponsibility for any final decision.

Senator Gore. Did your approval involve continuation of the flight g
through and during the period of the summit conference?

Secretury Herrter. Not specifically as such. The approval con-
stituted going ahead when conditions were appropriate for carrying
them out.

Senator Gore. Did you give no consideration to discontinuance at a
trme prior to the summit meeting or during the summit. conference?

Secretary Herter. Senator, I answered that question before when T
said that there is no good time for a failure, that if the summit con-
ference had debarred carrying out these flights the President’s visit to
Russia may have been the next thing that might have debarred them.

It may have been debarred when Khrushchev was at Camp David;

i, may have been debarred when Mr. Khrushchev was visiting in
France.

There may have been any number of diplomatic reasons why they
shouldn’t be conducted af a given period of time.

In my opinion, the value of the information and the necessity of
carrying out these flights under given conditions warranted their
wvoing ahead,

Senator Gore. T an trying to be specific in my questions, and T am
trying to elicit from yon whether at the time you gave your approval
for the general program some weeks prior to this particular flight,
vou gave specific eonsideration to the question of continuance or dis-
continuance during or near the time of the summit conference.

Secretary Herter. Certainly. The summit conference was very
much on my mind as it was on everybody’s mind, at that time.

Senxtor Gore. And you gave your approval then ?

Secretury Herrer. [ did.
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Senator Gore. To their continuation throughout the summit
conference?

Secretary Herrer., That was never specified as such.

Senator Gore. In other words, you are saying, then, that there was
no decision to discontinue?

Secretary Herrer., That is right. ] ]

Senator Gore. Then if any decision to discontinue or if any deci-
sion was made not to continue, to use the words, you are not aware
of it?

Secretary Herrer. No. The only decision that I know of at any
stage of the game was to go ahead.

[ Deleted.

COMPARISON OF STATEMENTS MADE BY PRESIDENT AND SECRETARY OF STATE

Senator Gore. Another statement which the President made, I
would like to read:

Of course we had no indication or thought that basic Soviet policies had
turned about. But when there is even the slightest chance of strengthening
peace, there could be no higher obligation than to pursue it.

Now, on page 4 of your statement here today, I would like to read.
This is on page 4, beginning “Summit prospects dimmed.”

Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent that the second, third,
fourth, and fifth paragraphs on page 4 be reprinted at this point in
the record.

The Cramrman. Without objection it is so ordered.

-’ (The paragraphs referred to follow :)

In the first weeks after the Khrushchev American visit there was a general
improvement of atmosphere and people began talking, partly in hope, partly in
some confusion, about “detente.”” There were comparatively conciliatory
speeches on each side; there was progress in the test-ban talks at Geneva; a
new Soviet-United States cultural agreement was signed November 21, and
on December 1 the United States, the U.S.8.R., and other powers signed the
Antaretic treaty.

But clouds began to gather even then. One of the earliest signs was the
strong Soviet protest on November 11 against West German plans to build a
broadcasting station in West Berlin. Another was the Khrushchey speech on
November 14 which wag harder in tone, boasted again of Soviet missile prowess,
and began a concentrated attack on Adenauer and the German Federal Republic
which later increased and seemed to be a central feature of Soviet presummit
tactics. The reason for this attack is still a matter for speculation. Perhaps
they thought it would undermine the Western position on Berlin by helping to
divide the Western Allies. It had no such effect of course, but naturally
rallied us to speak out in defense of our German ally.

Khrushchev as early as December 1 also began repeating his threats to sign
a separate peace treaty with East Germany. He repeated these threats in his
speech to the Supreme Soviet on January 14 and in his remarks during hig visit
to Indonesia and other countries in January: On February 4, the Warsaw
Pact powers issued the first formal blocwide commitment to sign a separate GDR
Peace treaty. Thus Khrushchev’s threatening Baku speech of April 25, though
it was the most sweeping since February 1959, was only a harsher version of
what he had been saying for months before. I shall make full documentation
on his speeches available to the committee.

Not until April did we reply at length to this mounting crescendo of Soviet
statements, We did so in order to keep the record straight—notably in the
speeches of April 4 and 20, which Khrushchev attacked for starting arguments
that he in fact had begun.
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Senator Gore. You will see from this statement, Mr. Secretary,.
that you contradict the President’s statement, do you not?
The President says:

We had no indication or thought that basic Soviet policies had turned about.

From what I have just read, you list one, two, three, four occasions
where the Soviet policy had, in fact, changed.

Do you wish to cornment?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, I would be very glad to comment.

I dor’t think that there is any essential disagreement in the two-
points of view.

I am talking primarily in my statement in regard to Berlin and
Crermany.

The President was talking about a series of things in which he spoke-
of disarmament, mutual inspection, atomic control, and then he added
(termany and Berlin.

As T testified earlier in the day, I think we all had hopes that there-
might be a possibility of making some progress, even though not in
the German-Berlin situation, but in the disarmiament field, and as a.
corollary possibly in the nuclear testing field where it was not a sum-
mit problem, but it would have been a three-power problem that could
have been discussed in Paris,

For instance, so long as there was any hope of making any progress,.
the President was willing to go.

Senator Gore. I didn’t question the President being willing to go:
so long as there was any hope of progress.

What T was asking you to comment on was what appears to me to- 4%
be a contrast between the President’s statement that there is no indi-
cation that basic Soviet policies had turned about, and where you give
almost a full page indicating that they had turned about. But you
have finished your comment on that.

Secretary Hurreg. Yes, there was some talk here about basic policy
and tactics in connection with the summit. I don’t think the President
folt events such as I cited necessarily mean that Soviet basic policy
had changed.

I think as he said after Camp David, he hoped that there was a
mutuality of interest, particularly in the disarmament field, which
would allow the great powers getting together in order to make prog-
ress in disarmament.

That had always been the area in which he hoped, because of the
mutuality of interest, thut. we might make progress. ‘

T don’t think that there is anything fundamentally opposed in these
two statements.

EXTENT OF PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV 'S POWER

Senator Gore. Now, I want to ask a few questions which relate to
the first of the three questions on which I wish to exainine your opin-
jon: that is, whether the diplomatic failure in Paris represented a
failure in policy.

You recall that I submnitted certain questions to you here on March
99. Atthat time T asked you:

Do you think it wouid have been more prudent to have had an understanding
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about the subjects to be considered at a summit conference before agreeing to
have one, or do you think this is the proper way to keep the store?

Secretary HERTER. Itisa gamble. Idon’tknow.

Senator Gore. You are gambling with high stakes, and it seems to me in a
reckless manner. I am disturbed to have the Secretary of State make the

gtatements that you have made today about the summit conference; that there
is mo plan, no purpose, no understanding as to what will be discussed and what
we hope to attain there.

Secretary HERTER. Mr. Senator, I view this as essentially a matter of ex-
ploration. We have the situation where an individual, Mr. Krushchev, is the
man who makes the decisions 8o far as we know, for the Russians.

Later on, I asked you:

Is there any reason why the Russian dictator could not delegate the same
power to his Foreign Minister as President Eisenhower should or does delegate
to you?

Senator HerTER. None.

Senator Gore. Then isn’tthata fallacious argument?

Secretary HeriER. Not necessarily, because you are dealing with an indi-
vidual personality who many believe wants to be the negotiator.

Now. I read those things because one of the principal, if not the

NOow, L Tead > gs o ! )
prineipal, justifications for going to the summit and for the exchange
of visits was that Mr. Khrushchev and he alone spoke for the Russian
people, but today you tell us on page (

T might digress here to observe that it had been our experience at previous
conferences with the Soviets, at least since the death of Stalin, that the Soviet
representative, no matter how highly placed he might be, was bound by the
collective decisions on basic policy matters made prior to his departure from
Moscow. Any substantive changes in those positions apparently required refer-
ence back to Moscow before they could be undertaken.

And then on page 8, yousay:

This meeting completely confirmed our conclusion of the night before that

Mr. Khrushchey wag operating within the fixed limits of a policy set before his
departure from Moscow.

Secretary Hurrer. There appears to be an inconsistency in those
two statements.

When I was te-stif%iing here before, the visits of Mr. Khrushchev in
which sometimes he had an important person with him and sometimes
he did not:

Senator Gore, In which what, sir?

Secretary HEerTER. Sometimes in which he had an important person.
with him and sometimes he did mot, indicated that his situation at
home was such that he had a great deal more leeway than had pre-
viously been the case.

When he went to Paris, and I think this has been brought out, he
had with him Gromyko and Malinovsky, General Malinovsky,
Marshal Malinovsky, who never left him for one moment at any time.
This was a depbarture from previous occasions. This is why we said
i;lhey had gone back to their standard policy of taking directions from

ome.

Prior to that time I had believed he had greater leeway than was
clearly indicated here in Paris.

Senator Gore. Sothe assumption proved to be erroneous.

Secretary Herrer. It is.
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USUAL DIPLOMATIC PROCEDURES VERS(US SUMMIT CONFERENCRS

Senator Goke. 1 belicve you testified before the House, acrording
Lo press reports vesterday, that summitry as a diplomatic methord
had had some hard linocks.

Secretary Hurrer. Yes, I did.

In answer to a guestion from Senator Humplirey. I repeated the
same thing today.

Senator Gore. And in recommending, which I certainly endorse,
continuing businessiike negotiation with the Soviets, yoaur have in mind
the more usual processes and procedures of diplomacy.

Secretary Herrer. That is correet,

Senator Gore. Negotiations.

Secretary Herree. The one thing that T did point. out, however,
15 that with regard to the Berlin situation, Gireat, Dritain, France,
the United States and the Soviet. I'nion have responsibility. This is
the carryover from the war.

Senator Gokrk. Yes.

Secretary Herter. And that there, there must be agreement. This
i5 a thing we have been fighting all the time, that unilateral action by
the Russians cannor take away those rights and obligations which
they as well as ourselves had acquired as a result of the war.

That it must be done by the consent. of the four.

So that. whether or not in the future the discussions 1o reach agree-
ment among the four should take place through diplomatic channels,
through ambassadorial level, through foreign minister or not, I would
not say which would be the level, but T think that it iz much better o~
to see 1f we cannot, as we did in the foreign ministers’ conference, and '
fuiled, try to reach o large measure of agreement prior to the meeting
of a summit conference so that there might be one or two small un-
resolved issues that could be resolved there rather than trying to
negotiate when you know that you are very far apart at a ‘summit
conference.

Senator Gore. Well, I hope that you will persist, and that the
President will persist in the businesslike undertakings. T will not
ask you to say thaf summitry apart from diplomacy failed. 1 am
content with your statement in that regard. I am sorry that I rhink
it did fail.

Secretary Herrer. I would differ with you, sir, on the question of
personal dipomacy as against summitry. I think that. visits ave, on
the whole. useful things.

I wouldn’t say that, that was something that should be discarded
completely, T think it is particularly true that visits of ministers
of foreign affairs, and visits of heads of state from time to time can
accomplish a great deal of good. But I believe very strongly that
insofar as heads of state are concerned that is not the place to begin
negotiations. 1t is the place perhaps where there should be the
culmination of negoriations.

Senator Gore. I will agree with you in that statement. The ex-
change of visits offer~ opportunities.  But the formalization of a head
of state conference, where severe international tensions are involved,
withont. precise planning, withont assurance that at least. Timifed
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agreements can be reached, is, in my view, a dangerous process, and
a policy upon which we should never have embarked.

Of course, it is easier to say that now than it was before.

Hindsight, of course, we learned a long time ago, is better than
foresight.

The CratrMAN. Would the Senator yield for a moment? I have
one or two questions and then he may come back to it.

Senator Gore. Good.

AUTHORIZATION FOR U—2 FLIGIITS

The Crnammax. These I think have been covered but for clarifica-
tion, I might ask them again. Was there ever a time when the Presi-
dent authorized each flight in this program; that’s never been the
yractice.

: Secretary Herrer. Tt has never come up to the President.
" The Crrakman. Nor of the National Security Council.

Secretary HerrER. No.

The Cmamruman. It has always been under a blanket authority
understood ?

Secretary Herrer. That is my impression.

The Cramrmax. Is this blanket authorization under review, either
constant or periodic review ?

Secretary Herrer. In my experience the CIA has planned a num-
ber of alternate flights at a time. [Deleted.]

BACKGROUND OF NASA STATEMINT

The Cramrman. When the Department brought Mr. Bohlen back
from Manila, and he was well-known as an expert on Soviet behavior,
and this was, I thought, in anticipation of these summit meetings
which had been discussed a long time, did he or any other of our
Russian experts advise you or the President to wait and see what Mr.
Khrushchev knew about the U-2 flight before making the NASA
statement ?

Mr. Dirron. The people in the Department who were familiar with
Soviet policy took part in discussions with the CIA which led to the
coordination and the agreement on the guidelines which were given
to NASA, and those included the people who were familiar with all
aspects of our policy.

However, as we said before, we did not know that there was going
to be a full statement by NASA.

The Cuamman. Mr. Bohlen was not consulted about the NASA
statement.

Mr. Dirron. Nobody in the State Department was consulted about
the statement as a statement.

The Caammman. Nobody.

What puzzles me about this is why was there such compulsion, if
there was, to make such an immediate reaction? I have wonde;-ed
why there was any necessity for immediately reacting to the first
Khrushchev statement.

It would seem to me much more normal to wait a while and see
what developed.

. Was there anything that was compelling you to answer almost
immediately ? |
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Mr. Diron. Yes, I would say so. It was such an unusual and re-
markable statement when Mr. Khrushchev said that American plane
had been shot down over the Soviet Union, that we were not in the
position to not make any comment whatsoever.

As a result we had to make some comment, and we made the very
biand statement which was put out on the 5th.

The CuaremaN. | didn’t mean that. You misunderstood me. I
accept the necessity for the cover story, the statement.

Mr. Diurow. Yes.

The CialRMaN. It is the second one that went into such detail. It
would seem to me that it would be commonsense not to follow up too
guickly in the matter of timing. What was_the reason for that?

Mr. Dirron. The State Department’s second statement was innocu-
onstoo. Itdidn’t go into any detail, any more detail than the original
cover story did. There was great—if any detail, that was the state-
ment that was put out hy NASA.

The CramrmMan. Is it not true that the NASA statement itself is
what put you in a position of having to make a further statement ¢

Isthat true?

Mr. Dinrox. The further statement, I think, was the next state-
mient in this series, was the one that was put out on Saturday which
was made only at the time when we knew that the Soviets probably
had the pilot, which was new information, and then the Soviets had
already said they had him, and had said where he was shot down,
and the probability was that they had certain parts of the airplane
bocause the picture which they had first put out turned out to bo a

fraudulent picture. o

BACKGROUND OF DEPARTMENT OF STATE'S STATEMENT OF MAY 7

The Crarrman. Perhaps I don’t understand the timing of it.

Tt seems to me, il I do understand it, that you conld have stood
upon the cover story for some time before the necessity of any further
siatement, awaiting developments.

Mr. DinroN. Yot mean, your question is why we made the state-
nient on Saturday, May 7, which was the first time we departed from
the cover story.

The CHaAlRMAN. Yes, sir.

Secretary Hurrer, That, as I think 1 have testified before, was a
decision that was made in the light of the very full revelation of
Mr. Khrushchev in giving out, both as to the pilot’s testimony, and
as to the parls and equipment that had been recovered. That was
when we had to make the decision were we going to keep on lying
about this or were we going to tell the truth ?

The Cramman. Why there wasn’t a third alternative is what I
am trying to get at?

Why didn’t you just be quiet and say nothing? You don’t have
jnst. the alternatives of either continuing to lie or to tell the truth?

You could have said nothing. I was just curious. Was it ever
considered that you didn’t have toreact ?

Secretary Herrer. A good many statements were already being
wade in Coongress, n good many statements were already being mude
or required of us alrmost.
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The press was hounding everybody, “What do you say now after
~what Mr. Khrushchev had said,” it was a very difficult time 1n our
society, our form of society to have said nothing. ) .

The Cramaman. I believe that was the statement in which you
.said “it has been established that insofar as the authorities are con-
«cerned, there was no authorization for any such flights.” Is that
correct ? o

Secretary Herrer. That is right. : )

The CHARMAN. Which was not a truthful statement at that point,
~was it? :

Secretary Hrrrer. No, this was still partly cover.

The CuatrMaxN. Still partly cover? _

Secretary Herrer. Still partly cover. It was not, until Monday,
.after the briefing had taken place before the congressional leadership
here on the hill that the full statement was made.

The CrratrMan. It was after that statement that the full statement
was made? ‘ :

Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

BACKGROUND OF DEPARTMENT OF STATE STATEMENT OF MAY 9

The CrzatrMan. That full statement, if I understood it—I think
-you have testified—was only after complete and thorough consulta-
‘tion with everyone concerned, and had the unanimous support of
.State and the President ; is that correct ¢

Secretary Herrer. It is, yes.

The CratRMAN. Senator Gore, go ahead.

— Senator Gore. Well, when you made the final statement that the
President did approve, he was responsible—I am not undertaking to
.quote you exactly—you also made it plain that he did not approve
.specific flights ¢

Secretary IIerTER. Yes.

[Deleted.]

BLOW TO UNITED STATES' MORAIL POSITION

Senator Gore. I will wait until Mr. Dulles’ testimony.

Now, I wish to make my own feelings explicit. I have not intended
‘to suggest, nor do I believe the chairman or anyone else has intended
to suggest, that the President or any other official of the U.S. Govern-
‘ment tells a falsehood. I don’t know of any requirement in Anglo-
Saxon jurisprudence or any other jurisprudence stemming from
Roman law that a citizen is required to incriminate himself. I know
-of no requirement that a nation is required to incriminate or denigrate
or defame itself. I do not claim any sense of morals or sensitivity to
moral standards greater than the average American, but I want the
record to show that I was humiliated with official falsification, and I
‘think millions of Americans were humiliated. I can agree with you
that our alliance stood firm. T am happy that it did, but I think we
would be deluding ourselves if we did not realize that this unfortunate
incident has dealt a severe blow to the moral position of the United
States. I think we should begin to mend it. The way to mend it is
to ferret out our errors and our mistakes, correct them, and thereby
demonstrate to the world our will and our capacity to survive this
kind of blow—and I hope be stronger thereafter.
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Wax PRESUMMIT MEETING SUGGESTED *

Tha Criamman. Mr. Secretary, there was one point that I over-
looked. T had heard that Chairman Khrushchev had directly or in-
directly made some inquiry about the possibility of eeting Mr.
Eisenhower before the summit meeting. Do yon know wherher or
not that is so?

Secretary Herrrr, No. 1 know of no such effort.

The Cuamaan. No effort?

Secretary Herter. Actually, Mr. Khrushehev, when he cume to
Parvis. or just before he came to Paris, sent a note to the British and to
the French, T think. Jargely on a procedural matter; no such note to
ns. When the President arrived in Paris, there was Jjust as much op-
portunity for Mr. Khrushehev to seek a meeting witl him as with the
others: and no such effort was made from any Russian source.

MILEFARY PREPARFEDNESS OF THE SOVIET TUNION

The Chairaytan, Mr. Seeretary, have you drawn any inferences
from this whole event relative fo the military preparedness of the
Soviet Union?

Secretary Ierrer. OF course, my judgment would not be as good
as that of experts. And here, again, 1 wouldn’t want to give my
Judgnient, as a considered judgment from the point. of view of the
record.  There s no question but. what the Russians are very active in
cerfain directions, sand rhat the intelligence that has heen gained with
regard to that activity has been of very great value to us. And 1 -~
think that is as far a= T should go. T

The Crramaran. Any further questions?

Senator WiLey. I+ fhe cold war still on or is it over ?

Secrefary Ferrer, It remains to be seen.

Senator Wirey. ‘Then, we had better give primary attention to the
rain issue, instead of anarreling abont who is who and what is what
in relation to handling situations. It was your judgment.; it isn’t my
jndgment. Tt isn’t the business of every little one in the Senate to tell
you what you should do. Tt is your business, sir.

The Camraan. Senator Mansfield, do you have any questions?

Senator Mawnsrrern. No.

Senator Goxrr. O the record, Mr. Chairman.

(Discussion off the record.)

[ Deleted.]

LESSON 01" THE U--2 INCIDENT

The Cramrmax. Mr. Secretary, one last thing. Do yon think we
have learned—not just we, but all of us, including you and the admin-
istration—-anything from the U-2 incident ?

Secretary Herrer. Not to have accidents.

The Civateman. ¥+ that all we have learned ?

Senator Gorr. Not what ?

M. Macomeer. Mot to have accidents.

The Cuamrman. Do you think that is the only lesson we can draw
from these events ?

Secretary Herrex Mr. Chairman, T think that anyone would be
Toolish to say that with hindsight one couldn’t have done better than
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when one is faced with certain events at a given time. I think obvi-
ously we should be giving serious consideration to the very best
method of the handling of anything of this kind that might happen in
the future; and T think from that point of view, as the President said,
we welcome this inquiry. We welcome a full disclosure as far as we
could from the point of view of responsibilities and coordination. I
thank you for your patience here today.

The CrairMan. I want to thank you for your patience and your
frankness and candor. I think you and your associates—Secretary
Dillon and Mr. Bohlen—have been most cooperative in this whole
hearing. I like to think that out of this one—as you know, rather pet
project of mine—is that the State Department itself be given greater
prestige and authority in controlling and coordinating all matters
relating to our foreign relations—as I have tried in the case, for ex-
ample, with the recent instance of control of the black market in
Turkey. I think your Department, the Department of State, ought
to have more authority than we have in the past accorded it. I am
sure that some of our troubles do not relate to any fault on your part,
but to the sort of institutional practices that have grown up—and
people assuming authority to make statements without consulting you
and the Department. I feel at this stage of the proceedings that this
may be one of the good things that will come out of these hearings;
that the prestige and authority of the State Department will be
enhanced.

Secretary Hirrer, Thank you.

The CiraieMmaN. Thank you very much.

Senator Gore. Could I join you in commending the Secretary and

- his assistants for their candor and their patience and their diligence
here today.

Secretary Herrrr. Thank you.

Senator Wirey. May I also join you the third time by saying, in
my humble opinion the evidence and the statement you made and
the statement that Dillon made and the President’s speech show con-
clusively that the breakup of the summit conference was due to Khru-
shchev and no other cause.

The Caarman, Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary.

The committee is adjourned until next Tuesday.

(Whereupon, at 5:55 p.m., the committee recessed, to reconvene
at 10 a.m., Tuesday, May 31, 1960.)

[As noted in the foreword, Allen W. Dulles, Director of the Central
Intelligence Agency, appeared bafore the committee on Tuesday, May
81, at 10 a.m., and testified in executive session. For security reasons,
his testimony was not released to the public. The committee recessed

(;1916M]ay 31 at 5:10 p.m., to reconvene at 10 a.m., Wednesday, June 1,
0.
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WEDNESDAY, JUNE 1, 1960
U.S. SENATE,

ComMITTEE ON FOREIGN RELATIONS,
Washington, D.C.

The committes met at 10:10 a.m., pursuant to recess, Senator J. Ww.
Fulbright (chairman) presiding.

Prosent: Senators Fulbright (presiding), Mansfield, Gore,
Lausche, Wiley, Hickenlooper, Aiken, Carlson, and Capehart.

Also present: Hon. Charles E. Bohlen, Special Assistant to the
Secretary of State; Hon. William B. Macomber, Jr., Assistant Secre-
tary of State for Congressional Relations; Richard Helms, Central
TIntelligence Agency; and Capt. L. P, Gray 111, USN, Military Assist-
ant to the Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Stafl.

The CrarMaN. The committee will come to order,

Our witness this morning is Dr. Jlugh Dryden, the Deputy Admin-
istrator of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration.

T remind members of our committee that today our transcript will
be censored and released to the press. Tomorrow morning at 10 a.m.
ge will meet again in this room in executive session with Secretary

ates.

Dr. Dryden, do you have a prepared statement ?

Mr. Drypen. I have no prepared statement but if the committee
will, I would like to proceed for 10 minutes or so to give you the
background of NASA’s research with the U-2 aircraft.

The Cramrman. All right, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF DR. HUGH L. DRYDEN, DEPUTY ADMINISTRA-
TOR, NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION
(NASA) ; ACCOMPANIED BY JAMES P. GLEASON, ASSISTANT AD-
MINISTRATOR FOR CONGRESSIONAL RELATIONS, NASA

STUDY OF AIR TURRULENCE BY T—2’8

Mr. Drypex. There is an extensive program on air turbulence
which was begun by the National Advisory Committee for Aero-
nauntics (NACA). It is a part of—as far as NASA is concerned, it
it a part of the aeronautical activities transferred to NASA in ac-
cordance with the National Aeronautics and Space Act.

In this program, which began in 1956, there have been 200 weather
flights of U-2 aircraft with NASA and air weather service instru-
mentation covering flights extended over about 264,000 miles. Ninety
percent of this flight time was above an altitude of 40,000 feet, and 40
percent of it, or about 100,000 miles, was above 50,000 feet; and these

109
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flights have been conducied in the Western United States, Western
Europe, Turkey, and Japan.
I'may reeall to your minds that the function of NACA was that
of an ueronautical research agency to support the (Government’s pro-
un i the development of civil aireraft and military aiveraft.

RESEARCIT INFORMATION PRODUCED

———— Ve produced only research information used in the desien of air-

planes.

Omne inportant part of this research information which certainly
is brougit to your mind by some of the recent accidents to atrerafr,
1s that of loads on the aireraft due to atmospheric disturbances or
gusts. There are two types of problems: one illustrated by the ex-
perience of the airplane which recently got canght in thunderstorm
activity is that of the maximum load which the airplane may reach
which may tear the wings from the body.

The other and more insidious type of loading is the repeated load
due to gustiness or rough air that many of von have often encoun-
tered ir flying. These repeated loads produce a type of britile failure .
which we call fatigue failure. This has, as you may recall, been
encountered in one or two types of airplanes and remedied at con-
siderable cost.,

Now, it has been the function of NACA to CATTY ON a program to
furnish the designer information on the magnitude of atmospheric
gusts encountered by airplanes, the frequency of ocernrrence of londs
of different magnitudes. We have been engaged in the general type -~
of activity since 1933 and have data or: all of the civil transports from  F%
that date.

ARRANGEMENTS TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ON AIR TURBULENCE

That, of eourse, gives yon a record of experience with the perform-
ance capabilities of present airplanes, but it was our responsibility
to iry to get this information for airg{lunes Yet fo be built. This meant
that in practice we were always see ing the highest and fastest air-
planes to get information of this kind from, so as to be in advance
of the development of the commercial aireraft.

To do this we made arrangements to get information from military
airplanes.

For example, at the close of World War IT we installed our instri-
ments in the B-36 airplane used then by SAC; and during their
traming operations these instruments continued fo record gusts and
the data were sent to us for analysis.

Now the pattern of operation with the commercial airlines and with
the military has been the same throughout. We meet, with the owners
and operntors of the airplanes—whether an airline or the military
service— come to an agreement with them that our instruments ean
be instalied on their airplanes.

In the early stages we send our instrument technicians to visit and
supervise the installation of the instrumenis. We train employees of
the airlines or the GI's in military——

The Cuamwan. Dr. Dryden, does any of this have any relevance
to the inquiry which this committee is concerned with?
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Mr. DrypeN. It does. We will come to this immediately. We train
our technicians to change the film and send the information to NASA
for analysis. We have no detailed knowledge of the flight plans until
after the fact; and as a matter of record, we obtain information
needed to analyze the data. Observations extend throughout the
world. At the present time we have instruments on Pan American
and TWA jets which, of course, go around the world. We have co-
operated with foreign governments and airlines by lending instru-
mentation.

U—2 OPERATION

Now the U-2 operation is in the same general pattern of operation.
This project was organized in 1956 when [deleted] the capabilities of
this new airplane were brought to our attention. It was able to fly at
altitudes very considerably higher than any existing airplane.

The program has been carried on entirely openly. There have been
three reports issued, unclassified; there have been press releases on
these operations from time to time.

The program was unclassified except that the data which revealed
the airplane could go higher than 55,000 feet were classified. They
will now be declassified since the potentialities of the airplane have
become known.

[Deleted. ]

NETD FOR DATA AT HIGITER ALTITUDES

I must take you back to the atmosphere at the time, These were
the days when the airlines had had DC-6’s and DC-7’s, and Constel-
‘“wr lations. At that time we knew the 707, the DC-8, and the Electra
were under design. We were told that the first of these airplanes
would be developed early in 1959. All of our previous data with air-
planes had been at altitudes generally not too much above 20,000 feet
where these airplanes operated. The new airplanes would operate at
35,000 to 40,000 feet, and the military services were interested in
supersonic airplanes which traveled at much higher altitudes, so that
there was at this time a great pressure on us to find methods of obtain-
ing data, and the presence of the capabilities of the U-2 airplane
seemed to us to give the answer. Some of our advisory committees
at the time were bringing to our attention the great need for this
information. I will simply read one extract, if I can find it quickly
for you, and this committee called our attention to the fact that we
did not have suitable airplanes available.
There are three basic regions within which data are available, below 25,000
feet, up to 30,000 feet with military vehicles, up to 55,000 where meager data

are available from balloons and rockets and inference from meteor trails. Fxist-
ing research vehicles are reaching t_o higher altitudes—

and so on.

It_ is recommended that emphasis be placed on obtaining quantitative infor-
mqtlon on air turbulence at the highest altitudes reasonably obtainable with
existing research vehicles.

[Deleted. ]
. Now this program was carried on from 1956 through the present
time. NASA was established in October, October 1, 1958, and this was
one of the programs carried over into NASA.
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I might recall to you that NACA was not extensively involved in
aeronautical activities, that NASA, at present, is engaged in inter-
national space activities. So far we have not had any adverse reac-
tions on the part of people with whom we are cooperating abroad in
space programs.

I think this gives the general background and I would be glad to
respond to questions or to continue with the NASA chronology of the
week of May 1, as you desire, Mr, Chairman.

The Cramman. Perhaps we ought to proceed with questions.
[Deleted. ]

LINE OF RESPOXNSIBILITY FROM NASA TO THE PRESIDENT

Do you report directly to the President? What is your relation-
ship to the rest of the Government ?

Mr. DrypeN. At that time the NACA was managed by a committee
of 17 persons appointed by the President who did report directly to
him.

I was the chief executive officer reporting to the committee at the
time this project was started.

The Cuarrman. In 195649

Mr. Drypen. 1966,

The CuatrMan. At that time the agency was known as the NACA %

Mr. Drypen. That is correct.

The Cuamrman. When did it change its name to NASA ¢

Mr. Drypex. On October 1, 1958, it not only changed its name but
was collected with other parts of the Government into a completely
new agency, the NASA.

The Cuameman. Does it report to the President?

Mr. Drypen. It reports directly to the President, sir.

The Cuammax. There is a committee of 17 you say?

Mr. Drypex. There is not a committee in NASA. There is an Ad-
ministrator and Deputy Administrator appointed by the President
with the advice and consent of the Senate.

The CHARMAN. Is there anyone on the staff of the White House
who is given the duty of receiving your reports ?

Mr. Drypen. Doctor Glennan reports and talks very frequently
with the President himself. He does keep the Science Adviser fully
informed of our activities in space.

The Cramman. Who isthe Science Adviser

Mr. Drypen. Dr. Kistiakowsky.

The CramrMan. So if anyone has the direct responsibility within
the White House, the office of the Presidency, it is Dr.———

Mr. Drypen. Kistiakowsky. He is the President’s adviser on
science and technology. He fnas no line responsibility. He is an ad-
viser to the President.

REPORT OF U-2’8 LOSS

The Cratrman. The first that you knew of this was the loss of the
U2 plane on May 1? o

Mr. Drypen. May 1 it was reported to the Administrator and my-
self that a U-2 had been lost, without further detail.

[Deleted.]
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ANTICIPATION OF INQUIRIES ABROUT LOSS

The Cuarrman. Did CIA consult with you as to the precise lan-

guage of the release of May 5%
r. DrypEN. What was——

The Cauamman. Who drew up that language?

Mr. Drypen. It was discussed in consultation. The questions the
press asked were: who is the pilot, where was the airplane going, what
mmformation do you have about it ¢

So that between CIA and ourselves, a list of these questions which
we had received was recorded, and the general nature of the answers
to these questions decided upon. Now, let me tell you about the so-
called release of the statement. On the morning of Thursday, May
5, was Khrushchev’s announcement that the plane was shot down.
Somewhero between 11 and 12 o’clock, I believe, the President directed
an inquiry and public report on the missing plane, and as reported
in the Herald Tribune—I do not have any other stenographic record—
in quotes, it says:

At the White House, Mr. Hagerty announced 4t the direction of the President
a eomplete inquiry is being made. The results of these inquiries, the facts as

developed will be made public by the National Aeronautics and Space Adminis-
tration and the Department of State.

BACKGROUND OF THE MAY 5 NASA RELEASE

The reporters who had listened to Mr. Hagerty, many of them,

came immediately to our public information office to obtain further

‘ information. We ourselves thought it was better to take the agreed-
- upon answers to the questions, to write them into a statement, and
give it to them all at once, rather than engage in a general free-for-all

on this subject. I would like to emphasize that the text of that state-

ment as issued was not cleared with CIA or anyone else, although

the information in it, the answers to the questions that are contained

within it, were cleared with CIA, and I am told by them with State.

The CramRMAN. You discussed all of the substantive facts and state-
ments in that with representatives of the CIA ?

Mr. Drypewn. This is correct. It was not intended to give out a
statement. We were confronted with a large group of reporters who
wanted the facts. We could either engage in a general free-for-all
discussion—we thought it preferable to take these facts, put them in
a piece of paper and give 1t to all of them at once.

CLEARANCE OF MAY 5 STATEMENT

The Crammaw. After consulting with CIA, you prepared this state-
ment, and they knew what the statement was ¢

Mr. Drypew. I tried to say before that the statement itself or the
facts that were collected in a statement was not cleared with anyone.

The Cratrman. With anyone?

Mr. Drypen. With anyone but ourselves. The substance of it had
been cleared. The fact that it was written down in a statement on a
piece ofcpa,per was not cleared with anyone,

The Cramrman. Before you issued this to the press, did you have
anyone from the Department of State look at it and approve it ?
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Mr. Drypen. We had no contact with the Department of State.
Onr direct contacts were solely with the CTA.

The Criarrman. Flas no one ever advised you that the Department
of State should be consulted when statements affecting our foreign
policy aremade ?

Mr. Drypen. I was told that these statements had been cleared by
CTIA with State. I did not independently check that, faci.

The Citatkmax. Who told you that?

Mr. Drypex. The CIA people with whom we were dealing, sir.

REASON FOR MENTTIONING OTHER U—2 BASES IN MAY & RELEASE

The Criratrman. What was the reason for saying in vour statement
that these planes were being used in Japan and Turkey and California.
Why were you so specific about Japan and California?

Mr. Drypen., We were asked by the press, “How many U-2 planes
does NASA have in its weather program? Where are they operat-
ing?® Now, much of this had been published in these doenments to
which I referred which had been publicly released. To take a specific
one, one released just a few months ago in June 1959, this has
been released generally, you will find in this that these operations——

The Cnamrman. T don’t wish you to read that memorandum. T
only want to know vour thinking. You issued this without checking
it with the State Department. Why did you state that thev were
operating out of Turkey ?

Mr. Drypex. This published report——

The CrratkMan. You had already published it ?

Mr. DrypeN (continuing). Had said, “These flights were made from
bases at Watertown Strip, Nevada.”

The CiratemMan. I know, but those were weather flighis.

[ Deleted. ]

Mr. Drypen. We had mentioned Adana, Turkey. and Atsugi, Japan,
in this free and open publication.

The Crrateman. Senator Mansfield ¢

GROUNDING OF U-2'8

Senator Mawsriero. Dr. Dryden, have all our U-2's been recalled
since the President’s order of Thursday, a week ago, that there would
be no further overflights of the Soviet Union?

Mr. Dryoen. Not to my knowledge, sir. I believe at the present
time the airplanes are grounded. But I think this is a question again
that the operating people will have to answer.

INCIDENT IN JAPAN

Senator Mansriern. Do you recall the incident which occurred in
Japan some months ago when a U-2, T assume, landed at Atsugi and
GT’s landed from a helicopter and ordered the Japanese civilians in
the area toleave!?

Mr. Drypen. | remember the newspaper accounts of it, I have no
personal knowledge of the incident.

[Deleted.]
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We made arrangements to put instruments in U-2 airplanes. There
comes back to us ﬁ-’ight plans of weather flights, and our instrumenta-
tion and the data from those instruments, and I do not have in ad-
vance knowledge even of the weather flight operations

Senator Mansrierp. I am referring to a story which appeared in
Time magazine 2 or 3 weeks ago. I was seeking collaboration of that
st(iry. But you have no personal knowledge whether it was true or
false?

Mzr. Drypen. I have no personal knowledge of it, sir.

Senator Mansrierp., Your responsibility in these U-2 flights is
primarily observation and calculation concerning weather conditions?

Mzr. Drypen. That is correct, and in those flights made with U-2’s
with our instruments, for our purposes.

CHAIN OF COMMAND TO THE WHITE HOUSE

Senator MawnsrieLp. What is Dr. Glennan’s position? You are
the Administrator of NASA.

Mr. Drypen. I am the Deputy Administrator. I appear because
I was here in 1956 through this program, from the beginning.

Senator MansrieLp. Dr. Glennan is the Administrator ?

Mr. Deypen. He is the Administrator.

Senator Mansrizrp. And Dr. Glennan supposedly reports directly
to the President?

Mr. Drypen. To the President, yes, sir.

Senator MaxsrieLp. Does he or does he not report directly to Dr.
Kistiakowsky ¢

- Mr. Drypen. The President on the average sees him two or three

times a month.

Senator MansrieLp. Where does Dr. Kistiakowsky——

Mr. Drypen. He is a member of the White House staff.

Senator Mansrierp. I know that he is the President’s scientific
adviser.

Mr. Drypen. He is not in the line of command.

Senator MansrizLp. The chain of command is directly from Dr.
Glennan to the President?

Mr. Drypexn. Yes,sir.

Senator MansrieLp. That is all.

The CrarMAaN. Senator Wiley ?

DATE OF COVER STORY

Senator Wiey. What was the date of that cover statement?

. Mr. Drype~. The Turkish story was put out by the local commander
in Istanbul on Tuesday, May 3. The statement which we issued re-
cording the agreed-upon answers to questions was on Thursday, May
5. If I might just continue this, on Friday, May 6, a NASA U-2 air-
plane was flown at Edwards Air Force Base, exhibited to the press,
they saw the instruments that were used. They took movies of the
airplane. On Saturday, May 7, Mr. Khrushchev reported that he
had the pilot. At 6 p.m. State issued a statement admitting the recon-
naissance flight,

At 6:30 NASA directed all further inquiries to the State Depart-
ment.
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Senator WiLey. l.et’s get back to my question. What was the date
of the cover statement that the chairman has been talking about?

Mr. Drypen. The 5th, as I understand it, sir.

[ Deleted.]
~ Senator WiLey. NASA is primarily engaged in seeking weather
information.

Mr. Drypen. We have no intelligence activities either in the de-
velopment of devices, methods, instruments or operations.

CLEARANCE OF MAY 5 STATEMYNT

Senator WiLey. My understanding is that this cover statement was
the result of previous interrogation %y the press.

Mr. Drypen. That is correct.

Senator Wirey. When you issued it, you did not consult with Cen-
tral Intelligence?

Mr. Drypex. Not on the statement itself but all of the questions
had been taken up with them. We had no source of information. We
asked how shall we reply to the name of the pilot, to the flight plan
of the airplane, and the answers as given us are incorporated in the
statement, although the exact text was not read back to CIA.

PUBLIC RELFASES ON U—2 WEATHER FLIGHTS

Senator WiLey. You referred to some publicity that was issued, I
think you said, in 1959.

Mr.  Drypen. Well, the first press release on our /-2 project was
released on May 7, 1956.

Senator WiLey. You held up a biue docket referring vo 1959.

Mr. Drypen. Yes, this is some of the results.

Senator WiLeY. Has that been made public?

Mr. DrypeN. Yes.

Senator Wirey. ()n what pages is the part you referred to, because
I want it in the record. I want to try to get this story simple and
clear.

Mr. Drypex. On page 8 of this NASA memorandum which car-
ries a number, 4-17 591, the flights were made from bases at Water-
town Trip, Nev., Lakenheath, England, Wiesbaden, Germany, Adana,
Turkey and at Atsugi, Japan. Two additional flights were made
from a base in Alaska and these data have been combined with those
from Japan in the statistical treatment.

Senator WiLeEy. Yes. You agree that that has been public in-
formation now for some t.ime?

My. DrypEN. Yes.

Senator WiLey. Since 1959°¢

Mr. Drypex. And even earlier, I think in 1957—37, one of them
deals with the western part of the United States only, and 1 believe
that 1959 is the one which gives the list, yes, sir.

June of 1959.

[ Deleted. |

Senator Wirey. That is all.

The Cnarman. Senator Gore?

[ Deleted.]
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REASON FOR NASA STATEMENT

Senator Gore. In response to a question by me, Secretary Dillon
testified as follows:

No, it was decided when we first heard of this, this news, as I said earlier this
morning, at this National Security Council meeting or right after it that was
held outside of Washington, that the State Department would handle the pub-
Ueity on this, and that we would make any statement that would be made, and
it was known at that time that we would make a statement.

That leads me to wonder why NASA was making a statement at
all.

Mr. Drypewn. This information, this decision of which you speak
was not transmitted to us. I would like to remind you that this is
all within a few hours. The information we had was a statement
made at the White House which I read to you that the reporters were
referred to NASA and the State Department for the facts and this was
the extent of my knowledge when the statement was issued.

NASA UNAWARE OF DECISION TO LET STATE. DEPARTMENT
HANDLE PUBLICITY

Senator Gore. Then you did not know that a high level decision
had been made that the State Department would make whatever
statement was made with respect to this.

Mr. Drypen. That is correct. Within the 3 hours or so of this inter-
val, this was not passed to us, and I would again say that so far as
we were concerned the cover story was in effect as the result of the
collaboration with CIA for the period from May 1 to May 7, and we
did nothing, we said nothing contrary to the agreed on facts relating
to the cover story.

Senator Gore. When did you first learn of this high level decision
that the State Department would make whatever statement was made
and would handle the publicity on this matter?

Mr. Drypen. 1 thin}l){ that after the statement was issued, there were
some calls as to—I do not know how to place the time. The only
thing I have been able to find in our records is an instruction to our
¥eople as of Saturday to refer all inquiries to the State Department.

believe that before that time, there had been some discussions of
why the statement had been issued by us, and I have explained the
reasons for that.

Senator Gore. I will get to that in a moment. When did you first
know that the decision had been made, to which Mr. Dillon referred,
that the State De%artment would make statements and would handle
the gublicity on this matter? You say you were not informed that
the decision had been made at the time you made your statement.

Mr. Dryoen. It was subsequent to the day of May 5, May 6, or
May 7. I have a record of May 7. After the State Department’s
statement at 6 p.m., that NASA would refer all inquiries to the State
Department, I believe we were informed, probably on Friday the 6th,
but I haveno specific record.

Senator Gore. Who informed you ?

Mr. Drypen. I think it was a telephone call. T just do not have
a specific recollection whether it came as a telephone call or a contact
with Dr. Glennan at lunch at the White House. I just do not recall,
sir.
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We can perhaps elear that up for the record after consultation, sir.
Senator Gore, | think it would be well if you can do so.
(The following information was subsequently furnished :)

STATEMENT BY DR, DrYpEN oN WHEN NASA was NOTIFIED oF DECISION T0o HAVE
DEPARTMERT OF STATE HawpLeE PunLicity oN U-2

The telephone logs of Dir. Glennan and myself show no calls to or from the
State Department on May 6 or 7, but it is my best recollection that we did learn
of the decision on May 8.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS PREPARED TO HHANDLE INQUIRIFS

You have referred several times to questions and answers, or the
answers to questions as the case may be, supplied to you by CIA. Do
you have a copy of that question and answer series?

Mr. Drypen. We may have some rough notation. What we did
was record the types of questions that the press was asking us. We
then took these types of questions to the CTA and discussed them with
them as to the answers,

[ Deleted.]

Senator Gorr. Was there not a typewritten copy ¢

Mz, Drypex. To the best of my knowledge, no.

Senator Giorr. But you do have some notes.

Mr. Drypex. The statement itself enables you to reconstruct the
questions. They are generally who was the pilot, what was the flight
plan, where was the airplane supposed to go, what was the route, how
many airplanes does NASA operate on weather missions, from what
bases have these airplanes been operating? I think you can reconstruct ™
the questions from the statement itself. T am not sure whether we
can find the notes that someone may have written down to refresh his
memory i discussing 1it.

INSTRUCTIONS TO NASA T MAKE STATEMENT

Senator Gore. Who instructed your Agency to make a statement.?

Mr. Drypen. We were instructed to answer guestions.

Senator Gogrk. By whom?

Mr. Dryoprx. By the CIA, who said that this had been coordinated
with the State Department.

Senator GGoxr. And the CIA gave you instructions to respond to
Juestions ?

Mr. Drypex. We asked for information. The operation was not
ours. We had no knowledge of the operation itself. We said, “How
shall we reply to these questions? You realize the fact that we did
not know very much about where this airplane was, whether the
Russians have the airplane, whether they have the pilot. What do
vou want us to sav in this interim period? Can we find out more
about it #"

Senator Gore. You felt the burden of saying something, did vou?

Mr. Drypen. We felt the burden of answering guestions because
for 4 vears the existence of this NASA weather flight program had
neen known.
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WIHEN WERE COUNTERMANDING INSTRUCTIONS RECEIVFAD?

Senator Gore. And, meanwhile, no one informed you that the
decision had been made at the highest levels of Government that the
State Department would handle this? )

Mr. Drypen. The discussions I referred to, the visits of the press,
were made within an hour or two of the making of that decision at a
place outside of Washington, and it was not communicated to us
within that 2-hour period.

Senator Gore. You have told us it wasn’t communicated to you at
all.

Mr. Dryoen. Until the following day.

Senator Gore. Until after you had made a statement ?

Mr. DrypeN. A statement. To get the chronology again, this meet-
ing to which you refer, at which the decision was made, was on the
morning of May 5, somewhere between 11 and 12 o’clock. A decision
was made and Mr. Hagerty informed the press at the direction of
the President that the facts would be obtained through NASA and
State. The reporters came immediately over to our public informa-
tion section wanting to know some of these facts.

Senator Gore. Do you know whether either Mr, Iagerty or Presi-
dent Eisenhower had been informed of this decision reached outside
Washington?

Mr. Drypen. I think the President was outside Washington at the
time.

Senator Gorr. It seems to me that I recall the President participated
in this conference.

-’ Mr. Drypen. I just do not know the details of that. I think it was
given in the testimony of the Secretary of State.

Senator Gorm. Wasn’t that a meeting of the National Security
Council ¢

Mr. DrypeN. I do not know that, to my knowledge. The statement
was made that Mr. Eisenhower was at secret Civil Defense Head-
quarters.

Senator Gore. Will you repeat that ?

Mr. Drypen. I say the statement says that President Eisenhower
was at his secret Civil Defense Headquarters.

REFERENCE TO MR. DILLON’S TESTIMONY REGARDING NASA’S ROLE

Senator Gorz. I will read from Mr. Dillon’s statement:

Now, Mr. IHagerty was not at the Security Council meeting, but he was at
that area out there where this exercise was taking place and so he was aware
of the fact that the State Department would be making a statement at moon
that day at our regular press conference time, Actually, the statement was
delayed 45 minutes., It was made at 12:45 when our regular daily press con-
ference took place.

Senator Gore. Was it decided there that NASA would make a statement also?

Mr. DmroN. It was not, to my knowledge, no. It was not decided there
that NASA would make a statement.

Senator Gore. Who made that decision?

Mr. Dizrown. I think that you have to ask NASA. I don't know who made any
such decision.

Soyousay you decided upon instructions of CIA ?
Mr. Drypexn. No.
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Senator Gore. Just how do you state it ?

Mr. Drypen. I stated that we had received word of the White
House announcement that the facts will be made public by NASA
and the Department of State. Now, this means I suppose that within
this 2- or 3-hour period this information was not. transmitted to us.
I donot know the reasons.

Senator Gore. Do vou know if Mr. Hagerty called you or Mr.
BOS m;,y or anyone in the Department suggesting that a statement be
made?

Mr. Drypex. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Senator Gore. My time is up.

The Caamrman. Yes. Senator Hickenlooper?

NASA ACTION RASED ON PREVIOUS UNDERSTANDING WITH CIA

Senator Hickeyroorer. Dr. Dryden, when the newsmen came to
the Information Department of NASA, did the Information Depart-
ment act on its own ¢ ‘

Mr. Deypen. No, they did not. They acted in consultation.

Senator Hickenrvooper. With yout

Mr. Drypen. With me; yes, sir.

Senator Hickexrtooper. Was it in connection with that consulta-
tion, based upon the information which you then had about Mr. Hag-
erty’s statement, that you authorized the issuance of the statement by
the ITnformation Service of NASA?

Mr. Drypex. It was called a memorandum to the press. I did not
attribute sufficient importance to the distinction between answering  #%a
questions of reporters and giving them the same information on &
piece of paper.

Senator Hickexroorrr. After you had made the statement, or your-
Information Departinent issued this statement, was this statement
sent to the CIA or the State Department ?

Mr. Drypen. It was sent—1I do not know exactly what time.

Senator Hrickentoorer. And was the statement which was issued
by vour Information Department—perhaps you have answered this:
question-—cleared with CIA in its context or with the State Depart-
ment, prior to the issuance by your Information Serviee?

Mr. Drypen. I have answered that. The statement, as written,.
was not, cleared.

The information in the statement had been previously cleared by
CIA, with State.

Senator Hickrxvoorrr. So that the statement was based, then,.
wpon the understandings which had previously been had?

Mr. Drypen. This is correct.

Senator HickeNroorrr. With CTA?

Mr. Deypex. This is correct.

Senator Hickentoorkr. And with the State Department?

Mr. Drypen. Nothing—no substantive information was added to it..

Senator Hickexroorer. Just to get this cleared up a little bit, after:
vou learned of the statement of Mr. Hagertv—which I believe was
the source of vour determination to make the May 5 statement-—after:
vou had learned of that statement of Mr. Hagerty that NASA and
the State Department could give information on this matter, did yow
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get in touch with the White House, Mr. Hagerty, or any authorita-
tive person there, or with the State Department ? )

Mr. Drypex. I did not. I say I perhaps erroneously did not see
the difference between answering questions of a large number of
reporters and putting the same thing down on a piece of paper. It
is the same information.

Qenator HicxenLoopEr. I believe that isall, Mr. Chairman.

The Cuamman. Senator Lausche?

Senator HicxmNroorer. I wanted to ask you for a copy of that
statement.

Mr. Drypen. The committee has it already.

Senator HrcxeNLoorEr. 1 understand it 1s in the background docu-
ments. That is all right.

The Crairman. It is in the background documents.

(See appendix 1, p. 180.)

NO WRITTEN MEMORANDUM OF QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Senator Gore. Also, I believe you were going to supply to the chair-
man the question and answer series.

Mr. Drypen. I was going to see if there is around, a penciled
memorandum of the questions. I am not sure that there is.

Senator Gore. If there is?

Mr. Drypen. Ifthereis, I will supply it to the chairman.

(The following information was subsequently furnished :)

No memorandum of questions and answers was made; the discussion was
entirely oral.

NASA’S LACK OF KNOWLEDGE OF U—2 FLIGHT

The CuamrMawn. Senator Lausche, the NASA statement is found on:
page 4 of the background documents.

[ Deleted. ]

Senator LavscuE. At the time you issued your statement you did
not have knowledge of what the Soviet knew about it and what actu-
ally happened ¢

Myr. Drypen. Wedid not.

Senator Lauscie. Did you have knowledge of the instructions that
were given to the pilot?

Mr, Drypen. No,sir. Noknowledge about the operations.

Senator Lauvscar. And that is——

Mr. Drypen. We heard Khrushchev’s press announcement, of
course, that morning.

Senator Lauscue. I think that is all that T have with this witness.

The Crareman. You think that your position as an international
weather gatherer hasbeen compromised by this U-2 incident ?

Mr. Drypen. Not so far. [Deleted.]

(From this point on all further testimony on this date was classified
by order of the committee.)

(At 12:15 p.m., the committee adjourned, to reconvene at 10 o’clock
a.m., June 2, 1960.)
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THURSDAY, JUNE 2, 1960

U.S. SzNATE,
CoMMITTEE ON FOREIGN RELATIONS,
Washington, D.C.

The committee met at 10:10 a.m., pursuant to recess, Senator J. W.
Fulbright (chairman) presiding.

Present: Senators Fulbright, Humphrey, Mansfield, Morse, Long,
Gore, Wiley, Hickenlooper, Aiken, Capehart, and Carlson.

Also present: Brig. Gen. George S. Brown, U.S. Air Force, and
Capt. Means Johnston, Jr., U.S. Navy, military assistants to the
Secretary of Defense; Capt. L. P. Gray III, U.S. Navy, military
assistant to the Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff: Hon. Charles E.
Bohlen, Special Assistant to the Secretary of State; Hon. William B.
Macomber, Jr., Assistant Secretary of State for Congressional Rela-
tions; Richard Helms, Central Intelligence Agency.

CITAIRMAN’S OPENING STATEMENT

The CrrairMan. The committee will come to order.

We have this morning the Honorable Thomas S. Gates, Jr., the
Secretary of Defense.

Mr. Secretary, 1 think you know about the regulations. Your
testimony will be taken down but nothing will be released except
that which has been passed by the censors representing the State
Department and the CIA, and I assume perhaps you may want to
consult with them.

I think you understand that.

Secretary (ates. Yes, sir.

The Cuaairman. I understand you have a statement.

Secretary Gares. A very brief statement.

The Cuamman. All right, Mr. Secretary, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE THOMAS S. GATES, JR,,
SECRETARY OF DEFENSE

Secretary Garns. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opportunity to
appear before you.

T have a short statement, if T may read it. Tt relates to two sub-
jects. TFirst, I am certain that you wish me to cover the role played
by the Department of Defense in the U-2 overflight program.
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ROYE o1 THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE IN THE OVERFLIGHT PROGRA™M

Eiements of the Department of Defense gave technical advice to
the U-2 project. No military aireraft were used for these ilights
nor were the pilots military personnel.

Fron: time to time, the Director of the CIA, after obtaining the
~ocurrence of the Secretary of Defense and the Socretary of State,

mmended a series of programs to the President.
fore -pecifically, 1 reviewed program proposals embracing sev-
E it was proposed to

A———————— I priority missions, one or more of whic
' executte in 1he near future. Responsibility for the operational con-

duet of e program rested with tjm CIA.
We obvionsly were interested in the results of these flights as we
are in all of our Natiow’s intelligence collection results.

FLIGHTS GAVE VITAL INFORMATION

For example, from these flights we got information on airfields,
aircraft, missiles, missile testing and training. special weapons stor-
age, submarine production, atomic production and aireraft deploy-
ments, and things like these.

These were all types of vital information. These results were con-
sidered in formulating our military programs. We obviously were
the prime customer, and ours is the major interest.

TEST OF MILITARY COMMUINICATIONS

Secondly, on a separate subject :

One incident, and one over which [ assume full responsibility, is
the calling of a test of the readiness of our military communiecations
from Puris. In view of the fact that mv action in this matter has
been subject. to some speculation, I would like to give you the facts.

First of all, our military forces are always on some degree of alert.
So it is merely a matter of moving this degree or condition of alert
up or down the seale. On Sunday night, May 15, we were already
aware of the sense of the statement which Mr. Khrushchev was going
to make the following morning. The cenditions which he had set
for his participation in the conference made it apparent even at the
time that he deliberately intended to wreck the conference.

This eominunieations alert was not an act that was either offensive
or defensive in character. It was a sound precautionary measure.
It did not. recall Army, Navy, Air Force, and Marine personnel from
leave. There was no movement of Jorces involved. However, I want
to emphasize that it did make certain that, if subsequent developmerits
made necessary a higher state of readiness. such action could be taken
promptly and convineingly.

Under Lhe cirenmstances it seemed most prudent to me to increase
the awarenes=s of our unified commanders. Moreover, since the com-
mand and individuals concerned in the decision process, including
the President, the Secretary of Stute, and myself, were overseas, it
was important to check out our military communications, At about
midnight, Paris time, Sunday night, T requested that a quiet increase
in command readiness, particularly with respect to communications,
be instituted without public notice, if possible.
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One phase of our testing is to call no-notice exercises of our com-
mand communications. While some commands went further in exe-
cuting the instructions issued by the JCS as a result of my message
than I had anticipated, I consider the order proper and absolutely
essential. In similar circumstances I would take exactly the same
action.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

The Cizarrman. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

PRESUMMIT DISCUSSION REGARDING SUSPENSION OF FLIGHTS

Mr. Secretary, did you or any of your aides participate in any con-
ference prior to May 1 regarding the U-2 flights?

Secretary Gares. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I was some weeks before
May 1 briefed on the preliminary results of the April 9 flight. At
that time, I was informed of a program of possible flights, one of
which would be selected to be flown, and I gave my approval of that
program. .

The Crairman. Was anything said at that time about a moratorium
in view of the summit conference?

Secretary Gates. No, sir.

The Crarrman. Who participated in that conference?

Secretary Gares. That conference was in my office in the Pentagon,
and was between myself and a man from CIA.

The Crmamrman. Was anyone in the State Department present ?

Secretary Gartes. No, sir.

The Cmamman. Do you know whether the State Department was

“w’/ advised specifically of the plans for the May 1 flight?

Secretary Gares. I don’t know from my own knowledge, but I am
perfectly certain that the Secretary of State was advised of the pro-
gram as I was.

The Cuamman. You didn’t advise him nor was he represented at
that meeting ?

Secretary Gates. No, sir.

The CrratrMaN. And no one raised the question of whether or not
there should be a suspension ?

Secretary Gartus. No, sir. In this conversation, it was a private
conversation between the CIA representative and myself, and T was
asked for my advice or approval of the program and I gave it.

The Crstrman. I understand that, but I merely meant that the
question of whether or not there should be a suspension in view of the
upcoming summit was not raised ; is that correct ?

Secretary Garns, Not raised between the two of us, no, sir.

The Crzatrman. Was it raised at any time ?

Secretary Gares. T didn’t have any other discussions about the
flight with anyone, Senator Fulbright.

The Cramyan. Then so far as you know, it was not raised ?

Secretary Gatus. Yes, sir.

QUESTION OF ANY PRIOR SUSPENSION OF FLIGITTS

The CrammaN. To your knowledge, were any flights prior thereto
ever suspended because of political meetings, that is, other than
weather or military considerations ¢

Secretary Gates. I have no knowledge of any suspension of any
flights for those purposes.
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The Cuamman. There was no suspension to your knowledge when
the Camp David ineeting took place?

Secretary Garns. No, sir.

The Criatrmax. Nor was there any suspension, so far as you know,
during the period in which Khrushchev visited the United States?

Secretary (Games, T don’t know of any suspension. 1 don’t know
precisely whether during that period we flew any Hights, Mr. Chair-
mar.

The Cuamman. No, but I mean you didn’t discuss the question ?

Sccretary Gares. 1 didn’t discuss the question of suspension of
flights, no, sir.

The Cuamryax. Since vou never considered it, then you had no
position relative to the continuation, did you?

Secretary Garis. 1 approved this program, so L took a position
affirmatively.

SRIGNIVICANCE TO DEFENSE DEPARTMENT OF SUSPENSION OF FLIGHTS

The CuramrMan. Were the results of these flights important to the
Defense Departinent?

Secretary Garis. The results were very important to the Defense
Depariment.

The Crtatkman. Very useful to you?

Secretary (GaTes. Yes, sir,

The Cuamrman. Do you regard it as an important loss that the
flights have now been suspended ¢

Secretary Gares. 1 think that, through becoming compromised, we
have Jost an important source of intelligence. It has been a very
successful program over the past.

The Cramsan. Then it is a greaf loss from vour point of view not
to have available any further fHights: is that correct ¢

Secretary Gares. 1 think if we had been able to continue them with-
out. having been caught and therefore compromised the source, it
wonld have been most useful.

RUSSTAN KNOWLEDGE OF THYE FLIGIYS

The Crraieman. Mr. Gates, did Khrushehev, or the Russians, know
of overflights prior to May 1¢

Secretary Gares. e says he did.

The CrratrMaN. Well, what do you think?

Secrctary Gares. 1 believe that he did, Mr. Chairman, but T don’t
believe anyone could specitically prove it. Dut I believe that he did.
1 believe he told the truth.

The CrratrMan. 1f he knew about it, why did the incidents of May
1 compromise the Hights: why should they be discontinued ¢

Seerctary Gares. Welly I don’t believe he knew the exact type and
characier of the flights. e probably—all he knew was that they
were [deleted | aireraft high in his sky.

KNOWLEDGE OF PRESIDENT AND SECRETARY OF STATE RE ORDER FOR ALKRT

The ('HatRMAN. On vour order on May 15, your alert, did you con-
sult the Department of State before ordering it

Secretary Gares. No. 1 advised the Secretary of State, who was
with the President when it was issued.

s
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The Cmamrman. Did you advise him before you issued it?

Secretary Garus. He was advised before it was released yes, sir.

The Cmamrman. Was his opinion asked or was he merely advised
of it?

Secretary Gares. Well, T told him that T was about to issue a com-
munications alert, and the communication readiness exercise.

The Crmatrman. He approved of it.

Secretary Gares. ITe did not register any disapproval.

The Crxatrman. Well then he approved it.

Secretary Gares. 1 think so, yes, sir.

The Crmamrman. Was that Mr. Herter ?

Secretary Garus. Yes, sir,

The Cramrman, InParis.

Secretary GaTus. Yes, sir.

The Cramrman. Did you advise the President ?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

The Cramrmax. Before it was made ?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

The Crramrman. Wasthe NSC consulted about the alert ?

Secretary Gates. No, sir.

MEETING OF MAY 9

The Cramryan. Mr. Gates, did you participate in any meeting on
May 7 to consider the statement which was later issued by the Secre-
tary of State ?

ecretary Gares. No, sir.
- The Cizatkman. Oron May 92

Secretary GaTrs. Yes, sir.

On May 9, that is Monday, T believe, T participated in a meeting in
the office of the Secretary of State.

On the morning of the 9th.

The Crramman. Did you approve of the statement made in which
the full revelation was made?

Secretary Garms. I approved of the statement that was made on
May 9, yes, sir.

The Crrarrman. Who was present at that meeting ?

Secretary Gares. Well, I know that Mr. Douglas and myself were
present from the Department of Defense. Mi. Herter and Mr. Doug-
las Dillon, and Mr. Kohler were present, I think Mr. Bohlen was pres-
ent from the State Department, there may have been one or two others.

The Crramrman. Did that meeting go on for some time ?

Secretary Gares. I would say about an hour.

The Caairman. About an hour.

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

PRESIDENTIAL RESPONSIBILITY DISCUSSED

The CriatrMan. Was the question of whether or not it was wise for
the President to take responsibility discussed at that meeting ?

Secretary Gares. - Yes, sir.

The Crramman. What was your position ?

Secretary Gates. My position was that he should take responsi-
bility.
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The Clizalrmax. Was the meeting unanimous?

Secretary Gares. 1 believe it was.

The Cuamman. They all agreed ?

Secretary GaTes. Yes, sir.

The Crramman. It went on about an hour.

Secretary Gatrs. Well, I would say at least an hour, Senator.

The CrimmaN. Well, did it go on more than an hour?

Secretary Gares. Well, T am talking about my recollection. I would
think it was at least 1 hour. Perhaps it was longer.

STATEMENT Y NASA

The CHammax. Was the statement issued by NASA on May 5
cleared with your office ?

Secretary Gares. No, sir,

The CHAIRMAN. You didn’t know anything abont it.

Secretary Gates. No, sir.

The CrammaN. Have you had any relations with NASA?

Secretary GaTrs. No, sir, not in this connection.

The CratryaN. | mean in connection with the U-2 flight.

Secretary Gatzrs. No, sir.

The Cmamman. Were these U-2 flights under your direct con-
trol in the field, that is, under the Air Force direct control in the field?

Secretary GaTes. No, sir, they were under the control of the CIA.
[Deleted.]

INTITIAL STATEMENT BY AIR FORCE IN TURKEY

The Cramman. ow did it happen the Air Force made the initial o~
statement of the missing plane?

Secretary GaTes. That was a part of the cover story that was de-
cided upon and they issued this statement from the base in Turkey
about a plane being missing.

The Cuarryan. Well, does that indicate that you had arrived ahead
of time in concert with the CIA upon proper procedure to be followed
in case of a mishap?

Secretary GaTes. I was not familinr with the details of how a cover
story would be executed. T was aware of the fact that a cover story
existed, and I imagine that when the details of it were put into
operation, the Central Intelligence Agency went to work.

The Crrammax. [t was not your responsibility to supervise the cover
story ?

Secretary Gates. No, sir.

The Cramyax. My timeisup. Senator Gore?

MEETING OF THE NATIONAL SECURITY COUNCIL, MAY 5

Senator Gore. Mr. Secretary, you are a member of the National
Security Council.

Secretary Gates. That is right, Senator.

Senator Gore. Did vou attend the meeting of the Couneil held on
May 5¢

Secretary Gares. Yes,sir

Senator Gorm. Did the President participate in that conference?

Secrctary Gares. At the meeting of the NSC?

Senator Gore. Yes.

Secretary Garrs. Yes, sir.
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Senator Gore. Was the cover story discussed there?

Secretary Gares. No [deleted], Senator. ]

There was a meecting of the small group after the NSC meeting

Senator Gore. Did you participate?

Secretary Giares. Where we discussed the Khrushchev statement. 1
participated with the President. It was not at the NSC meeting.

Senator Gore. At this conference in which Mr. Khrushchev’s speech
was discussed, was the cover story discussed ?

STATE DEPARTMENT TO HANDLE RELEASES ON SUBJECT

Secretary Gares. Well, I think it was discussed in a general manner
but not in detail. It was decided at that meeting that the responsi-
bility for all releases pertaining to this matter would be handled by
the Department of State. . .

Senator Gore. Was there any discussion at this meeting of the
-advisability of telling the truth ?

Secretary GaTes. I think I made a statement in that meeting, some-
thing to the effect that the prestige of the Presidency should not be
involved in an international lie particularly when it would not stand
up with respect to the facts. But that was the extent of the discussion.
"There was no decision.

STATE DEPARTMENT’S COVER STORY

Senator Gorn. After this observation on your part, the State
Department did issue a statement that was not true; is that the case?
- Secretary Gates. I think

Senator Gore. Well, the record shows——

Secretary Garus. I think they issued a statement, that is right. I
‘think they issued a part of the cover story statement after that meet-
ing; yes, sir.

enator Gore. So there was no decision—although the question of
involvement of the Presidency in what you call an international lie
was discussed, and you expressed your view that it would be an unwise
thing to involve the President in the cover story or in an interna-
tional, an official falsehood ?

Secretary Gares. If it turned out that Mr. Khrushchev had all the
facts, which we subsequently found out that he had; yes.

QUESTION OF THE PRESIDENT ASSUMING RESPONSIBILITY

Senator Gore. How did you think his involvement or his association
with this incident in its ramifications could be avoided by an assump-
tion of responsibility by the President for the program ?

Secretary Gates. I believe the President did assume responsibility,
and T believe he should have assumed responsibility.

Senator Gore., Let me see if I understand you correctly. I cer-
tainly do not wish to make any implication at all. I do not wish to
Impute to you any meaning which you did not intend. Did I correctly
understand you to say that this question was discussed at a small
meeting following the NSC meeting on the 5th at which you partici-
pated as did the President ?

Secretary Gares. That is correct, sir.

Senator Gore. Who else participated ¢
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~Secretary Gares. Mr. Douglas Dillon, Mr. Allen Dulles, Mr. (Yordon
Giray, and General Goodpaster.

Senator Gore. At this meeting, you expressed the view that it would
bhe nnwise for the I’resident to be involved in an international lie,
i believe vou desceribed ir., '

Secretary Gares. That is right.  This depended on what Mr. Khru-
<hchev knew, when he knew it and if he knew everyihing that he
claimed to know. It turned out later he did. T believe that the
President should take the responsibility for the trnth, {or telling the
truth,  That is my opinion. T did not know specifically at that time
the extent of Mr. Khrushchev's knowledge.

Senator (zoxe. You have amended your

Secretary Gares. | didn’t mean to be evasive, Senafor,

Senator Gore. T understand, but vou have now amended, and T
would bke to clarify, if T may. T know you are not trying to be
evasive and I assure vou that 1 am only seeking to develop the facts
as they existed. The Grovernment. has full leeway, so far as 1 am
concerned, to exercise censorship for security.

Now, when you oxpressed the view that the Presidency should not
be involved in an mrternational lie, did you at that time, on the 5th,
suggest the President should assmme responsibility, or was this on the
“th or the 9th that you expressed that additional view?

Secretary (Gaves. 1t was on the--I had no more meetings on the
-uflbje('t until the 9th, Senator. That meeting was with the Secretary
of State.

OUTCORME OF DISCUSSTONS ON MAY 5

Senator Gore. Did you express the view on the 5th that the Presi-
dent. should assume responsibility or did you express that view on
the 9th ?

Secretury Gares. 1 expressed the view on the 5th that if Mr. Khru-
shehev had the complete information and the pilot, that the President
shonld assert the true story.,

I expressed it again on the 9th when we knew that he had the plane
and the pilot. [ Deleted. |

Senator Gore. You were informed that Mr. Khrushchev had made
the publie speech with vespect to the plane, that it was shot down or
that it came down in the vicinity of Sverdlovsk ¥

Secrotary Gares. Yes. I am not sure of my timine, Senator. We
lnew some information on the 5th, but we knew a great deal more a
day later. He didn’t report the full story until the Tth.

Senator Gore. T understand. 1 am only trying to develop the back-
eround of information——

Secretary GATrs. Yes, sir.

Senator Gore. Arnd the decision that was miade. Although wvou
expressed these views, and although this information was in the hands
uf or was discussed in the conference———

Secretary GaTes. Some information was in our hands.

Senator Gore. The information which you have described ¢

Secretary Garrs. Yes.

" Senator Gore. I an perfectly willing for you to describe it.

Secretary GATes. Yes, sir.

Senator Gorr, I have no description of it except as you give it to
me. The decision was not reached at this meeting ?
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Secretary Gares. That is correct. i
Senator Gore. A decision to tell the truth was not reached at this
meeting on the 5th?

STATE DEPARTMENT TO HANDLE ALL GOVERNMENT RELEASES ON
SUBJECT

Secretary Garres. That is right, Senator. The only decision that
was reached at that meeting was that all the statements pertaining to
‘the incident would be handled by the Department of State.

Senator Gors. What information was the State Department to give ?
"Was it specifically understood at the meeting that the cover story
would be continued ?

Secretary Gates. Yes; I think it was assumed that the cover story
‘would be continued at that time.

Senator Gore. And the cover story was untrue?

Secretary Gates. Yes, sir. It turned out to be untrue. I mean,
yes, because it was untrue. We didn’t have the full facts that we
had 2 days later.

The Ciramrmax. The Senator’s time has expired.

The Senator from Wisconsin.

Senator WiLey. Mr. Secretary, I have listened to this interroga-
tion. Now see if you can’t tell us the story without questioning,
starting in when you first became acquainted with the facts, who was
there, what wag said, and then go on.

For instance, we have heard so many statements about something
not being true. Now this release on May 5 was the cover story,

- wasn’t it?

Secretary (Garms. Yes, sir.

Senator WiLey. When did you first get acquainted with the situa-
‘tion? Start in the beginning and give it consecutively so that it
will be clear.

CIIRONOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

Secretary Gares. I first got involved in the situation when the
airplane did not return to base. I knew an airplane was down, pre-
-sumably because it hadn’t come back and it had taken off. "That
was on May 1.

I had no other relationship with it until the morning of Thursday,
which was May 5 when we had a [deleted] meeting of the NSC at
a remote location under a civil defense exercise.

On that morning, there was the preliminary statements of Mr.
Khrushchev that we had been flying over his territory, and so forth.

After the NSC meeting, there was a small meeting at which I have
listed the members present, in which we discussed this matter.

Senator Wirey. Who was there?

Secretary Gares. Mr. Dillon of the State Department, Mr. Allen
Dulles, Mr. Gordon Gray, General Goodpaster, and myself and the
President. We discussed this whole matter. We made the decision
there that the matter would be handled by the Department of State,
and we adjourned.

I had no further participation or discussion concerning the incident
until the following Monday morning.

Senator WiLey. What date?
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_ Secretary Gares. Which was the 9th. I at that time participared
ht a meeting in the office of the Secretary of State, and he issued his
complete statement.

Se;nntor Wiiey. llave you got one of these pamphlets in front of
you!

Secretary Gates. Yes, sir.

Senator WiLey. See if we can’t get into the record that which is on
page 4 for the press. That is the cover story up at the top #

Secretary GaTes. Yes, sir. )

Senator Wirey. And that is the one that had been said was a lie?

Secretary Gates. This was a cover story ; yes, sir.

Senator WiLey. 'I'his was issued when you had only part of the
facts; isn’t that it ?

Secretary Gates. That is right.

Senator Wirey. On May 9, if you will turn to page 5, you have
the Department of State’s release.

Senator WiLey. Was there one issued on May 97

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

THE PRESIDENT PRESENT ONLY AT MAY 6TH MEETING

Senator WiLey. At any of these meetings, was the PPresident there?

Secretary Garrs. The only meeting the President atiended was the
meeting of May 5th, after the NSC meeting.

Senator Wirey. 1 didn’t understand. Was he there on the 5th?

Secretary Gates. Yes, sir; after the NSC meeting. That is the only
meeting at which he was present. -

DECISTON ON ALERT

Senator Wirry. When it was decided to have the alert, was that the
judgment of all that it was in the interest of the national defense?

Secretary GarTes. It was my judgment and I was responsible.

Senator Wirey. You had in mind, did you, what the condition of
this country was at the time of Pearl Harbor, how we were asleep?

Secretary Gares. T certainly did.

Senator Wirey. During negotiations.

Secretary Garrs. 1 did, indeed.

Senator WiLey. Is it your judgment from the facts that when
Khrushchev went to Paris that he had already made up his mind to
cnll off the summit meeting ?

Secretary Gares. Yes; 1t is my judgment, Senator.

MEETING ON MAY 5

Senator WiLey. Something was said by yourself in the cross-exami-
nation to the effect that you claimed they should tell the truth. When
was that, on the 5th?

Secretary Gates. 1said on the 5th, if it proved that Mr. Khrushchev
Lad the pilot, had the equipment, had the full and complete story, it
later turned out that he had, that I believed we should tell the truth
al that time.

Senator Witex. That 1s all, Mr. Chairman.

The CrarMan. Senator Mansfield.
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REFORMS IN DEFENSE DEPARTMENT

Senator Maxsrierp. Mr. Secretary, since you have become Secre-
tary of Defense, you have made it a point to sit in on the meetings
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and if an agreement could not be reached
youmake the final decision.

Secretary (GaTes. Yes, sir.

Senator MansrIerp. In that period you have also brought about re-
forms and increased the efficiency of the centralized purchasing
system.

Secretary GaTes. Yes, sir.

Senator MansrizLp. In that period you have also brought about a
centralization of the communications system.

Secretary Gates. Yes, sir. .

Senator Maxsrrerp. For all those you are to be most highly com-
mended because I think they were reforms long overdue and it was
about time they were put into effect.

REASONS FOR ALERT

Now, at the time you issued your alert of the communications system
in Paris did you have any information that Soviet forces were massing
or mobilizing ?

Secretary Gates. No, sir.

Senator Maxsrrerp, Did any one person or any group ask you to
order the alert?

Secretary Gares. No, sir.

_ Senator Mansrierp. You did that entirely on your own respon-
v sibility ?

Secretary Garzs. That is correct, Senator.

Senator Mansrierp. Did the alert order which you issued put the
forces of this country at a war readiness level

Secretary Gares. No, sir.

Senator Mansrierp. There was no call back of Reserves or cancel-
lation of leave to any extent.

Secretary Gares. No, sir. There were in one or two instances some
Eeople who interpreted the JCS order as meaning that they would

ave a couple of more aircraft on alert, and in that case, they, on their
own, recalled, T believe some pilots who were home or off duty to have
approximately two more airplanes on an alert status. DBut this was
done on their own, testing their own alert procedures under the broad
order that was issued by the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

It was not the intention of this order to move forces in any way.

c?engator Mansrierp. Now, that JCS order was in response to your
order ?

Secretary GaTes. That is right, Senator.

Senator Maxsrirrp. Is there any connection between this communi-
cations alert and the recent centralization of the communications
system ?

Secretary Gates. No, sir, because that will not be in effect in its
entirety for approximately 9 months.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PRESIDENT

Senator MansrieLp. Now, during the course of your responses to
Senator Gore, you mentioned the following words, “The prestige of
the Presidency should not be involved.”
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Isn’t it true that in alimost any undertaking, in » general way the
prestige of the Prosidency is always involved under our econstitutional
system of government?

Secretary Gates. Certainly.

Senator Mansrirmin, What T am gefting at there is this: That
whether or not he had any specific knowledge of this particular flight
or of this particular order, which yon issued, that nevertheless nnder
our system he is generally responsible for actions undertaken by the
head of the CTA and for actions and orders issied by the Secretary
of Defense; is that corveer ? )

Secretary Gares. He is the head of the executive hranch and he isg
Commander in Chief, Senator, so of course he is responsible in that,
sense,

Seriator MaNsviern, Yes, heis generally responsible.

Secretary Gares. Certainly.

Senator Mansriern. He is Commander in Chief and Chief of State.

Secretary Garrs. That is right.

NATURE OF A COVER STORY

Senator Maxsrieen, There has been something said ahout a cover
story and the fact that it is not truthful. Well, isnt a cover story
by its very nature slmost always a lie?

Secretary Garrs. Yes, Senator.

Senator Massrrn, That is the purpose; to seak protection in some
kind of a story under a given circumstance so that. for the time heing
at Jeast the situation conld he taken enre of. '

Seeretary (ares. That is correct, Senator.

Senator Manseronn, That. is all, Mr, Chairman.

The Coamrarax. Senator Hickenlooper ?

SOVIET THREATS

Senator Hwokeswoorrk. My, Secretary, 1 believe that we have had
repeated statemenss from the Kremlin in the last weeks, months, or
even years that contained threats of what the Kremlin is ready to do
to the West generally or {o the United States under a varlery of
condifions; isn’t that eorrect; ?

Secretary (rares. Yes, it is.

Senator Iiekextoorsr. 1 believe Mr. Khrushchey has been qnoted
as saying that he would bury us—whether he meant economically or
militarily might be arcued--and T believe he stated that they have
missiles on the launching pads directed at various countries of Fuvope
ag well as the United States?

Seeretary (Gares. That is right.

Senator Hicxestoorer. Those statements have been renorted, have
they not?

Seeretary Gares. That is right.

SOVIEY AT MANEUVERS OVER EAST GERMANY

Senator Hickexioorkr. Are the Russians still engagcing in seramble
: . O " e s LR TR
operations and massive airflight operations over East Germany; do
vou know?

.
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Secretary Garrs. I don’t know of any flights over East Germany
recently, but, of course, they have some 20 divisions in East Germany.

Senator IHickrNvoorer. I don’t know whether this comes within
your time or not, but I have heard in one way or another in times
past that they have repeatedly had large air forces in the air over
East Germany.

Secretary G?;TES. They have large air forces stationed in East Ger-
many.

Senator ITickeNroorer. 1 mean in the air.

Secretary Gares, They have had maneuvers, yes, sir.

Senator HickenrLoorer. They have had maneuvers toward the West
German border which come very close to the West German border
on occasion ?

Secretary Garus. They have had them regularly; yes, sir.

Senator HickENLOOPER. Sometimes these are rather massive maneu-
vers in the air?

Secretary Gares. I believe that is correct; yes, sir.

JUSTIFICATION TFOR ALERT

Senator Hickenroorer. Well, now, recently we have heard a great
deal of discussion and argument about keeping all of our strategic
Air Force planes or a great many of them in the air all the time.
There have been some that have advocated that and criticized us for
not keeping our airplanes in the air more than we have.

Secretary Gates. I am very familiar with this argument, with the

- Armed Services Committee and the Appropriations Committee.

Senator IicxuNroorer. I presume you do not see anything un-
warranted about this air alert which you ordered, but I will ask you
the question anyway. Do you see any reason for criticism because of
a demonstration by your Department. of a worldwide air alert of our
forces?

Secretary Gares. I stated when I got off the airplane and was
asked the question by the press on my return, I said it was incredible
to me that anybody would question it.

Senator IEOKENLOOI’ER. Well, T agree with that statement, but
there seems to be some criticism nevertheless.

ADVISABILITY OF OVERFLIGIIT BEFORE SUMMIT CONFERENCE A POLITICAL
QUESTION

Now, on the question of whether or not, that is from your view-
point, in your Department, the particular U-2 flight should have been
cancelled on the 30th of April, or the 1st of May, or whenever it
occurred, isn’t that a political question and not a military question?

Secretary Gares. Yes.

Senator Hrckenroorer. That is in view of the so-called summit
conference?

Secretary Gares. Yes.

. Senator Hrckenvoorer. That becomes exclusively a political ques-
tion as to whether or not it was advisable at that time from the stand-
point of the summit confercnce?

Secretary Gares. That is correct.
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Senator Hrickesuoorsr, And I take it that from the standpoint
of primary responsibility you have nothing to say about whether it
would be cancelled or not as a political gesture in view of a political
conference?

Secretary Garss. Welly 1, of course, knew of the date of the sum-
it meeting, and if T had had a strong conviction about it I would
have said it even though I didn’t have the responsibility for the
decision. I was in an advisory capacity, but I believed that there
was really no good time to stop the collection of important informa-
tion. There is always some international conference or something.

Senator Hickenrtoorer. What I am trying to get at is whether you
have any primary responsibility for making political decisions, or is
your responsibility military decisions?

Secretary Gares. No, my responsibility is with the Departmens of
Defense.

VALUE OF U—2 FLIGHTS

Senator Hickentooprer. Now, these U-2 flights have been extreme-
Iy valuable in the securing of intelligence, have they not?

Secrefary (fates. They have indeed, Senator.

Senator Hickext.oorer. They have also been very valuable in secur-
ing weather information, have they not ¢

Secretary Gamres. Yes, sir.  [Deleted.]

ADVISABILITY OF ALERT

Senatir HrckENLoopPER. 1o you believe that, in view of the genoeral
tensions that exist and the rather jingoist statements, let’s say, that
have been emanating from the Kremlin from time to time, it was a
beneficial thing te have this air alert as not only a show of strength
but as an assurance to our friends and allies over the world that we
had a readiness capability ?

Secretary Gares. 1 do. It was not an air alert, Senutor.

Senator HicgeNvLoorer., Sir?

Secerefary (Gares. 1t was not an air alert. I think you miss—tech-
nically, you said air alert. It was a command readiness and com-
munications alert. 1 agree, however, with what you said that it was
a good thing to do.

Senator Hickexroorer. I shall adopt your description for my
(uestion, then, on that point.

But anyway, it was a show of ability on our part in connection
~ith our alertness, general alertness, and our ability to put a defensive
force into the air in a short time?

Secretary (Gares. Yes, and we could go from there {o further meas-
ures if we needed to, but this was primarily a measure of checking
command and checking communications, particularly, as I said in
my statement, in view of the fact that the persons involved in im-
portant policy decisions were out of the country.

Senator Hicrexvoorer. Would you agree that it either does have,
or should have, a certain degree of comforting effect upon not only
our own country but upon our allies that we do have these capabilities?
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Secretary Gates. I would hope it would, Senator. It seems to
me this is our responsibility, to be ready and alert under these
circumstances at all times, and we always are. _ )

This was merely a matter of degree. It was a little increase in the
degree of alertness. We are in an alert condition at all times.

ANOTHER COMMUNICATIONS ALERT ORDERED

As of midnight last night we are having another communications
exercise, starting at 11 o’clock last night, and it is going for several
days.

genator Hickentoorer, This fact that we may be always alert some-
times is not fully appreciated except on occasional demonstrations of
that.

Secretary Gares. That is right, and the Joint Chiefs, as a result of
this experience and critique of it have recommended to me that we
have these alerts on a no-notice basis more frequently.

Senator Hickenvoorer. Thank you. My timeisup.

The Caairman. The Senator’s time is up.

[Deleted.]

QUESTION OF ADVANCE PLANNING FOR ACTION IN EVENT U—2 PLANE
DOWNED

Senator Lowe. Did you advise or consult as to whether we were to
admit that we authorized these flights if and when the Soviets did
succeed in bringing one of our planes down ¢

- Secretary Gares. If we should continue them or not ?

Senator Lone. No,no. What I meant is this: As a matter of fore-
handedness—I see a naval officer sitting behind you—they taught
me the definition of that word as a midshipman—TI am sure that you
anticipated that sooner or later they were going to bring one of our
planes down.

Secretary Gates. We knew it was a dangerous occupation; yes,
Senator.

Senator Lowe. You could anticipate that sooner or later one of
these planes was going to fall into enemy hands

Secretary GaTtes, Yes,sir.

Senator Lone. There was a distinet possibility at any moment,
and had you advised and consulted as to how this matter should be
handled if and when such an event materialized ?

Secretary Gates. Noj I had not, Senator. I was only aware of
the fact that a cover story existed, but I had no part in it.

Senator Lone. And you had not been advised as to what the position
of this country was going to be in the event that that happened ?

Secretary Gates. No,sir; this was not my responsibility.

Senator Lona. Senator Young passed up two questions he would
like for me to ask. I will just ask them on my time since I have no
further questions.

He says if it were essential

The Caamman. I think the Senator ought to ask in his own name.

Senator Lonag. May I yield the remainder of my time to Senator
Young then? =
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The Cuamran. No, you may not. You may ask any question you,
yourself, but on your own responsibility.

EFFECT OF DISCONTINUANCE OF U-2 PLIGHTS

Senator Loxa. Tf it were essential or important that the U-2 flights
be made for years, right up to and including May 1, is the defense of
the United States adversely effected by an absolute discontinuance on
May 132

S(z(fr'et:xr°y Garrs. We have lost, through compromise, an myportant
source of information. [ Deleted.]

Senator Lone. In other words, we do badly need the same informa-
tion that we were gathering with the -2 flights?

Secretary Garrs. We need a continuity of this information, T think,
Senator,

Senator Loxa. Then if that be the case, in your judgment was it
essential or advisable that the flight of May 1 should not have been
canceled

Secretary Garrs. In my judgment, it was proper 1o fly the flight
of May 1.

Senator Lone. Thank you. T have no further questions.

The Cirateman. Isthatall?

The Senator from Vermont ?

WAS ALERT RELATED TO SOVIET I'1L,ANS?

Senator Amxex. Mr. Secretary, at the time you ordered the com- ~.
mumnications alert on May 15, did you have any apprehension at, that
time the Communists might be considering or planning surprise action
in any part of the world ?

Secretary Garks. No, sir, T felt that the sitnation was one that was
al.best, not very constructive. 'We knew the sense of Mr. Khrushchev’s
remarks, but 1 did not anticipate a surprise attack.

L didn’t order that kind of an alert.

Senator AkuN. In other words, it seemed like a good thing to do
at the time?

Secretary (Gares. | think it was, yes, sir.

Senator AtkeN. Was the response to the order fully satisfactory ?

Secretary Gares. Yes,

Senator ATkeN. Have vou had any similar alerts sinee?

Secretary Gares. [ testified a minute ago, I believe, that we started
one at 11 o’clock last night which will ran for several days.

[ Deleted. |

The Cnamryan. Senator Morse.

Senator Morsk. Mr. Secretary, if this has been covered, please tell
me.

Secretary Gates. Yes, Senator,

M PLICATIONS OF SOVIRT TITREAT AGAINST OVERSEAS BASES

Senator Morsr. T am somewhat concerned about the implications,
propagandawise and otherwise, of the alleged threat of the marshal
of the air forces of the Soviet Union that if they know that another
spy plane is leaving a foreign base the instructions are to shoot a
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missile to that base. What is your judgment as to the seriousness of
that threat?

Do you think it is a bluff or do you think that he means t?

Secretary Garns. Well, Senator, this is awfully hard to know. Ile
must know that if he did such a thing that we have allied commit-
ments. Ifit was an allied country, for example, he would be starting,
a very major problem for himself.

Senator Morse. That is the point I want to raise.

Secretary Gares. And this would only be done with the assum tion
that he would take the consequences of an act that would progably
start a general war. [Deleted.]

Senator Morse. Doesn’t it seem to imply, Mr. Secretary, that if he-
is not, bluffing, that they thereby mean to start a general war over
espionage activity on the part of the United States or any other for-.
eign power that sends a spy plane over their territory ¢

Doesn’t that seem to be

Secretary Garns. If T understand your question, Senator, I think:
he must take the responsibility for starting a general war or very
likely starting a general war if he hits one of our Allied bases for any
Teasol.

Senator Morse. Could it possibly imply that the Russians are of the
opinion that our power of both defense and aggression is such that
they are willing to take it on? To put my question a different

wa

gecretary Gares. I doubt very much that they are willing to take

it now. I think they absolutely know they will commit suicide the

wr mnoment they try it because I think they are fully informed in every
way possible about, practically, the exact defense posture of the
United States.

Senator Morse. If that is true, and I think it is true, that they ought
to know that if they get involved in a nuclear war there can’t be-any
vietory for them, and I doubt if there could for us, but apparently
this type of military mind in Russia possessed by their air marshal is
ready to start a nuclear war. Wouldn’t that be a fair deduction from.
this threat unless it is a bluft ?

Secretary Gates. Senator Morse, T think it is a part of a stepped-
up, cold war aggressive, propaganda campaign. That is what I think
it really is, because T don’t believe that Mr. Khrushchev wants to
start a war which he knows will be the end of his country.

Senator Morse. I am inclined to think that is probably true of
Khrushchev. DBut the reason I am asking this line of questions is.
to find out from you if the leaders in our country have rcason to
believe that Khrushchev is being pushed in Russia by a preventive
war group that entertains the point of view that seoner or later they
are going to have to fight the United States, and that they think
probably now is a better time to do it than later.

Do we have any intelligence information that would justify our
believing that a military group in Russia is now taking over and
pushing Khrushchev to the side?

Secretary Gares. We do not have. We can at this time only
speculate. It might be possible that the military group has come
into more power in Russia or that Mr. Khrushchev may have had.
some of his power diluted. This is, however; just speculation, and

56412—60— —10
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it 13, I suppose, rather dangerous to speculate, but we do not have any
bard facts on the subject.

NFLUENCE OF, AND DANGER IN, SOVIET MILITARY HIERARCHY

Senator Morse. I understand they have some 230,000 military
officers, nrmy and naval and air. Could it be possible that within
the military in Russia they see the possibility of reaching an agree-
ment. on total disarmament which means that they would be moved
out of the very favored position in Russian society they now oceupy,
nnd that we need to be on the alert to the possibility that a great
military change is taking place in Russia in the forn of a military
hierarchy taking over control from the Communist leadership ¢

Secretary Garrs. Weli, 1 couldn’t agree with you more, sir, that
we should certainly be on the alert to this possibility and continuously
so. L agree that we mu=t consider this as one of the possibilities.

Senator Morst. What concerns me is that as far as their leadership
is concerned and as far as 1 have any reason to believe, based upon
the briefings we have had from our own American leaders, we are
dealing with a group of very amoral leaders in Russis. And when
vou get amoral leaders among the military establishments, such as they
iiave, 1 think we have cause for concern as to whether or not even in
desperation they might not be willing to start a war. And if this is
more than propaganda, if this is more than bluft, if this is more than
what you suggest might be the case of a new step-up in the cold war
to try to frighten onr aliies, then we have to take a long look, it seems
to me, as to our responsibility to history in respect io following an -,
espionage course that might cause these amoral men in desperation
to start a war because ihere is always the hope on our part that we
may be able to conitain them until we can negotiate through fhe
United Nations a workable and enforceable total disarmament
prograt.

NEED FOR INFORMATION BALANCFED AGAINST POTENTTAL DANGFER

I have raised this question because T don’t think that in terms of
history we can completely ignore our responsibility in dealing with a
group of desperadoes such as I think the Russian military people are,
and so it raises the question how far we can justify going morally, in
~onnection with an espionage system such as the U-2 system, when we
know we are dealing with a group of amoral military leaders in Russia
who might start a nuclear war because of their compleie lack of appre-
ciation for the value of human life.

It puts us in a diflicudt position, it scems to me. We have onr own
security to protect, we have our duty to gather information, but the
nature of the “beast”™ with whom we are dealing—-in quotation marks
I put the word, of course—nevertheless puts upon us some responsi-
Lility, it seems to me, to not go too far in our own espionage program
if by going a certain distance might indirectly put us in a position
where history might. record that we knew we were dealing with that
kind of a gang and knowing it we nevertheless followed an espionage
course of action that they considered so violated their sovereign rights
that they were willing then to tale that last step into a nuclear war.
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Secretary Gares. Well, the Senator can speculate more intelligently,
T am sure, than I can on military people.

Senator Morse. Not at all. ]

Secretary GaTes, But basically military people are conservative,
worldwide, and basically they are well informed on military matters,
and therefore, the military in the Soviet Union should know better
than the political leaders that they will be lost, and slanghtered and
devastated in a nuclear war.

On the other question, it seems to me again as a lay person that our
survival is at stake. If he threatens us, I have repeatedly testified in
Congress, that I didn’t think he intended to make any significant
concessions at any meeting, that we have not prepared our defense pro-
gram on that basis, that we had to keep it under continuous review, at
all times, and with a completely closed country, and our survival
threatened, if he builds up a capability for a surprise attack, it seems
to me absolutely vital that we obtain all the information we can from
every source.

Senator Morse. Thank you very much.

The Cuamman. The Senator from Indiana.

Senator Caprmart. I have no questions except I will say I think
you did the right thing by ordering the alert.

I hope that you will continue to be on alert. I hope you will con-
tinue to get intelligence on Russia in every conceivable way we can.

The Criatrman. Is that all?

The Senator from Ohio.

-’ SECRETARY GATES’ SERVICE IN DEFENSE DEPARTMENT

Senator Lauscre. Mr. Gates, how long have you been the Secretary
of Defense?

Secret-a,r}r GaTes. Only since last December, sir.

Senator Lausciie. Were you in the Department prior to that time?

Secretary Gates. Yes, sir; I have been there since 1953, in the De-
partment.

Senator Lauscme. In what capacity ?

Secretary Gares. I was Under Secretary of the Navy, then Secre-
tary of the Navy, then Deputy Secretary of Defense.

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE OF OVERTLIGIITS

~ Senator Lauscrs. Based upon your knowledge, when did the Soviet
hierarchy first know of the fact that there were foreign planes flying
over the Soviet?

Secretary Gares. I don’t think we can confirm, Senator. We just
have to take Mr, Khrushchev’s statements at face value.

I think that it is debatable how much he knew. I assume he knew
that there were planes flying. Ie said he knew. Ile says he had
known since he was here in the United States. But I don’t think we
can definitely confirm this.

Senator I.ausciie. Testimony has been given by some witness
that, I think on July 2, 1956, he made a protest that there was a plane
overhead in the Soviet.
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Secretary Garrs. Yes. T have the record of this. T believe thie
was the time General Twining visited the Soviet Union. Theyv made:

a public protest of overflichts in July of 1956.

Senator Lavscrir. And sinee that time TU-2s have been makine mis-
sionsover the Soviet /

Secretary Garrs. 'That is correct, Senator.

Senator Lavscun. And Khrushehev, after May 1. made a stale-
ment that he knew ar the time that he was at Camp David that planes
were flying overhead ?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir; he did.

Senator Lavscrin, Then the proof indicates that at the time he was
invited to the United States, at the time he went to Camp David, and

at. the time that he arranged for the summit conference, he knew of

tlrese planes being overhead ?
Secretary Gares, Yes,
Senator Lavserrm. And he did nothing about it?  Can a staff mem-
ber tell?
Secretary (Gares. T ean’t say that we can confirm this, Senator.
Senator Lavscnn I nnderstand.
Secretary Gares. This is his statement.

SOVIET MOTIVATION FOR ATYENDING SUMMTYT

Senator Lavsene, That is correet. When was Khrushehev in the
Urnifed States?

Mr. Maroy. Septenber 1959,

Seeretary (rares. September 15 through the 27th.

Senator Lavscine, He made no statement. to the President at that
thne about planes being overhead ?

Secretary Gares. 1le did not.,

Senator Lavscnr. And he aereed to meet at the summit ?

Secretary Gares. That is right.

Senator Lauscun. Then on May 1 this U-2 was brought down in
the Soviet and he then made these declarations that have been re-
ported.  That is correet, 1sn’t it.?

Secretary Garrs, Yes, sir.

Senator Latscnn, Now, then, what, in your opinion, motivated him
In agreeing to have a summit conference, accepting our invitation to
come (o the United Stares, meeting with the President, while he knew
that this supposed grave transgression of his rights was taking place?

Seeretary (3ares. T ean only hazard again a personal opinion, Sen-
ator. My opmion is that he believed that he could not make any
progress at the summit meetmg, and he made a pre-positioned, he took
a pre-position—made a brief on it and came to Paris to wreck the
summit gquite apart from the 17-2 incident.

LS AND SOVIET INTELLIGENCE-GATHERING OPPORTUNTTIES

Senator Lavscnre. Based upon your opinion or active knowledge,
during this period was there espionage practiced by the Soviets in
our country ?

Secretary (ares. Yes: there was.

Senator Lavscur. Is that answer based upon your knowledge?

Secretary (GarTrs. 13ased upon reports that I have read.
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Senator Lavscre. From the Central Intelligence A gency ?

Secretary Gares. Or from the FBL.

Senator Lavscap. In the Soviet, all things are hemmed in against
an individual getting into proximity of their bases. Am I correct in
that.?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

Senator Lavscue. Does that situation. Erevail in our country %

Secretary Garrs, It certainly doesnot, Senator.

Senator Lauscrim. Then there is a tremendous difficulty in the ability
«of obtaining intelligence by our agents in the Soviet as compared to
their ability, through their agents in our country?

Secretary Giates. That is correct; and there is obviously no reason
for him to overfly the United States.

IMPORTANCE OF U—2 FLIGIITS

Senator Lauscune. Based upon the knowledge that you acquired
through the U-2’s, what would be your opinion about our intellectual
ability to pursue properly the development of our national defense?

Secretary Gares. I think we had a responsibility to take every
means we could.

Senator Lavscrr. That is not my question. My question is, If you
did not have the knowledge acquired through the U-2%, could you
have intelligently developed your national defense to cope with the
actnal, potential military power of the Soviet ¢

Secretary Gares. Not as well, Senator; by no means.

Senator Lauscae. By no means whatsoever?

- Secretary Garrs. We have other means.

Senator Lavuscne. Yes?

Secretary Garzs. That gives us other information, but this was a
very importance piece of information.

Senator Lavscone. If you didn’t have that information, do you feel
that the security of our country in all probability would have been
affected because of our inability to develop properly our military
strength,?

Secretary Gares. I think this was—I want to be careful in my an-
swer because this is one source of several sources of intelligence. Tt
is a_very important one. I think it would have been affecting our
ability to properly defend the United States if we didn’t have this
information,

DEMANDS PRESENTED BY KITRUSHCIIEV

Senator Lavscur. Now, getting down to the matter of the May 16
meeting, have you formulated any opinion as to whether Xhrushchev,
when he left Moscow, already had prepared these four unacceptable
demands that he made upon the President with respect to the U-2
incident?

Secretary Garus., Everyone is entitled to a personal opinion, Sena-
tor. T have an opinion, yes, sir, that he had very definitely, because
the moment he arrived in Paris he presented these conditions to Mr.
de Gaulle along with a copy already in French.

Senator Lauscme. That is—the fact is that he was supposed to go
to Paris on May 15; Sunday ?

Secretary Gates. Yes; he came on Saturday night, T believe.
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Senator Lavscae. And for some reason that has not been explained,
he decided to come there in advance?

Secretary Gares. That is right.

Senator Lauscur. On Saturday ?

Secretary Gares. Thatisright.

Senator Lavscnn. And early in the morning at 11 o’clock on Sun-
fuy, he asked for a conference ?

Secretary Gares. Attended by de Gaulle.

Senator Lavscue. Attended by Malinovsky, himself, and de Gaulie?

Secretary Gartes. {hat is correct.

Senator Lauscur. At that meeting, he set forth these unacceptable
demands?

Secretary Gares. That: isright, sir.

Senator Lauscrr. ‘Then in the afternoon at 4:30 he asked for a
conference with Macmillan ?

Secretary Gares. That is correct.

Senator Lauvscae. And he again set forth those four demands?

Secretary Gates. 'That is correct.

Senator Latscrie. This is merely asking for your opinion.

Do you believe that in self-respect and maintenance of the Presi-
dent’s position he conld onform to the demands made in that ultima-
tom?

Secretary Giatns. [ certainly do not. I certainly believe he could
not, I guess, would be a better answer.

Senator Lavscnn. I am of the opinion that when Khrushchev left
Moscow he knew there was not to be a summit conference. IHe pre-
pared his paper. He had his mode of operation completeiy outlined. -

Secretary Gares. | sharve that point of view, Senator.

SITOULD U—~2 FLIGHTS HAV)E BEEN SUSPENDED BEFORE SUMMIT CONFERENCE?

Senator Lauscur. Now, you have stated that you did not feei that
we could, in the face of these discussions about a snmmait conference.
suspend our activities with respect to the security of the country;
s that right ?

Secretary Gares. 'That isright, sir.

Senator Lavscur. 1f there was to be a temporary suspension of
these U~2 flights, when should they have begun? This is speculation.
T am just iryving to search it out. The discussions for a suminit confer-
ence preceded by far the September visit in the United States, and
then Trom September to May 16 practically 9 months elapsed. Should
wa, last, September, have discontinued onr U-2 flights?

Secretary (Gatrs. Not in my judgment, Senator. 1 think it would
have been most incorrect to have suspended them.

Senator Lauscur. Do you believe the Soviet, because of the ar-
ronged suinmit conference, discontinued its activities?

Secretary Ganes. [ am sure they didn’t, although I don’t know. but
T wm perfectly sure thev didn’.

Senator Lavsone. Thatisall.

SCWIRT NOTE OF MAY 10

The Cratrman. Mr. Reporter, the staff overlooked a document
which should have been included in the background information. 1t
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is the Soviet note of May 10, which was sent to our Government, as
reprinted in the New York Times of May 11, and I ask that it be
inserted in the record so that this step in the development from a
documentary point of view may be complete. ]

(The note referred to appears on p. 195 of appendix 1.)

QUESTION OF ALTERNATIVES TO MAY 9 STATEMENT OF STATE DEPARTMENT

The CmamMan. Mr. Secretary, referring just a moment to a pre-
vious question, on the May the 9th meeting 1n which the issuance of
the statement by the Department was considered, were there any alter-
native statements proposed and considered to the one which was
issued ?

Secretary GaTes. Not in principle, Senator Fulbright.

The Cuairman. Notin principle?

Secretary Gates. But there were, of course, various language ver-
sions considered.

The Cuamrman. Did anyone at that meeting raise the point that
for the President, the Chief of State, to assume personal responsi-
bility would be a departure from the historical practice of this
country ?

Secretary Gares. I think this was understood, Senator, and I be-
lieve that we felt the circumstances were different from anything
that had prevailed heretofore.

The CuarrMAN. But the point was raised and discussed?

Secretary Gartes. I can’t accurately say that it was raised and dis-
cussed but it was certainly in my mind and I believe it was obvious

“w’  toall of us that it was a departure from precedent.

The Cuairmaw. It was a departure from precedent in this coun-
tr;i.. ]9)0 you know of any other country that has followed this
policy ?

Secretary Gates. No; I do not.

The Coamman. Was anyone concerned that this might have far-
reaching implications for the future of our intelligence operations?

Secretary Gares. Well, we knew that it already had marked the
end of this particular method of collection of intelligence because of
its being compromised [deleted].

The Crmairmawn. Did I understand you to say that to your knowledge
there was no time in the last few years, in which you are familiar
with our activity, that U-2 flights were suspended for political reasons.

Secretary Gares. Not to my knowledge, Senator; that is correct.

The CrratrMaN. Mr. Secretary, were you ever consulted with regard
to the wisdom of holding a summit conference ¢

Secretary Gates. No; I was not, Senator.

POSSIBILITY OF AGREEMENT WITII RUSSIA ON DISARMAMENT AND NUCLEAR
TESTING

The Cramrman. Do you personally believe there is any reasonable
hope 2for any agreement with the Russians with regard to disarma-
ment ?

Secretary Gares. I think it is extremely doubtful, Mr. Chairman. I
think that the Soviets are playing off-and-on-again tactics; some-
times cool, sometimes cold, sometimes hot.
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1 bul]i(\'o that their proposal for disarmament or total disarma-
ment s completely unrealistic. I find it rather dificult to believe they
will ever agree to the controls and inspections that we will of hecessity
insist upon to make progress on disarmament.

The CrarMan. Do you believe the same with regard to nuclear
fest bans?

Secretary Garmrs, | am not so definite on that, Mr. Chairman, from
w personal point of view. We seem to have made more progress in the
negotiations on tlesis than we have in the other field. DBut 1 again
worry about the possibility of having valid control and inspection
systems Tor either of these efforts,

The Crarraan. [ understood you 1o say, I believe, in answer to a
question by Senator Morse that you did not believe any significant
concessions conld be expected from the Soviets at the summit Tneet. ing.

Secretary (3aves. That is right. This has been consistent with my
testimony before the committees of Clongress all of this yvear.

QUESTION  OF RELOCATION OF SOVIET BASES

The Citatksran. Is it now probable that, as a result of the revelarion
of the efliciency of ihe U-2 photography, the Russians will now change
the location of many of their strategic bases?

Secretary Gares. This is quite an undertaking. You don't do the
construction that is involved in strategic bases (,ml\' or quickly, and
they don’t know preeisely how much information we have about them,
ond 1 would think that they would perhaps take diferent means of
building new bases or of dispersing bases or something of that
character. But T don't believe that it is very practical to assmmne that
l’lmy would shift. major installations hecanse of the eharacter required
fo handle the strategic weapons.

The Criairyan, What X meant is, do you feel that the information
sou now have may become rapidly obsolete because of {heir krowing
ou know about them they will change them, so that you wiil have a
ereat deal of difficuity in keeping up with their location

Secretary (ares. We \\1]] Tave 10 angment, other methods toward
obtaining this information.

[ Deletedd. ]
RELEASE OF SECRETARY GATES' PREPARED STATEMENT

The Ciivmoaran, Mr. Secretary, was your prepared statement re-
Teased to the press?

Secvetary Gares. Was what, sir?

The Criairyaax, Was the statement. which you read initially relensed
{0 the press?

Seerefury Gares. D didn’t release it, unless the committee did.

The Ciramgmax. No, the committee didn’t, as faras I know,

(‘1] stain Jonxsron. Tt has been released by Mr. St. Claire; I believe
ihat he had released it. Wedidn't release it.

The Ciamevan. Was it your purpose to release it ?

Secretary Garrs. It wasup to you, Mr. Chairman.

The Ciratrvax. Well, nm'm.tl]v the initial stalement made by wit-
nesses is the same as their own testimony.  They either censor it or re-
lease it I was just inquiring.

-~
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Secretary Gates. It is all right with me if it is all right with you
that it be released, Mr. Chairman. T understand it has been released.

The Crrameman. It has been released ?

Secretary Gares. That is what I understand.

Captain Jomnsron. Yes, sir, I was informed by someone from the
committee, I believe Mr, St. Claire, that it had been released.

The Criarrman. By whom?

Captain Jorrnsron. By the committee, Senator. )

The Cratemaw. May I ask the staff, did you release it? ]

Mr. Marcy. No, Mr. Chairman, this will just be released in the
normal way. It is put on the tape here. It went through the censors
and, unless they took any portion of it out, it went to the public.

The Craarman. T just was wondering. )

Secretary Gares. I am sorry, Mr. Chairman, I considered it your
prerogative. Ihave no objection one way or the other.

The Crrareman. It usually follows the same procedure. You make
the statement and then it goes through the record if the censors wish it.
Was this statement cleared with the State Department before you
made it ?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

Senator Lavuscrme. Mr, Chairman, may I suggest that we find out
whether a copy got in the hands of the newspapermen other than
through normal sources here.

Mr. Marcy. No, sir, that did not happen, not through the commit-
tee. Everything goes through the regular process, through the cen-
sors, and. so on.

. The Criairman. Well, T asked the clerk a moment ago if you had
‘- released it. Ile understood you had—I mean that you had given it
to the press before,
Secretary Gares, I didn’t give it to the press, Mr. Chairman.
The Cramman. You or one of your aides, I don’t know.
Secretary Gates. No, we did not release it.

TIMING OF KITRUSIICIIEV’S DECISION TO WRECK SUMMIT

The CmatrmaN. You stated very positively that you believed the
Chairman of the Council of Ministers, Mr. Khrushchev, before he
came to ’aris, had already made up his mind to wreck the summit.
Can you tell us how and why you arrived at that opinion?

Secretary Garrs. Well, I felt, and again speaking personally, T
felt that the fact that he arrived on Saturday night and asked for
these appointments with President de Gaulle and Prime Minister
Macmillan, and he arrived with a position paper translated in French
in the case of de Gaulle and given orally by translation in English
to Macmillan, a position paper that he used almost verbatim as the
first part of his text the following morning, was pretty good indica-
tion that he had a preconceived plan at the summit meeting and was
planning to, in my judgment again, and used the fact that there were
3,000 newspapermen in Paris and he had a platform to issue all of
these statements from. Then I believe there were indications in other
i-;pteeches that he made prior to the summit that he was going to adopt
ater on.

The Crmarman. What in your opinion caused him to arrive at this
conclusion to wreck the conference ¢
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Secretary Garms. Why, I believe that he found that he had been
HAsue ooqsful in creating any disunity among the allies. That he was
not going to get any substantive concessions himself, according to his
werms, on Berlin and other critical issues that he might consider im-
por ranf, and that he wasn’t going to get a blanket disarmament check
without, controls, and so forth. And T believe he felt that he was not
soing to make (my progress at the summit.

EFFRCT OF THE U~2 iNCIDENT ON KHRUSUCHEV'S SUMMIT ACTIONS

The CnamrMan. 1o you believe the U-2 incident contributed to
that belief?

Secretary Garrs. [, frankly in my judgment it did not, Senator
Fualbright. I beheva i gave him, it contributed to his pubhc case, but
I don’t think it contributed to his position.

The Crrarkman. Yon don’t think that was a significant element in
cnusing him to arrive at this conclusion?

Secremrv Gares. [ really do not; no, sir. I believe it was a factor
in his, an 1mportant factor in helping him make his case, but I don’t
think it had anything to Jdo with his policy decision.

The Cuarman. Why do you think he would be better off and what
reasoning leads you to this conclusion? Why is he better off havin
followed the eourse he did, than having gone to the conference anﬁ
having it result in no cone essions !

Secret tary Garrs. Only he can answer that, Senator.

The Cramrman. Why do you think he left in his initial statement

what is called an “out” for the President, by saying he thought the ~n
I'resident didn’t know about this?

Secrctary Gares. I don’t know what his intentions were, whether
T ha t was an out or whether that was just a statement that he believed.

[ really don’t know.

The Crratrman. 15t was an out, it would be inconsistent with his
dotermination to wreek the L,onference, would it not ¢

Secretary Gares, Sir?

The Cuamaan. I it was an out as it has been alleged, it would

he inconsistent with his determination to wreck the conference. lle
wouldn’t want to give the President an out, would he ?

Secretary Gares. [ never personally considered it was an out. 1
jr1st thought he was using this as part of his speech—1 don’t consider
if. was an out.

The Chiararan. Well, he did say that he thought the President
didn’i know about it. didn’t he, in his initial statement

Secretary Gares. Yes: he did.

The Criamraan. My tine isup.

Senator Morse, do yeu have any further questions?

Senator Mokss. Sinator Wi ley is next.

The Cuamrman. Senator Wiley #

Senaror Morse, 1 have some more questions.

Sermror Wirky., My, Scevetary, we know very well that Khrushchev
e eanvassed 1he situstion with ’\L\Lnnl}an, de Gaulle, with Adenauer
ared with our President, and they were all agreed and firm on the prop-
acition that Khrashehey want o(l to wit, to divide Germany, and so
forth and so on.  Now, he was a.(,quamtbd. with that fact from his

sonversations, was he vot 2
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Secretary Gares. I believe he was, sir. )

Senator Wirey. And, in other words, he knew that if he went to the
.conference and couldn’t get his way, which would be very apparent,
that wouldn’t sit so well with the people of Russia?

Secretary Gates. I think that is a good speculation.

Senator WiLry. So, it seems to be the consensus of those people who
claim to know, including yourself, that the U-2 incident would give
him something to hang on his previous determination and that he
utilized. Do you agree to that?

Secretary Gares. Yes, I think he used the U-2 as a tool rather than
as a matter of principle. I think he decided that there was no
progress for him at the summit.

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE OF OVERFLIGHTS

Senator WLy, Well, there is just this one other question. I think
you have answered it, but see if I can’t get it out into the open and get
1t so there won’t be any question : Is it your opinion that he had known
of the U-2 incidents for a long time—I mean the U-2 flights ?

Secretary GaTes. I think I believed him when he said that he knew
we were overflying the Soviet Union. I don’t believe he knew their
capabilities. ]%,ut T think he knew that unidentified aircraft were over
his territory.

Senator WiLey. That isall, Mr. Chairman.

The Cmarman. Senator Morse?

RELATIONSIIIP OF U—2 FLIGIHTS TO SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator Morse. Mr. Secretary, I want to pursue a bit further the
line of questioning that I was conducting when my time was up
because I think you have got to deal also with the problem of where we
go from here, in view of Russian attitudes at the present time.

We have the air marshal’s statement now which has not been coun-
termanded as far ag we know by Khrushchev, that if an American U-2
plane flies from any base, goes over Russia, they will fire a missile
against that base. '

Your testimony, I think, justifies my concluding that if they fire at
that base, that under our commitments under NATO, our obligations
to defend our allies, we will meet that force, and that that may very
well start general war,

As I understand also your testimony, you share my doubt as to
whether or not the air marshal is bluffing, whether or not this is
propaganda in the cold war or whether or not this is an announcement
of a definite decision as to what they are going to do.

So we have to discuss this hypotheticall from this point on. Tet’s
assume that he means exactly what he said, and because of my fear of
the type of military mind they have in Russia as contrasted with our
own, namely, the difference between amoral military leaders and moral
military leaders, I am very fearful that the group in control of the
Russian military at the present time means exactly what it says.

They will fire a missile at any base from which an American U-2
plane flies. Doesn’t that put squarely up to us then the question as
to whether or not we can justify being a party indirectly to the start-
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ing of general war by Hlving any U-2 planes from any foreign base,
in view of that announesment. by ‘the Russian air marshal?
Secretary Gates. We have announced that the U-2 flights will not
be vesitmied.  The President. has announced this. This 1s, of course,
known fo them and that was announced prior to this Defense Min-
Ister’s statement that vou vefer to.
Senator Mogse, That s what T want to elarily for this record be-
cause most respectfully, I den’t think it is clear in the record that
this committee has made to date.
The P'resident. announced ar Paris that they were suspending them,
Secrefary Gares. e made the statement, Senator, that he conldn’t
commit the next Prmidnn but as far as he was concerned, during his
‘uhmmss ration, the flivhts were stopped.
Senttor Morsk. Then do vou wish to express the view point. that at #
hie present time the United States does not infend to continue any
I' 2 thehts over Russin /
Secretary Gares, 1 ilink we made a commitment not 1o, 8
‘wn wor Moursk, There has been a eonsiderable amount of discus- :
gion 1 these hearings and rmtslde of these heari ings that m view of
that situation that confronts us, it is intended to cont muv -2 flights; :
that the DPresident’s slatemeni: was a siantement made in cmme(hou
wilth the summit conference situation.
In other words, the summit conference situation having blown np,
it. does not. Tollow that ihat statement, of the President now continues
i effect.

It is your testimony {hat it 18 your understanding it does continue #
i effect.? My,

NATURE OF PRESIDENT'S COMMITMENT NOT TO CONTINUE FLIGHTS

Secretary (zares. 1 not a lawyer, Senator, but. 1 think vou could
take the legal point of view that the President had no commitment
becanse of the blowup of the summit conference, but, from a national
point of view, ]n'esi'i«ju and the standpoint. of the honorable point of
view, I think the United States has made a commitment regardless
of the technicality of the timing of the decision, so in my ]udom(mt
we have made a cormnit ment, not, to fly 1i-2 duru\(rihe administration
of this President.

Senator Morsk, 1 don’t eare to get. into any argument. over seman-

tics, but only judging Yrom what T read about the interpretation of s
the President’s speech to the Nation, there are many news comments
mterpreting the President’s speech to the Nation as a speech that does
nat, connmit. this Nation to a discontinuance of 17-2 flights, now that
the smunmit conference has blown up.

I think it 1s very important that we make clear our position. I am
not passing judgment now on what our position should be.

Seerefary (FATES. Y es, Sir,

NTERFRETATION OF PHESIDENTS COMMENTS ABOUT NOT RESUMING

OVERFLIGITTS

senator Morse, Bul we have problems, may I say most respectfully,
with people in other parts of the world, even ine 1\1(]!1];_{ the segmentq
of the population of our allies, raising the quesiion as to whether or
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not the President’s speech to the Nation the other night means that
we may continue U-2 flights. _

In view of the statement of the air marshal of Russia as to what
they are going to do if they do continue, my question is this: Should
not our Grovernment restate its position in regard to the continuation
of U-2 flights and give the world assurance at the present time that
we do not intend to continue U-2 flights and thus risk the possibility
that the Russians may send a missile to the air base from which any
U-2 flight might leave ?

Secretary (GaTes. Senator, I have in my hand the President’s state-
ment in P’aris in which he said :

In point of fact, these flights were suspended after the recent incident, and are
not to be resumed. Accordingly, this cannot be the issue.

That is a categorical statement that they are not to be resumed.
This is what I understand our position is,

Senator Morse. The President didn’t say that in his speech to the
Nation the other night. There isn’t anything in the Iresident’s
speech to the Nation the other night that categorically and unequivo-
cally assures to the world that we are discontinuing, as a matter of
espionage policy, the flying of any U-2 planes over any foreign
territory.

All'T seek to do at this point in the record, and please let me assure
you of this, is to raise this point so that our Government can remove
any suspicion or fear in other parts of the world in view of the
Russian air marshal’s statement, that the world doesn’t have to be
concerned -about.a nuclear war being started by us by sending a U-2

- plane from any foreign base over Russia.

I think the world is entitled to that assurance at this moment in
order to produce the relaxation that I think is necessary for the con-
tinuation, through the United Nations I hope, of a good faith, this
attempt to reach some understanding with Russia.

Secretary Garns. It may well need clarification, Senator. I didn’t
think it did. T thought it was perfectly clear to me that we had made
a commitment so long as the President is in office, not to fly the U-2
airplane, and everyone understood it. If they don’t, perhaps it should
be reexamined. Iowever, you are now faced with making another

~statement in face of a threat, and I don’t know whether this is a wise
move or not.

Senator Morse. T think it is a wise move if we honestly believe
that this is more than a threat, that this is an announcement of mili-
tary policy that they intend to deliver on.

WORLD OPINION ON U—2 OVERFLIGIITS

I don’t intend to argue the point. T think the judgment of the
world will be against us if, in view of what you call this threat, we
should continue U-2 flights, because I think we have to share joint
responsibility with Russia then for starting a nuclear war, because
I seriously question whether world opinion will ever be with us on
this kind of espionage conduct.

I think that world opinion is against our sending a U-2 flight over
any foreign territory, because I think most people in other parts of
ithe world consider it a form of constructive aggression.
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That is all, Mr. Chairman.

The Criamrman. Senator Hickenlooper, do you have any further
questions? I think yon are next.

Senator HiexkeNvoorrr. Mr. Secretary, with reference to the dis-
cussion which you have just had with Senator Morse 1 think per-
haps I only have a comnment because my comment will go to a mat-
ter of personal opinion-—as I understand the line of questiening that
has been going on here. and as I think it probably will be interpreted,

the United States is 1equired to take the burden for all ihe ills of the:

world and take the responsibilities for all the mistakes in the world:
that we must do evervthing, including complete subrmission to the
demnands and the threats of the Kremlin; and that the opinion of the
world Is apt to be slanted against us unless we do this at this time.

1 have heard from so many sources over the country that we have
to do this or that or the other thing as a gesture that we are not

war-minded or that we are not warmongers, or that we really have:

some interest in our fellow man.
RECORD OF THE UNITED STATES AS A PEACEFUL NATION

Now, if the record of rhe United States over the last good many

years of humanitarian activities, of fantastic expenditures of billions.

of dollars for peace, of fostering all kinds of conferences, of making
all kinds of offers to meet all kinds of reascnable propesitions for

ence, based only upon reasonable agreements for their assurance of
E(siug carried out—if that isn’t an assurance to the world, [ personally

think that to humble ourselves further by yielding to this threat of
this military man in Russia would certainly not add to our prestige:

in the least, and it probably would be of little use in the eyes of the
world, at least to those that we would expect to stand by us in an
eInergency.

1 can’t follow that Hiue of reasoning, especially in view of the past
record of the United States.

We started out at the end of World War II with the sole and
exclusive possession of the atomic bomb, the ability to blow any na-

tion off the map and anybhody else if we wanted to if we were war-

minded. Nobody else had it. We offered to give it up to an inter-
national agency to get out of the atomic business, to turn over all
fissionable materials to an international agency ; all we asked was that
reasonable inspection, reasonable assurance, would be given that
the international ageney would have control and that no nation would
cheat on this obligation.

Never in the historv of the world, as far as I know, has a nation,
possessing the exclusive ability and the exclusive power to destroy
any other nation in the world, have they ever given that up or offered
to give it up voluntarily.

We go from that step by step with vast amounts of money, with all
kinds of humanitarian offers, with all kinds of peaeeful offers, with
all kinds of peaceful efforts in the world and I just want to make
my position clear: we have stated we are not going to overfiy Russia,
al least so far as President Iisenhower’s administration is concerned,

with U-2s—that has been stopped. If we did continue it sometime:

in the future in the intercsts of the security of this country, I thinlk
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the security of this country comes first in our responsibility, and we
must take whatever reasonable means we have and whatever calcu-
lated risks that may be involved in order to secure essential informa-
tion and in order to secure and maintain our proper defensive posture.

I feel that very deeply and X am not questioning you about it.

You don’t have to agree or disagree. I merely wanted to make
that statement in view of the fact that I don’t agree that we have
continually to humble ourselves in the eyes of the world, because I
think it can do nothing but destroy the confidence, in many cases, that
other Nations have in us if we continue to bow to the threats that
emanate periodically from the Kremlin, and we have had just as bad
threats in the past as this one. As I pointed out in my previous ques-
tions, where they said they have rockets pointed at our bages, they
have rockets on the pads pointed at other countries in Kurope;
they know how many rockets they are going to put on Paris and
that they are going to bury us one way or another, and so on, and I
think there comes a time when even the world has to turn and stand
fast. That is all I have to say.

The Crmamman. Isthatall?

Senator HIcKENLOOPER. Yes.

The Crramrman. Senator Gore?

[Deleted.]

The Senator’s time is up.

The Senator from Ohio, any questions?

Senator Lauscur. No further questions.

v‘ KIIRUSHCHEV’S CIIANGING VIEWS ON A SUMMIT CONFERENCE

The CrarMaN. Mr. Secretary, I don’t want to labor this too long,
but I am interested in your reasoning. I didn’t get to finish that ques-
tion. Let me go back. Do you think when Chairman Khrushchev
was in the United States last September that at that time he had an
intention to have a summit conference ?

Secretary Gares. I would only be speculating, Mr. Chairman, I
think he did.

The Craammman. I want to know what happened between then and
May 15, in your opinion, that caused him to take the firm decision
which you stated a moment ago you believe he had.

Secretary Gates. I really don’t know the value of my opinion, Mr.
Chairman, but my opinion is that he has tried for many years to
divide our allies from us. He has tried to divide the NATO member-
ship in particular. e has resented the bases that surround his coun-
try, and he has had, I think, as a No. 1 objective the division of our
security and collective alliances. I think he found during this inter-
vening period that he couldn’t make a dent in the solidarity and
unity of these relationships, that he couldn’t get anybody to change
their position on Berlin. He found the British and the French and
the United States stalwartly together on that subject, and that he
found the NATO alliance in good shape and strong, and that he was
going to run into a position where he would make no progress, and
as someone eclse has remarked, I believe, during this testimony, he
would probably lose some face at home if he couldn’t make any
progress.
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-2 INCIDENT'S FFFECT ON SUMMIT CONFERENCE

The Cramraiax. Do vou think he would have refused to participate
if there had been no U2 incident ?

Secretary Gares. I think he would have——again, we must only
specalate, Senator-—1 think he would have probably employed tactics
that wonld have riined the summit from within.

The Coamaran. But von think he would have participated ?

Seeretury Garrs, I think he would have participated and found
some other mechanism of destroying it.

[ Deleted. ]

The Crratrmas. Mr. Dulles testified that the Air Foree gave CTA
weat her Torecasts that were helpful to the U-2 operation: is that cor-
rect ?

Secretary Gares. That is correct.,

| Deleted.]

SOVTET MILITARY PREPAREDNESS

The Criateaan. What inference from Soviet: military preparedness
van properly be deawn from the U-2 incident ?

Secretary Gares, This, pieced together and repeated and associated
with other sources of intelligence builds up, unfolds a story that defi-
nitely disclosed a military posture.

It. builds up a story that gives vou a judgment on a capability for
a surprise attack. 1t gives vou a judginent on important installations,
It gives vou some Judgment on production. It gives vou some judg-
meni. on logistic backup and actual military sites, so that T would say A8
it oave you a very definite look-see at their military posture.

The Criamrman. 1< it possible for you to give us o judgment? Was
this preparation and strength very impressive? Was it greater than
vou had expected ?

SNecretary Gares. Coming into two recent jobs I have had, which is
the first time I was ever involved in this, T would say that it impressed
me, Senator.

The Citarrman. In other words, the result of vour overflights and
the information you got. has given you a better appreciation of their
military strength and that appreciation is that they are very well
armed—is that. correct—better than you expected ?

Secretary Gares. In some case, yes. In some case, perhaps less well
than they advertised.

EFFECT OF SUMMI'T FAILURE ON U.8. MILITARY PROGRAMS

The Criatkman. Does this failure of the summit and all that has re-
sulted from it give vou any new ideas as to the level of expenditures
of programs relating to defense ?

Secretary Gares. Not immediately, no, sir. But 1 believe I have
said when I started to testify in January, I repeatedly stated we didn’t
expect to have any significant or substantive concessions. We believed
there was a tactic on the part of the Soviet Union. We didn’t know
how long it would last and we are not basing our military programs on
this premise and I also said that we shonld keep them under continuous
review and as late as April we went back with a major reviston in our
military nrograms to the Appropriations Committees.
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Ibelieve now we should continue this careful and continuous process,
and I have no desire right now to make any further recommendations
to the Congress. The Senate Appropriations Committee are about
to mark up the defense bill I believe next week or this week.

[Deleted.]
POSSIBLE INTERPRETATIONS OF THE ALERT

The CriazrmaN. One inference I wish you would comment on that
might have been drawn from the ordering of the test on May 15 is, I
believe: Would it be fair to draw the inference that you had any
doubt about the readiness of our Armed Forces.

Secretary Gates. No, sir, but it is a very good move and we should
do it more frequently to have a no-notice alert communications and
command readiness test, and we hope to do this, I say we started one
again last night which has been long planned, it is going to be about a
7- or 8-day exercise.

The Crarrman. Ithasbeen long planned.

DECISION TO ORDER ALLRT

Was the one on the 15th long planned ?

Secretary Garns. No, sir.

The Criairman. When did you first think of doing that?

Secretary Garms. There was another one planned for about that
perio% of time, as a matter of fact, I made the decision to do this
myself.

yl’he CrrarmaN. After you arrived in Paris?

‘- Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

The Crrarman. Do you think that that might have been construed
as a }))rovocative act under the circumstances that then existed in
Paris?

Secretary Garus. No, sir, it was made after midnight on Sunday
night. Tt was not intended nor was it worded as a provocative mes-
sage. The first word in it was “Quiet,” and the Jast words in it were
“minimum need to know.”

It was not meant as provocative. It was not meant as either an
offensive or defensive alert.

In fact it was not issued as such. If we were going to go on that
kind of an alert we would have had a higher degrec of readiness than
the Joint Chiefs of Staff issued.

The Crrarrmaw. I didn’t mean you intended it as such. Don’t you
think reasonable people might have regarded it as a provocative act?

Secretary Gares. I think reasonable people would have regarded
it as a prudent act.

The Crarman. But not as a provocative act?

Secretary Gares. That isright.

. The Crrareman. My time is up. We have a member here who has
just come in. Would you care to ask any questions, Senator
Humphrey

Senator Humerirey. Can I follow up on two or three of yours?

The CriatRMAN. You have 10 minutes to do as you please.

[Deleted.]

56412—60-——11
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OVERFLIGHTS CONSIDE RED ESSENTIAL

Senator Huapimey. Do you think it was essentinl to have over-
flights in order to guin the kind of information thay is supposed to
liave been gained in recent months?

Secretary GaTes. Yes; this was by a1l means our best information.

Sceretary Humernery. Well, it might be your best information.

Secretary Gares. Yes:Ithinkit was essential ; yes; L do.

[Deleted. ]

SOVIET ATRCRAFT ACTIVITIES

Senutor Huarpiey. Have we ever shot down any Soviet. aireraft
{hat have ever been over American territory?

Secretary Garus. No, sir.

Senator Huarixey. Have we shot down any Soviet aireraft that
Jiave heen over aress where we have some military responsibility ¢

Secretary Gares. Nob tomy knowledge.

Senator Hearenxey. Not over Koren; Japan?

Secretary GATes, You mean in peacetime?

Senator Husriiney. Well, in the armistice period.

Secretary GATES. No, sir;not tomy knowledge.

Senator Tumpikey. We have not?

Secretary Gares. Not tomy knowledge, sir.

Senator Humprrey. [ had been informed once that we had, and
that is why I had asked the question.

Secretary Garrs. Maybe we ought to qualify this. There has been
speculation that “yolunieers” have flown aircraft that have been shot,
Jdown. These volunteers may have been Soviet, but, as far as 1 know,
any identified as a Soviel aircraft has not been shot down.

Senator Humpirey. Has the Soviet Union protesied to the United
States because of an attack on our part on Soviet aireraft?

Secretary Gates. I can’t answer that question, Senator, because
my knowledge is that they have not. 1 don’t think they have. Noj;
I don’t think so, sir.

Senator Humprrey. Do you have reason to believe that the so-called
volunteers might very well have been a little less than volunteers, pos-
sibly engaged actively in Soviet espionage ?

Secretary Gates. Well, there has been sort of a technique evolving
over a period of time in various places of the world where volunteers
have appeared and we have always been a little apprehensive about
them.

Senator Humpugrey. Just a little?

Secretary Garrs. No, sir. [Laughter.]

Senator Humrnrey. That isall.

The CrratrMaN. Senator Wiley ?

Senator WiLey. None.

The CriatrMan. Senator Morse?

Senator Morse. I have a few more, Mr. Secretery, pursuing the
same line of questioning I was pursuing before.

The President the other night in his speech to the Nation indicated
very clearly that a quclear war would produce devastation upon all
participants.
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POSSIBILITY OF A GENETRAL WAR
!

t

Going back to my hypothetical, assuming that we should fly a spy
plane out of some foreign base and assuming that the Russian air mar-
shal makes good on his threat and strikes that airbase with Russian
missiles and starts a_general war, do you think we could win it?

Secretary Gares. X?es, sir.

Senator Morse. You think we could destroy Russia and have enough
of the United States left so that we could remain a power !

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir; because in this case he would, by initiat-
ing this attack, give considerable warning to our retaliatory forces
and with that warning, we would move in.

Senator Morse. Your view then is that the United States could win
anuclear war?

Secretary Gates. If it is started under those circumstances.

[Deleted. ]

Senator Morse. Do you think that the Russian military are aware
of the fact that we could win a nuclear war if they started that war
by simply sending a missile to one air base from which a spy plane
might fly

Secre{?;ry Gares. I think theyare well aware of it.

Senator Morse. Do you think then that if he kept his threat of
sending a missile to a foreign air base from which a spy plane might
be flown, he probably would go much further than that ‘and send mis-
siles elsewhere and 1f he knows it is going to lead to a general war,
start a complete general war?

Secretary GaTes. I think he would have to.

-’ Senator Morse. In your opinion, could we win that war?

Secretary Gares. Well, we could do what we call in the military,
prevail in general war, but there would be great damage to the United
States.

Senator Morse. There would be terrific mutual destruction in g
general war?

Secretary Gares. Yes; terrific damage.

Senator Morse. Therefore——

Secretary Gtaus. But everything depends, Senator, on a lot of fac-
tors. If you vary any part of the equation you vary the answer. In
other words, time of warning, reliability of missiles, ability to fire a
salvo of missiles worldwide against deployed and TJ.S. forces at home
and abroad. These factors and the accuracies of these weapons—any
one piece of this cquation varies the answer.

INTERPRETATION OF PRESIDENT’S COMMENTS ON SUSPENSION OF U-—2
FLIGIITS

Senator Morse. Therefore, referring most respectfully to Senator
Hickenlooper’s observation, do you think that we would be showing a
sign of weakness, that we would be guilty of appeasement, that we
would be surrendering to threats if we removed any doubt in the
world at the present moment by notifying the world that we have ne
intention of using military aircraft espionage tactics henceforth either
by CTA, by NA%A, by the Defense Establishment or by any other
agency of the American Government ?

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

o



Wy,
Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

158 EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Secretary Gares. Well, I wouldn’t know quite how to answer your
question, Senator, because maybe some of us that live o close to these
things have a different understanding than the public has. Tt i so
clear in my mind that the President has made a commitment not to
fly these airplanes during his administration that I believe that the
question becomes hy%)(_ytheticn], and 1 believe if it i clear to other
people as it is to me that this is so, then it would be, I helieve, stepping
up to a threat. DButif it is not clear, and I am incorrect in this, then
1 think we ought to take a look at it.

Senator Morsk. 1 am so anxious to see to it that we make it crystal
clear because I aan very much concerned about world reaction to our
present position. I think we are living in the moment now where we
can stop an adverse world reaction, and I think we are living 1o a
moment where there is great danger that a substantial segment of
world opinion is going {0 go against us, unless we are willing to make
crystal elear that we are not going to, through any agency of our
(tovernment, resort to aircraft espionage, because we are dealing here
when we are dealing with espionage, as you so very well, 1 think,
eseribed it yourself, with a form of activity that s a pretty ugly
husiness.

Seeretary Gares. Yes, sir.

Senator Morse. And we all know that it isn’t based on principles
of truth. In espionage, you do what I8 necessary (o protect your
country, including deception and engaging in immoral acts.  [De-
leted. |

Now, ! don’t. think we hwnble ourselves.  To the contrary, I think
we put them on the defensive in world opinion if we say to the world: o~

Listen, we want thie Russians to understand that they are going to have to
assume full responsibility for any starting of a war. We have said and we re-
peat to the world that we have no intention of using aircraft in espionuge work
aver foreign territory.

You think it is perfectly clear. I have just come from across the
country and I can give you assurance that it isn’t in my judginent
clear in American public opinion today, and you have really got &
segment of public opinion in this country that wanis that assurance
from the President. hecause they take note of the fact that in his
speech the other night he wasn’t even as definite a= he was st Paris

in regard to this maiter.
NEED FOR ASSURANCE OF CESSATION OF AIRURAFT ESPIONAGE

Seerctary Gates, Senator, under the American tradition, I would
cay {hat the President says he isn't going 1o overily Russia during
his administration, any circumvention of that statement would not be
in character with either the President or our country. To me, it is
completely clear, but T respect your judgment. o

Qenator Morse. I may be completely wrong. My only point is that
we can afford, it seems to me, as a Nation that does seek peace, to re-
assure the world as muny times as that when assurance might help the
cause of peace, and in doing so I don’t think we humble ourselves.
To the contrary, [ think we put Russia on the defensive. It will help
us in my judgment to win the so-called battle of propag:mda for

peace and strengt hen us in getting these issues into the United Nations.
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Of course I would say this. I think the President is to be commended
for making clear in Paris that he is suspending U-2 flights—that is
what he said ; U-2 flights.

I think he is to be commended for that, and I hope that those who
seek to replace him will give the world assurance immediately that
when any one of them is elected President that will be their policy,
too, because if all this is a moratorium for a few months, it is not
going to strengthen America’s position in world opinion. They want
to know whether or not this is going to be the policy of the United
States, because, in my judgment, if you continue espionage work by
way of aircraft, you are going to lose the world opinion in southeast
Asia, Latin America, and Africa, the opinion of which America has
got to win in the decades ahead to survive, because if that part of
the world goes against us, it is only a matter of a few decades before
we will cease, in my judgment, being a Nation.

You have got to win to the cause of freedom those hundreds of
millions of people, and you are not going to do it in my judgment if
you let Khrushchev get by with a propaganda drive now that we are
the ones that are committing a form of aggression by carrying out an
esplonage program. We don’t like to face up to it but in my judgment
that is going to be the verdict of those people.

The Cizatkman. The Senator’s time is up.

Senator Gore?

SECRETARY GATES’ PARTICIPATION IN ISSUANCE OF STATEMENTS

Senator Gorm. Mr. Secretary, I understood you to say that the
wa’  decision on the 9th that the President should assume full responsibility
was a unanimous decision. Did I correctly understand you?

Secretary Gares. The statement that was issued was a unanimous
paper. I think I am answering you yes.

Senator Gorz. I wanted to give you an opportunity to affirm that,
and you so do now.

You did not participate, I believe you told me, or you told the com-
mittee, in any conference between the 5th and the 9th.

Secretary Gares. That is correct.

Senator Gore, So you did not participate in a conference or in a
communication between the Department of State, the President at
Gettysburg, or otherwise, with anyone regarding the issuance of the
statement which was issued on the 7th by Mr. Ilerter?

Secretary Garus. No, I did not.

Senator Gore. Which partially acknowledged the mission of the
plane.

Secretary Garus. That is correct. I had no participation in that
in any way.

Senator Gore. I believe that concludes my questions, Mr. Chairman.

The Cmamman. Senator Lausche?

KIIRUSTICITEV’S ATTITUDE FOLLOWING VISIT TO THE UNITED STATES

Senator Lausciie. I want to explore a bit the course of conduct
taken by Khrushchev after his visit to the United States, concerning
his attitude especially on West Berlin and West Germany. Isn’t it
a fact that following his visit to the United States, there was shown
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by him a coneciliatory atiitude for a period of about a month or two?
Are yon able to answer that?

Secretary Gates. My impression 18 about the same as vours, Sen-
ator, that there was sort of a tone of conciliation in the air.

Senator Lauscrie. We have had before this committee the Ant-
arctic Treaty that has been recommendedl.

Secretary GATES. Yes, «ir.

Senator Lauscnk, That wassigned by the Soviet. and by the United
States.

Secretary (GaTes. Yes, sir.

Senator Lauvsciie, And that, T think, was last Decemiber 1. And
there was progress made (or a period on the matter of banning nuclear
tests.

Secretary Gares. Yes: there was progress made.

Senator Lauscur. In fact, there was more progress made during
that period than there had been at any other time on that subject.

Secretary (farrs. 1 think that would be fair to say, that it Jooked
more hopeful.

Senator Lauscrr. On November 14 in a speech Khrushchev brutally
attacked Adenauer and the German Republic.

Secretary Gares. I renember the specch.

Senator Lauscrir. You remember thut speech ?

Secretary GaTes. Yes, sir.

Senator Lavsciie. And there was some speculation in the minds of
the people in our Government as to what his purpose was in making
that attack when ostensibly there was to be a confevence to reach some
agreement on West Germany and Berlin. "~

Now then, on December 1, he began repeating his threats that he
would sign a separate peace treaty with Kast Germany. Is it not a
fact that his attack npon Adenauer and upon the German Republic
and his purpose to sign a separate peace treaty, was confirmation of
the immovable position e took before he met at Camp David about
West Berlin and East Germany ?

Secretary Garis. Ves: I think it was. 1 think his position was well
advertised, and we felt in the Department of Defense rhat we were
living under a threat of a separate peace treaty at that time.

Senator Lavscue. Then he has the Baku speech of April 25 in which
he gave a harsher version of what he had been saying for months
ahont East Berlin, West Berlin, and the German Republic. That 1s
in April, pretty close io May 16, and then we have those circumstances
in which you point out that he had a translated paper originally
written in Russian into French translation so that he gave it to— —

Secretary Gares. De Gaulle.

Senator Lavscre. De Gaulle. Flow did he present his paper to
Macemillan?

Secretary Gares. My understanding, Senator, was fhat he didn’t
Teave a paper with Macinillan.  He talked from the same paper and
it. was translated throngh an interpreter to Macmillan verbally. This
is my understanding.

Senator Lavscur lsn't it also a fact that during all of this time and
especially in the several months preceding the conference, the sup-
posed conference, the four powers stated that there would be no yield-
ine on West Berlin, and our rights in West Berlin?

Secretary Gates. That is right.
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KIIRUSIICHEV’S SUMMIT CONFERENCE AIMS

Senator Lauscue. In your opinion, what was the primary thing that
he was aiming for in the conference? I am speaking of Khrushchev.

Secretary Gartrs. You mean when he agreed to go to a summit
conference?

Senator Lauscrr. And down to the end.

Secretary Garns. I testified that I think he thought he would have
his way and make some peace treaty in Berlin with some kind of give
on the part of our allies and our allies refused to give.

REASONS FOR REVOKING INVITATION TO I'RESIDENT LEISENIIOWER

Senator Lauscre. All right. Now then, have you given any
thought to why he revoked the invitation to the President to come to
the Soviet land ?

Secretary Gatrs. Well, again we speculate but in my opinion the
last thing he wanted was for the President to travel around his coun-
try and be acclaimed and received by the popul ation of Russia.

Senator Lauscre. Do you think that he had flashes in his mind
about the acclaim that Nixon got in Poland, and in other places?

Secretary GaTes. He probably did.

Senator Lauscie. And do you think that he kind of thought that
there would be demonstrations for the President of the United States
by the Russian people unparalleled anywhere?

Secretary Gares. 1 believe there would have been.

Senator Lavuscre. That is my honest conviction, that he did not dare

s  havethe President meet the Ukrainian people and the normal Russian
people, excluding the Communists, in that trip to the Soviet and that
is why the invitation was revoked.

Senator WiLey. Will the Senator yield ?

Senator LauscHe. I yield. .

POSSIBLE INFLUENCE OF TIE CIIINESE COMMUNISTS ON KIRUSHCHEY'S
TIIINKING

Senator Wimry. I think there are some other facts there that fit
into the picture that you have very dramatically given us.

Do yon remember after he came to America he went back and he
canvassed individually the various heads of the various states, and
then he made a trip out east and he met Mao Tse-tung?

It was after that that he made that Baku speech. He made several
other speeches, and if you remember, the papers were pretty well filled
with the thoughts that the Chinese Communists were telling him, and
that at the time that he did go to Paris, that conditions were such that
the evidence indicated the Chinese were in Russia. Now all this
bolsters the conclusion that the Secretary has made, that it wasn’t the
U-2 incident. That was just something that he got hold of as an
ostensible reason.

The other was that he couldn’t get his way and that, T understand, is
your position.

Senator Lauscur. I have nothing more to ask you. Thank you
very much, Mr. Gates.
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EFFECT OF DENTAL 0¥ OPPORTUNITY FOR PRESIDENT TO VISIT SOVIET UNION

Senator Gore. If the Senator would yield, I would like to observe
that I was in the Far Kuast at the time President Fisenhower made his
visit to India and other countries, and there was a tremendous favor-
able reception. It served the cause of our country magnificently well.

I think it is a great loss to us that the President has been denied
the opportunity to visit in the Soviet Union. It would have. in my
view, been a great contribution. Fe 1s unquestionably a great exem-
plary influence for America, and 1 agree with you, Senator Lausche
and Senator Wiley. that. the denial of the opportunityv of this visit is
a great loss to us,

1 do not. know wlheiher Mr. Khrushehev wanted it or did not want
. Everyone can draw his own conclusions there.

I wish now that the exchange visit. had been arranged before the
stmmit conference.  Perhaps we would have had a ditferent result.

Senator Lavscire. Mr. Chairman, T would like {0 ask a question.

The Ciratgman. 'The witness would like to make a eonunent.

PRESIDENT BISENITOWRR'S DIGNITY AND CHARACTER AT PARIS MERTING

Secretary (fares. 1 want to make a comment, I sort of feel like mak-
ing, Mr. Chairman. T think you know about this because you were
there. 1 think evervone should be terribly proud of the dignity and
rharaeter of the Presudent in this Paris meeting.

T happened to be sitting next to him and it was a most remarkable
perfornance of strengilh of character and dignity of any man I have
ever seen.

Senator Gore. You might be interesfed to know that [ immediately
took the Mloor and expressed such views, and I do not believe vou will
find any member of this committee has criticized the President’s con-
duct while in Paris.

Secretary Gatrs. | amn sure of that. The purpose of my remarks
was not intended to Jdo anything but just make a statement. 1 know
he has had remarkable support of not only the Congress and this conn-
1y, but of all of our allies too, the NATO meetirg that followed the
Traris meeting was a remarkable meeting.

SONCLUDING REMARKS

The Cramaran. Ts that all, gentlemen?

Senator Wiry. 1 want to express what vou usaally do, the appre-
cintion of the commiitter for the fine work of the Secretary here this
morning.

Senator Lavscur. [ did want to go into this speech of Senator Dodd
where he points out. how Communists took charge in the organizing
of the meeting in New York of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear
P’olicy. But I am not going to go into it.

The CitatRMan, Mr. Secretary, 1 want to thank you for your very
Frank and candid responses and for the patience that vou have shown
it bearing with the committes in asking these questions. 1 think von
have made a very useful record for the benefit of the committee, and
I think we understand what has gone nn much better than we did be-
fore you came up here, and I hope that the record, as censored by the
proper authorities, will not in any way embarrass you.
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Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary. ]

Secretary Gares. I hope not, thank you, Mr. Chairman. )

Senator Gore. Mr. Chairman, before concluding the hearing I
would wish to express to you my personal appreciation for the dig-
nity, intelligence, and discretion and the courage you have displayed
and statesmanship during the course of this hearing.

The CrmamrmaN. Thank you very much.

CHALMERS ROBERTS’ CIIRONOLOGY OF EVENTS

Senator Gore. Now I ask unanimous consent to have printed in the
record a chronology of events which I found exceedingly well done by
Mr. Chalmers Roberts.

The Cratrman. Without objection it is so ordered.

(The chronology referred to follows:)

[From the Washington Post, May 27, 19601
CrroNoLoGY OF U-2 INCIDENT TRACED IN TANGLED WEB oF SUMMIT DISPUTE
WHO WAS RESPONSIBLE?
(By Chalmers M. Roberts)

Who was responsible for the incredible assortment of conflicting statements
and contradictory assertions when the Eisenhower administration was con-
fronted with the U-2 spy plane crisis?

This is the most iminediate question in the taungled web of the U-2 affair
and the subsequent collapse of the Summit Conference in Paris. What follows
is a detailed examination of the facts about the Administration’s handling of
the U-2 case.

It should be noted beforehand, however, that there are other important parts

| — to the whole story: The apparent public hardening of American policy toward
the Soviet Union prior to the U-2 affair; Soviet Premier Nikita S. Khrushchev’s
reaction to that hardening; Khrushchev’s reactions to the American accounts of
the U-2 case; and the internal Soviet pressures on Khrushchev, before and
after the spy plane was downed, because of his year-old policy of trying to do
business with President Eisenhower,

Whether or not Khrushchev would have scuttled the Summit, had there been
no U-2 incident, is not now clear; there are divided opinions in the Adminis-
tration on that. A good many diplomats do tend to agree with what President
Bisenhower said to the congressional leaders yesterday-—that Khrushehev
may have scuttled the conference because he was under “pressure by the
Stalinists,” those in Moscow suspicious of any dealing with the West, “and the
Chinese” Cominunists who have openly disagreed with Khrushchev’s policies.

But that question is only indirectly related to the handling of the U-2 affair
by the Eisenhower Administration.

The chief figures in the U-2 drama in Washington were President Eisenhower,
Secretary of State Christian A. Herter, Under Secretary C. Douglas Dillon, Cen-
tral Intelligence Agency Chief Allen W. Dulles and White 1Iouse Press Secretary
James C. ITagerty.

It is evident from the record that much of the confusion sprang from the
fact that no one acted in supreme authority in directing the Administration’s
actions.

Here is the chronologieal record as far as it is known today :

May 1—The U-2 flight of pilot Francis G. Powers took place on this date
because of a clear weather forecast. That forecast also indicated that such
good weather probably would not be repeated for some weeks: that is, until
after the Suminit Conference, then 2 wecks off. CIA officinls say the equip-
ment carried by Powers, including the tiny poison needle, is standard equipment
carried by all Strategic Air Command crews. It is designed to help a ¢rewman
escape if downed in enemy territory. Powers never was ordered to use the
needle to avoid capture; it was for use to avoid torture, if captured, according
to CIA officials. The pistol was not for murdering Russians but for shooting
small game, it is contended.
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Necond flight

The day of Powers’ ilighi, there was a second U-2 flight from Turkey. This
was a4 meteorological fiight outside the Soviet Union, the kind of flight the Na-
tional Aeronautics and Space Administration unwittingly thought all U-2's were
making. NASA was, of conrse, the “cover” for the clandestine flights over the
Soviet Union,

These penetrations of Soviet air space had been going on for four years with
results highly gratifying to American inteliigence officials. There had been a
great many of these flizhts and the Powers mission was not the first designed to
c¢ross the Soviet Union. Others had succeeded when he failed.

So detailed were the protographs brought back by the U/-2s that at one time
the State Department’s Policy Planning Staff’ considered a proposal to show them
to Khrushehev,  The dea was to use them in an effort to break down his resist-
ance to inspection and control for various disurmament schees.

The proposal was rejected, however, partiully on the grounds that Khrushchev
already knew of the flizhts and that such a move might lead him to make such a
public row that they would have to be discontinued.

Cutoff planned

CIA officials contend that there was to be a cutoff of /-2 flights before the
Summit, that the question was how much iime constituted a margin of safety.
Nevertheless, the Powers mission was permitted to take place two weeks before
the Summit. In his speech on Wednesday the President implied he fully ap-
proved of that.

Mr. Eisenhower said thai, as to complaints over the timing of the fligzhts so
ciose to the Summit, “ihere is no time when vigilance can be relaxed.” By im-
plication, he meant there was no reason to cancel the flight because of the im-
pending conference with the Russians.

However, this has not alw:ys been the President’s policy. It September, 1956,
in the midst of the Suex crisis negotiations with the Russiins as well as the
Igyptians—the President did order a halt to the U-2 flights. Then he apparently
wanted to avoid an incident which would make negotiation more difficult.

There is no evidence, however, that the President was aware beforehand of A,
this particular flight or that either the State Department or the CI1A thought his o
specific approval necessury.  He had delegated authority for the flights, once hav-
ing approved the entire U-2 scheme following Soviet rejection of his “open skies”
plan at the 1955 Geneva Summit conference.

May I1-4~—During this period the CIA and the State Department knew that
Towers was missing: (hey hoped he had crashed and that pilot and plane had
10t no tell-tale evidence. ‘Fhe initial confusion over the missing plane, as to
whether it was Powers o1 the legitimate mefcorological flight in Turkey the same
day, was soon cleare¢ up. There is no evidence that the Administration iaid
out any plan of how to handle the possible disclosures later madde by Khrushehev.

May have Deen misled

The Administration may have been misled into thinking Khrushchev would
remain silent because of Soviet action over the expected visit to the United States
af the boss of the Sovici Air Force, Air Marshal XK. A, Vershinin.

On May 2 the Sevieis asiced for a 48-hour postponement of he anncuncement
. ® the visit. But on May 4 they agreed to a joint Unifed States-Soviet announce-
ment and it was made that day. The visit was canceled on May 138 after Khru-
shehev's T-2 diselosare.

On May 3 it was aunounced from Istanbul, Turke: that a single-engine Air
fraree plane wag missing near Lake Van, not far from the Sovief border. It was
deseribed as a high allitude research plane belonging to NASA.

The report said the plane was one of two which had taken off from the United
States hase at Inerilik near Adana, Turkey, om a weather reconnaissance mission.
"he other plane returned safely but the pilot of the missing craft was said to
have reported his oxygen equipment was out of order.

sHtandard story

This wis the standurd sort of “cover” story for the missing U2, issued in the
hopes that it would suffice. It was not known here whetiier Powers’ U ~2_ went
down or why. To this date, in fact, there is only Khrushchev's word that it was
downed near Sverdlovsk, deep inside the Soviet Union.

Maw 5. -Khrushchev announced to the Supreme Soviel in Moscow the bare fie—
{ails of the U-2 flight, deliberately (he said later) withholding information
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which would have let Washington know that Powers was alive apd that n_auch
of his equipment had been captured intact. He set a trap into which the Hisen-
hower Administration fell. )

In his Wednesday speech, Mr. Bisenhower contended that t'he “_coyermg state-
ment,” as he ealled it, was imperative ‘‘to protect the pilot,.hls mission, and”our
intelligence processes at a time when the true facts were still undetermined.

On May 5 Secretary Herter was in Athens, en route home from a NATO for-
eign ministers conference in Turkey. In charge of the State Department was

Under Secretary Dillon.

Dillon’s responsibility

Under the President’s delegation of authority, it was Diilon’s responsibility
for what next occurred until Herter’s return late on May 6. It was on May &
and 6 that the administration allowed itself to be entangled in a series of lies
about the U-2. . ,

When newsmen went to Press Secretary Hagerty for comment on Khrushchev’s
speech, Hagerty was careful to say only that the President did not know of the
news story about the speech. .

News of the specch arrived here just after the President had left by helicopter
for a National Security Council meeting at a secret hideout, part of a civil de-
fense exercise. There is no evidence on whether the President at that meeting
discussed what to do about the Khrushehev disclosure. The subsequent record
indicates that he left it to Dillon and the State Department. .

State Department spokesman Lincoln White, who received his instructions
personally from Dillon, said that “it may be” that the plane Khrushchev referred
to was the missing so-called NASA. aircraft. It was also announced that the
President had ordered an immediate inquiry into Khrushchev's accusation,

Trouble compounded

This semi-lie was aggravated by NASA’s press chief, Walter T. Bonney. Un-
aware that NASA was being used as a ‘“cover” for the spy flights, Bonney said
at a press confercnce that the plane was on a wholly peaceful mission. Ie gave
details of the plane's Adana take-off, its route within Turkey and the pilot’s

] alleged report of his oxygen trouble. The Administration’s story thus was that
-’ a peaceful flight outside Soviet borders might have by accident transgressed the
Soviet-Turkish border.

There is no evidence that the President or Dillon, or anyone else in authority
in the Administration, took charge of the whole affair and told NASA to say
nothing. There have been subsequent hints from the White House, however,
that some such order went out to NASA but was overlooked or disregarded. 'The
record here is not clear.

May 6.—In Moscow it was claimed the U-2 was shot down by a rocket on
Khrushchev’s personal order, but other details still were withheld. However,
%oviet Foir’eign Minister Andrei Gromyko termed the American explanation
“nonsense.’

“HFull facts” asked

The State Departinent said it was asking the “full facts” in Moscow. White,
still acting under Dillon’s orders, declared that “there was absolutely no—n-o—
deliberate attempt to violate the Soviet airspace.” The lie thus was compounded.

Around dinner time Herter arrived home from Grecce to take charge of the
State Department.

The strongest evidence that the handling of the U-2 affair was left by the
President to the State Department—first te Dillon, then to Herter—comes from
Vice President Richard M. Nixon. On a May 15 television show Nixon gave this
explanation, putting part of the blame for the fumbling on the insistent demand.
of newsmen for the facts:

“Now, let’s look at the problem with which our people in the State Department
were confronted when this information developed. They did not know at the
outset what the Soviet Union knew. They did not know that the pilot had been
recovered and that they had obtained information from him or otherwise which
made it imperative we acknowledge that these flights had taken place.

Alternative question

“Now, some would say then, ‘well, why then didn’t we keep our mouths shut
and say nothing and wait until we found out what they knew ?

“And }'Jere again we have the problem of the open society. We have newsmen
in Washington. The newsmen descended upon the State Department and other
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~officinls it great nwrbers. They had a right to. And they asked for the in-
formation. What abeut this? And, so under the circumstances, it. was felt that
ihe best thing to do was to engage in effect in what usually is engnged in where
so-called espionage activities are undertaken, evasive actions—evasive actions,
s0 as to protect the pilot in the event that Le had been captured and also evasive
actions so as to give the Soviet Union, Mr. Khrushehev, for example, an oppor-
Lunity to sccept the couseguences of this Hight withonut admiiiing as he has had
to adinit that it had been conducted for espionage purposes.”

Later in the swne program Nixon added that “they had to make a sonap de-
cisient at the moment and it proved that—it turned out that that decision was
wroeng and in these Kinds of activities, we, of course, want to try to avold mis-
takes iff we can”

Reforonces niissing

Nowhere in the three-and-a-haif-hour television program did Nixon refer to any
presidentinl direction in the U-2 crisis, other than his approval of the flights
sotie vears earlier.  Nor was their any reference to his own part in the aftair.
Nixon, of course, sits in the National SBecnrity Council.

Nixon did sayv that e was “privy” o the U=2 reconnaissance poiicy “and [ do
onddorse 167 He also saia that ©I knew about this flight * * *.7

On Friday affernoon. May 6, the Prexident went to hix (tettvsburg, 'u., farm
for o1 weekend of rest and golf.  He did not retnrn to Washington until Sunday,
May S bt he was in teiephone communication with Herier during the weekend.
Hagerty, who accompanied lhe President to (Gettysburg, also talked by phoue to
Hertor.

Veay 7. -Khrushebeyo in oa second Moseow speech on the -2, disclosed the
piloi. was alive and talkmg and that much of his equipment had been eaptured
nbnet, Khrushehev showed the Supreme Soviet photos {aken from the U-2 of
sovict military installstions and he detailed the plane’= eguipment.

tlennine information

Americenn officials, Who received the speech in the morning. VWashington time,
knew Khrashebey was psine informatiou that was genuine ana that sorae of it
cotdd have come only Trom Powers himself, N

Khrushrhev quoted Hagerty as sayving (hat ‘the Prosident. in his opiluion,
fnew notiing about 1le ineldent involving the American plane, | fully admit
fanid Khvnshehov) that the President did not know thint a plane was sent be-
vond the Roviet frontier and did not return.”

Phe IKhusghehey speech resulled ina series of all-day conferences in which the
Chief figures were Hevter, Dillon, Allen Dulles and a number of lesser State
Deperiment oflicinds ineluding Herter’s adviser on Soviet affairs, Charles .
Bohlen,

Out of {hix eame 4 anannous decision to tell the truth—bil not all the truth.
Phe dinner-hour State Departinent statement said that ibe flight referred to by
Whrushichey “was probably pndertaken by an unarmed civilian (=2 plane * = %

Might justified

ha light war jusiilied on the grounds of the need “to obtain intormation now
coneeded hehind the Tren Cartain” to lessen the daugevs of a sorprise attack
an the frec world in gene-ui and the United States in particalas.

Omn the critienl isse of who was responsible for the flight, bowever, the siate-
mens Tied, 1t said that “as o result of the inguiry ordered by the President, it
has heon ostablished that insofar as the authorities in Washington are con-
corpcd there was ne aathorization for any such 1lighi ax described by Mr.
Mr. Khrushehev?”

In making this statenend, chiefly the decision of Necretary LIevter. those in-
volved were guided by a number of considerations. They feit that Khrushchev
heil the evidence and therefore an admission was essential despite the ea rlier
lies,  Dut they were irapped in a dilemma on the issie of responsibility. 'They
devided i was best 1o aveid admitting any responsibility by President. Kisen-
nhower even at the cosi of aceepting the resultant impression that Washington’s
control was so lax that American pilots around the world could go off on their
own on a mission that might provoke a war.

Dulles willing
During the State Department deliberations Allen Dulles mirde it clear that he,
as hewd of CIA, was prepared to take full responsibility for the flizht, that if the
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Administration wanted to pin the blame on him to avoid blaming the President,
he would agree. But this idea was not accepted as being practical in view of
Khrushchev’s disclosures.

Herter read the draft statement on the phone to the President in Gettysburg.
He approved it without changing a word.

In part, at least, Herter's decision to tell the lie that no one in Washington
authorized the flight also was based in the slim hope that somehow Khrushchev
would accept if. The Secretary and his aides had noted Khrushchev’s acceptance
of what he had taken as Hagerty’s disclaimer of any Eisenhower responsibility.

May 8—While the world assessed the scemingly incredible American admission
that the U-2 had indeed been on an espionage flight, President Eisenhower re-
turned to Washington and met with Herter at the White House.

Notes to Britain, France

The same day Khrushchev sent notes to Britain and France about the forth-
coming summit conference. In them he complained about the U-2 but gave no
indication it would be used to wreck the conference as was to be the case.

By now Hagerty was alarmed at the implications of the admission statement,
implications that the President did not know what was going on. e was
insistent to Herter that this should somehow be eliminated. It is not clear
whether the President said the same thing to Herter directly but if he did there
would seem to have been no reason for Hagerty to do so.

May 9—After another State Department conference, Herter put out a state-
ment in his name saying that “penetration” by the U-2s of the Soviet Union had
been going on for four years, that this had been done by presidential orders
“since the beginning of his Administration” in order to gather intelligence. But
Herter added that “specific missions of these unarmed civilian aircraft have not
been subject to presidential authorization.” This, at last, appeared to be the
truth.

Unaware of implication

This was the statement which left the implication that such U-2 flights would
be continued over the Soviet Union. But there is reason to believe that none of
those involved at State Department was conscious of any such implication when

| — they drafted the statement. They took the view, shared by the CIA, that the
U-2 setup now was “a blown agent” to be discarded, that other intelligence
gathering methods would continue, however.

Nonetheless the implication was there and neither State nor the White House
did anything to correct it until the President himself told Khrushehev in Paris
a full weck later that “these flights were suspended after the recent incident
and are not to be resumed.”

The President said Wednesday he wanted no public announcement until he
met Khrushchev in Paris. American officialy also claimed the flight suspension
was ordered the previous Thursday, May 12, which is at cross-purposes with the
claim that no implication of further flights was contained in Herter’s May 9
statement.

Nizon wnaware

Indeed, Nixon in his May 15 television appearance seemed unaware that the
flights had been cancelled. He then said:

“The first responsibility of the President of the United States * * * ig to
protect the security of this country and of free peoples everywhere from the
devastation that would result from a surprise attack. Now, that is why these
flights were made in the first place. That is why an indication has been made
that such activities may have to continue in the future * * 7

Herter and Dulles appeared on May 9 before a specially arranged closed-door
Congressional leadership meeting. To at least some of those present Herter
left the clear implication that the flights would continue.

May 10—The Soviet news agency, Tass, described Herter’s statement as “a
frank attempt to legalize and justify violation of the state frontiers of other
nations for espionage purposes.” A Soviet note to the United States avoided
blaming President Eisenhower personally but, in referring to the May 7 state-
ment by State, said it did “not correspond to reality.” Tt charged that the U-2
flights “are carried on with the sanction of the Government of the United States
of America.”
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‘Welcome doubted

May 11.--At an exhibition in Moscow of the U-2 wreckage and equipment,
K hrushcehev said Herter's May 9 statement made him doubt “Our earlier conclu-
sion” that the President himself did not know of the flights. He said he doubted
the President would be welcome in Russia during his scheduled June visit there.

When asked whether the U-2 incident would come up it the Summniit Confer-
ence, Khrushchey replied: 1t is already the subject of worldwide discussion.
"Therefore 1 believe there is no need to put it on the discussion schedule at the
Summit Conference.”

The same day at his press conference here President Kisenhower tock fall
responsibility for the U-2 flights, said nothing to counter the implication that
they would continue, remarked that “no one wants another Peurl ldarbor.”

May 12-7)—During this period Khrushchev went to Paris a day early, arriv-
ing on Raturday, May 14, llerter arrived on May 13 buy there was no United
States-Soviet contact. On the 13th the Soviet Union sent protest notes to Nor-
wiy, Pakistan and Turkey warning against further use of their territory jor
suceh missions as those of the U—2 which Khrushchev had claitsed took off from
Pakistan with the expectation of landing in Norway.

On the 12th the United States seut a note to Moscow which said the United
Yiates had “fully stated its position” about the U-2 incident in the May 9 Herter
slatement.

By now President Eisennower’s responsibility for the U-2 flights, if not for the
specific Powers mission, had been firmly esiablished on the ymblic record.

May 15.- “The President arrived in Pariz just before Khruashchev's calt on
¥rench President de Gaulle. 'The President considered two possible moves in
this final day before the Summit Conference was to open: 1o axk for a bilateral
tneeting with Khrushckev and ro announce publicly that ne more flights would
be made.

But the President decided against either step. He did so chiedly on the basis
of de Gaulle’s report of the hard stand taken by Khrushchev in their talk that
morning. 1Iis aides toid him they deduced from Khrushehev's words with de
Gaulle that the Soviet leader had come to Puris bound by a prior Moscow deei- -~
gion by the ruling Presidiumn, that he therefore could not be swayed by either T
guggested Fisenhower move.

Allen statement

On this same day in Washington George V. Allen, chief of the U. S. Informa-
tion Agency, said on a television show that Herter “has pot said that we are
going to continue to fiy” =2 missions, that “he hasn't saici one way or anocther.”
"This statement surprised State Department officials who now say Allen was talk-
ing entirely on his owr, that he had consulted nobody in :}dvmwg.

May 16.-—At the only Paris confrontation hetween I'resident Eisenhower and
Khrushehey, the Soviet leader said the United States had “torpedoed” the eon-
ference. He demanded that the President apologize for the fights, call off
fiiether flights and punish those responsible for Powers’ mission. These were
the same demands of whieh be had informed de Gaulle the day b'efore. He
charged the President with making “treachery” the basis of his policy toward
the Soviet 1/nion. _ -

To this the President responded by terming Khrushchev's demands an “ulti-
matum” which “would never be acceptable 1 the United States.” He also told
Khrushchev that U-2 lights had been suspended and would n(}t be resumed.
The two men parted in anger. The Summit had collapsed before it had begun.

SPEECIT OF SENATOR DODD
Senator Lauscis. 1 would like to put into the record a_copy of
Senator Dodd’s speech describing how this meeting New York, on

the phase sponsored by the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy but

‘organized by Communists, was, conducted.
%‘he OratrMaN. Without objection, so ordered.
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(The speech referred to follows:)

[From the Congressional Record, May 25, 1960, pp. 10234-102371
THE COMMUNIST INFILTRATION IN THE NUCLEAR TesT BAN MOVEMENT

Mr, Dobp. Mr. President, in his statement of January 22, J. Edgar Hoover
warned that Nikita Khrushchev’'s visit to this country had resulted in the
reinvigoration of the American Communist movement and that the FBI was
receiving increasing evidence of stepped-up Communist activities at many points.

Among other things, Mr. IHoover warned that non-Communist organizations
dedicated to causes that command popular support could expect Communist
efforts to infiltrate their ranks. ’

Evidence that has come into the hands of the Subcommittee on Internal
Security indicates that the Communist Party has made the nuclear test ban
movement the chief target of its infiltration operations. I think it important
that this evidence be placed before Congress and before the public so that we
may have a better understanding of the methods by which the Communists
operate and of the goals they seek to achieve. I should like to detail to you
some of the evidence of thig infiltration, and to suggest the outline of a self-
defense program for all organizations whose purposes make them particularly
vulnerable to Communist infiltration.

I do not accept the thesis that if one happens to hold a position that enjoys
the support of the Communist Party on any issue, one is, ipso facto, either a
pro-Communist or a fellow traveler. The Communists are opposed to the poll
tax: does that make all people who oppose the poll tax Communists? The
Communists support the Forand bill. Does that make the many millions of
Americans who have endorsed the bill Communist sympathizers? Obviously not.
But on a foreign policy issue of overriding importance like the test ban, if a
legitimate organization adheres to a policy which coincides with Communist
policy, then it must be prepared to expect a concerted effort at infiltration by the
Communist termites. The more urgent the issue, the more respectable the
organization, the more illustrious the names on its letterhead, the greater the
temptation from the Communist standpoint.

The Committee for a Sane Nuclear DPolicy is headed by a group of nationally

- prominent citizens about whose integrity and good faith there is no guestion.
Among them are people like Norman Cousins, of the Saturday Review, Mr.
Clarence Pickett of the American Friends Service Committee, Mr. Norman
Thomas, and so forth, They advocate a point of view which some of us consider
unrealistic or utopian, but it is, nevertheless, a significant point of view on an
issue of life and death importance. For the personal motivations of most of
those associated with the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy I have the most
sincere respect. The point of view they represent deserves a hearing—indeed,
it must be heard.

Last Thursday evening, May 19, the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy held
a rally at Madison Square Garden in New York City. Many eminent persons
attended this rally. The speakers included Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt, Mr. Alfred
Landon, Mr. Walter Reuther, Gov. G. Mennen Williams, of Michigan, and Dr.
Harold Taylor, former President of Sarah Lawrence College. At this meeting,
the speakers urged that another summit meeting be convened for the purpose
of attempting to arrive at an agreement banning nuclear tests.

Because I esteem the sincerity of the original founders of the Committee for
a Sane Nuclear Policy and the sincerity of the speakers I have named, it was
for me an unpleasant duty to have to notify them that the unpublicized chief
organizer of the Madison Square Garden rally, Henry Alroms, was a veteran
member of the Communist Party; that there was also evidence of serious
Communist infiltration at chapter level throughout the Committee for a Sane
Nuclear Policy; that the Communist Party and its front organizations had done
their utmost to promote the meeting; that the Communists provided much of
the organizing machinery for the meeting becausé they planned to use it as
a pressure instrument in support of Soviet nuclear diplomacy.

This information was confirmed by the Subcommittee on Internal Security
only several days before the Madison Square Garden meeting was scheduled to
take place. Because I wished to be fair to all the decent and prominent people
who were assoclated with the meeting as sponsors or as speakers, I had some
doubt about the advisability of rushing into print with my information only
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45 hours in advance of the rally. Instead, I decided to comunicate the informa-
tiom, or at least certain essential portions of it, to Mr. Norman Clousins, the
chairman of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy. Mr. Cousing came to
Washington to see me and we had a long and frank discussion about the problem.

The directors of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy, it fwrned out, had
some inkling of the existence of a Communist infiltration and were extremely
urhappy about it. When the Communist affiliations of the chief organizer of
the Madison Square Garder meeting were brought to Mr. Cousing’ attention,
he immedintely suspended the organizer in question. This was 2 days before
tho meeting. It is my understanding that the national committee of the organ-
iz::tion intends to take some further measures against Communist infiltrators.

If I have any crilicism to make, it is that the directors of the organization
have moved so slowly to confront the problem and that the measures they
have taken have heen inandequate. I was, for example, surprised to discover
that one of the officers of the committee, Mr. Norman Thomas, had, as early as
laxt January, expressed serious suspicion about the individual who later became
orzanizer of the Madison Square Garden meeting—but that no action had been
taken on Mr. Thomas’ warning.

To me it is appalling that the Communisrs should be able to infiltrate and
maenipulate a movement founded on sincere humanitarian and pacifist motiva-
tions, and headed by so many reputable citizens, Perhaps this is a situation in
which remedial legislation is indicated, a situation in which private citizens
must have the assistance of Government to cope effectively with a movement that
operates by stealth and hy secrecy.

in aceordance with the subcommittee’s mandate from the Senate, i was
clear that our duty required that we do everything in our power {o get at the
fucts.  In presenting the information we have gleaned to the Senate, it is my
hepe that | will be ihle to do so in a manner that will avoid injury to the
innocent and will point the way to a consgtructive course of setion hy Govern-
ment and private organizations.

The test ban has for several years now been the chief objective of the Com-
munist propaganda apparatus.  Of this there is ample documentary evidence.

in his speech before the congress of the Soviet Communist Party on January
27. Nikita Khrushehey, in his most militant rhetoric, called for s permanent m
ban on nuclear tests.

The main political resotution adopted by the 17th congress of the Communist
ity of the U.S.A., in February 1960 said :

“The demand that the administration end nuclear testing and ban the H-bomb
has found a widening response in community meetings, peace talks, petitions,
and sermons from the pulpit,”

‘i February 16, 1960, seven Communists foreign language newspapers took
a inll-page sdvertisement in the New York Times and called on the President—

1. To proclaim the achievement of total, universal, and conirolled disarma-
ment as the goal of National 178, policy.

2. To restore the moratorium on the testing of nueclear weapons and to do
everything in your power to insure early agreement on the banning of all nuclear
terrs.

=3, To oppose the sharing of nuclear warhcads with NATO allies.”

‘The Committee for i1 Sane Nuclear Policy has not solicited the praise of the
Coonmunist movement, and most of its leaders, I am certain, would be much
happier if they received na plaudits from Communist sources. 'The fact, never-
thiless, remains that the committee in recent years has been the recipient of
consistent and generous praise from the Communist press. The Communist
organ, New World Review, for April of this year, for example, carried these
puragraphs under the caption “Pence Groups in the United States™:

“No amount of conspiratorial silence can wipe out the forces for disarma-
ment and peace; but it ean leave them isolated from each other and ignorant
of ihe efforts their fellows are making.

“It is our purpose to bring to our readers’ attention the main groups in our
couniry working toward these ends, beginning in this issue * * * with a deserip-
tinn of the main nonsectarian national organization.

“NATIONAY, COMMITTEE FOR A SANE NUCLEAR POLICY

“QANE offers a wide choice of channels for expression of the American peo-
ple's desire for a world without war. Under the co-chairmanship of Norman
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Cousins, editor of the Saturday Review, and Clarence Pickett, executive secre-
tary emeritus of thc American Friends Service Committee, and with the sponsor-
ship and support of many noted Americans, SANE provides an elastic organiza-
tion and comprehensive program through which ordinary people can be effective.

“Local committees of SANE exist in many cities, towns, counties, and small
communities throughout the United States. Their membership policy is flexible
and they generally welcome additions to their forces, whether for one particular
campaign or on a long-term basis.”

Mr. President, to anyone who is familiar with the language of communism,
the paragraphs I have just quoted constitute a clear directive to members of the
Communist Party to enter into the ranks of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear
Policy. These paragraphs, I might point out, were not the haphazard product of
a novice or intellectual dilettante. They were written by the editor of the
magazine, Jessica Smith, a hardened oldtime Communist.

As for the Madison Square Garden meeting, the Communist organ, the
Worker, in a serieg of its own advertisements, called upon all the Communists
faithful to turn out in strength. The masthead of the Worker for May 15
carried a banner headline “For Sanity in Foreign PPolicy—All Out to Madison
Square Garden, Thursday, 7:45 p.m.”

Given this background, it was only natural to anticipate that the Communists
would attempt to find their way into the organizing mechanism of the meeting.

The name of the Communist Party member who served as chief organizer
of the Madison Square Garden meeting is Henry II. Abrams. As I have pointed
out, Mr. Norman Cousins suspended Mr. Abrams several days before the meeting,
when I brought the matter to his attention. Until the date of his suspension,
however, Mr. Abrams devoted virtually full time to the organization of the
meeting for many weeks. He did so, moreover, without remuneration.

On March 16, 1060, Mr. Abrams attended a meeting of the executive committee
of the Greater New York committee of the National Committce for a Sane
Nuclear Policy. Let me read just two sentences from the minutes of that meet-
ing, which clearly illustrates the central role this Communist agent has played :

“Dr. Lear reported that Gov. G. Mennen Williams has accepted our invitation
to speak at Madison Square Garden. Ilenry Abrams then gave the rest of the
Madison Square Garden report.”

- Henry Abrams’ residence at 11 Riverside Drive, New York City, and his tele-
phone number of Trafalgar 4-7769, is the address and telephone nummber used
by the headquarters of the Upper Manhattan Sane Nuclear Policy Committee.
Abrams has served as an accountant for both the Upper Manhattan Committee
and the Greater New York Committee of the National Committee for a Sane
Nuclear Policy. From these facts it emerges that his association with the
Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy was a long and fairly prominent one.

Now let us look at Henry Abrams’ Communist record.

In 1989, he resided at 972 East 14th Street, Brooklyn, N.Y. In that year he
signed a Communist Party nominating petition from that address which ap-
veared on page 4091 of the election records.

He was a member of the 11th Assembly District Club of the Communist Party
which met at 2744 Broadway, New York City. On Tuesday, February 15, 1944,
it was announced at a meeting of this Communist club that Henry Abrams
would give a class for Communists on the preparation of income tax forms.

Henry Abrams was a member of the Young Communist League and later of
the upper West Side section of the Communist Party of New York City. He has
been a consistent financial contributor to the Communist Party, U.S.A.

As recently as September 28, 1958, the official Communist Party newspaper, the
‘Worker, printed a letter from Henry Abrams endorsing the candidacy of Ben-
Jamin Davis for State senator in the 21st senatorial district of New York City.
Benjamin Davis is national secretary of the Communist Party, and is, in fact, one
of the most notorious of native Communists, a fact which is well known to most
Americans. Ile was one of the leading members of the party convicted in the
famous Foley Square Smith Act trials of a dozen years ago. He spent several
years in jail for advocating the overthrow of the U.8. Government by force
and violence,

Mr. Abrams has served as an accountant for the American Communist Party,
for the Emergency Civil Liberties :Committee, and for the late Congressman
Vito Marcantonio.

Abrams has carried out Communist policies in many ostensibly non-Commu-
nist organizations which have, in fact, served as fronts for the Communist
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Party. Among the organizntions promoted by the Commurists in which he
has played an active role are the Emergency Civil Liberties Committee, the
American Committee for the Protection of the Foreign Born, the Hiroshima Com-
memorative Committerr, the National Committee of the American Forum for
Socialist Education, the American Labor Party, the United Independent Socialist
Conferenee Committee,

1 state all these things as facts, Mr. President. On Friday, May 13, Henry
Abrams was given the opportunity to deny them in a hearing of the Senate
Subcommittee on Internal Security. He invoked the fifth amendiment in reply to
all questions regarding his years’ long record of service to the Communist con-
spiracy.

The obvious and declared purpose of the Madison Square Garden meeting
was to influence American policy on the nuclear test ban. It is one thing when
American citizens come together, in accordunce with their rights, for the pur-
pose of urging a specitic policy on their Government. It is an attogether differ-
ent thing when such ¢ meeting is infiltrated by the Communists and when the
chief organizing role falls into the hands of a member of the C'ommunist Party,
which, as we all know, is a quisling instrument of Soviet policy. Such a sit-
uation has an important bearing on American security, beeause it is axio-
matic that all actions of the Communist Party are planned to subserve the ends
of Soviet diplomacy.

Let me say here, parenthetically, that this is by no means the only oceasion of
Communist machinations in the field of nuctear policy. At a previous hearing,
we established that Aveahm (5. Mezerik, a man with a long Communist ree-
ord, actually managed o so-calied American Nobel Anniversary Forum and Din-
ner. held at the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel in New York City on January 11, 1858,
whieh concentrated on 1he theme of an American ban on nucleuar testing. 1t was
brought out in this hearing that this gathering while managed by a Commu-
nist, was financed by a prominent Americsn capitalist, who was unaware of
Mezerik's Communist record.

With all thig interest in the subject, the Internal Security Subcomimittee
snmmoned Mr. Abrams to appear and testify. Through his attorney, Leonard
Boudin. of New York, Mr. Abrmuns pleaded illness, and asked to be excused from
roming to Washington to testify. We then arranged to hear him in New York -~
City. He showed up with a doctor’s certificate that he was sullering from heart
disease, and moved a further continuance on the ground that his condition
was 8o serious that being questioned might cause him serious harm. Since the
committee was aware that Mr. Abrams had continued right up to that day to
carry a heavy load as the man in active charge of arrangements for the May 19
meeting at Madison Sguare Garden, we were not impressed by these claims.

We had a New York City Public Health Service doctor present, and asked
M1, Abrams if he would consent to be examined then and there. IHe refused,
s0 we denied the request for a continuance and went ahead with the hearing,
which was in executive session.

As I have indicated the hearing had been called in the hope that we could
learn from Mr. Abrams the full story of Communist infiltration of and pariici-
pation in this movement for a nuclear test ban, as a basis for determining what,
if any, legislation may be indicated in this area,

The subcommittee has received evidence, much of it still of a classified na-
ture, that Ienry Abrams is not a lone infiltrator, that there exists in fact a
serious Communist infiltration in the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy.

What, specifically, are the Communists attempting to achieve by their in-
filtration of the test ban movement, including their recent ali-out support of
the Madison Square Gurden meeting? The auswer to this is, 1 believe, obvious.

The Communist purpose in supporting the test ban agitation and in geing all
out to make the Madison Square Garden meeting a success is to exert pressure on
the administration to make still further concessions to the Soviel viewpoint in
order to arrive at a test ban agreement; to create a climate of publie opirion
which will make it Dmpossible for the administration to resiume small under-
sround tests, even though there may be every reason to believe that the Kremlin
is condueting such tests; to enervate the free world so that it becomes incapable
of responding with appropriate measures to challenges at Berlin and at other
points.

In the test ban negotiations that are now going on there are major differ-
ences between the Soviet position and our own. These differences hinge around
the question of inspection. In my own opinion, we have already conceded too
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much, especially by agreeing in prineciple to a further voluntary moratorium on
undetectable underground tests. But for those tests that are subject to detec-
tion, wo still take the stand that here should be an inspection system based on
an adequate number of fixed stations, with at least 20 or 30 onsite inspections
per annum. The Kremlin wants a minimum of inspection. It wants as few
stationy as possible, and its spokesmen have indicated that they would not be
willing to accept more than a few onsite ingpections per annum.

The Kremlin apparently attached major importance to the Madison Square
Garden meeting as a pressure operation in support of its nuclear objectives.
This, I believe, is conclusively demonstrated by the generous and sympathetic
coverage of the meecting in the Soviet press. I think this is interesting. Ac-
cording to an AP dispatch of May 21st, Pravda headlined its account of the
meeting with the words “We Want To Live in Friendship With the Soviet
Union,” while the Izvestia headline read “Rebuff to Advocates of War.”

I believe that the heads of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy have a
serious contribution to make to the great debate on national policy. But they
can only make this contribution effectively if they purge their ranks ruthlessly
of Communist infiltration and if they clearly demarcate their own position from
that of the Communists, first, by stressing the need for adequate inspection, sec-
ond, by reiterating at every opportunity their opposition to the tyranny of
communism

On the basis of the evidence that has come to me, I do not believe that the
Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy has taken the necessary measures to cre-
ate a climate that is inhospitable to Communist infiltration. At the Madison
Square Garden rally, for example, there was much direct and inferential criti-
cism of American policy, but, according to the press accounts and reports from
private sources—persons who were present at the meeting—there was almost no
criticism of Khrushchev or of hig arrogant, insulting, gutter-level behavior in
Paris. On the contrary, the speakers called for an immediate effort to renew
the summit conference.

Let me digress briefly for a comment on this last proposal, which has, un-
fortunately, not been confined to the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy.
Perhaps I am old-fashioned, but to me it seems that after the President of the

- United States has had to endure a barrage of the crudest insults ever leveled

-’ at a head of state, a petition to Khrushchev for another summit meeting would
constitute a total abandonment of national dignity. The only conceivable politi-
cal consequences of so craven an action would be to encourage Khrushchev to
further arrogance and further demands.

As I have said, I bave found no serious evidence that the Madison Square
Garden meeting was organized and conducted in a manner which would have
discouraged Communist participation. It was not surprising, therefore, that
the Communists and their sympathizers turned out in force. Although no
Gallup poll or breakdown was possible, I am convinced from reports that the
Communists were responsible for a very substantial percentage of the overflow
turnout. A number of well-known Communists, including Alexander Trachten-
berg, a top party member, were observed in the audience. Outside the meeting,
the Communists brazenly distributed literature in their own name.

If decent organizations like the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy wish to
protect themselves against the danger of Communist infiltration, I cannot em-
bhasize too strongly the need for an organizational climate that is openly
inhospitable to Communists, This is a situation where a tepid declaration of
devotion to democracy simply will not suffice, while a neutral silence is an open
invitation to disaster.

I can think of other things that can and should be done by the directors of
the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy and of other non-Communist organi-
zations which must contend with the problem of Communist infiltration. At
top level, control is relatively easy. One can more or less assunie that the
people who are elected to a board of directors or to a national commniittee have
enjoyed public visibility over a period of years so that their records are known.
At the local level, not even the FBI with all of its resources could offer a 100
percent guarantee wagainst infiltration. However, 1 think it is possible for
organizations to exercise a good deal of control by carefully examining the
personal records and bona fides, first, of all those who volunteer to help estab-
lish local organizations; second, of those who are elected to office in loeal
organizations; third, of all those assigned to organizing activities.
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IT any effort had been made to do these things, the Madison Square Garden
sitnation might have been avoided. But for 25 years, Henry Abrams has been
a Communist. Without looking up bis record, the Committee for a Sane Nwuclear
Pulicy allowed him to become the chief organizer of the rally in New York City.

That was not taking the necessary precautionary measures.

[ think it is not too much to ask that all such committees, which are headed
by good people and made up of thousands of good people, onght to give considera-
tion to the question whether Communists like Abrams arce taking a part in the
running of their meetings. Many of these committees have been doing good
work, Dnut it is litrle wonder that they become infiltrated by Communists if
they do not take the pains and the time to ascertain who sonic of their people
are, before they allow them to become officers or chief organizers of mass rallies.

! believe it is not too much to ask our fellow citizens who are organizing
committees for the purpose of exerting influence on Congress--as they have
every right to do—to make 2 preliminary, cursory check of the persons who are
working in their organizations, especially hefore they hold such meetings.

"This would not be an easy task. But there is much that can be done. It will
nof always be possible to obtain accurate personal information, hecanse many
Communists operate underground as secret party members. But in the case of
a wuan like Abrams, who has a public record of membership, the facts should
be availuble without too mueh effort.

P*erhaps this is a situntion in which private organizations can in some way be
assisted by Government. This is a problem ithat the Subcommitree on Inrernal
Security is at present exploring.

Mr. President, in ¢loging my remarks, T wish to pay my personul tribute to
Mre. Norman Cousing, the chairman of the Committee for a Rane Nuclear Policy,
for the manner in which he has reacted to the revelations of the snbcommittee.
Mr. Cousins has been a neighbor and a friend of mine for many yvears, T have
the highest regard for him. Thai is why T ralled him up and told him what 1
kuow about Abrams,  He was good enough to come to Washington to see me.

1 said. “T don’t want to release this materinl 24 hours bhefore vour meeting.
Yon have your plans all made.  Bnut many innocent people will be present, and
a nmmber of them will be prominent people.  Why haven’t von ehecked on peo- P
ple like Abrams? Normar Thomas said in January that he was donbtful about
the manw’s background. Hore it is the middle of May. on the cve of your mect-
ing. and you have not yet done anything.”

Mr. Consinsg was upsef about the matter. ¥e immediateiy suspended Abrams.
Not onlty did he do this, but he told me he was glad we had informed him about
Abrams. He offered fo opren the hooks of his organization to the subeominittee
amd to conperate in every way to rid his organization of Communisrs,

i assure Mr. Cousinsg and other persons connected with his committee that the
Subcommittee on Internal Security is ready to cooperate with them to help to
prevent a repetition of the Madison Square Garden situation.

i think it is not too mnach to gay that the subcommittee is desirons and willing
to help anv other organization to avoid infiltration by subterranean elements
who are not there for :iiny good purpose, and who are certainly not interested,
as are the good people who make up the bulk of their membership, in the welfare
of the United States.

i vield the floor.

(Whereupon, at 1:10 p.m., the commitiee adjourned.)

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
P il



“wXpproved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

APPENDIXES

Arrexpix I

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS ON EVENTS
INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

1. PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S REMARKS ON U.S. PLANE
[From the New York Times, May 6, 1960]

Lonoow, May 5 (Reuters)—Following, in translation, are excerpts
from the section of Premier K hrushehev’s address today referring to
the shooting down of a United States plane Sunday, as broadcast from
Moscow:

On instructions of the Soviet Government, I am duty bound to
report to you on aggressive acts directed in the last few weeks by the
United States of America against the Soviet Union.

What form did these aggressive acts take? The United States
sent its planes, which violated our state frontier and intruded into

-’ the airspace of the Soviet Union.

Its last but one aggressive act was perpetrated by the United States
-of America on April 9, 1960.

A United States plane intruded into the airspace of our country
from the Afghanistan side. Of course, no man in his right senses
can think and assume that this violation was done by Afghanistan,
a country which is friendly with us.

We are convinced that this plane belonged to the United States of
America _and obviously was based somewhere on the territory of
Turkey, Iran or Pakistan, which are linked with the U.S.A. by obli-
gations under the aggressive CENTO bloc.

[Mr. Khrushchev said the Soviet Government decided against mak-
ing a protest but ordered military commanders to act if another plane
intruded. ]

American military men apparently liked this impunity as it hap-
pened on April 9, and they decided to repeat the aggressive act.

INCIDENT ON MAY DAY

Selected for this was the most festive day for our people and the
workers of the world—the day of May the First—the international
holiday of fraternal solidarity of the working class.

That day, early in the morning, at 0536 hours, Moscow time, an
American plane flew over our frontier and continued its flight into the
interior of the Soviet land. A report on this aggressive act was im-
mediately given to the Government by the Minister of Defense.
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The Government had stated this: Since he realizes what he comes
up against when intruding into a foreign territory, if he gets away
with it he will attempt fresh provocations. Therefore, the plane must
be shot down.

This task was fulfilled and the plane was shot down.

According to first information, it has transpired that the plane
belongs to the United States of America although it bears no identifi-
cation s1gns.
~ Now an expert commission is studying data that fell in our hands.
It has been established that this plane that crossed the state frontier
of the Soviet Union was coming erther from Turkey, Iran or Pakistan.
_After the study of all materials that are now at our disposal, the
Soviet Government will lodge with the United States of America a
strong protest and will warn it that if similar aggressive acts against
our country continue, we reserve the right to respond to them with
measures we shall find necessary in order to insure the safety of our
country.

We shall also give the most serious warning to those countries that
put their territories at the disposal of the United States of America
for aggressive acts directed against our country.

The following conclusion comes to mind: Aggressive imperialist
forces in the United States in recent times have been taking the most
active measures to undermine the summit or at least to hinder any
agreement that might be reached.

“WHO SENT THIS AIRCRAFT?”

The question then arises: Who sent this aircraft across the Soviet
frontier? Was it the man who is Commander in Chief of the American
armed forces who, as everyone knows, is the President? Or wuas this
aggressive act carried out by Pentagon militarists? 1f such actions
are taken by American military men on their own account, it must
be of especial concern to world opinion.

Perhaps it was a result of the friendship that is now forming be-
tween the United States and Franco that the American militarists
decided to act independently, as did the Spanish military junta, which
rose up against the legal Spanish Government.

Thus, in the so-called free world, military dictators not seldom set
up their regimes using the methods of Franco. But the peoples are
beginning to understand where true freedom is and where there is
tyranny.

Take, for instance, the events in South Korea. The head of the
puppet Syngman Rhee regime, the best friend of the United States
and the father of his country as someone or other called him in Amer-
ica, has now been overtiirown by the people and is now a political
corpse. And it was not the Communists who were behind these events;
even American politicial leaders have had to admit.

The sutferings of the Korean people led them to rise up against the
bestial yoke, and the peoples understand that it was not only a question
of Syngman Rhee himself who was to blame but all those who sup-
ported him and hung him round the necks of the Sonth Koreans.

It is no coincidence that the free world sees so many popular demon-
strations demanding freedom.
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Comrade Deputies, the impression is being formed that the aggres-
sive actions newly undertaken by the United States against the Soviet
Union are a foretaste of the summit meeting.

Are they taken in order to exert pressure on us and to attempt to
frighten us with their military superiority in order to undermine our
determination to work for easing tension, to eliminate the cold war
and to put an end to the arms race?

All these missions are sent in order to prevent any agreement on
vexing questions, for we cannot say that this aircraft was a harbinger
of peace, that it was on a goodwill mission. No, it was a real bandit
ﬂig?lt with aggressive intentions. ) )

We can say to those gentlemen who sent the aircraft that if they
think they can bend our knees and our backs by means of such pres-
sure, this will have no effect on us. The Soviet Union has every means
to give a rebuff to those who want to exert pressure in order to achieve
a solution convenient to aggressors.

In the name of the Soviet Government let me express thanks to the
men of the military units who carried out with honor the task laid on
them in defending the frontiers of our motherland.

Comrades, the Soviet people and Government have always expressed
their peaceful intentions and friendly feelings toward the United
States, but in answer to this we have black ingratitude.

“FEELINGS OF INDIGNATION

It is understood that this has aroused feelings of indignation aguinst

the activities of the American military men. But we must control this
- feeling and must be ruled not by our emotions, but by reason.

(Government leaders interested in preserving peace must soberly con-
?idgr the consequences of such actions and think what they might
ead to.

Hitler’s aircraft before the war used to intrude into our airspace.
The Soviet Government would protest, but Hitler refused to pay at-
tention and then attacked us. Xnd where did that all end?

How do we assess the incursion of American aircraft—as a precursor
of war or a foreshadow of attack, of the repetition of what Hitler
did? The Soviet Government thinks that all the same there is no
reason to draw such conclusions.

There is another relationship of power in the world, and in this the
people’s will to peace plays a great part and this is why we do not con-
clude that this is a prewar trial of strength or a reconnaissance made
to try our nerves, preserve the atmosphere of the cold war so that the
imperialists can continue to bind their people with taxation, to carry
on the arms race, and to keep their people in a state of fear of war and
to continue to impose their will.

The Soviet Union has no aggressive intentions, we do not want the
cold war, we want disarmament and our proposals made to the United
Nations on this subject remain in force still. Once again, we repeat
that disarmament is the right way to preserve peace and in such condi-
tions no country would be able unilaterally to arm and attack another.
The Soviet Government once again calls on the Government of the
United States to end the cold war. All states must act peaceably so
that calm, peace and happiness can prevail.
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2. DEFENSE DEPARTMENT NEWS RELEASE, MAY 5, 1960
[No. 509-60]

Forthe ’ress:

The U.S. Air Force confirmed on May 3, 1960, that a NASA U-2
aireraft is missing in Turkey. It wason a weather mission originating
at Adana, Turkey. P’urpose was a study of clear air turbulence. Dur-
ing the flight in SE Turkey the pilot reported oxygen dJdifficulty. IFast
word heard at 9 a.am. Ist of May, Turkish time (3 a.m. 1 May e.d.t.)
over emergency frequency. U-2 aireraft did not land at Adana as
planned and could only be assumed down. A search effort is underway
in Lake Van area.

The missing U-2 is a National Aeronautics and Space Administra-
tion aireraft. The pilot is an employee of Lockheed Aircraft Corp.,
under contract to NASA.

The U-2 program was initiated in 1955 to perform high altitude
weather research.

The flight was a joint NASA/AF Air Weather Service Mission.

3. EXCERPTS FROM TRANSCRIPT OF DEPARTMENT OF
STATE PRESS AND RADIO NEWS BRIEFING, MAY 5,
1960

%= * s * = 2 *

Mr. Wurre. Now, ihe Department has been mformed by NASA -~
that as announced May 3 an unarmed plane, . U--2 weather research 0w
plane based at. Adana, Tnrkey, piloted by a civilian has been missing
sinee May 1. During the flight of this plane, the pilol reporled
difficulty  with his oxygen equipment. Mr. Khrushchev has an-
nounced that o 1.8, plane has been shot down over the 11.S.S.R. on
that date. It may be that this was the missing plane. It is entirely
possible that having a fuilure in the oxygen equipment, which could
result in the pilot losing consciousness, the plane continued on auto-
matic pilot for a considerable distance and accidentally violated Soviet
airspace. The United States Is taking this matter up with the Soviet
Ciovernment, with particnlar reference to the fate of the pilot.

That 1s the end of the statement.

Q. What was the plane doing, weather reconnaissance?

A. NASA isbriefing reporters on the full details of that.

Q. When you say von are taking this matter up with the Soviet
Government, do yon mean you are asking for information on the
piot, or making a protest. abont the plane?

A. Thig matter i= being taken up with the Soviet Governmeat,
John (Hightower). through our Ambassador in Moscow.

Q. Yes, but it is u profest oran inquiry ?

A, T can't say just what form it will take at this stage, I would
think, initially, an inquiry.

Q. Ts this the report which the White House announced would be
made ?

A. That is correct.

Q. Yousay it may be that this was the missing plane?

A Yes.
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Q. There are other planes missing or

A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. Unaccounted for?

A. No,not that I am aware of.

Q. You say this plane was from Adana, Turkey. Is that the U.S.
Air Force Base down there?

A. As I say, you better get this information from NASA. (See
NASA Press Release No. 60-198.)

Q. Khrushchev also said an American plane violated the Soviet
frontier by flying over the Afghan border on April 9. Do you have
anything on that?

A. We have absolutely no—N-O—information on that at all.

Q. Wasn’t this plane accompanied by another plane of the same
type when it started out on the reconnaissance flight?

A. I am not aware of that, if that is a fact, but I assume NASA
can give you that information, Paul (Ward). I have nothing on it.

Q. Link, the area where this plane disappeared is the same as the
other plane

A. Thisis the Lake Van area. ‘

Q. Is that the same area where the carlier plane disappeared in
19587

A. In the neighborhood of it.
Q. Link, how do you know the plane was having difficulty ?
A. He reported it.
Q. He reported it by radio?
A. That is right.
_ Q. At the time did he give his position ?
- A. Tn the Lake Van area.
Q. Was his course such at that time that if continued it might have
taken him over the Soviet Union ?
A. John (Hightower), I don’t have those details.
Q. Was that the last communication from him, Link?
A. So far as 1 know.
Q. What was the question ?
A. The question was, was that the last communication from the
pilot, and to my knowledge it was.
Q. Is the the name of this pilot being released by somebody ?
A. Here I would like to go off the record. * * *

Q. ?Link’ has any protest been received from the Soviet Govern-
ment ¢

A. No, sir, it has not.

Q. Link, do you have any comment on the rest of Khrushchev’s
speech, his statement that the Summit looks gloomy now because of
hlSA aggressive American action ? ’

. No.

Q. Is this the first indication we had in Khrushchev’s speech that
the plane had becn shot down? There was no previous comrmunica-
tion from the Soviets?

A. Nothing priorto this.

Q. Thank you, very much.
A. Yes,sir.
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4. NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRA-
TION NEWS RELEASE, MAY 5, 1960

[NASA Release No. 60-193]

Memo 1o the Press:

One of NASA’s U-2 research airplanes, in use since 1956 in a
continuing program to study gust-meteorological conditions found
at high altitude, has been missing since about 9 o’clock Sunday morn-
ing (local time), when its pilot reported he was having oxygen diffi-
culties over the Lake Van, Turkey, area.

The airplane had taken off from Incirlik Air Base, Turkey. The
flight plan called for the first check point to be at 37 degrees, 25
minutes, North : 41 degrees, 23 minutes, East, and for a left turn to be
made to the Lake Van beacon, thence to the Trabazon beacon, thence
to Antalya, and return to Adana. The flight scheduled wus estimated
at 3 hours, 45 minutes, for a total of 1,400 nautical miles. Takeoff
was at 8 a.m. local time.

(The above-given times are the equivalent of 3 a.n. Sunday, and
¥ a.mn., eastern daylight time.)

About 1 hour after takeoff, the pilot reported difficulties with his
oxygen equipment. Using emergency radio frequency, he reported he
was heading for the Lake Van Peacon to get his bearings, and that
he would return to Adana.

As indicated above, his flight plan called for him to make a left turn
at the Lake Van beacon. His last report indicated he was attempting
io Teceive that beacon. It is believed he probably was on a north- — #%
casterly course, but there was no further word.

An aerial search was begun soon after receipt of the last communi-
cation. The Lake Van area is mountainous and very rugged. No
evidence has been sighted of the aircraft having crashed.

If the pilot continued to suffer lack of oxygen, the path of the alr-
plane from the last reported position would be impossible to de-
termine. 1f the airplane was on automatic pilot, it is likely it would
hiave continued along its northeasterly course.

The pilot, as are all pilots used on NASA’s program of upper at-
mosphere research with the U-2 airplane, is a civilian employed by
the Lockheed Aircraft Corp., builders of the airplane.

When the research program was begun in 1956 by the National
Advisory Committee for Aeronautics (predecessor to NASA), the
IFederal agency did not have a sufficient number of pilots to operate
the program, and so a contract was made with Lockheed to provide
the pilots, ,

Overseas logistic support for NASA’s continuing use of the U-2 is
provided by Air Weather Service units of the USAF. )

NASA has procured a total of 10 U-2 airplanes. The airplane
was originally built as a private venture by Lockheed to serve as a
“flying test bed.” It is powered by a single Pratt & Whitney J-57
turbojet. engine, and ean maintain flight for as long as 4 hours at
altitudes of up to 55,000 feet. )

Since inception of the research program in 1956, the U-2 flying
weanther laboratories have operated from bases in California, New
York, Alaska, England, Germany, Turkey, Pakistan, Japan, Okinawa,
and the Philippines.
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The U-2 airplanes are gresently being used in California (I18d-
wards AFB, one), Japan (Atsugi, three%}and Turkey (Adana, four).

The instrumentation carried by the U-2 permits obtaining more
precise information about clear air turbulence, convective clouds,
wind shear, the jet stream, and such widespread weather patterns as
tyfhoons. The airplane also has been used by NASA to obtain
information about cosmic rays, and the concentration of certain ele-
ments in the atmosphere, including ozone and water vapor.

Instrumentation carried includes: Angular velocity recorder, to
measure the airplane’s rate of pitch; modified VGH recorder, to
measure and record head-on gust components in flight ; flight recorder
Model BB, continuous recorder of indicated airspeeci, pressure alti-
tude and normal acceleration; airspeed and altitude transducer to
measure pressure altitude and indicated airspeed; temperature and
humidity measuring set AN/AMQ 7, to measure indicated free air
temperature and indicated relative humidity ; and vortex thermometer
system, to measure true free-air temperature within one-half degree
centigrade at high speeds.

5. DEPARTMENT OF STATE PRESS RELEASE, MAY 6, 1960
[No. 249]

The following is the tewt of a note delivered today by the American
Embassy at Moscow to the Soviet Ministry of Foreign Affairs:

The Embassy of the United States of America by instruction of its

~ Government has the honor to state the following :

-’ The United States Government has noted the statement of the Chair-
man of the Council of Ministers of the Union of Soviet Socialist Re-
publics, N. 8. Khrushchev, in his speech before the Supreme Soviet
on May 5 that a foreign aircraft crossed the border of the Soviet Union
on May 1 and that on orders of the Soviet Government, this aircraft
was shot down. In this same statement it was said that investigation
showed that it was a United States plane.

As already announced on May 3, a United States National Aeronan-
tical Space Agency unarmed weather research plane based at Adana,
Turkey, and piloted by a civilian American has been missing since May
1. The name of the American civilian pilot is Francis Gary Powers,
born on August 17, 1929, at Jenkins, Kentucky.

In the ligtiat of the above the United States Government requests the
Soviet Government to provide it with full facts of the Soviet investi-
gation of this incident and to inform it of the fate of the pilot.

6. EXCERPTS FROM PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S REMARKS
ON U.S. PLANE INCIDENT, MAY 7, 1960

[From the New York Times, May 8, 19601

Following are excerpts from the concluding speech to the meeting
of the Supreme Soviet in Moscow yesterday by Premier K hrushchew,
as provided in English in New York by Tass, the official Soviet press
agency :

The aggressive act committed by the American Air Force against
the Soviet Union has justifiably incensed the Deputies and all the
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Soviet people. Numerous inquiries and appeals are being received
by the session and the Soviet Government. In view of this permil me
{o dwell on this question once again and to furnish certain new data.

After my report to the Supreme Soviet, in which 1 dwelt on this
fact, the United States Department of State claimed in an official
press statement that the point in question was a violation of the Soviet
State Frontier by an American awreraft of the “Lockheed U-2” type,
which allegedly was studying weather conditions in the upper layers
of the atmosphere in the area of the Turkish-Soviet frontier.

This plane had allegedly strayed off its course because the pilot had
oxygen trouble. The State Department asserts that the pilot Jost
consciousness and, steered by its automatic pilot, the plane flew into
Soviet territory. According to the Department of State, the pilot
only had time to report back about the failure of his oxygen equip-
ment to the Turkish airdrome in Adana, whence it flew, an airdrome
which allegedly does not belong to the military but to the National
Aeronautics and Space Research Administration.

Soon after that. the National Aeronautics and Space Research
Administration issued a statement with a view to confirming the State
Department’s version.

“MANY SILLY THINGS”

Comrades, I must. (ell you a secret. When I wes making my report
I deliberately did not say that the pilot was alive and in good health
and that we have got. parts of the plane. We dii so deliberately be-
cause had we told everything at once, the Americans would have 4
invenied another version. '

And now, just look how many silly things they have said—Van
Lake, scientific research and so on and so forth. Now that they kuow
that the pilot is alive they will have to invent something else and they
will do if.

[Mr. Khrushchev read from the United States statement issued
after his first announcement ; it was printed in the New York Times
last Friday.]

These are the official versions put into cireulation by American
officials to mislead the public opinion of their country and the world.

I must declare, comrade Deputies, that these versions are completely
untrue and calculated for gullible people.

The authors of these versions supposed that if the plane was shot
down, the pilot most probably perished too. So there will be nobody
to ask how everything actually happened, there will be no way to
check what sort of plane it was and what instruments it carried.

“ALIVE AND IN GOUD HEALZWH

First of all, I wish to announce that the pilot of the shot-down
American plane is alive and in good health. He is now in Moscow.
Brought here also are the remains of (his plane and its special instru-
mentation, discovered during the investigation.

The name of this pilot is Francis Gary Powers. He is 30 years old.
He says he is a firgt lieutenant of the United States Air Foree, where
he served ti11 1956, that is, to the day when he went over to the Central
Intelligence Ageney.
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Francis Powers reported, incidentally, that while serving with the
American Air Force he used to get $700 a month, but when he went
over to the intelligence service and started carrying out spying as-
signments to glean secret information, he began getting $2,500 a
month. That 1s how capital buys lives, buys people. The flier testi-
fied that he had no dizziness, nor had his oxygen apparatus failed.
He was flying along the assigned course, accurately executing his
chief’s orders, switching on and off the equipment over the pre-
selected targets for gleaning intelligence on the Soviet Union’s mili-
tary and industrial establishments, and flew on until the very mo-
ment his piratical flight into this country’s interior was cut short. )

I want to tell something about the results of the examination
of the plane that has been shot down and its equipment, as well as of
the questioning of the pilot. The inquiry still continues, but the pic-
ture is fairly c%ear already.

PLANE TYPE CONFIRMED

To start with, this was, indeed, a high-altitude, low-speed “Lock-
heed U-2.” They banked on its high altitude and believed that this
plane cannot be brought down by any fighter or antiaircraft artil-
lery. That is why they thought it could fly over Soviet territory with
immunity. In fact, the plane flew at a great altitude and it was hit
by the rocket at an altitude of 20,000 meters [65,000 feet]. And if
they fly higher, we will also hit them! The plane was in no way
equipped for “upper atmosphere research” or for taking “air sam-
ples,” as official American spokesmen assert.

— Not at all. This was a real military reconnaissance aireraft fitted
with various instruments for collecting intelligence and, among other
things, for aerial photography.

The competent commission of experts, which examined the wrecked
plane, has established from the documentary evidence that this Amer-
tean plane is a specially prepared reconnaissance aircraft. The task
of the plane was to cross the entire territory of the Soviet Union from
the Pamirs to the Kola Peninsula to get” information on our coun-
try’s military and industrial establishments by means of aerial photog-
raphy. Besides acrial cameras the plane carried other reconnaissance
equipment for spotting radar networks, identifying the location and
frequencies of operating radio stations and other special radio en-
gineering equipment.

Not only do we have the equipment of that plane, but we also have
the developed film showing a number of areas of our territory. Iere
are some of these photos. Here are photos of these airfields. ITere
are two white lines. They are lines of our fighters. Tere is another
airfield and also planes on it. All these films we developed ourselves.

CAMERA IS PRAISED

. Here are photos of petrol stores. It must be said that the camera
is not a bad one and the photo is very accurate.

But T must say that our cameras take better pictures, are more
accurate, so that we gained little in this respect.
These photos here show industrial enterprises.
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There is also a tape recording of the signals of a number of cur
ground radar stations. These are incontestible evidence of the spying
done by the American plane shot down in the vicinity of Sverdlovsk.
'That is what “air samples” American reconnaissance took, and it took
them not over Van Lake in Turkey but quite elsewhere.

The only thing that is true is that this plane was stationed at the
A merican-Turkish air base at Incirlik east of Adana. As Powers, the
flier, testified, he was serving with the 10-10 unit, which, for the sake
of disguise, is under conirol of the National Aeronaulics and Space
Administration, but in reality, conducts high-altitade military recon-
naissance.

In his depositions, Powers mentioned the names of several oilicers
he had served with at the American military base i Turkey. Aec-
cording to Powers’ testimony, the commander of the American 10-10
unit is Col. William Shelton and his deputy is Lieut. Col. Carol Funk.

Before his flight, Powers had long {rained himself for flying into
ilie depth of this couniry and, as he said himself, he had flown along
the Soviet frontier manv times in order to study the radar svstem
of the Soviet Union.

“POWERS, THE $COUT”

On April 27, Powers, the scout, flew over frorm the Turkish city
of Adana to the eshawar airfield in Pakistan on orders from lis
superiors. And it was, therefore, from Pakistan’s territory, that is.
from the Peshawar airtield-——and not from the Turkish airfield outside
Adana, as stated in the 1Tnited States State Department’s version— o
that Powers took off on May 1 with instruction to fly along the course
indicated on his map over the Aral Sea, Sverdlovsk and other points
and reach Archangel and Murmansk, before landing at the Bude aur-
field in Norway.

Now we can say where he was flying to. I must admit. that we knew
it already when I was reporting this fact. We did nof. say anything-
at that time in order to see what the Americans would mvent. Now
}:hat they have made their invention, we report how everything actually
happened.

%[‘his is what Powers said when questioned about the task of his flight
over Soviet territory.

“T was to take off from the Peshawar airfield in Pakistan, cross the
national frontier of the U.S.S.R. and fly across Soviet territory to.
Norway. T was to fly over certain points of the U.S.S.R., of which 1
remember Murmansk and Archangel. During my flight over Soviet
territory T was to switch on and off the equipment over certain points.
indicated on the map. T believe my flight over Soviet territory was
meant for collecting information on Soviet guided missiles and radar
stations.”

I want to ask the gentlemen from the State Department: Is it such
“yir samples over Lake Van” that the spy flier Powers was to take?

11AQI REVOLT RECALLED

1 say nothing of the fact that by flying along this course, the Ameri-
can scout plane grossly violated the national sovereignty of Afghan-
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istan by having flown across that country’s territory without permis-
sion. But there is, perhaps, nothing extraordinary in this for the
morals of American militarists. Such actions of theirs have long been
known.

Suffice it to recall the flight of American military aircraft over the
territory of Austria, when the aggression was being prepared against
Iraq, where a revolution had just taken place. The Austrian Govern-
ment protested against the treacherous violation of Austria’s sover-
eignty by American military aireraft and against that blatant act of
disrespect for her neutrality sealed by the signatures of the United
States, among others,

If one believes the version that the pilot lost consciousness owing to
oxygen trouble and that the aircraft was subsequently controlled by
the automatic pilot, one must also believe that the aircraft controlled
by an automatic pilot flew from Turkey to Pakistan, touched down at
Peshewar Airport, stayed there three days, took off early in the
morning of May 1, flew over the territory of Afghanistan, crossed the
Soviet frontier, flew more than 2,000 kilometers over our territory for
a total of some fonr hours.

All the time of the flight over our territory the aircraft was under
observation and was brought down as soon as the order was received.

When our anti-aireraft rocket battery intercepted and brought down
the plane, the pilot, it must be believed, soon regained his conscious-
ness because he bailed out by parachute; you just note he was not
ejected by the automatic device but left through the upper canopy
designed for emplaning. The question arises why did he do this if
there are devices for rapid ejection ?

- He did this possibly because there was an explosive charge in the
aireraft which was to have blown up the plane as soon as the pilot was
ejected. The pilot knew this and possibly was afraid that he would be
killed in the explosion. Clever enough !

“NOT TIE ONLY PRECAUTION”

But the installation of the infernal machine was not the only pre-
caution taken. To cover up the tracks of the crime the pilot was told
that he must not fall alive in the hands of the Soviet authorities. For
this reason he was supplied with a special pin. He was to have pricked
himself with this poisoned pin, resulting in instantaneous death.

What a barbarism! Hereis this instrument—the latest achievement
of American technology for the killing of their own people (a photo-
graph is produced).

But everything alive wants to live and when the plane was brought
down the pilot bailed out by parachute. And when he landed he did
not follow the advice of those who sent him on his anti-Soviet preda-
tory assignment but remained alive.

t is aff]eged that the flight was made for scientific purposes to in-
vestigate the upper layers of the atmosphere. The question arises why
the pilot then had to be armed with a noiseless pistol. He was given
it for some emergency, not to take air samples but to blow people’s
brains out. All this we shall present to the public as material evidence.
This is what, so to say, such Christians are like.
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Ie was given this pistol after making Jow bows as they do in
churches. And yet they call us godless atheists. Yet we have never
committed such crimes against humanity and never will. If the pilot
was given a pistol to defend himself against wild beasts in case of a
forced landing, the question arises, why a pistol with a silencer? This
also shows what sc-called scientific purposes were pursued by the
plane.

The pilot who was supposed to explore the atmosphere was given
7,500 rubles in Soviet currency. The question arises, when and
where was he to have spent them and for what purposes, for he did
not fly to exchange old rubles for new ?

H0LD FRANCS, GOID RINGS

The pilot was alse given French gold franes. I haveseen these gold
francs with my own eyes.  And you can see them here in the photo-
graph. They are covered with cellophane on both sides of the coins.
Done in a cultured, American way. But what did the pilot need these
franes for? He also had West German, Italian, and other currency.
Besides his own watch he was also given for his trip another two gold
watches and seven gold rings for ladies. Why was all this necessary
in the upper layers of the atmosphere? Or, maybe, the pilot was to
have flown still higher to Mars and was going to lead astray Martian
Indies?

Y ou see how thoroughly American pilots are equipped before setting
olf on a flight to take samples of air m the upper layers of the atmos-
phere. Thus, no concocted version can save the reputation of those
who bear the responsibility for this perfidious act. S

Thus, no concocted version can save the reputation of those who bear
the responsibility for this perfidious action. They were caught ved-
handed as organizers of the incursion in the airspace of the Soviet
Union not long before the meeting of the heads of government in
I’aris, not long before the visit to the Soviet Union of the President of
the United States. T believe that this is a bad preparation for serious
talks on easing international tension.

I am now reading in the Western press comments on these events
and there are some people who acense us, Khrushehev, of wanting to
undermine the summis mneeting because otherwise he would not have
presented this fact at the session of the Supreme Soviet but raised it
through some other channels but what did you expect, gentlemen ?
You are accustomed to make mischief and some people regard this as
all but a good thing and keep silent. No, we are not such kind of
people: if you made mischief bear the responsibility for this openly.

WY SUCH A “RECKLESS STEP”
They live according to the law; if one is rich, one will not be irpris-
oned. This is true for the capitalist because he always can buy him-
self off. But there is another country, the country of socialism, where

laow protects the state, protects society, protects everyone living in this
slate.
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Commenta on True Magazine Version of U-2 Incident

1. Statement: ''Other spy planes had penetrated deep into
Russia, one sneaking within a few miles of Moscow. But Powers
was to be the first to cross the vast Soviet land mass from the Aral
to the Barents Seas. His main checkpoints:

"1, Tyura Tam, the great Soviet missile center in the
desert east of the Aral Sea.

"2. The 8verdlovsk rocket sites.

"3. The Soviet air and submarine bases at Archangel
and Murmansk,

"His touch-down on friendly soil would be at Bodo, Norway. "

Comment: The Russians released to the world very shortly
after the May lst incident photographs of the mission route map carried
in the cockpit of the aircraft which contained the check points noted in
the sbove quotation. In addition, an enlarged photograph of this map
was on display throughout the public exhibition of the aircraft in Moscow
at Gorki Park, This was the first planned South-north flieht.

2. Statement: "It was known that 2 monster missile, twice the
size of America's 107-foot Atlas, was poised on a launching pad at Tyura
Tam. The Central Intelligence Agency desperately wanted photographs
of this new missile. They suspected it might be vsed for a long-hinted
May Day space spectacular,"

Gomment: Tyura Tam was not the Primary objective of the
1 May mission. However, it was considered to be a valuable en route
bonus target., There was no knowledge of any "monster missile' being
in place on the launching pad, although there was some conjecture that
the Soviets might attempt a space launching on 1 May for propaganda
purposes,
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3. Statement: "The weather on May Day was perfect. . .”

Comment; The weather on May Day was not perfect. The
first portion of the route, to a point approximately 150 nautical miles
south of Sverdlovsk, and including Tyura Tam, was predicted to be
cloud covered, The pllot was instructed to tura his camera on over
Tyura Tam just as a precautionary measure in the event that holes
in the undercast might permit some coverage of value, The area of
primary interest, northwest of Sverdlovek to the Kola Peninsula, was
predicted to be clear and it was on this basis that the decision to go
was madse, Subsaguent analysis of actual weather conditions substantiated
the pre-mission forecast,

4. Statement: “"Nor would any other flights across Russia have
been attempted until President Eisenhowsr had completed his visit te
Russia in mid-June. May 2 had been set ss the beginning of & mora-
torium on such aerial espionage, and for at least six weeks there would
be no more."

Comment: It is true that authorization for this particular
overflight would have expired after 1 May; however, the six-week
moratorium has no basis in fact. While there has been considerable
conjecture about “deadlines", the above information was never digsclosed,
even in Congressional hearings,

5, Staternent: "Powers was not piloting the only U-Z in the air
that day. Simultaneously, another U-2 had taken off from Incirlik to fly
conspicucusly along the Soviet horder as a decoy. The pilot deiiherately
sent meaningless messages over his radio to attract attention and to lure
Soviet radar and monitoring stationsg into following him while Powers
slipped into Russia unnoticed. The decoy would continue over Pakistan,
then return to Incirlik, The Pakistan authorities who knew nothing of
Powers' secret mission, would be notified that a U-2 bad arrived and
they would assume it was Powers."

Comment: The diversionary aircraft maintsined radio
silence throughout its mission, I was not intended as a decoy but was
depigned to substantisate the cover story and protect the pre-sirike base
in the event the mission aircraft was lost, particularly if it were
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lost in proximity to the border. The diversionary mission did not go
beyend Iran before turning and proceeding back to Turkey.

The only other public reference we f{ind to a second U-2
flight was in an sarticle by Chalmers Roberta in the Washington Post
of 27 May 1960, which included the following staternent: "The day of
Powers' flight, there was a second U-2 flight from Turkey. This was
a meteorological flight cutside the Soviet Union, the kind of flight the
Naticnal Asronsitics and Space Administration unwittingly thought all
U-2's were making. NASA was, of course, the 'cover’ for the
clandestine flights over the Soviet Union."”

6. Stateraent: "It soon became clear, however, that the Russians
had not been fooled by the decoy. American listening and watching stations
picksd up the frustrated comments of the Soviet defenders who had dis-
covered Powers but were unable to do anything about him,

“Soviet jets leaped and snarled at the spy plane which
bovered high out of their reach. For & tantalizing moment one inter-
ceptor managed to reach the intruder's level. Our monitors could hear

the Rusasian screaming like a banshee with the fury of his effort.”

25X1

25X1

7. Statement: "To those daring young men who flew the U-2s,
a flight over Sverdlovsk was pretty much a milk-run. They called the
nstwork of domed rocket launchers below the "House of David,"

Comment: No overflight of the USSR was ever congidered
2 "milk run' either by the pilots or anyone else associated with the
project. The reference to the "House of David" is apparently & cor-
ruption of the term "Little Davids'' applied to the 3AM sites by photo
interpreters at PIC because of their geometric resemblance to & Star
of David. This descriptive term was adopted by the Intslligence Com-
munity but was not supposedly known to the public.

8. Statement: ", . his inertial guidance gear which permitted
him to navigate without external radio aids, ., . . "

Comment: The U-2 had ne inertial guidance gear whatsoever,
- 3 -
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9. Statement: "‘Powers switched off the fuel to keep the
engine from Zﬁadin,g. then snapped on his command radio, turned
to the emergency ''G'' channel and barked tersely: "Flameout!
Flameout!" These words were heard across the Turkish border
1, 200 miles away where a handful of Americans were watching the
drama helplessly on radar screens and listéning by high-powered
radio monitors. :

Commant:
T REnt 1n ed In ~%; BY

optimum conditions, has a range of less than 300 nautical miles and
even if a transmission had been attempted, which iz highly unlikely,
could not bave been received 1, 200 miles away.

10. Statement: ‘At 37, 000 feet the Soviet fighters caught
up with him, formed 2 canopy over his head and began forcing him
to the ground. !

| Comment: There is no evidence available from any
source to confirm this.

1. Statement: "For the first penetration of Soviet territory,
trusted foreign pllots were used in case the {flights should fail,"

12, BStatement: “The U-i's special kerosene fuel, relined
for high altitude cruising, is particularly difficult to re-iguite in
case of flameout. "

Comment:  The jet fuel used in the U~-Z is no more
difficult to ve-ignite than any of the other jet fuels in normal use.

13. Statement: "“One of the first U« flights over Russia
penetrated as far ae Kiev, 200 miles inside the Soviet Union, during
the first week of July, 1956. Ruesian defenders spotted the plane
but could not knock it down. Their anti-aircraft rockets fell short
at 60, 000 feet -~ which in itself was valuable information,
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Comment: Thies statement is true, with the exception
of that portion referring to anti-aircraft rocketa falling short at
60,000 feet, There is no evidence that rockets were fired at the
U-2 on any of its overflights prior to 1 May.

A statement by Khrushchev at the Czechoslovak Embassy
reception {re;mrted in the New York Times, 10 May 1960) included the
following:

»] shall say further, when Twining, the then Chief of
Staff of the U, 5. Air Force, arrived here we welcomed
him as & guest and entertained him. He left our country
by air and next day sent a plane flying at great zititude to
our country. This plane flew as far as Kiev."

The fact that one of the first Russian overflights
penetrated deeply into the Soviet Union was widely publicized as a
result of the official Soviet protest of 10 July 1956, This note protested
overflights on July 4, 5 and 9, 1956 by a "'twin engined medium bomber"
and cited that in one case a penstration of 320 kilometers had been
achieved, The note did not mention Kiev, which was in fact covered
on & migsion on 9 July,

. 14, Statement: ‘"'Before Powers' fateful flight, there had
been at least two missions aimed at Sverdlovek., The firet went only

half way, then turned back because the clouds made photography
difficult,”

Comment: There had been only one mission to Sverdiovek
prior to the 1 May flight. However, there was a mission targeted to
the Irkutsk area, flown by Frank Powers, which did turn back prior to
reaching the target because of cloud cover.

b"’“"n"% et ete

.q
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10 September 1960

Brigadier General Andrew J. Goodpaster
Staff Secretary ‘
The White House

Dear Andy:

In response to your request, I enclose a memorandum
containing comments on the significant statements in the article in
True Magasine for September 1960, entitled

"Exclusivel Inside Story of Pilot Powers and his
Secret U-2 Spy Flight, Official Air Force documents
and secrst reports revsal for the firgt time the true
facts behind the spy-in-the-sky mis#ions. By Drew
Pearson and Jack Anderson.”

As you will note, the title of the ariicle refers to official
Alr Force documents and secret reports as a source for the story,
In the text of the article itself there is reference to the story being
"based on official Air Force reports.”

1 also enclose 2 report of the radio interview of Drew
Pasarson by Patty Cavin on August 23, 1960, hearing on the
Pearson-Andersen article in which Pearson claims '"that we had
access to the Air Force racorda in this flight', In another portion
of the interview Pearson referas to "information that the Alr Force
hasg.®

I am sending a copy of the enclosed report to General Walsh,
Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence of the Air Force to ascertain
whether he can throw any light on these references to the Air Force

which of course may be 2 blind to divert attention from the real source

of the information,

1
and orig of report of Interfiew Sincerely,

Peason-Cavin. :‘-ﬂ\&.@ ;

- s

Allen W, Dulles
Director

Cy #3 - DEp‘BraéadfﬁBPR‘é’lé%Ete‘?E‘oo4/osl13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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11 September 1960

Major General James H. Walsh
Agssistant Chief of Staff, Intelligence
United States Air Force

The Fentagon

Washington 23, D, C,

Dear Jim:

At the request of General Goodpaster I have prepared and
sent forward to him an analysis of the Drew Pearson-Anderson
article in True Magazine for September. A copy of that report,
with & copy of the transmitting letter, is enclosed,

You will note Pearson's repeated allegations that he had
acceas to Alr Force flles in connection with the preparation of
the report, Similar allegations appear in a radic interview which
Poearson gave to Patty Cavin on 23 August 1960, a transcript of
which is attached,

As I noted in my latter to General Goodpaster, these
references may of course be a blind to divert attention from the
real source of the information,

While there are a very large numnber of inaccuraciss and
false allegations in the Pearson-Anderson articie and the Pearson
broadcast, they do contain some fairly accurate material that I
have not seen before in public print,

I would appreciate it however if you would look into the
matter and let me know whether you can find any clue which
would help us to ascertain the source for the Pearson statements.

X1Copy #1 &2 to Addee w/copy of |w/attch
and with thermo of Pearson-Cavin Sincerely,
interview

- - DDCI - no attch.

# 4 - DCI -no attch, ' .
45 _ DPD via DDP =no attch 7 Allen W, Dulles

cpbey
lenard

Director

Enclosures
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INTERV IEW WITH DREW PEARSON

Patty Cavino at 12:15 F.M. over WRC {Washington):
Miss Cavin interviewed columnist Drew Pearson, and the foliowing was heard:

CAVIN: "Columnist Pemrson and his partner Jack Anderson have the exclusive
inside story of what really happened on May D y, 1960, vhen lLockheed pilot Francis
Gery Powers took off in his sieek U-2 on. what™seemed 10 be an innocent weather
flight. The account i8 published for the first time ‘n the September issue of Trus,
and seems to be backed up today by statements made iamst nighit »y <JA Chief Allen
Duiles. We'll heve words with Drew Pearson first up on our show...

"Page 34 of the September issue of the man's mageszine True hss a rather
startling headline. It says, "Exclusive Inside Story of Pilot Powere and his Secret
U-2 Spy Flight.” The byline belongs to Drew Pearenn and his partner Jack Anderson.
We have Mr. Drew Pearson at our NBC microphone now, and, Drew, I was fascinated snd
somewhat appelled to read this account of what really happened for the first time,
because it differs rather considerably from the reports that we have had sine May
Day on the Powers flight and what really did happen from the newspapers' standpoint.
How come?"

PEARSON: “well, I don't know, Patty, except that we had access to the Air Force
records in this flight, and they very carefully monitored everything that Powers d4id,
both at the time and then they had to recomstruct what happened afterwards, and, for
instance, when his plane was displayed at Gorki Purk in Moscow, the propeller bimdes
were bent back, which wouldn't mean very much %o you and me. but to the Air Force it
meant & great deal. It mesnt his plane had stalled in the air st a flight--at an
altitude actually of 70,000 feet, and the plane never crashed. It came down to a
landing which didn't bresk up the plane too much.”

CAVIN: "As you and Jack Anderson say in True magazine, to a belly-scraping
landing."

PEARSON: ‘"Your worde are better than mine. 1 see that you've really reead that
article. "

CAVIN: '"Well, I couldn't put the article down, ] must admit. Actumlly, Drev
Pearson, let's go back and stert at the findings that you and Jack Anderson began
with. You traced the beginning of U-2's."

PEARSON: “"Yes, we went back to spproximately five years ago, perhaps a little
bit before that. These flights have been taking place for a long time, not merely
by the U-2 planes, but at first the United States various intelligence forces had
attempted to get information by balloon, and had sent belloons at a very high alti-
tude across Russia with photographic equipment.

"Well, this ran into trouble. Later we sent planes across with pilots who were
Awericans of other origins who could speak Russian very well, and then we switched
finally to the U-2 plane after it was developed by Lockheed. We gave orders--there's
no secret about any of this now--it's pretty well come out--we'd given orders that
we had to have & U-2 plane--it wasn't c&lled U-2 originally--which could fly at =
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terrific altitude so that no Russian plane could knock it down,

"Now there's one thing I might point out, that nur story Aiffers from the
testimony of Francis Gary Powers in one respect, and it's 2 rather important respect.
We say in this article that he-<his sngine stalled at 70,000 Teet, He says he was
shot at and hit at 68,000 feet, I'm not quibbling ahont the 2,000 fset, that doesn’t
maks much difference.® ’

CAVIN: "Tt's the shot-at area that von are anibbling on.®

PRARSON: "That's right, In cother words, he testifisd that the Russimna shot
hin at 68,000 feet, The informetion that thes Air Force has, ani it is definitely
officlal information--no, I don't think--and we repeat it there--~isz that he was not
shot adt, that the Rusaians have no missile or plane that could hit or fly that high,
And, when, s= we recount in this article, at approximetely 70,700 fsetw«it could
have been 68,000--he turned on the emergency radio in his cockpit and shouted
Flame-out', which means stalled--his engine had stalled, And this was picked up in
Turkey by one of our monitoring stations., And &t that point he coasted down, just
as you would your car down a hill to atart your engzine again,®

CAVIN: ®You sav in your article he spirsled down to L0,000 feet,®

PEARSON: ®That's right, in order to get his enpgine started, The atmosphers
at 70,000 feet is so rarefied that you can't de anything with it, and down lower you
can get started, but at that point he was shot. Now the guestion 1is, why is the
testimony different from what we belisve to be the facte?®

CAVIN: "Well, couldn't that possibly be the effect of the Russiang! questioning
and whatever they have done to Francis Gary Powers since he's been in their handa?®

PEARSON: “Yes, that is definitely my opinion. I think they treated him with
great skill, I don't believe that he was brainwashed, as you and I usually think
of the word brain-washed, but his defense attorney, who was an able defense attornasy,
undoubtedly got in there with him, and quite rightly told him that if he testified
along cartain lines, he would be dealt with more leniently,

®ind the very important thing is that the Russians didn't want anyone to know
that they had a plane-~that an enemy or a potential enemy rather, or any foreign
country is a better way to put it, counld fly over their country and not be shot at,
and I think that's the reason for his testimony.®

CAVING "™Well, now, Drew, you brought out a very interesting point slso, which
we have hsard some facts on, and I'm interested in your interpretation, You said
that May Day dswned perfectly, the weather on May Day was perfect, either for
plicnicking or for U-2 spying, and that the sky over Rusaias had to be cloudless to
give the cameras a clesr view, the upper atmosphere had to be dry so that the plane
would not form giveaway (con trails} (?), If the weather had not been ideal, Powers
would not have made that May Day flight, now would any other flights scross Russia
have been attempted untll President Eisanhower would have completed his visit to
Russis in mid-June--May 2--had alresdy been set as= the day for himw-the last day--
noratorium-~*

PRARSON: “That's right.®
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CAVIN: "Now, you state that the weather was perfect, Mr. Powsrs i‘ock off, and
At the same time in another psrt of the country another plane, as a decoy, wes taking
aff, suppossdly to lure the Russian radar and all the Russian Lrackers into thinking
that this was Powers, Would you give us = few facts on thst?"

PEARSON: "Well, the othear plane took off from--I think it was Adana--at least
it was along ths Turkish border--and flew toward Pakistan from Iran, slong the Tranian-
Pakistan border. The reason for that, a8 you've indicated, was that the imericen
bases in Turkey could commmicate with Powers and the Russians wouid think--we hoped
they would think we were communiceting with the weather plane, The weather plane was
not violsating Russian territory; we fly those all the time.

"However, in this particular case, we did not know tnat the hussians wers wise
to what haé happenad, and they had sighted a previcus plane about April i--t

CAVIN:G "4 U-2"
PEARSON: ™A U-2,"
CAVIN: "Which bad also gone deep into the interior of Hussia?®

PEARSON: "Which had gone deep into the interior of Rusaia, and they were come
plstely awars that this plane on May 1 was coming, and they were waiting for it. 7Thay
ware walting for it for a couple of reasons, One was the resson I just mentionsd,
that this other plane had come along on the first of April. The other was that they
knsw Lhat we were worried sbout thess wery important bases o theirs in Central
Russia, around the Caucasus, where they have their big missile bases, they ars mknu=
facturing some of their biggest rocket projects, and obviously that's what we need
to ses,."

CAVIN: "ind this all go#s right into the story which Allsn Dullss, the Director
of CIA, mads last night when he spoke before members of ths Veterans of Foreign Wars,
Mr, Dulles said that the Kremlin is jeslously guarding the physical areas of the
Soviet Union whers it is building up in secrecy its formidable military weapons,
bulles dsclared that the Russiens have repsatedly refussd to accept s meaningful form
of inspsction, the best guarantee that disarmament can be honest, and Dulles than
charged that Russia believes it is free to prepars in relative security for its
spying on, their bases inside, and that this is our only method of gatting plctures
--agyial piceturas--right??

PEARSON: "That was the only method we had, and unfortunately the most tragic
&ftermath of all this is that we now don't know what is going on inside Russia, and
¥¢ do knowe-we have pratiy good reason to believe that they are transfarring thase
bases to other parts of Russia, and sven have some of their missiles on railrosd cars
8¢ they can be transferred in a hurry."

CAVIN: "Drew, you made another point, when Mr, Powerw was actually captured,
soms of the material that he had with him, including & hypodermic syringe with poison
which killed a Russian dog in 30 seconds, was found, and there is a question in my
mind aftar reading your articls, written with Jack Anderson ) &8 to why Francis Gary
Powers didn't uss the hypodemlc needle, because, as you point out, anyons who works
for lotkhaed but reports to CIA, and one ie in a position more of & pilot than a
spy-~didn't necassssrily huve to pledge that he would dispose of Hmself if he were
caught, but he can't expeact governmsnt backup if he is caught,"

.3-
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PRARSON: "Quite right, Well, the reason apparently that he didn't was that
needls was that, in the first place, he had instructions that if he was caught, he
should tell the truth. The reason for those instructions is very simple, that if a
man is csptured, well, with modern methods of brainwashing and so on, there isn't
anything that you can do to prevent some kind of a story coming out, and usually
it!s s cock and bull story if you're under torture. Now, he probably didn't have
time to use that needle and perhaps he never would have used it--I don't know.

*There have been some theories that somebody got to Powers-~that the Russians
got to him befors he left Turkey-~I don't believe that. The Air Force doesn't
believe it, I think he's--~was a guy who was doing his best, he was just an ordinary

guy--*
CAVIN: ®ind he decided he wanted to live,?

PEARSON: “And decided he wanted to live, right,"

CAVIN: “Well, the final paragraph of the Pearson-Anderson srticle on what
really happened to Francis Gary Powers on this fateful U-2 flight, concludes:

‘Whatever the solution, the age of satellite spying will come, but will it come
soon enough? The hope is that it will arrive before the U-2 pictures, which we al-
ready have in our possession, of Russia, are too far out of date. Otherwise, an even
worse iragedy may result from ocur May Day disaster.!

"Drew, that's food for thought, and we hope that everybody gets TRUE magazine
this September and checks through the detsils which we haven't had time to cover,
Congratulations on an awfully good story, and one final question, Mr, Pearson. Ainy
truth to the rumor that you are currently working with NBC on a special film project?®

PEARSON:; "Yea, I've been working very, very hard out of the city for that
purpose, and doing a ons~-hour documentary as part of the public service program of
NBC on the history and current work of the Quakers, and I hope and believe that it
will be & wonderful film.®

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1



Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1

Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1



Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
OFFICIAL USE ONLY

- BB 48 - USSR INTERNATIONAL AFFATRS
Sept. 6, 1960

NSA EMPLOYEES MOSCOW PRESS CONFERENGE <
| Reportage on Conference
Moscow, Soviet Home Service, Sept. 6, 1960, 1300 GMT--I, (UNCLASSIFIED)

(Report on the mress conference given by two former employces of the
National Security Agency)

(Text) Long before the beginning of the press conference in the marble
hall of the Central House of Journalists numerous.representatives of the
Soviet and foreign press assembled and also radic ‘and televisgion
representatives. What was the topic of the presS'conference?[,Ihis
question interested everyone vwithout exception. T

An ansWer to the question was given by the head of the press department
of the USSR Foreign Ministry, Kharlamov, who opened the bress couference, .

(Kharlamov recorded statement ) s Gentlemen, comrades. As you know, in

the press of the United States, Britain, and other countries at the
beginning of August a report was published by the U,S. Defense Department
concerning the disappearance of two workers of the U,S. National Security
Agency. Thim report mentioned in particular that the FBI and civil

police organizatilons had begun scarching for two employees of the
Superscerct National Security Ageuncy who disappeared at the end of June.
It was also reported that thesc workers were Bernon Mitchell and William
Martin, who for g considerable time worked in the National Security Agency
of the United States. :

The workers of the National Security Agency who disappeared ave now
in Moscow and have requested that they be allowed to appear at a
bress conference for Soviet and foreign jourraliets. Mitchell and
Martin have decided to break with the United States and for political
reasons to ask for political asylum from the Soviet Government.

The Soviet Government has granted Mitchell and Martin the right

of political asylum. The Soviet Government has complied with the
request of Mitchell and Martin concerning the adoption of Soviet
citizenship, and they are now Soviet citizens with full rights. Allow
me to present toyou William Martin and Bernon Mitchell,

Interpreters Bernon Mitehell wishes to read to those present a joint
statement left by them in a bank in the town of Laurel in the United States.

Mitehell: We ought to explain to relatives, friends, and mothers who may
be Interested why we sought citizenship in the Soviet Union. Since

going to work for the National Security agency in the.isummer of 1957

Wwe have learned that the U.S. Governmens knewingly makes false and
deceptive statements both in defending its own actions and in

condemning the actions of other nations.
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- BB 47 - USSR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRiwes
Sept. 6, 1960

The witch is rcally indignants - "I am uot a witch. I am Allen Dul
I am one of you. There is no question of un-Jmerican activities
you med then? Why me alone? What about Hoover from the Federa)
of Investigation and Herter?

But nobody listens to the witch, This witch has served ba + He could
not cope with his duties and failed at every step. Thercfbre, Dulles
and his intelligence agency are being held to account E;{the American
authorities. rd

According to the Weshington POST AND TIMES HERAID, Malter told
correspondents that in the beginning he intends t “investigate the
Central Intelligence Agency, the National Secur};y Ageney, and
intelligence branches of the Defense Departmeng’s At the same time,
Walter cmphasized that the Central Intelligenfe Agency, hecaded by the
not unknown Allen Dulles, would be the maingarget of the investigation.

At long last, the above committcee has stgited business. Dulles should
have been put in the dock a long time gfo, for hardly enyone has under-
mined U,S. prestige abroad to the extght that the head of the Central
Intelligence Agency of the United Stgfes has.

Interrogate, interrogate Dulles, Mr. Waltcr. You have something to ask
him. Ask him several leading qyfstions: Is it not you Mr. Dulles,
who helps hunt and prosceute hghest end talented Americans--scicntists
and artists, writers and painfers? Is it not you, NMr. Dulles, who,
through your dirty and crudgvork in Guatemala, Iran, Syria, and
Indoncsia brought about thg? wrath and contempt of millions of people
toward your policy? o £4% not, finally, with your knowlcedge, Mr.
Dulles, that spy planesBppear in the Sovict skies only to crash

along with the prestigh of your country?

Dulles? good luck gl the hard luck of the Americans lie in the fact
that these questighs will not be put to him. Walbter will not peck out
the eyes of anotifer Walter. Tn fear two wolves swallowed each other,
a Tairy tale sgfs. Fear and confusion now guide the activitics of the
American obfuglaters. Some arc compelled by these feelings to plunge
stralt jacketfd from sykscrapcrs. Others secarch for their own shadows
in order tgf question them according to the rules c¢f wodern criminology
lest the ghadows lead to subversive activitics against those who have
given bjfth to them.

7

We d9/not know what Walter and his committee will do with this new
bigfwitch. In any case let us give some advices "Hold him, Mr.
estigatora. Hold him tight. If you let him go, then tomorrow
he will catch you himself.
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- BB ko - USSR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS
Sept. 6, 1960

(Passage omitted containing Russian suﬁmary of the statement and including
a short recording of the beginnming of Martin's statemeht--Ed.)

Announcers 'Then the head of the press department of the USSR Foreign
Minlstry Invited Soviet and foreign journalists to put questions to
Mitchell and Martin.

Question from IZVESTIYA correspondents You mentioned that (remainder
of sentence indistinct).

Reply: Yes, Italy, Turkey, France, Yugoslavia, the UAR, Indonesia,
and Uruguay. That's enough to give a general picture I think.

Questilon from a correspondent of FREIE WELT of the GDR: In your
statement, you mentioned that the UsS. intelligence scrvice has a
post in the cmbassy of an ally of the United States. Cen you
rane the embassy 1ln whilch this American spy works?

Reply: This is Turkey. This was told me by an (analyst?) who worked
on the (several words indistinct).

Question by Moscow radio corrcspondent Sergeyevs: Are the radio
interception stations situated in countries neighboring the USSR
uged only ageinst the Soviet Union or also against the countrics
in which they are situated?

Reply: Well, it is the gencral poligy to intercept the communications
of all nations that can be successfully intercepted without discriminating
against any nation. (Laughter)

Question by a correspondent of the SUEDDEUTSCHE ZEITUNG; What was your
Job and task in the agency?

Reply: We were mathematicians jin the field of crypotanalysis using
cleetronic digital computers as aildse.

Question by Mr. Frank of the CANADIAN TRIBUNE: I sheuld like to know
some details of your past training and your ege. Also, insofar as you
mention Canada in your statement, have you any supplementery data
concerning the state of U.S.-Canadian relations in this field?

Reply (evidently by Mitchell--Ed.) My age is 3l. T have a bachelor's
degree in statistics from Stanford University, and then I went to
graduate school at George Washington University. Concerning the
relationship between the United States and Canada on cooperation

in erypotanalysis, well, they cooperate on the communist codebook
(work?)--the communist codcbook system-=-they cooperate on this.
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Reply (Evidently by Martin--Ed.): I'1l answer the first question on
biographical data. I am 29 years old, and I received a bachelor's degvee
from the Uniwersity of Weshington in statistics. I stayed with

Mr, Mitchell at the graduate school of George Washington University, and
last year T was given leave to attend the University of Illinois, and

1 received my master's depgree in mathematics this June.

Question by a correspondent of the New York NATIONAL GIARDIAN :
(Question indistinet)

Reply: The answer -to this- question is no. However, I consulted with the
people who did work on these problems. I read their technical. reports,

I saw the map of the Soviet Union upon vhich they plotted the positions

of American plsnes flying around the Soviet Union, and discussed with ihenm
freely all the aspects of their worke.

Question: What are you doing at the present'time?

Repliy: Oh, studying the Ruos:Lan language, preparlng to enter a university
as soon as possible.

Announcer: The Seviet and forelgn correspondents asked some more
questions of Nitchell and Martin and received exhaustive answers.

Text of Statements

Moscow, TASS, Radioteletype in English to Europe, Sep‘b. 6, 1960,
1334 GMT--I (UNCLASSIFIED)

(Text) A press conference for Soviet and foreign newsmen was given in

loscow Sept. 6. DPress statements were made there by the former employees

of the National Security Agency of the United States, Bernon Mitchell

and Willism Martin, who also read a copy of the statement they left behind

in Laurel before their departure from the United States. The following are -«
the full texts of these statements.

The parting statement of Martin and Mitchell: June 22, 1960 a part;m"f -
statement. We hope to explain to our relatives, friends, and others who
may be interested, vwhy we have sought citizenship in the Soviet Unions -

Since going to work for the Natn.onal Security Agency in the summer of

1957, we have learned that the U.S. Government knowingly makes false

and deceptive statements both in defending its own actions and in condemning
the actions of other nations. We also learned that the U.S. Qovernment
sometimes secretly manipulates money and militaxy supplies in an effort

to bring about. the overthrow of govermments which are felt to be unfriendl;
to the United States. -
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Finally, an instence came to our attention vwhere the U,S. Govermment

gave money to a code clerk working . in the Washington embassy of a

U,3. ally for supplying information which assisted in the decryption

of that ally's coded messages. These activities indicate to us that the
U.S. Government is as unscrupulous as it has accused the Soviet Govermment
of being. v

Many people working in the Depariment of Defense and in the intelligence
agencies of the U,5, Government know the truth of what we have asserted.
However, if anyone were to verify any portion of it without official
permission he would be subjéct to heavy penalties.

The recent U-2 incident had nothing to do with our decision to defect,
for this decision was made more than a ‘year ago. The U-2 incident was
merely dn instance where the truth was too obvious to be permanently
suppressed or altered.

In meking these revelations we are not seeking excuses for our action.
Neither do we wish to discourage the American people. There are -
individuals of great integrity and resourcefulness in America who, if
given a chance, can rectify some of the tragic acts of the U.S. Govermment
in recent years.

Besides the disdllusiomment and concern which we have voiced over
certain U.3, policies, other factors have strongly motivated us to go to
the Soviet Union. In the Soviet Union, our main values and interests
appear to be shared by a greater number of people., Consequently, we

feel that there we will be better accepted socially, and will be better
able to carry out our professional activities. Another motivating

factor is that the talents of women are encouraged and utilized to a much
greater extent in the Soviet Union than in the United States. We feel
that this enriches Sovilet society and makes:Soviet women more desirable
as mates,

What are the important issues which divide the people of the United States
and the Soviet Union? One cannot argue convincingly that the Soviets

are evil because they have corrupted Christian virtue. If most Soviet
citlzens do not accept Jesus Christ as their personal savior, that is
their business.

The important issues, we believe, concern which economic and political
practices best serve the interests of mankind. A disadvantage of
capitalist society is that its science and technology cause needless
human suffering by contributing to technological unemployment. It is
no wonder that so many people in America feel resentful toward
intellectual and creative activities,
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We hope tO'becpmé'scientific workers in the Soviet Union, and we
believe that we will be able to engage in scientific investigations

there without fesr of contributing to the economic hardshipslgf others.,

Some people in the United States who are opnosed to communism have

- advocated a preventive war with the Soviet Unlon. They seck a kind of
- security which involves thie annihildtion of people with views opposed
to theflr own. Such a war would at best leave them emperors over the
graveyard of civiligation. .,

- Rather than devoting their energles to the development of newer and more
pewerful means of destruction, we hope that both the United States and
the Soviet Union will divert their efforts toward competition in the
ildeological arena, B

One means of achileving this would be to widely publish in both countries,

in mutually agreed-upon volume, unedited debates about cconomic and

political theory and practice. It is difficult to appreciate one's own
Propaganda without having listened to the propaganda of others. As a

means of Increasing mutual understanding, we feel that the exchanges

already under way between the two countries of cultural,scienzific,and b
industrial delegatlons should be continued and expanded.

This statement has been made without consulting with the government of
the Soviet Union. The reasons for this are that we feel that we owe
the Amgrican people an explanation in such a way that it cannot be
construed later as a propaganda statement inspired by the government
of the nation in which we have asked to be allowed to make our homes.

William H. Martin.
Bernon F. Mitchell.

- The followlng is the full text of the'statement for the‘press by
~ William H. Martin and Bernon F. Mitchell.

Beforeileaving the United States of Americe &t the end of June of
this year, we left the previously-vead statement in safety deposit
'box number 174 in the State Bank of Iaurel in Maryland, rented in the
hame of Bernon F. Mitehell. We brought with us a photographic copy
of this statement.

On the evelope containing this statement, we wrote and signed a request
that the contents be made public, because we wished to explain to the
American people why we decided to ask the Soviet Union to grant us
political asylun,.
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Reports in the American press indicate that U;S. authorities gained
access to the safety deposit box and found our statement. But they did
not fulfill our request to.publi@h it. We can explain this only by

assuming that the Eisenhower-Nikbn administration does not wish certain
aspect Of its policies to become known to the American people.

At this press conference, which hag been arranged at our request, we would
lixe to explain, especially to the American publie, our reasons for leaving
the United States. We were employeen ofithe highly secret Nationsal
Security Agency, which gathers dotimuniedtions intelligence from almost

all nations of the world For uide by the U.S. Government. However, the
simple fact that the United States is engaged in delving into the secrets
of' other rasiouns had little or nothing to do with our decision to defect.

Our main dissatiefaction concerned some of the practices the United States
uses in gothering intelligence information. We were worried sbout the U.,S.
bolicy of deliberately violating the airspace of other nations, and the'
U.5. government's practice of lying about such violations in a manner
intended to mislead public opinion. Furthermore, we were disenchanted

by the U.S. Government's practice of intercepting and deciphering the
secret communications of its own allies. Finally, we objected to the

fact that the U.S. Government was willing to go so far as to recruit
agents from among the personnel of its allies. An instance of this
“practice, involving payment to a code clerk of a U.S. ally, was mentioned
in our first statement.

At this time we would like to make some general comments relative to

our reasons for leaving the United States. Before joining the National
Security Agency, we had a high degree of confidence in the honesty of the
U.S. Government, and we considered ourselves to be loyal supporters of
the Americen way of life. But the bPolicies mentioned above, which have
been. carried out by the U.S. Government in recent years, raised serious
doubts in our minds as to whether the causes these policies are intended
to support are actually worthwhile. It was & diffTicult and rainful
experience to lewe our nabive country, families, and friends. Yet,

we felt that the U.S. Government, in carrying out policies dangerous to
‘World peace, should not be allowed to rely upon these emotional attachments
to guarantee the loyalty of its citizens.

In the statement which we left in the United States, we expressed the
opinion that a preventive war would be futile. It should be evident
that those who contemplate unleashing wars constitute a grave threat to
humanity. Should another world war occur, there would probably be no

further opportunity to build communism, capitalism, or any other form of
society.
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However, some people in the United States disagree on this matier. Foxr
instance, Gen. Thomas Power, commender in chief of the U.S. Strategic
Air Commend, made the following statement, which was published in the
United States in testimony before the U.S, House of Reprgsentatives
Committee on appropriations during debate on the 1959-1900 military
budget. He sadd: T would like to leave the deterrent role for a noment
and talk about the philosophy of initiation of a war and the tremendous
advantages that accrue to the man who starts a war... (TASS ellipsis).
You alwgys have a capability to strike rirst, because obviously if these
people thought we never could start a war;fwhy, then they could just take
this. world away from us by piece, because they would know that as long
as they do not strike us, we could never do anything about it.

General Power's statement involves the dangerous presumption that the
" United States owns the world, and implies that emulation of the Soviet
Union represents taking something awsy from the United States. His
proposal to strike first in an attempt to prevent the trend towaxd
socialism sounds Lo us like & more suicidal thanveffective policy.

Senator Barry Goldwater, chairmen of the Republican Senatorial. Campaign
Committee, made a speech in Chicago on the eve of the Republican

Netional Convention, in which he said, we must not agree to a further

ban on nuclear testing, nor disarmement in the near future. In this

sarne speech he also sald: To our undying national shame, there are among
us those who would prefer to crawl on their bellies to Moscow, rather than
to face the possibillity of an atomic war.

le do not hesitate to include ourselves in the company nentioned by Senator
Goldwater. In fact, we would attempt to crawl to +he moon if we thought

it would lessen the threat of an stomic war. General Power and Senator
Goldwater occupy important pests in American society, but we do noct

believe that they reflect the attitude of the majority of the American
people.

After the U-2 incident, the U,S, Government admitted its policy of
deliberately vicolating the airspace of the Soviet Union. U.S.
officials, particularly Vice President Nixon, tried to Jjustify this
policy by claiming that it wes the only way to forestall a surprise
attack by the USSR, Vice President Nixzon did not mention that much
of the information gathered on these flights could be useful only in an
attempt to penetrate the defenses of the Soviet Uniomn. In connection
with this, the statements of General Power take on ominous neaning.
They could forestall a surprise attack by the Soviet Union by striking
first. It is very difficult for the Soviet Unlon and other nations to
assume that General Power was only expressing his privete opinion‘in
his official. +kestimony before congress.
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Resides its attempts to eontain communism in the eastern hemisphere,
the United States recently declared that 1t would not tolerate communist
influence in the western hemlspliere. Perhaps UsS. hostility toward
communism arises out of & feeling of ilnsecurity engendered by communist
achievements in science, culture, and industry. If this is so, such
feelings of lmsecurity are a poor excuse for endangering world pexce.
The ring of U.S. military bases surrounding the Soviet Unilon seems

to indicate that the U.S. Government thinks it can effectively combat
the ideas of communism by military means. If the United States and
the Soviet Union were to improve communicatlons between their peoples,
perhaps there would not be soumuch antagonism, and condltions might be
created which would make possible a large~scale diversion of military
funds to peaceful purposess

Let us now consider the aerial Intelligence policies of the U.S.
Government. Our first acguaintance with these policiles was during

the time that we served with the U.S. Navy, from 1951 to 195hk. We
both served as communicatlions technicians at several U.5. Naval

radio intercept stations during this period. The UsS. Government has
recently admitted carrylng out intelligence flights around and over
the borders of communist nations, but only during the last four years.
However, we would like to state that these flights were also being
conducted in the period 1952-195L when we were serving at a UsS. Naval
radio intercept statlon at Kami~seya, Japan, near Yokohamae In
advance of a recohnaissance flight of a UsS. military plane along the
Chinese or Soviet far eastern borders, a top secret message would be
sent to Kami=seya and other communications intelligence stabions,
informing them as to the flight time and the course of the plane.

At the deslgnated flight time, monitors at these stations would tune in
on the frequencles used by radar reporting statlons of the target
country, that is the Soviet Union or Communist China. At the same

time, radio direction-finders would tune in on these frequencles to seek
out the locations of the radar reperting stations. Information

gathered in this manner would then be forwarded to the Natianal Security
Agency. There, analysts study the communications and code systems used
by the radar stations. The National Security Agency 1s then able to
estimate the degree of alertness, accuracy, and efficlency of the radar
defenses of the target nation, and it is also able to collect information
about the organization of command within the target nation®s internal
defense system.

After goilng to work for the National Security Agency, we learned about
another type of aerial intelligence misslon which involves incursion

into the alrspace of the target nation. These missions, known as

elint missions (electronics intelligence=-~TASS) consist of flights in the
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immediate proximity of radar Installations of thue Soviet Unlon and

other couptries to obtain dats about the physical nature of radiations
from radar transmitters. This information 1s used in an attemplt to
find ways to render the radar defense system ineffective, for lnstance
through the use of radar-jamming devices operating from bases close to
the Soviet borders. Flights of U.S. planes along and over the borders
of the Soviet Unlon are routine operatlons and the number of such
Tlights is far greater than 1s generally supposed by the U.S. publics

In order to clarify the nature of such flights, we would like to discuss
one of them 1h detail,

In September, 1958, a UsSe C-130 plane flew over the Turkish border

into Soviet Armenia« This plane never returned. The U.S. Goverament,

ag 1t invarisbly does 1n such cases, issued a cover story clailming that
the plane was engaged only in gathering scientific information and

that the crossing of the Soviet border was accidental. The United States
claimed that the C-130 had been shot down over Soviet territory without
provocations The Soviets confined itself to a statement that the

rlane had crashed.

In TFebruary, 1959 the State Department relased & recording in Russian
which 1t claimed substantiated its contentlon that the C~130 had been
shot down inslde the Soviet Unlon. However, the State Department said
nothing about the actual reason that this plane was flying over the
Soviet Unlon.

In connection with this ipcident, we would like to make the following
conments,

Late In the afternoon of the same day that the State Department released
the above recording, Lt. Gen. Johm Samford, director of the National
Securlty Agency, speaking on the NSA internal broadecasting system,
suggested that NSA personnel refrain from discussion of any questions
rertalning to the C=-130 flight. It is clear that if the C-130 had
really flown with the.sole intent of gathering scientific information
NSA would have had nothing to conceal,

Desplte General Samford's suggestion, NSA employees did discuss among
themselves the possihle Favr-remching consequences of the C=130 incidecnt
for the Unilted States. A high official of NSA told William Martin that
this particular C-130 plane was carrying electronics speciglists and
special equipmant for recelving at close range the signals of Soviet
radar transmitters, This official added that the Turkish-Armenisn
border had been déliberately crossed in order to get into the immediate
vproximity of Soviet radar installations,
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Tt should be clear even to a layman that information about radar defenses
has no bearing whatsoever on the problem of ascertaining whether or_not
the Soviet Union is preparing for a surprise attack. This informatlon.
can be utilized only Tor the purpose of determining the defense potential
of the Soviet Union.

Meanwhile, various U.S. officials condemned the Soviet Union for allegedly
shooting down the =130 without sufTicient reason, Hubert Humphrey

said in effect that the Soviet Union should not have shot down the )
C~130 and should refrain from molesting U.S. planes in the futute. His
arguments assumed that the State Department's statements regarding the
incident were truthful and that the United States was the injured and
innocent party.

Thinking that Senator Humphrey and perhaps most members of Congress were
ignorant of the facts, we decided to speak privately with a congressman
and see if this was the case. In February, 1959, we obtainad an
appointment with a congressman who had publicly expressed concern over
the State Department's concealing from congress pertinent facts about
the ¢-130 incident. During this appointment, we discussed the statements
of Hubert Humphrey and commented on the failure of the executive branch
to keep Congress correctly informed. We explained to him the nature of
the €~130 intelligence mission, and indicated that we felt such
violations of the airspace of other nations were dangerous to world
pesace,

Our conversation was interrubted when the congressman received a ]
telephone call from the Assistant Secretary of State for Congressional
Relations, Mr. William Macomber, who requested him to refrain from

further public discussion of the ¢-130 incident. Again, 1t 1s c%ear

that if this plane had been engaged solely in gathering scientific
information, the State Department would have had no reason to be concerned.

Further corrcboration that the United States has a policy of conducting
overflights was obtained when a high official of NSA told Bernon
Mitchell that the United States had intentiorally violated the Chinese
communist borders on @erial intelligence missions.

We hope that the American public will bring pressure to bear against
the U,S. Goverament's policy of violating the airspace of other natlons.
A single incident or misinterpretation concerning the purpose of planes
involved in these flights could be the cause of war.

It is difficult to understand how U.S, officials can mailntain an attitude

of indignation when the Soviet Union takaes defensive action against
U.5. planes flying over its teriitory.
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The Soviet CGovernment has showm great forbearance with respect to thesc
flights, and has repeatedly called upon the U.S. Government to cease then.
Morcover, so far as we know, .the Sovict Government has refrained from
meking sny retaliatory flights around and over the United States.

We have purposefully stresscd in detail the intelligence flights of
American planes over the territory of the Soviet Union and other countrics
beeause thig practice might he the cause of a great catastrophe.

T@e connection of the National Security Agency with aerial intelligence
missions hag alveady been described, Now, 'in order to give a bet-er
perspective of NSA, we would like to add the fallowing details.

Some information concerning NSA's activities is given in the book
"Central Intelligence and National Security" (Harvard University Press,
1958--TASS). The author correctly states: The NSA specinlizes in
communications intelligence. Tt operates as a semiautononous agency

of the Department of Defense, under the supervision of the Secrctary of
Defense’s Office of Special Operations. In addition to maintaining its
own professional staff for technical operations, NSA exercises broad
sgpervision over;aand codrdination of, the Army Security Agency and
Similar commmications intelligence groups within the Navy and Alr Force.
Further, Ransom states: .-.(TASS ellipsis} NSA plays a major, if
unobtrusive, role in the national intclligence community...(TASS ellipeis)
at any rate, through the National Security Agency and related units, the
American Government is again engaged in communications intelligence on a
world-wide scale.

NSA headquarters is located at Fort George G. Meade in Moryland, about
25 miles north of Washingbon, D.C. The NSA building at Fort Meade is
second in size only to the Pentagon among U.S. Government buildings.
Approximataly 10,000 people work there, under the direction of Air Forece
Lt. Gen. John A. Samford. About 100 million dollars a year are spent

to maintain the N&a headquarters at Fort Meade, the basement of which
?ontains 2 large number of electronic computers. The network of radio
Intercept stations which supply information to NSA extends throughout
the world and keeps in continnons operution more than 2,000 manual ihtercept
positions, which arc staffed by more than 8,000 armed forces intercept
operators. A smaller number of additional personnel apercte éqidrment
for the interception of radioteletype transmissions.
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Some intercept units are located on ships and planes, but most of the
intercept activity is carried out at U.S. military radio stations located
in foreign countriés, Both encipliered and plain-text communications are
monitored from almost every nation in the world, including the nations
on whose soil these intercept bases are located.

To maintain this extensive network of intercept stations and to forward
intercept material to NSA headguarters costs about 380 million dollars a
yvear, Thug, including the cost of operating NSA headquarters, the
United States spends almost half a billion dollars a year for
communications intelligence,

NSA headquarters is subdivided into four main offices: 1) the office of
production (PROD), 2) the office of research and development (R/D), 3) the
office of communications security (COMSEC), and 4) the office of security
(SEC). The major functions of PROD are to receive intercept material
from the stations, to perform eryptoanalysis and traffic analysis, and to
analyze the resulting information. R/D carries out regearch in the fields
of cryptoanalysis, digital computing and radio propagation, and carries
out the development of new communications equipment. COMSEC is responsible
?or the produetfon and security of U.S. cipher systems., SEC conducts
investigations of NSA personnel, givesg lie detector tests, and passes on
the loyalty and inteprity of NSA personnel.

Major subdivisions within PROD and R/D are as follows:
PROD
1--ADVA: Studies high level Soviet cipher gystems and diplomatic codes.

2--GENS: Studies Soviet military code systems and medium Level cipher
system.

3--ACOM: Studies the code and cipher systems of Asian communist nations.

4--ALLO: Studies the code and cipher systems of U.S. allies, neutral
nations, and some communist nations.

5--MPRO: Provides electronic digital computing and data procesging services
to other divisions of NSA,.

R/D
1--REMP: Conducts cryptoanalytical. research and works on applied
cryptoanalytic problems without restriction as to country, provides

consulting services to other divisions of NSA, and carries out research
in computer componentry.
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2--RADE: Designs radio recelving and transmitiing devices, radio
direction finders, radio fingerprint apparatus, and studles unknown
communications systoms.

3--STED: Studles possible weskness of cipherﬂmaéhines in genecrsl,
assists COMSEC in the design of clpher machines for U.S. use, and studies
the process of cnelphering speechs

Successes obtained by the National Securlty Agency in reading the code
and clpher systems of ©ther nations are due primarily to the skillfulness
of eryptoanalysts, frequently alded by electronic digital computers.
However, success In at least one case kas also been facllitgted by the
fact that the U.S. supplied to other m tions clpber machines for

which 1t knew the construction and wiring of the motors. As we have
sald before, the success, concexrring cne of the U.S. alllies, was aided
by the fact that the United States paid money to a code clerk of that
country for his information,

The National Security Ageney includes a speeial group, the United Kingdocm
Liason Office (UKLO), which is staffed by British citizens.

Likewisc, in the British comunications intelligence organization

called GCHQ, there is s corresponding NSA liason groupe Britain and

the United States exchange information as to eryptoanalytic methods -
and resblts in reading the code systems of other nations, and their
respective networks of radio Intercept stations supplement gue anothers
Besides the United Kingdom, the United States malntains close cooperation
with Cgnada in the field of communications intelligence, As we know
from our previous experience in working at NSA, the United States
successfully reads the secret communications cf sore than forty natilons,
including 1ts own allies, Besldes what we have sald above, other factcrs
in our decision to defect were the suppression of informeticn,

restraints on the freedom of expression and political activity, and

the discrimination sgainst people who are not theists which.exiSts in the
United Stabesa

For instance, according to U.S, bress reports, the federal government

each year confiscates 50 mlllicn pieces of maill entering the United

States, Lrequently without notifying the addressees that any seizure

has taken places In the State of Maryland, where we lived, in order

to hold any post whatsoever with +the state government, 1t is necessary to
take an oath to the effect that one is a theist. People whose political
convictlons are unpopular with those who determine U,S, policy are freguently
called before investigating commitiees, harassed, Tined, imprisoned,

and denied jobs,
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By means of withholding passports, the U,S. State Department attempts to
keep within U,S, borders citizens whose polltical views are not in favor.
Victims of this practice have won some court battles, but the State
Department is congtantly pressing congress for new legislation to tighten
up the issuance of passports.

Are theseppractices in keeping with the free and open society which U.S.
officials so often proclaim exists in the United States? We do not think
S50.

Finally, we would like to say a few words about our personal situations.
We have, of course, renounced our American citizenship. We hage asked
the Soviet Govermment to grant us Soviet citizenship and assistance in
learning the Busgsian langusge. Both of these requests have been umet,
and in additlon the Soviet Goverrmment has offered us the choice of
living wherever we choose. Moreover, we have been offered the opportunity
of continuing our education and assistance in finding jobs in cur
capacities as mathematicians, providing approximately the same salaries
as we received in the United States. Recently we made a tour of the
Soviet Unlon, visiting a number of cities, plants, collective farms,
universities, exhibitions, cultural centers, and sanstoriums. We have
famliiarized curselves with the way the Soviet people live, the progress
they have made, and the problems they now face.

We will be glad to hear from relatives or friends who wish to enrrespond
with s or visit us and we will give “hem & good reception.

-0 -

ZHUKOV LEAVES ETHIOPIA--G.A. Zhukov, chairman of the State Colittee
of the USSR Council of Ministers for Cultural Relations wit
Countries, who stayed in Addis Ababa as a guest of the let Embassy,
left on Sept. 2 for the USSR via Cairo after a shp#tstay in the
Ethiopdén capital. (Moscow, TASS, Enbllshﬁyﬁgﬁf. 2, 1960,

1510 GMP--L) (UNCLASSIFIED) o

SOVIET-FINNISH PACT--A contract#ﬁﬁ? supplying eight Finnish tankers to

the Soviet Union from 1964 ﬁpff@éﬁ was sipgned Sept. 2 between the Soviet
Sudoimport oz rganization the Finnish company Rauma Repola. The new
order is an addition 38 the contract dvawn up in May 1960 during the

fourth Finnish ix trial exhibitlon in Moscow. Then agreement was reached
ankers during the period 1961 to 1963. The contract

Com 1}J#*the scope of the third five-year agreement which was signed
in the gurtunn of 1959.in Helsinki. (Mescow, TASS, Russian, Sept. 2, 1960,
16458 T--1)  (UNCLASSIFIED)
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Soptemhat 12, 1960

Honorable Francis E, Walter
House of Representatives
Washington 25, D, C,

Dear ¥Francis:

I have given a great deal of thought to your letter of
2 September 1960,

One purpose of my telephone call to you on 2 September,
was to thank you for inserting in the Congressional Record the full
text of my address before the Veterans of Foreign Wars at Detroit
on 22 August 1960,

Another purpose was to call attention to an AP report of &
statement which you made to the press on | September, and which
was widely circulated throughout the country, that "The FBI gave
the CIA certain information which certainly should have deterred
the hiring of at leaet one of those two men, " referring to the two

'NSA defectors, The AP added "He declined to amplify.

I feel sure that this statement was made on the basis of a
misunderstanding since it has no basis in fact., No such information
was given to the CIA by the FBI, or by anyone else, and there was no
particular reason why it should have been so given since the question
of the screening of these two men for employment by NSA was not a
matter over which the CIA had jurisdiction or responsibility,
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Subsequently on September 7, 1960, the Department of
Justice gave out the following statement:

"Reperts that the FBI had furnished unfavorable
information to the Department of Defense of Mitchell
and Martin prior to its employment of them are erro-
neous. The pre-employment investigation of these men
was conducted by the Department of Defense and not by
the Federal Bureau of Investigation, In response to the
normal inquiry made by the Dopartment of Defense in the
course of its investigation, the FBI reported that it had no
information in its files concerning these men."”

In my telephone call to you, I also expressed regre: that your
statement was tied in closely to another atatement attributed to you
by the Associated Press that "The CIA will be the first target of
inguiry."

I sincerely hope that you will find occasion to correct the record
as regards the prior furnishing of information to this Agency about the
NSA defectors,

I should welcome an opportunity to discuss with you certain
other comments in your letter, rather than attempt to deal with them
by correspondence. You amd 1 have had many good talks together, and
since we have both spent many years of our lives in trying to expose and
defeat the subversive communist menace, it is unfortunate there ahould
be the misunderstanding which your letter indicates.

There is one {urther point, however, that I would wish to clarify.
This relates to the statement in your letter regarding ClA “"reluctance
to convey to the Congress any information regarding its perscnnel, as
well as its activities in the field of national security. . . .

The Congress itself has set up, in the Senate and the House,
eubcommittees of the Appropriations Committees and of the Armed -
Services Committees, for CIA matters. We have appeared many times
before these committees and certain other committees to which we have
responsibilities, such as the Joint Atomic Energy Committes. In 1959

-2 -
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there wore 28 such appearances and so far in 1960 16 appearances,

Ws have uniformly responded to requests irom these committees,

and several times I have taken the initiative in asking the committees

to hear me. Ido not recall a single instance during appearances before

these committees when we have failed to answer fully and frankly their
guestions with respect to CIA activities, I feel sure that if you would

© inquire of Representative Cannon or Repressntative Kilday, the re-

spective chairmen of the two subcommittees | have mentioned, they

would bear out what I have said,

Certainly 1 agree with you that there can be no monopoly what-
soever in the mobilization and deployment of the resources of the
country in meeting the Communiat menace. In my speech at Detroit,
which I gather you viewed favorably, I tried to emphasize this view-
point and the need for a far broader understanding by the country of
the grave issues which face us.

Faithfully yours,
(Sigicd) ALLEN W, DULLES |

Allen W, Dulles
Director

AWD:at
Distribution:
Orig - Addressee
1 cc - DCI w/basic

1 cc - DDCI

1l cc - ER

1 cc - Legis. Counsel
lecc - IG
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PUBLIC BILLS AND RESOLUTIONS

Under clause 4 of rule XXII, public
pbills and resolutions were introduced and.
severally referred as follows:

#. By Mr, WALTER:
H. Res. 642. Resolution to authorize the
Committee on Tn-American Acilvitieg o

conduct & full atid complete study of thoh’
intelligence ageney of the United States; to, 4
the Committee on Rules. @
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JTHORIZINCG: COMMITTEE ON UN-
AMERICAN ACTIVITIES TO CON-
DUCT A FULL # ‘OMPLETE
STUDY OQF B

&

AGENCYOF THE U

(Mr-WALTER asked and was given’
permission to address the House for-1

minute.) . o cuhiiyine :
Mr. WALTER. Mr, Speaker, I have
to w resolution calling for
o full and complete sfady of each In-
telligence agenty of the United States.
I have lomg felt {hdt the Congress of
the Unitetr-States shdlild be more fully
informed respecting’ the sevefal intelli-
gence agencies of the (overniffent which
are vital in the iﬁe’—d‘r}d-’deﬁfﬁ struggle
in which we are engaged with the inter-
national Communist conspiracy.
While I-pefieve that the Committee
on Un-American  Activities presently
has jurisdiction and’ the guthotity to
conduct the stydy which I propose, be-
cause of the Nalt f the subject mat-

t14 any ‘questions of

ter and alsp. U &V0 ns
possible partp Afiapping i furisdic-
tion with ptttttees, I feel that
it is soung, ‘ot the to submit &

TEhe Thdsein which - the
Committee Skiherran Activities IS
specifically directed to ;pakz this 1S.htlidy'

1 want to point gk t that the resolu on
requires thag. éxfgne caution be taken
o wold any possible disclosuré

[ information or of tech=
lgl;'ed by our intelligence

u;};hcatlon or conflict in the

risdif tioning of
- wisdietions, and funetioning
ggreﬁtéﬁ;:%e agencies?  ATe there
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afeas in which Thers sho i

uld be eith
an extended activity or a withdrawlal ffi
activity by these agencies? How can

_ their efficiency be improved? Is the in-

formation acquired adequatel
guarded from unauthorized dlsc¥os§?£§?
Is this informatjpn madeé available for
mal,lgumum practicable utilization by
g;)e ncts;making agencies of rthe Govern-
These and other queéstions Gugh
carefully and judiciously ex“p'mggd ;‘);Otlk;:
representatives of the people. In my
Jjudgment, the Committee on Un-Ameri-
can Activities is specially equipped to
make this study and I accordingly ex-
pect to press for early approval by the
House of my resolution. /
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- HOLD FOR RELEASE UPON INTRODUCTION OF RESOLUTION

COMMITTEE ON UN-AMERICAN ACTIVITIES
U. S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
WASHINGTION, D. C.

Congressman Francis E. Walter (D-Pa.), Chairman of the Committee on
Un-American Activities today introduced a resolution in the Héouse of Repre-
sentatives calling for a full and complete study of esach intelligence agency
of the United States.

Commenting on his resolutiocn, Congressman Walter stated, "I have long
felt that the Congress of the United States should be more fully informed
respecting the several intelligence agencies of the Government which are
vital in the life-and-death struggle in which we are engaged with the interna-
tional Communist conspiracy.

"While I believe that the Committee on Un=-American Activities presently
has jurisdiction and the authority to conduct the study which I propose,
because of the nature of the subject matter and also to avoid any questions
of possible partial overlapping in jurisdiction with other committees, I feel
that it is sound practice for me to submit a resolution to the House in which
the Committee on Un~-American Activities is specifically directed to make this
study.

"1 want to point out that the resolution requires that extreme caution
be taken in order to avoid any possible disclosure of confidential information
or of techniques employed by our intelligence agencies.

"Is there duplication or conflict in the powers, jurisdictions and
functioning of our intelligence agencies? Are there areas in which there
should be either an extended activity or a withdrawal of activity by these
agencies? How can their efficiency be improved? 1Is the information acquired
adequately safeguarded from unauthorized disclosures? 1Is this information
made available for maximum practicable utilization by policy-making agencies
of the Government?

"These and other questions ought to be carefully and judiciously explored
by the representatives of the people. In my judgment, the Committee on
Un-American Activities is specially equipped to make this study and I
accordingly expect to press for early approval by the House of my resolution.”

The resolution reads as follows:

RESOLUTION

"To authorize the Committee on Un-American Activities
to conduct a full and complete study of each
- intelligence agency of the United States.

Apprressilived Ralhase i AI04HY: t 64ARDRP Y AR0001A0020001-Tacting as

a whole or by subcommittee, is authorized and directed to conduct a full
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and complete study of each intelligence agency of the United States

in order to analyze the organization and operation of each such agency
for the purpose of determining the efficiency of such organization and
operation and to determine whether such efficiency can be improved
through elimination of duplicate activities and functions, or in any
other manner., As used in this resolution, the term 'intelligence agency
of the United States' means any executive department or agency of the
United States conducting intelligence activities and any unit within
any executive department or agency of the United States conducting
intelligence activities.

"In the conduct of the study authorized by this resolution, the
committee or subcommittee shall exercise extreme caution so as not
to reveal any information with respect to the organization or methods
of operation of any intelligence agency of the United States, or any
other information, the revelation of which may impair the continued
effectiveness of the operations of such agency or may be detrimental
to the security of the United States.

"For the purpose of carrying out this resolution the committee
or subcommittee is authorized to sit and act during the present Congress
at such times and places within the United States, including any Common-
wealth or possession thereof, or elsewhere, whether the House is in
session, has recessed, or has adjourned, to hold such hearings, and to
require, by subpena or otherwise, the attendance and testimony of such
witnesses and the production of such books, records, correspondence,
memoranda, papers, and documents, as it deems necessary; except that
neither the committee nor any subcommittee thereof may sit while the
House is meeting unless special leave to sit shall have been obtained
from the House. Subpenas may be issued under the signature of the
chairman of the committee or any member of the committee designated

by him, and may be served by any person designated by such chairman
or member,

"The committee shall submit a progress report to the House as soon
as practicable during the present Congress, together with such conclusions
and recommendations as it deems advisable. Any such report which is

made when the House is not in session shall be filed with the Clerk of
the House,"

~o00000~
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SEP 2 1960

Rep. Walter

Asks Prohe %

Of Intelligence Agencies |

. Mszsociated Press

we.. Francis ¥. Waiter (D-

$a) ssked the House yester-
tay for muthority té 1nvesti-
jate all United Staies intelll-
fence agencies. ,
walter, chairman of the
fouse Committee on  Un-
tmerican  Activities, intro-
tuced & resoiution to author-
ge “a full and complete
tudy” of each agency.

Tha move  apparently was
srompted by the disappear-
ince of two mathematicians
ymployed by the National Se-
wirity: Agency. Both are be-
jeved, to have defected Lo the
“ommanists.

Walter sald yesterday Jghat
their disappesrance showad

veaknesses in the Nation's
- seeurity system. Farlier . this

week, House Majority Leader
‘John W, McCormack (D-Mass.)
psked Walter to investigate
the disappestgnce of the two
NSA men. - t ‘

House approval of the Wal-
fer resolution, slmost certain
to be granted, would permit

an investigation to start at in

any time.
1n submitting the resolution,
Walter said he felt that Con-

‘gress should bave more Infor-
gnation about activities of in.|disa
telligence agencies “which arey-
‘yital in the life-and-desth
. ptruggle in which we are .en-

giged with the lnternational
Communist conspiracy.™

set§ Up safeguards against.
any disclosure of confidentis!:
information or techniques of |
intelligence agencies. It would;
authorize the Committee to|
go into these questions: i

“Is there duplication or con-!
flict in the powers, jurisdic-!
tions and functioning of our!
intelligence agencies? Are
there areas in which there
should be either an extended
activity or a withdrawal of
activity by these agencies?
How' can their efficiency be
improved? Is the information
made available for maximum

practicable utilization byf

policy-making agencies of the
Government?”

"Walter told newsmen he:
mcmcllly. bag.in ‘mind. st}
outist of theiprobe fo fook

into the Central Intelligence

Agency, along with the Na |
tional . Ageney and|.
intelligence. arms, of the mill-

He tadishted ‘that the CIA

will be the chief target of the

of the two NSA'

quiry. , :
The FBI, (Wilter -declared,
was not called ‘in to make aj
pre-employmen "r,:_‘invg;luuon

(- | b

.. Walter said the resolution|He c

|

782R000100020001-
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SPY PROBE
CASHEINGTON (AP)--REIP. JALTEIQR (D-PA) ASKED COMGRESS TODAY TO INVISTI-
GATE ALL Us So INTELLIGENCE AGENCIES, |

AN SR AN IO £ T A RRTORINCY SMR s g 0 KW W L NSO V10 T AR R AT M iy

P VIO AR KR < e e e

JALTER, CHAIRMAN OF THE HOUSE COMMITTEE ON UN-AMERICAN ACTIVITITS,
INTRODUCED A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE "A FULL AKD COMPLZTE STUDY" OF
TACH AGENCY.

R

HT MOVE APPARTNTLY J4AS PROMFTED BY THE DISAPPEARANCE OF T
MATHENATICIANS EMPLOYED BY THE SUPER SECRET NATIOMAL STCHURITY ACTNCY,
FOTH ARE PILIEVED TO HAVE DEFRCTTZD TO THE COMMURISTS.

JALTZR SAID YESTFRDAY THEIR DISAPPEARANCE SHOWED WEAKNISSTWS IN THT
DATION'S SECURITY SYSTEM. FARLIER TRIS JEEK, HOUSE MAJORITY LFADTR
VCCORMACK (D-MASS) ASKED JALTER TO INVESTIGATT THE DISAPPEARANCT
OF THE THO NAS MEN,

HOUSE APPROVAL OF THE WALTER RESOLUTION, ALNOST CTRTAIN TO BT
GRANTED, JOULD PERMIT AN.INVESTIGATION TO START AT ANY TINE.

I SUBMITTING THE RESOLITION, WALTER SAID HE FELT TUAT CONGRISS
SHOULD HAVE MORE INFORMATION APOUT ACTIVITIES OF INTELLIGENCE AGENCITS
"JHICH ARE VITAL IN THE LIFE-AND-DEATH STRUGGLE IN WHICH WE ART
IGAGED #ITH THE INTERNATIONAL COMNUNIST CONSPLRACY,"

EE ADDTD TMAT HE BELIEVED TFD UN-AMERICAN ACTIVITIZS COMMITTZIE
HAS AUTHORITY TO MAKE THE PROPOSED INVESTIGATIOMN. BUT, HE SAID,
BECAUSE OF THE SUBJTCT MATTER HE JANTED TO OBTAIN SPECIFIC AUTHORITY
OF THE HOUSE TO NMAXEZ THE STUDY.

JALTZR SAID THE RESOLUTION SETS UP SAFIGUARDS AGAINST ANY DISCLOS!RT
OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION OR TECHNIQUES OF INTELLIGTNCT AGENCITS,
IT_9OULD AUTHORIZE THE COMMITTZIE TO GO INTO THEST QUISTIONS:

"IS THERE DUPLICATION OR COMFLICT IN THE POWTRS, JURISDICTIONS AND

§ FUNCTIONING OF OWR INTELLIGENCT AGENCISS? ARE THERE ARFAS IN WHICH
{ THERLZ SIHOULD BE EITHER AN EXTENDED ACTIVITY OR A '.:.TIT'-’“D!\ JAL OF

Iisd v

- ACTIVITY RY THESE AGENCIES? HOY CAN THEIR FFFICIENCY FZ IMPROVTED?

S

Is THE INFORMATION MADE AVAILAPLY FOR MAXIMIM PRACTICARLE UTILIZATION

EY POLICY-MAKING AGENCIFS OF TUT COUFRNMINT2®
* Approvea For Rel'easer2004105;:13 : &Aiﬁﬂ 90T00782R000100020001-1
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SASHINGTON -- ADD SPY PRODT  (929)

Ll AN INTERVIES, UALTTR SAID ¥E SPRCIFICALLY ¥AS 11 MID AT THT ONTST

RS LD o i, v e

QI THE PRORT TO LOOK INTO THE CTNTRAL INTELLIGEICT AGFICY, ALOTG JITE

THE U$#, PLUS TuZ INTELLIGTNCT ARES. OF TUE VARTOUS NILITARY STRVICTS.
HE ADDEC", }',?'O'AIE‘VER? THAT THE SCOPE OF THE RESOLUTION IS SurrICI“x‘TL’;"
DROAD TO PERNIT THE COMMITTEZ TO LOOK INTO AMNY AGIMNCY DRALING #ITH
INTELLIGERC T,
RE .L'-.qunT“'D HO?.JEVER, THAT THEL QI JILL P% Tuw oPToF TARGRT OF TE®

AR AN
TuL ¥Frl, JALTER DECLARED, #AS NOT CALLED IN TO MAKE THT CLEARANCE
INVESTIGATION OF THE TJO M8A 7-PLOYTDS 10 DISAPPFRARED.

"THE FRI," JALT

wi CCDTAINLY SHOULD MHAVE DETERRED THE HIRING OF AT LTAST OFNT OF THOST

ER ADDED, "GAVEI THE CIA CZRTAIN INFORYATION UVICH

T20 MEMe® HE DECLINED TO AMPLITY.
FAPRESSING COMCERN ABOUT THIS, A

L

CONGRISS SHOULD RTAUIRE THROUGH LEGISLAT

TEE GOVERNMENT SHOULD FIRST pT INVEST
ZRZ.GP 9/1
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(SECURITY) - - _
REP. FRANCIS E. WALTER,ID-PA., SALD TODAY THAT TWO MISSING EMPLOYES
OF THE SUPER-SECRET NATIQNAL SECURITY AGENCY HAD N O T BEEN CLEARED
BY THE FBI BEFORE THEY WERE HIRED.
WALTER ASKED THE HOUSE TO DIRECT 'THE COMMITTEE ON UN-AMERICAN
ACTIVITIES, WHICH HE HEADS, TO INVESTIGATE ALL GOVERNMENO INTELLI-
GENCE AGENCIES, INCGUDING THE NSA.

HE INORODUCED. A R%_QEQILQN-AHQHQR;ZING THE COMMITTLL TO M&%&mé“mgULL

AND COMPLETE STUDY" OF INTELLIGENCE AGEQ IED. HE SAID HE EXPECTED

THE FOUSE 76 ACT UPON IT BEFORE Al ADJOURNING .

'THE COMMITTEE LAUNCHED A PRELIMINARY INQUIRY THIS WEEK INTO THE
DISAPPEARANCE OF NSA MATHEMATICIANS BERNON F. MITCHELL AND WILLIAM H.
MARTIN. | o s

WALTER TOLD UNITED PRESS INTERNATIONAL HE WAS "ASTOUNDED o5 InD"
THAT NEITHER HAN HAD BEEN CLEARED BY THE FBI. HE SAID THE FBI HAD A

FILE ON ONE OF THEM
$/1--DP245PED
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UPI-111 |
ADD 1 SECURITY (UPI-107)

THE INQUIRY INTO THE DISAPPEARANCE OF MITCHELL AND MARTIN WAS
REQUESTED BY HOUSE DEMOCRATIC LEADER JOHN W. MCCORMACK WHO SAID HE
HAD INFORMATION WHICH "LEAVES N O DOUBT" THAT THEY HAD FLED TO RUSSIA
WITH VALUABLE INFORMATION ABOUT UsSe CODES.

IN INTRODUCING THE RESOLUTION FQRB.4.BRAQD I QQJ%X;INTQMINTELLIGENCE
AGENCIES, WALTER SAID HE HAD FELT FOR A LONG TIME THAT CONGRESS "SHOULD
BE MORE FULLY INFORMED" ABOUT THEM. ‘

HE SAID HE BELIEVED THE COMMITTEE ALREADY HAD AUTHORITY TO MAKE AN
INVESTIGATION, BUT ASKED FOR A SPECIFIC DEIRECTIVE TO AVOID ANY QUES-
TIPN OF OVERLAPPING THE JURISDICTION OF ACOTHER HOUSE COMMITTEE.

WALTER SAID THE PPOPOSE‘D INVESTIGATION WOULD COVER THE CENTRAL

R S B S e M ST A WP R e 57

INTELLIGEN 36 AND MILiTARY INTELLIGENCE AGENCIES AS WELL A3

THE NSA. 4 | | |
w  THE RESOLUTION DIRECTS THE COMMITTEE TO ANALYZE THE ORGANIZATION
AND OPERATION OF EACH AGENCY, IT REQUIRES THAT "EXTREME CAUTION" BE

TAKEN TO PREVENT ANY POSSIBLE DISCLOSURE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
- e, - st
OR INTELLIGENCE TECHNIQUES USED.

ﬁWM‘ .
. SN S S $/1--DP252PED
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Statement given out by the Justice Department - September7, 1960

Reports that the FBI had furnished unfavorable information to the
Department of Defense of Mitchell and Martin prior to its employment
of them are erroneous. The pre-employment investigation of these
men was conducted by the Department of Defense and not by the Federal
Bureau of Investigation. In response to the normal inquiry made by the
Department of Defense in the course of its investigation, the FBI

reported that it had no information in its files concerning these men.
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Intelligence
Agencies
Inquiry Set

Vinson Commitiee
Acts as Walter
Schedules Hearing

By John G. Norris

Sports Reporter

Chairman Carl Vinson
(D-Ga.) of the House Armed'
Services Committee named,
a three-man special subcom-
mittee yesterday to conduct
a “complete investigation”
of Government intelligence’
agencies.

Stressing that his Commit-
tee has jurisdiction over the

Pentagon’s infelligence units
and the Central Intelligence

Agency, Vinson seemed to be|

suggesting to the House Un-
American Activities Commit-
tee that it stay out of the case)
of the two National Security
Agency defectors.

Chairman Francis E. Wal
ter (D-Pa.) of the Un-American
Activities group, already has
announced plans to call NSA
officials Sept. 16 for question-
ing about the defectors.

President Eisenhower, com-
menting on the incident, said
it means that the Administra-
tion must review its “entire”
security procedures “to see if
there is any one way we could

better it.” “We must be always|-

on the alert, very alert,” he
told a news conference.
Congressman Walter, how-
ever, told newsmen that the
President “has made it abun-
dantly clear he doesn’t want
to cooperate” with his group
in trying to eliminate subver-
sives from Government. He

cited a White House refusal to
furnish the names of many'
Federal “security risks,” hold-
ing non-sensitive, non-policy-
making jobs, who were fired
earlier hut reinstated as the
result of a Supreme Court de-
cision.

-
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Administration officials pri-
vately have expressed concern
over the possibility of a free-
wheeling House Un-American
Activities Committee probe
into the defection of NSA code
clerks Bernon F. Mitchell and

William H. Martin. They fear!

that a renewal of a McCarthy-
type loyalty investigation—
involving top secret intelli-
gence agencies this time in-
stead of the State Department
—could do untold harm.
Vinson’s announcement ihat
three veteran members of the
House Armed Services Com-
mittee who already are privy
to many defense secret nd
procedures will inves
case was viewed, ag
conduct a “mo
and pertineﬁ:’l-
the whole s
compromising vital
secrets. :
Meanwhile, it dexeloped
that the Rep Wayne L. Hays
(D-Ohio) may have been the
Congressman Mitchell and

Martin said they visited 18
months_ago to warn that the
Umte.dl %’ces “was sending
s - gver Russia”

? ‘s, interviewed by

tele-

phone at his home in Flush-
~1nig, Ohio, sald two men vis-
é his Capltol office then

flights, but irged that their
identity .not be revealed lest
they lose their jobs “and their
families would suffer.”

To the best of his recollec-:

tion and that of Mrs. Hays,
the Congressman said, neither
of the men ,looked like the
' pAOtazraphs of
in. He said
es “‘some.
B in Wash-
mgtdn"’ but di recall them.
Hays ssam reported. the
mcxden to f%p ouse Foreign
Affairs ‘Cémmitlee, of whick
he is a mémber-and a subcom:
mittee chairman. He said that
becauss -of -his position, Gov
ernm ‘employes often bring
complamts;,to hign, Because or
thxs—axﬁ gy from dis
couraging® c ormants—he
said he didn’t report the mat

ter to the CIA.

e cussion of the C-130 incident.”

Willitery “certainly wogldn't have dis-

-{ords for closed door testimony :
'iSept. 16, after the,Pentagon
‘|had refused its imyestigators
-access to the rbcbrds of the
‘|case.

8 SEPTEM:
Herence gQim hell R Martin

said they had Uone to a Cou
[gressman who had publicly ex.
pressed concern over the State

Department = concealing from
his Committee s later re-
vealed faets abo e Ameri-

can C-130 plane shot down over

Russia in _Sep 1958
They did . noféd name
of the-Cobgragh t clip-
pings ip Thé VENAGton Post
files shewéd: HIR¥ ¥ had
made a prote the tlme

1 The--t in
1 Mosco\wx‘ﬁu éy* wele
(in Hays’ office, Assistant Sec-

retary of State William Ma-,
comber had phoned the Con-,
gressman and asked. hlmto “re-
frain from further dbublic His-

Hays said he didn’t recall any
such call from Macomber and

cussed it with’fwo strangers.”
The Mitchell-Martin stafement
did not indicafe that Macomber
—Iif he made such a call—knew !

about their presen%m Ha\s-‘

office.

Vinson said his® mmlt,‘re(
already has gathered consider :
able data in the NSA case
“without publicity,” ‘and that
to make the “thorough” probe
that is warranted, he has or-
dered a spegial subcommittee
to get to work “without delay.”;

“The Committee on Armed
Services has jurisdiction over
these matters,” Vinson said in
a statement. “And the Com.:
mittee will exercise its juris-
diction, This is the Committee '
charged by the Congress with
the responsibility for looking
into matters of this nature.”

Rep. Poul J. Kilday (Tex.,’
ranking Democratic member:
of Vinson's Committee, was
named chairman of the spec ld]/
subcommittee, along with Rep
Leslie J. Arends (111.), rankmg
Republican, and Rep. Porter,
Hardy Jr. (D-Va). Kilday saldg
he had not yet set a date fori
a first meeting.

On the final day of the spe-
cial session last week, Walter
introduced a resolution au-
thorizing his group to investi-
gate the NSA defection case.
It was not passed. Subse-
quently, the Un-American Ac-
tivities Committee announced
it was subpoenaing the KSA
personnel chief and his rec-

Yesterday, Walter assertedF
i

SER 1900
9+00020001-1
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that more than 1000 “security
risks” now hold Government
jobs, and that President Eisen-
hower has refused since last
_January to supply.their names.
| He showed newsmen corre-
'spondexicg he has had with
|the White House, in which he
{has tried to obtam the names
of all employes -who were
iseparated from the service
under the loyalty program but
rehired after a 1956 Supreme
Court decision which per-
.mitted the restoring of em-
|ployes fired from non-sensi-

tive jobs. .
| Walter rev 1is frpitless
correspondence\ tér-. Presi-

.dent Exsenhower told a news
conference that no problem
has efhgagéd his attention over
ithe years more ammakmg
airtight the Natlords® securxty
proceedings.

Walter said that on Feb. 19,

lrefused his request for
‘names of those rehired after

e’
1960, David W. Kendall, spe-
cial counsel to the President,
the

the 1956 decision, declaring
that the President “has con-
cluded that it would not be in
the national interest.”

Again on April 19, Walter
said, the ‘White House again
refused to furnish the names
on the same ground as before.

He said that many of those|h

rehired hold what he consid-
ered sensitive jobs, some in
the Pentagon.

In calling the persons in-
volved “security risks,” Walter
defined the term as covermg,
membérs of Communist’ 0%
Communist front organiz¥
tions, homosexuals, alcoholics
and - persons who associate
with known Communists, -,

Kendall, in declining to re-|

ilease the rames, said the dis

closure of adverse informa
tion “oftes includes allega.
tions that are unfounded =
rebuttable =~ Walter declarsd

in a letter to the White House
that his (lommittee investi-
gators have collected data
from which he concludes that
the rehiring of the persons is
“a danger to the security of
the Nation.” He said he wants
to question.the individuals be-
in@’g 0.

rs

parég n preventing
 Communist infiltration of the
i Government.

L In anéther development. the
Justice Department declared
i a formal statemeént that re-
ports that the” FBI had furn
ihed thé Pentagon unfavor-
"able information on Mitchel!

ployment
said the

was erroneous. [
pre-emuloyment  n

vestigatior. on ihe two was con-
ducted by the Defense Depart-,
ment, not the FBI,

‘formed the Pentagon befnre!
they were hired that one was:
a homosexual. A - Defense|
spokesman said that “I am in-’

rs to help pre-

and Magtin prior to their e

Walter has been quoted as catmg homgs
saying that the FBI had in-jtice “Depat

'tormed there is not” anytmng
in the personnel rmd of ei-
‘ther Mitchell gr: indj

'say whethen
‘sequent to
lindicated 8
"mation.

-
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GENERAL COUNSEL OF THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE | bO0—~C957 |
WASHINGTON 25,D., C.

7 September 1960

Dear Mr. Dulles:

I am enclosing herewith a copy of the letter
from Congressman Francis E. Walter to Mr. Gates,
dated August 31st. Late last evening we received
a wire advising us that the hearing had been post-
poned until September 16th. A ecopy of this wire is
also enclosed herewith,

8incersly,

P

J. VINCENT BURKE, JR.

Enclosures

The Honorable Allen W. Dulles
Mrector
Central Intelligence Agency
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Harnessing Intelligence

Tntelligence and  counter-intelligense  agencies
o! the Government nocessariiv do much of their
work in secrecy. Nevertheless, they must be sub-
Jscted to a Teasonable measure of demociaiic
control. They need the whip of criticism «f they
are to function at full eMiciency; and they need
the reins of congressional regulation to keep them
on the route they are supposed to trovel Leil
altorether undirected, they could be cme a menace
to freedom.

A thorough study of intellipence activities is
urgentiv needed, therafore-—alany with an equally
thorouzh study of counter-intelligence activitics.
It seems altogether unlikely, however. that such
@ study—conducted with the requisite -tetachment,
nonpartisanship and penctration—-can be expected
in the midst of a presidential eleclion campaigh
from any commnittee of Congress.

Of the 20 standing commnittees of the lHouse
of Representatives, the House Commitiee on Un.
American Activities seems, by all odds, the least
apt for such an undertaking; and of all the 437
members of the House, Rep. Francis Walter seems
to be tha least qualified to direct the study. For

" . one thing, this committce is a partisan in the cold
war waged by the FBI against the CIA. For an-
other, w00 often it has been a hiinter of heresy,
not a student of securily in the broad sense. Fresh
evidence of this was offered by Mr. Walter's asser-
tion the 9ther day that more than 1000 security
risks now hold Gévernment jobs.

The House Armed Services Commitiee headed
hy Rep. Carl Vipson is, of course, much more
ratjonal and responsible, and has much more claim
10*$urud1chon. But something more .is required
today than a mere examination of personnel clear-
anee procedurés and operating methods.
ifswanted is an over-all evaluation of the effects
o@f‘]}w intelligence agencies on national security‘

1<6n national freedom. -
thing ought ‘to be curtained from this evalua-
thg. although: much will have to be kept in
dence—-kept this is to say, from publication.
ill need to find out what, for

i ThWal .
“heen known for 86 years:-the extent to which
6)FBI inthename of counter-Intelligence, has
iled dos¥iers” on law-abiding: citizens . simply
. bieduse thdp:‘expressed heterodox oplnlom or
~iélned organizations of- which the ¥BI disapp

What, .

‘ ",' tiés;” have sorved ""aecurity or impaired free- )

sion of oumtandmg Amencans \\}‘o~c Judgmcu
would command universal respect. Perhaps they
olizht  to be selected, as in some past instances,
‘ininUy by the President and congressional leaders.
They should be men of such stature that they can
be trusted no less than Mr. Dulles ind Mr. Hoover
will access to all manner of classified inforration.
And’ they :shauld be outside the pull of political
partisanship.

Such a comimission ought to be recreated period-
x(aliy—a.t least once a decade—to pass judgment
on. the performance of those agencies which, by

‘reason of their duties, must function without the

copgressional scrutiny and public eviticism which
serve so usefully {0 keep the rest of the Govern-
ment on a proper course. -Such a cunanission could
do nts work without the hamperin:. induence of
a permanent watchdog committee of Congress.
Heporting periodically to Congress and the country,
it could strengthen security and strengthen public
confidence in the indispensable asiruments  of
seeurity,

'I‘ms evalugum\&ﬂﬁﬂpwde 9[’@%9@5&;&9&&05!13 CIA- RDP90T00782R000100020001 1
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13 Ssptember 1960

Honorable J. W. Fulbright
United States Senate
Washington 25, D, C,

Dear Senator Fulbright:

Thank you for forwarding a copy of the letter of
26 August 1960, which you received from sir. Wallace Taft Berry,
complaining of an approach made to him by a represeatative of
this Agency prior to his visit to the Soviet Union this summer.
I have ascertained that Mr, Berry was indeed visited in May of
this year by a CIA representative, but that he was not requested
to make observations in our behalf nor to secure information of
any kind,

One of the directives under which we operate includes
the duty of obtaining within the United States from institutions and
from private individuals who are potential sources of foreign intel-
ligence, inform.tion which might be of value to our national security.
Accordingly, on a selective basis, our representatives do occasion-
ally call upon travellers to certain areas of the world with a view to
determining their itineraries and capacity for observation as a basis
for possible interview upon their retumm, Information of this kind
obtained in the normal course of travel has provided data of sub-
stantial value, pasticularly in areas where access is occaslonal or
limited. :

In the case of Mr, Berry, our records are clear that
the brief initial interview, which I have mentioned, disclosed that
nsither hiz qualifications nor his itinerary were such as to make

-/, ;{Qp;proved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-RDP90T00782R000100020001-1
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any follow-up desirable and therefore there is no intention to
contact hira upen his return. There are certain additional
facts in this case which I should be glad to furnish you orally.

Faithfully yours,

Distribution:
Orig & 1 - Addressee

1 - DCI
1 - DDCI—
1-DD/I
1-1IG
1 ~ Legis. Counsel
1-00

| |:mg (12 Sept. 60)
etyped: Dfji
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. vrisk involved. he said, and be-|

En Russia, Tourist Says

| CIA Asked Him'oSpy |

CHICAGO, Aug. 31 (AP).—A
'young business executive says
‘the Central Intelligence Agency
‘asked him to spy during s tour
:0f Russia.

! Roliert Berlin, 28;year-old
,3lce president of & sales com-

many, said in an.interview in
ithe Chicago American that the

ICIA epproached him in Jube,
1458, a8 he prepared for a trip
~ whick included 10 days i Rus-
v 8ia,

l\ He refused - bccau.se oI thc

jcause he did not think it' was
‘right. for & tourist .to- 8py.- -~

Mr. Berlin sid he has just
now 1revealed the.CIA's con-
,fact with him because the

.{United States Government has
protested that sbme smerican
tourists in Ruas}s .have been
culled spiea and ejected rrom
the count;

Mr, Berlin seld l CIA Itent
vtsxt,ed him and “asked me if
‘T would. consider making cer~
.tain mental observations while

I wanstraveling in Russia apd b0

he amsked if I would submit &
copy of my‘mnenry or the
trip? - i nk

He was nof offered money.
Mr. Berlin said, but “that prob-
ably would have come up if I
would have accepted the job.”

“T found out later that some-
one who idefitifled himsell as
being n-the CIA g
my neig abou§
ground -and repntm

rd-r

check my hl%b. lchoo

the CIA request farBwp days -
to Bubmit at

and then nefused.

report on his trip.’; heard f

nothing turth&' £ the ClA,

he said. T ’; i i
The American uld CIA head. |

quarters in Wuhlngton had noj..

comment to maké oo Mr Ber-

And 1tu:lotms,erfor
:etm

.Q;,n.'_ 4

p

oned |
back-}|

o hehrd, they. Xted to|
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HE STATEMENT OF Robert Berlin,
L a Chicago sales company execulive,
. that he was agked by a representative of
+ the central intelligence sgency to serve
'z‘ﬂ sn esplonage agent on a tour of Russia
. 1o yearn ago, suggests. that there-is con-
| §iderable - ltupidlty in the operauons of
“Ahe CIA,
»=Making espionage ag°nts of tourists
would be the surest possible way to defeat
. the administration’s hopes- of improving
udderstanding between the Russian and
. Atserican peoples by having Americans
+ fltick to Russia as sightseers and get ac-
: qii'linted with individual Russians. .
*
AMM‘EUR SPIES CAN BE depended on

to bluhder and get caught, and whepe..

k ﬂver thix happéned, the Russian govérn.,
: ; gent would make loud propaganda of it.
!A

B fact, the sovlek government was buxy
wrw} tryiff to make important prop-
3‘ jinda out of its own unsubstantiated
arge tlut Amerlcm tourixta have been -

¥ fMes w1l AT
K h?;& i iefumy caum 2 Iew Amerlcm

" CIA Should Do lts Own' W

" that way.Lat thu OIA.

o, -

visitors spying, its onss WHd
strengthened. 8o
not succeeded fn
can business mv, (
temporary sgents, {*

T *
HE CH!CAGO EXECU’I‘IVE Berlin
X says he based his refusal fo work for+ - -
the CIA largely on the gro;md that he
doesn’t think it is Tight fof i@rists to spy.
This is a valid motal scruple, Applying
it to Russia seems 4 litfle .quixotic, tho,
because every Russian’ wBo visits this
country, or any other, #s [8-diplomat, &
journalist, a commereial ‘§g¥nt, an enter-
tainer, or & tourist, actually comes as a
spy for his govermﬁcnt i ’
Individual Russians dgn't take trips
" abroad on their own initistive, If they go
abroad, it is because the nt
- expects to get nmelhi o

Americans can go'on | W
nombdy but themselver, and:Jet's kecm&
m own wark,

m g‘eaﬂg
u,gg’m the ClA hati

: Amarl— .

ey

R xa...w,.

——— -
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em :'«;l'.'mé
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| CIA Asked |
Himto Spy, 7| L

young business executive 5ays
‘the was asked by the Central
Intelligence’ Agency to apy .
* lduring a tri, to Russla but re-

fused. ) ’ R

The CIA approached Rob-

ert Berlin, 28, vire president .

of a sales company, in .June N

1958 as he prepared for a

\ ) ’ Arip, which included 10 days
in Russia, Bérlin said yester-

* jday. ’

, i Berlin said he refused be.

cause of the risk [nyglved
{and because he does not think
it right for a tourist to spy.
!

In an interview with Chi.
Cago's American. Berlip said
;e revealed the request be-
-cause the U, S8, Government| - -
J{has protested that some Amer-f < - 4 .
!ican' tourists in Ryssia hgve'

"+ tbeen called spies and -

} Berlin said a CIA ake tivie-,

. © - lited him ,and asked ¢|f- he ‘
lwould consldey making :“cer- £

jtarn mental  ubaervitlg " -
iwhile he way traveling in Rus.|
;sla and also requested 8ibdpy|
of hig itinetary. . 4oyt XK
In Washington the aia ad .
no comment on Berlin's story, '
Chicago’s American said. The
jBewipaper, however, Quated :
a spokesman ag saylug that’
“it's our busimess to geek in-:
lormation wherever we canr
get 1t, just as the Rusgians, |
. ’ ' S to get information And’
. 7 4 . W I8 a lot easier for them to’
o ety T TERE

T TN

o .
;f e
.ﬁ‘. N ra
¥

3 N

v"“:
4
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Qﬂestlonabie Timing "

HE REVELATION of Robert Rerlin, s
young Chicego business executive, that
twn years ago he tejected a Central Intelli- -
gence Agency request to spy during a tour v
of Rusxia leuves &t least one nerhnent ques-
tion unanswered.
Fromi the evidence at nand it doe:s not
appear that he was aaked to do anything
- very sneaking or complicated but only tn . .
make certaln mental observdtions and submit
a4 written report. Rut if he considered the
actlvity spying., his refusal cannot be criti-
rized -1t was & matter between hlm and hisx -
ronsclence '
Entirely another matter. owever, was his
timing in disclosing the incident. “Why It
was necessary, or even advisable, for him to
mention it at all isn't clear. aince he had
refused the request—one. Incidentally, which
the CTA wax quite as fustified In making as
he was in declining. He could have closed the
case without the fanfare. ‘and the puzzie 1x
why he didn’t.
*Mr. Berlin explained he revealed the con-
tact just now becatse the U.8. Government .
has protested that some American tourlsts in
‘Russia have been called spiex and efected. |
It seems inconceivable that he intended to
‘ald the Soviet Union in any way. Yet, since
his statement tendx to uphold the Red con-
tention, it seems egually inconoeivahble that
he should not have recognized that the prin- -
clpal effect of his belated announcement ;
aould’ be to support Premier Khrushchev's .
hand : .

_——— [N R . - B T —

Biion

i
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AMERICAN SAYS}

1He Lifke CIA Ré&ue‘st To
Tour Of Russia

Two missing U.S. experts said lo
have taken data more important
than first believed..... ..Page 2

Chicago, Aup. 30 F—A young:

Central Intelligence Agency asked
him to'spy during a tour of
Russis, - -

Robart: Berlin, 28-year-ald vice
president of . a sales' company,
sald In an jmterview in the Chi-
cago. American that the CIA ap-
proxthed him in Jone, 1938, as he

lin said, but “‘that probably would
huve come up H 1 d bave
accepled the job.”

from the CIA & questioned my

and reputation.
) Report Refused

CIA request for two days and
then refused to submit & report

ther from the CIA, he said. -
quarters in Washington had no

“1 found out later that someane}
who identified himself as being}

neighbors about my background]

“[ also heard they tried to cbock
my’ X record.” B 3
Bmg said he considered the

on his trip. He heard nothing fur-}
The Americon said CIA heads}

“It's our business fo seek
it, just as the Russian try to get
for them to get'it.”

prepared for a trip which in-
Lcluded ten days i Russia, i

He refused because of the risk
involved, Berlin said, and be-

right for a tourist to spy.
‘ Visit Recalled
Berlin said he has just now re-

because the Upited States Gov-.

the country.

beetvations while 1'was traveting’
“lin Russia ahd he asked if I would

for tha trip:®.
i He was not offeted money, Ber-

ernment has protested that séme.
American tourists in Russia have -
been called spies and cjected from;

cause he did mot think it was:

- vealed the'CIA'¢ contact with him -

Berlin said a CIA agent vistted™
hm and *asked me if ‘1 would: -
certaln mental:

submit a copy of my, itinerary .

comunent to make on Berlin's| -
m-ammugh, a CIA spokesman’

information wherever we can get”

inlormation. And it is a lot easier

O T =TS 3585 e e
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I'o Spy or Not te Spy?

. { read the story of Robert Berlin's refusal to spy for the CJIA in Russia
and got the feeling he consxders himself a hero for. declilﬂﬂﬁ; to.aid his -

cuuntI'V B % : .
I can’t understand his explanation. He shid many Ame’ﬁcan avelers

are being embarrassed by . ) . e o7

the questions of Russian e mr e s

authorities. "His - blurting— ) o P
out the request (o spy will :
serve tn strengthen Mos-

vow  gusplcion and there

will he much more ques-

{oning 1n the future, -

ke request of the ClA. ‘
“1nnked too dangerous,” he'
said, Other people placed - ' T o
i his position probably .
would have agreed to help
since they miglt realize the ”
mb 15 neccssary. Berlin's

con[cssmn " will aggra-
vate the ch:mqes these oth-
crs will take.

Our President’s de(.x:aions
frequently are based onrin-
formation he gets from:tho ;
CIA. Berlin inadverfeutly -
did Russia g bi'”i.ia o UG
crusé he likely has
o{f the gouree .of thix: m-

formation. .0 e %

I hope no one {390 naive -
he can’t see the importance %
of counter Intplligence. It = -
is not a pleasant chore but .
Is essential.

1 believe the real motive .-
for Berlin's action was to v
see his name and picture in -
the newspapers. I am re- .
minded of &n old saying: .

“If you could have been =
silent, you would have been ' -

a wise man.”

JOSEF HIPPELE

CEditer's note—This is one '
of many letters received on
Mr. Berlin'’s refusal of & re-
quest by 2 CIA officer to re- e o
port certain of his observs-
., tions on & uur of Russia. Al ,

_w.rltou unnt Berliz’s ex- %

v

0
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ClA-Tourist Incident

CIA to “keep his eyes open”
while on g tour In Russia.
He knows the record of Rus-
sians entering our country,
The Russian feels honoreg to
80 serve his - country, But
anrparently Mr. Berlin feels
his citizenship does not ang
should not make any ode-
mands on hiny. . We are at
war—the most vicious type
ever devised by o group of
men little it &ny above anj-
mals. It ig time every citi-

{ng his eéyes open” every-
where he 8oes, and pass any
helptuyl bits along to the right
futhoritieg. Some great man
has safd—“When we are at
beace we have Privileges ang

5
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Prof and Business Man
felp Fase World Tension

CHICAGH). — Taking nublic
stands in Letters ra (g [iress
el two THinotas.s recently
shewed how 1o contribite to the
eias e of tensions hetwoeen  the
U. S and the Soviet Unjon.

i answer o a Daily News edi-
torind on Soviet Ustugreamnnue-
g™ the Powers spy trianl. Rob-
ert Berhin, voung Chicagg evecu-
tive, stated that when in 1958
he planned a tour to o ope, in-
cluding’ 10 davs in- the Soviet
Uninn, he was approached by the
CIA to act_us an agent for the
U.8. while in the USSR, He was
told that tourists cun semetimes
do a better job thun off cial

agents. At that time he refused,

but veulizad later, as he suid in
this letter, that there must have
been “more daring tourists -
who have bheen in the- Soviet
,Union, and helped, to use vour

words, “Soviet stage managing.”

~Robert” Eisner, Professor of
Economlcs at Nort.hwestern I"nj-

s

-

_contacts with citizens

versity, wuote fromn Taris, Frunce
to answer an editoiiand in the
No Y. Times that any Avwe:iear
tourist to the UUSS1 Lvs him
well open to spy churees ther
il he se much as drawnsae: eco
namies with . Societ  Citdzen
tukes pictures, et.. ’

The professnr and hi:z wife

“wiio were in Moscow duricl the

trial, found such statements ab-
solutely untrue. They, as wwell az
other tourists thev met in Mos
cow, were ‘met with {rieudliness
and courtesy, he said. Hy ended
his letter as follows: .. :

“It would certainly be mos:
unfortunate if the influential .
voices of the Amerxcm press
were to be wsed, un_m,xtlfiably
to frighten or ducounuee "Ameri-
cans from participating gn peace-
ful and mutually e:.lightenntr

wet Union.”
DR I
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Was ‘CIA’ Worker Bonafldeg T ovmst bpy ricm.

CHICAGO, Aug. 31 (UPT) —
Rebert Berlin, 28, vice presl-
c¢rnt of a sales company, told
¢ rirago's American that In
;756 a man who identifled
iumself as a Central In’elll-
weace Agency worker asked
“im to spy for this country

a. trip to Russia.
f;erlin sald he recefved
t-tephore call about a week
nefore his departure on &
tan-month tour of Europe

nm

him In his Chlcago ofﬁce
He \aowed crederntials stat-
ing he’ ‘s CIA agent.
Beriin sald that the caller
“asked me 4 I would con-
sider making certain mental
observations while I was
traveling in Russia, and he
asked i I would submit a

s{copy of my itinerary for the

trip.” Tourlsts, the man told
nim, often were better at ac-
g “Information then

' Asla, and. the caller meﬂtmlned agents,

" After a aay‘ to think it m
Berlin sald, he dJdecided
against accepting the asgign-
ment for seversal reasons,
the main bne being the risk

involved. He said he told the|pro

agent that he did not feel it
was right for a munsc to spy.jth

Berlln sald the tter was
not preksed and he never{w.
heard from the again,

He ‘sald he disccvered later
that someone who enuﬂeﬁ

CIA “giestioned my nelght
bors apout my buckground
and Feputation.’ ' ,
"No 1fioney offer Wiz made,
Berilry said, but he “that
iy would have' come
up m{vmum have nccepted
L
American sald that In
gton, CIA headquar-
}2&1 no comment to make,
on )

il

._w—

e story, bul a’spokes-
said it was’ “our dusi-y
'~ seéek - Information|.

lltnis:elt as belnz

R

R R e

R T

sTever We can get it, just .
at the Russians try to get in-

formation. And it is a lot"

gegier for them to get it

FL T
.
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f,j nu bS CIA
‘Na To_urtst

Should Spy’

CIICAGO, TLL, @, — A|°

voung business exdétutive
«v3 he wag asked by the

'Central Intelli-|

;gence Agency
}(CIA) to spy
during . a trip
to Russia but
.refused.

The CIA ap-
proached ‘Rob-

of a sales com-

HERLIN

Bcr!m said he® refused be-

cause of the risk involved]

and because he doeg not think
W's right far a tourist to'spy.
“A lot of people have told

an’ overseas|
trip that included 10 days in}
Russia, Berlin sald Tuesday.| =

i *'would have accepted

4 i yice - president |

‘. it'ls a lot edeigr for thet to
get it.” " K »r o

No Meney Offer ?

- He said he was not offered;
money but *‘that prbbably*
“would have come up if I
thei
)ob S L
“I found out later that |-
someone who identified '
himself as being from the ;

bory about my background
and reputation.” 5
-After tonsidering the CIA -

request two days, Berlin said,
he turnéd it down and heard'

‘ Approved For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA-

- CIA questioned my neigh- : .

riothing turther (rom the,
agency.” T Ay -5.

In ‘W&sﬁi “‘.C the’
CIA had' l@ nfmem on Bél'ﬂ
lin's story,: the Chicago Amers§ *
ican said.’’

‘The newspaper.L
however, (ﬁxoted a spokesman
as saying:’ '

It's oup ‘business to - ‘seelt- -
+ informatloh Sherever wé can

get it, Just as, the- Russidng
try to get lnformation,- And

i
P ot 3 e

me 1 would get in trouble tell-7 -

ing thig story,*but I believe

in cxpressing what I think,” |

Berlm saxd
- Protests .

In an interview with the}.

Chicago American, Berlin
said he diSclosed the request|

becausd the U, S. government
hag - memﬂ that zpome;

American tourists ' in Russia:.

have bgen called spies. anqlf ,

expelled fmm the couhtry

Berlln sald a CIA. agent |
visited him and ‘asked It | -
~ he wopld conslder, making ;|

. “certaln mental observa.

“tions” while he was travel
Ing in Russia and also re-
queste.a copy of his itin-
erary.

The sgent told him um., .

tourists  oftan are hbetter at?
acquiring - information than)

trained ‘asents "Berlin 'A'ﬂpr"b\.led For Release 2004/05/13 : CIA REJP90T00782R000100020001 1
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. ROSS DISCUSSES MERLIN CASE /

A, mom at 6345 PM. over WLS (Chiaago)t

s . 1 b

*1 ghovla lika to direct what I bave to say tonigh{ to a Chicagoan I['we never
emto lils nem» is Robart Berlin. He's 28, He lives ip; a near narth side baehllnr
Apsrteont, He's vice president of & ulea coppeny at 2’,00 West Menomines here i.n
Chieago. .

*1%4 like, oo, to firect tahna remarks to the m m.m I have an the Chinlgo
FRFTICAN, a mmwmr that lagt night headlinsd on thn frnn't. pPage lt-. Seriin‘e story.

“Iowliteve Liat tde story, 4f trm, 15 one be should not havs rma.im& and which
thay Aacnid Dot bave printed.  Yes, I know about freddom of the press.  Mr, Serliin
pags Ipo2 bl resdiine belore his wip to the USSR bs was approschod LUy & man elaim=
lug o W2 an aw-nt i our super sscret and incredibly veluable CENTRAL INTYILIGLKCE
AnCY. After vroper credentiale wevse shown he was ssked if hw would use Ms good
ety o maks certain moatsal o‘zzm*-vnuom while he wss in the USSR ml Teport then
on hie returue

: *Tawu,mmmmmm,mcmmmaummmumm
vur twrained sgente. A&fter thinking over this raquut. from e govesrnmbat Dorlin
decided to refuse. And utxy dld hs roa out of 447/ The main reason was the risk
lnveived. He alse sald be didn't think 1t wis right that a tourist should spy.

‘"He sald he waw offered no money but
accepted the job, mq-thing I rather qautd.cn.‘

'Harbart- Philbrick makos & spsclal pcmt nwm
bim nothing except expenses tut spesifically
country you de so &t yowr own risk, If you

-nmdbyyourmfellem,uhatm

beumcmlﬂnmoomtry
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